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Not for trading, but only in connection with the listing of the American depositary shares (“ADSs”) on the New York Stock Exchange. Each ADS represents
the right to receive hundred (100) Class A ordinary shares. The ADSs are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to a registration
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pursuant to Rule 12a-8 thereunder.
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes 0 No

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Yes 0 No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days. Yes ® No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes
No DO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or an emerging growth company. See
definition of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer 0 Accelerated filer 0 Non-accelerated filer Emerging Growth Company O

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to
use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards{ provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange
Act.

+ The term “new or revised financial accounting standard” refers to any update issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board to its Accounting Standards
Codification after April 5, 2012.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit
report. O

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing
reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. O

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by
any of the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements included in this filing:
U.S. GAAP International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the Other O
International Accounting Standards Board O
If “Other” has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statement item the registrant has elected to follow.
Item 17 0 Item 18 O
If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 0 No
(APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS DURING THE PAST FIVE YEARS)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Sections 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. Yes 0 No O
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CONVENTIONS THAT APPLY TO THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 20-F
Unless otherwise indicated, references in this annual report on Form 20-F to:
e “ADRs” are to the American depositary receipts, which, if issued, evidence our ADSs;
e “ADSs” are to our American depositary shares, each of which represents hundred (100) Class A ordinary shares;
e “China” and the “PRC” are to the People’s Republic of China;
e “consolidated affiliated entities” refers to the former consolidated affiliated entities of our Company, namely,
e [ oto Interactive Limited, or Loto Interactive, which was disposed of by the Company on July 25, 2022, and
e other intermediate holding companies.
e “ordinary shares” are to our ordinary shares, par value US$0.00005 per share;
e “RMB” and “Renminbi” are to the legal currency of China;
e “US$” and “U.S. dollars” are to the legal currency of the United States;

9 < LI

o “We,” “us,” “our company,” “our,” “the Group” or “the Company” are to BIT Mining Limited, its predecessor entities and its
consolidated affiliated subsidiaries.

Our business is primarily conducted in the United States, and all of our revenues have been denominated in U.S. dollars.
Our ADSs, each representing one hundred (100) of our Class A ordinary shares, are listed on the NYSE under the Company’s

English name “BIT Mining Limited,” and its ticker symbol “BTCM.” Before April 20, 2021, our ADSs were listed on the NYSE under the
Company’s former English name “500.com Limited” and its former ticker symbol “WBAIL”
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forward-looking statements that relate to future events, including our future operating results and
conditions, our prospects and our future financial performance and condition, all of which are largely based on our current expectations and
projections. The forward-looking statements are contained principally in the sections entitled “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors,”
“Item 4. Information on the Company” and “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.” These statements are made under the
“safe harbor” provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You can identify these forward-looking statements by
terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “estimate,” “is/are likely to” or other and
similar expressions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events
and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs. These
forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements relating to:

2 <

e our goals and strategies;

e our future business development, financial condition and results of operations;

e our expectations regarding demand for and market acceptance of our services;

e our plans to enhance user experience, infrastructure and service offerings;

e competition in our industry; and

e relevant government policies and regulations relating to our industry.

The forward-looking statements relate only to events or information as of the date on which the statements are made in this annual
report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise, after the date on which the statements are made or to reflect the occurrence of

unanticipated events. You should read this annual report completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be
materially different from what we expect.
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PART I
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not Applicable.
ITEM 2.  OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not Applicable.
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
Holding Company Structure

BIT Mining Limited, our ultimate Cayman Islands holding company, does not have substantive operations other than (1) holding
certain of our digital assets in connection with our cryptocurrency mining business and (2) indirectly holding the equity interest in our
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, British Virgin Islands, Canada, Malta, Cyprus, Curacao, the United States, Ethiopia and China. As of the date of
this annual report, (i) we do not have revenue-generating operations in China, and our remaining operations in China primarily involve the
provision of administrative support to our cryptocurrency mining business as well as the provision of internal information technology
services to our operating entities outside China; and (ii) we do not maintain any variable interest entity structure in China. Adverse actions
by the Chinese government may potentially force us to cease our administrative support and internal information technology services from
China to your international cryptocurrency mining business. We used to develop Ethereum Classic mining operation in Hong Kong, but have
ceased such operation as we are focusing on growing our cryptocurrency mining operations in the United States. In 2022, 2023 and 2024,
our operations in Hong Kong generated approximately 5.3%, nil and nil, of our total revenue from continuing operations and discontinued
operations for such year. As used in this annual report, “we,” “us,” “our company” or “our” refers to BIT Mining Limited, a Cayman Islands
exempted company and its subsidiaries. Investors in our ADSs are purchasing equity interest in a Cayman Islands holding company.
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The following diagram illustrates our company’s organizational structure, and the place of formation, ownership interest and
affiliation of each of our principal subsidiaries and affiliated entities as of the date of this annual report. BIT Mining Limited is the holding
company.

We face various legal and operational risks and regulatory uncertainties associated with having certain non revenue-generating
subsidiaries, certain administrative personnel, and certain members of the board of directors located in China. If the PRC government
restricts or otherwise regulates our remaining operations in China, we may have to scale down or cease such operations. We have already
ceased our mining operations in Hong Kong, and moved our mining operation to the U.S. The PRC government has significant authority to
exert influence on the ability of a company located in China to conduct its business, accept foreign investments or list on U.S. or other
foreign exchanges. For example, we face risks and uncertainties associated with regulatory approvals of offshore offerings and oversight on
cybersecurity and data privacy. Such risks and uncertainties could result in a material change in our operations and/or the value of the ADSs
or could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer ADSs and/or other securities to investors and cause the value of such
securities to significantly decline or be worthless. The PRC government also has significant discretion over our business operations in China,
and may intervene with or influence our China-based operations as it deems appropriate to further regulatory, political and societal goals.
Furthermore, the PRC government has indicated an intent to exert more oversight and control over overseas securities offerings and foreign
investments in China-based companies. These regulatory risks and uncertainties could become applicable to our Hong Kong operations if
regulatory authorities in Hong Kong adopt similar rules and/or regulatory actions. Any adverse action, once taken by the PRC and/or Hong
Kong government, could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer securities to investors and cause the value of such
securities to significantly decline or in extreme cases, become worthless.

Cash Flows through our Organization

Cash and assets can be transferred between BIT Mining Limited, our holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and our
subsidiaries in other countries through intercompany fund advances and capital contributions.
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As of the date of this annual report, a substantial majority of our assets and cash are located outside of China. We are not aware of
any regulatory restrictions of transferring funds between BIT Mining Limited and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong, British Virgin Islands,
Canada, Malta, Cyprus, Curacao, the United States and Ethiopia. We are subject to applicable PRC regulation of loans to or investment in
subsidiaries in China.

As of the date of this annual report, BIT Mining Limited has not distributed any earnings to its subsidiaries. BIT Mining Limited
currently does not have any plan to distribute earnings to its subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. No transfers, dividends, or distributions
have been made to date to U.S. investors.

Transfers between the Holding Company and its Subsidiaries

In 2022, 2023 and 2024, BIT Mining Limited transferred cash to its subsidiaries of US$37.0 million, approximately US$2.5 million
and approximately US$4.2 million, respectively, through intercompany fund advances and capital contributions.

In 2022, 2023 and 2024, BIT Mining Limited transferred assets with aggregate values of US$9.2 million, US$6.3 million and
US$0.3 million, respectively, to its subsidiaries. Such assets were primarily cryptocurrency assets, through intercompany fund advances. The
tax consequences of these asset transfers from BIT Mining Limited to its subsidiaries did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

In 2022, 2023 and 2024, the Company’s subsidiaries transferred assets with aggregate values of US$9.0 million, US$9.3 million
and US$14.6 million, respectively, to BIT Mining Limited. Such assets were primarily cryptocurrency assets, through intercompany fund
advances. The tax consequences of these asset transfers from the Company’s subsidiaries to BIT Mining Limited did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

The aforementioned cash and asset transfers between BIT Mining Limited and its subsidiaries were for business operation
purposes.

A. [Reserved]
B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not Applicable.
C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not Applicable.
D. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

It may be or become illegal to acquire, own, hold, sell or use cryptocurrencies, participate in the blockchain, or transfer or utilize
similar cryptocurrency assets in international markets where we operate due to adverse changes in the regulatory and policy
environment in these jurisdictions.

Our blockchain and cryptocurrency mining business could be significantly affected by, among other things, the regulatory and
policy developments in international markets where we operate, such as the United States. Governmental authorities are likely to continue to
issue new laws, rules and regulations governing the blockchain and cryptocurrency industry we operate in and enhance enforcement of
existing laws, rules and regulations.

We have adopted the development strategy to focus on the expansion of our blockchain and cryptocurrency mining operations to
international markets. We have invested in Akon, Ohio, a mining site with access to power capacity of up to 82.5 megawatts. In December
2024, we also completed the first closing of acquisition of cryptocurrency mining data centers and Bitcoin mining machines in Ethiopia. As
of the date of this annual report, we have deployed our mining machines primarily to the United States and Ethiopia. However, we cannot
assure you that the government authorities in these international markets will not adopt new laws and regulations in the future to restrict
blockchain and cryptocurrency business.
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Some jurisdictions restrict various uses of cryptocurrencies, including the use of cryptocurrencies as a medium of exchange, the
conversion between cryptocurrencies and fiat currencies or between cryptocurrencies, the provision of trading and other services related to
cryptocurrencies by financial institutions and payment institutions, and initial coin offerings and other means of capital raising based on
cryptocurrencies. We cannot assure you that these jurisdictions will not enact new laws or regulations that further restrict activities relate to
cryptocurrencies.

In addition, cryptocurrencies may be used by market participants for black market transactions, to conduct fraud, money laundering
and terrorism-funding, tax evasion, economic sanction evasion or other illegal activities. As a result, governments may seek to regulate,
restrict, control or ban the mining, use, holding and transferring of cryptocurrencies. We may not be able to eliminate all instances where
other parties use cryptocurrencies mined by us to engage in money laundering or other illegal or improper activities. We cannot assure you
that we will successfully detect and prevent all money laundering or other illegal or improper activities which may adversely affect our
reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Due to the environmental-impact concerns related to the potential high demand for electricity to support cryptocurrency mining
activity, political concerns, and for other reasons, we may be required to cease mining operations without much or any prior notice by a
national or local government’s formal or informal requirement or because of the anticipation of an impending requirement. For example, due
to the most the power shortage and political unrest in Kazakhstan in 2021, we temporarily suspended mining activities in Kazakhstan. We
are still reevaluating our prospects there, but currently do not plan to carry out any joint construction of a new data center in that country.

Any such government action or anticipated action could have a negative impact not only on the value of existing miners owned by
us, but on our ability to purchase new miners and their prices. Such government action or anticipated action could also have a deleterious
impact on the price of cryptocurrencies. At a minimum, such events could result in an increase in the volatility of the price of the
cryptocurrencies and value of miners owned by us. Moreover, if we discontinue mining operations in one location in response to such
government action or anticipated action, we likely would transfer miners to another location. However, this process would result in costs
associated with the transfer to be incurred by us, as well as the transferred miners being off-line and not able to mine cryptocurrencies for
some time. Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected by these adverse changes in
the regulatory and policy environment in the markets where we operate our blockchain and cryptocurrency mining operations.

Any failure to obtain or renew any required approvals, licenses, permits or certifications could materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

In accordance with the laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate, we are required to maintain various approvals,
licenses, permits and certifications in order to operate our cryptocurrency mining business. Complying with such laws and regulations may
require substantial expense, and any non-compliance may expose us to liability. In the event of non-compliance, we may have to incur
significant expenses and divert substantial management time to rectify the incidents. In the future, if we fail to obtain all the necessary
approvals, licenses, permits and certifications, we may be subject to fines or the suspension of operations at the mining facilities or data
centers that do not have all the requisite approvals, licenses, permits and certifications, which could materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations. We may also experience adverse publicity arising from non-compliance with government regulations,
which would negatively impact our reputation.

We have adopted the development strategy to focus on the expansion of our blockchain and cryptocurrency mining operations in
international markets, and have established, and plan to establish cryptocurrency mining data centers in the United States and Ethiopia. As
such, we are subject to regulations applicable to operators of cryptocurrency mining business and data processing business in these
jurisdictions. We have obtained relevant governmental approval and license required for our data center operations in these jurisdictions.
However, we cannot assure your that we will be able to maintain or renew the required government approval, permit, licenses for our
proposed operations on commercially reasonable terms and in a timely manner or at all. Failure to maintain or renew these government
approval, permit or licenses for our international operations may cause us to suspend or terminate our data center operations in such
jurisdictions, and may subject us to regulatory investigations or legal proceedings and fines in these jurisdictions, which could disrupt our
international operations and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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More broadly, we cannot assure you that we will be able to fulfill all the conditions necessary to obtain the required government
approvals in the jurisdictions where we operate, or that relevant government officials in these jurisdictions will always, if ever, exercise their
discretion in our favor, or that we will be able to adapt to any new laws, regulations or policies. There may also be delays on the part of
government authorities in reviewing our applications and granting approvals, whether due to the lack of administrative resources or the
imposition of new rules, regulations, government policies or their implementation, interpretation and enforcement, or for no discernible
reason at all. If we are unable to obtain, or experience material delays in obtaining, necessary government approvals, our operations may be
substantially disrupted, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A particular digital asset’s status as a “security” in any relevant jurisdiction is subject to a high degree of uncertainty, and if we are
unable to properly characterize a digital asset, we may be subject to regulatory scrutiny, investigations, fines, and other penalties,
which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.

The SEC and its staff have taken the position that certain digital assets fall within the definition of a “security” under the U.S.
federal securities laws. The legal test for determining whether any given digital asset is a security is a highly complex, fact-driven analysis
that evolves over time, and the outcome is difficult to predict. The SEC generally does not provide advance guidance or confirmation on the
status of any particular digital asset as a security. Additionally, the SEC’s views in this area have evolved over time, and it is difficult to
predict the direction or timing of any continuing evolution. Furthermore, it is also possible that a change in the governing administration or
the appointment of new SEC commissioners could substantially impact the views of the SEC and its staff. Public statements by senior
officials at the SEC indicate that the SEC does not intend to take the position that Bitcoin or Ethereum, in their current form, are securities.
However, such statements are not official policy statements by the SEC and reflect only the speakers’ views, which are not binding on the
SEC or any other agency or court, and cannot be generalized to any other digital asset. In addition, on February 27, 2025, the SEC’s Division
of Corporation Finance issued a formal Staff Statement which took the position that typical meme coins do not constitute “securities” under
U.S. federal securities law, and thus transactions in these meme coins need not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, nor exempt from registration because they do not involve an “offer and sale” of securities. With respect to all other digital assets,
there is currently no certainty under the applicable legal test that such assets are not securities, notwithstanding the conclusions we may draw
based on our assessment regarding the likelihood that a particular digital asset could be deemed a “security” under applicable laws.
Similarly, though the SEC’s Strategic Hub for Innovation and Financial Technology published a framework for analyzing whether any given
digital asset is a security in April 2019, this framework is also not a rule, regulation or statement of the SEC and is not binding on the SEC.

Several foreign jurisdictions have taken a broad-based approach to classifying digital assets as “securities,” while other foreign
jurisdictions have adopted a narrower approach. As a result, certain digital assets may be deemed to be a “security” under the laws of some
jurisdictions but not others. Various foreign jurisdictions may, in the future, adopt additional laws, regulations, or directives that affect the
characterization of digital assets as “securities.”

The classification of a digital asset as a security under applicable law has wide-ranging implications for the regulatory obligations
that flow from the offer, sale, trading, and clearing of such assets. For example, a digital asset that is a security in the United States may
generally only be offered or sold in the United States pursuant to a registration statement filed with the SEC or in an offering that qualifies
for an exemption from registration. Persons that effect transactions in digital assets that are securities in the United States may be subject to
registration with the SEC as a “broker” or “dealer.” Platforms that bring together purchasers and sellers to trade digital assets that are
securities in the United States are generally subject to registration as national securities exchanges, or must qualify for an exemption, such as
by being operated by a registered broker-dealer as an alternative trading system (“ATS”), in compliance with rules for ATSs. Persons
facilitating clearing and settlement of securities may be subject to registration with the SEC as a clearing agency. Foreign jurisdictions may
have similar licensing, registration, and qualification requirements. We have mined cryptocurrencies other than Bitcoin and Ethereum, and
we received other types of cryptocurrencies, as commissions of our mining pool operation. The likely status of these cryptocurrencies as
securities could limit distributions, transfers, or other actions involving such cryptocurrencies, including mining, in the United States.
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We have adopted risk-based policies and procedures to analyze whether the digital assets that we mine, hold and sell for our own
account could be deemed to be a “security” under applicable laws. Our policies and procedures do not constitute a legal standard, but rather
represent our management’s assessment, based on advice of our securities counsel, regarding the likelihood that a particular digital asset
could be deemed a “security” under applicable laws. Regardless of our conclusions, we could be subject to legal or regulatory action in the
event the SEC, a foreign regulatory authority, or a court were to determine that a digital asset currently held by us is a “security” under
applicable laws. If the digital assets mined and held by us are deemed as securities, it could limit distributions, transfers, or other actions
involving such digital assets, including mining, in the United States. For example, the distribution of cryptocurrencies to miners could be
deemed to involve an illegal offering or distribution of securities subject to U.S. federal or state law. In addition, miners on cryptocurrency
networks could, under certain circumstances, be viewed as statutory underwriters or as “brokers” subject to regulation under the Exchange
Act. This could require us or our customers to change, limit, or cease mining operations, register as broker-dealers and comply with
applicable law, or be subject to penalties, including fines. In addition, we could be subject to judicial or administrative sanctions for failing
to sell the digital asset or distribute block rewards in compliance with the registration requirements, or for acting as a broker, dealer, or
national securities exchange without appropriate registration. Such an action could result in injunctions, cease and desist orders, as well as
civil monetary penalties, fines, and disgorgement, criminal liability, and reputational harm.

Distributing digital assets involves risks, which could result in loss of customer assets, customer disputes and other liabilities,
adversely impact our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.

In order to own, transfer and use a digital asset on its underlying blockchain network, a person must have a private and public key
pair associated with a network address, commonly referred to as a “wallet.” Each wallet is associated with a unique “public key” and
“private key” pair, each of which is a string of alphanumerical characters. In order for us to allocate digital assets to customers, customers
must provide us with the public key of the wallet that the digital assets are to be transferred to, and we would be required to authorize the
transfer. We rely on the information provided by customers to distribute cryptocurrencies to them, and we do not have access to customers’
private key. A number of errors can occur in the process of distributing digital assets to customers’ wallets, such as typos, mistakes, or the
failure to include the information required by the blockchain network. For instance, a customer may incorrectly enter the desired recipient’s
public key when retrieving digital assets, which may result in the permanent and irretrievable loss of the customer’s digital assets. Such
incidents could result in disputes, damage to our brand and reputation, legal claims against us, and financial liabilities, any of which could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.

The loss or destruction of private keys required to access any digital assets held by us may be irreversible. If we are unable to access
our private keys or if we experience a hack or other data loss relating to our ability to access any digital assets, it could cause
regulatory scrutiny, reputational harm, and other losses.

Cryptocurrencies are generally controllable only by the possessor of the unique private key relating to the digital wallet in which
the digital assets are held. While blockchain protocols typically require public addresses to be published when used in a transaction, private
keys must be safeguarded and kept private in order to prevent a third party from accessing the digital assets held in such a wallet. We will
publish the public key relating to digital wallets in use when we verify the receipt of transfers and disseminate such information into the
network, but we will need to safeguard the private keys relating to such digital wallets. We safeguard and keep private the private keys
relating to our digital assets by primarily utilizing enterprise multi-signature storage solution provided by an established third-party digital
asset financial services platform.

To the extent that any of the private keys relating to our wallets containing digital assets held by us is lost, destroyed, or otherwise
compromised or unavailable, and no backup of the private key is accessible, we will be unable to access digital assets held in the related
wallet. Furthermore, as currently our digital wallet is maintained by a third-party digital asset financial services platform, we cannot provide
assurance that our wallet will not be hacked or compromised, or that any information leakage and data security breach of such platform will
not compromise the security of our digital wallet. Digital assets and blockchain technologies have been, and may in the future be, subject to
security breaches, hacking, or other malicious activities. Any loss of private keys relating to, or hack or other compromise of, digital wallets
used to store our digital assets could subject us to significant financial losses, and we may be unable to distribute mining rewards to
customers of our mining pool services, or adequately compensate our customers for damages caused by such security breach. As such, any
loss of private keys due to a hack, employee or service provider misconduct or error, or other compromise by third parties could hurt our
brand and reputation, result in significant losses, and adversely impact our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.
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We may incur significant compliance costs if we are required to register as a money services business under the regulations
promulgated by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, or otherwise under
U.S. state laws.

We are in the process of expanding our cryptocurrency operation into the United States. To the extent that our operations in United
States cause us to be deemed a money services business under the regulations promulgated by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network
(“FinCEN”) under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, we may be required to comply with FinCEN regulations, including those that
would mandate us to implement anti-money laundering programs, make certain reports to FinCEN and maintain certain records. To the
extent that our operations cause us to be deemed a “money transmitter” or equivalent designation, under state law in any U.S. state in which
we plan to operate, we may be required to seek a license or otherwise register with a state regulator and comply with state regulations that
may include the implementation of anti-money laundering programs, maintenance of certain records and other operational requirements.
Such additional federal or state regulatory obligations may cause us to incur extraordinary expenses, and may affect an investment in our
securities in a materially adverse manner. Furthermore, we and our service providers may not be capable of complying with certain federal
or state regulatory obligations applicable to money services businesses and money transmitters. If we are deemed to be subject to and
determine not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, we may have to leave a particular U.S. state or the
United States completely. Any such action would be expected to materially adversely affect our operations.

Because cryptocurrencies may be determined to be investment securities, we may inadvertently violate the Investment Company Act
of 1940, as amended, and we may incur substantial losses and become subject to such act as a result.

We believe that we are not engaged in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities, and we do not hold ourselves
out as being engaged in those activities. However, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company
Act”), a company may be deemed an investment company under section 3(a)(1)(C) thereof if the value of its investment securities is more
than 40% of its total assets (exclusive of government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.

As a result of our investments and our cryptocurrency mining activities, including investments in which we do not have a
controlling interest, and the sale of Shares of Loto Interactive Limited, the investment securities we hold could exceed 40% of our total
assets, exclusive of cash items and, accordingly, we could determine that we have become an inadvertent investment company. The
cryptocurrency we own, acquire or mine may be deemed an investment security by the SEC, although we do not believe any of the
cryptocurrencies we own, acquire or mine are securities.

An inadvertent investment company can avoid being classified as an investment company if it can rely on one of the exclusions
under the Investment Company Act. One such exclusion, Rule 3a-2 under the Investment Company Act, allows an inadvertent investment
company a grace period of one year from the earlier of (a) the date on which an issuer owns securities and/or cash having a value exceeding
50% of the issuer’s total assets on either a consolidated or unconsolidated basis and (b) the date on which an issuer owns or proposes to
acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of such issuer’s total assets (exclusive of government securities and
cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. As of December 31, 2024, we do not believe we are an inadvertent investment company, however
this issue has not been resolved by SEC rules or regulations. For us, any grace period would be unknown until further clarifications from or
regulations by the SEC concerning cryptocurrency treatment. We may take actions to cause the investment securities held by us to be less
than 40% of our total assets, which may include acquiring assets with our cash and cryptocurrency on hand or liquidating our investment
securities or cryptocurrency or seeking a no-action letter from the SEC if we are unable to acquire sufficient assets or liquidate sufficient
investment securities in a timely manner.

As the Rule 3a-2 exception is available to a company no more than once every three years, and assuming no other exclusion were
available to us, we would have to keep within the 40% limit for at least three years after we cease being an inadvertent investment company.
This may limit our ability to make certain investments or enter into joint ventures that could otherwise have a positive impact on our
earnings. In any event, we do not intend to become an investment company engaged in the business of investing and trading securities.
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Current and future legislation and the SEC rulemaking and other regulatory developments, including interpretations released by a
regulatory authority, may impact the manner in which cryptocurrencies are treated for classification and clearing purposes. The SEC’s
July 25, 2017 Report expressed its view that digital assets may be securities depending on the facts and circumstances. As of the date of this
annual report, we are not aware of any rules that have been proposed to regulate cryptocurrencies as securities. We cannot be certain as to
how future regulatory developments will impact the treatment of cryptocurrency under the applicable U.S. federal or state laws. Such
additional registrations may result in extraordinary, non-recurring expenses, thereby materially and adversely impacting an investment in us.
If we determine not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, we may seek to cease certain of our operations.
Any such action may adversely affect an investment in us.

Classification as an investment company under the Investment Company Act requires registration with the SEC. If an investment
company fails to register, it would have to stop doing almost all business, and its contracts would become voidable. Registration is time
consuming and restrictive and would require a restructuring of our operations, and we would be very constrained in the kind of business we
could do as a registered investment company. Furthermore, we would become subject to substantial regulation concerning management,
operations, transactions with affiliated persons and portfolio composition, and would need to file reports under the Investment Company Act
regime. The cost of such compliance would result in substantial additional expenses, and the failure to complete the required registration
would have a materially adverse impact to conduct our operations.

We do not maintain insurance for our digital assets, which may expose us and our shareholders to the risk of loss of our digital
assets, and there will be limited rights of legal recourse available to us to recover our losses.

We do not maintain insurance for the digital assets held by us. Banking institutions will not accept our digital assets, and they are
therefore not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Securities Investor Protection Corporation. Therefore, we may
suffer loss with respect to our digital assets which is not covered by insurance, and we may not be able to recover any of our carried value in
these digital assets if they are lost or stolen or suffer significant and sustained reduction in conversion spot price. If we are not otherwise able
to recover damages from a malicious actor in connection with these losses, our business, results of operations and share price may be
adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial
results in accordance with U.S. GAAP may be materially and adversely affected. In addition, investor confidence in us and the
marKket price of our ADSs may decline significantly.

We are required to assess the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
As defined in standards established by the United States Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the PCAOB, a “material
weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis.

While our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024, we may
not be able to always maintain an effective internal control over financial reporting for a variety of reasons. A control system, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Because of
the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or
fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected. If we fail to maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting in the future, our management and our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to conclude that we
have effective internal control over financial reporting at a reasonable assurance level. This could in turn result in the loss of investor
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements and negatively impact the trading price of our ADSs. Furthermore, we have incurred
and anticipate that we will continue to incur considerable costs, management time and other resources in an effort to maintain compliance
with Section 404 and other requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Additionally, ineffective internal control over financial reporting could expose us to increased risk of fraud or misuse of corporate

assets and subject us to potential delisting from the NYSE, regulatory investigations and civil or criminal sanctions. We may also be required
to restate our financial statements from prior periods.
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Risks Related to Doing Business in China

Recent regulatory developments in China may subject us to additional regulatory review and disclosure requirements, expose us to
government interference, or otherwise restrict or completely hinder our ability to offer securities and raise capitals outside China,
all of which could materially and adversely affect our business, and cause the value of our securities to significantly decline or
become worthless.

As our remaining operations in China primarily involve the provision of administrative supports to our cryptocurrency mining
business outside China, as well as internal information technology services to our operating entities outside China, we may still be subject to
PRC laws relating to, among others, data security and restrictions over foreign investments in value-added telecommunications services and
other industry sectors set out in the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (2024 Edition).
Specifically, we may be subject to PRC laws relating to the collection, use, sharing, retention, security, and transfer of confidential and
private information, such as personal information and other data. These PRC laws apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to
transfers of information between us and our wholly foreign-owned enterprises in China, and other parties with which we have commercial
relations. These PRC laws and their interpretations and enforcement continue to develop and are subject to change, and the PRC government
may adopt other rules and restrictions in the future.

The recent regulatory developments in China, in particular with respect to restrictions on China-based companies raising capital
offshore, may lead to additional regulatory review in China over our financing and capital raising activities in the United States.
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Pursuant to the PRC Cybersecurity Law (“Cybersecurity Law”), which was promulgated by the Standing Committee of the
National People’s Congress on November 7, 2016 and took effect on June 1, 2017, personal information and important data collected and
generated by a critical information infrastructure operator (“CIIO”) in the course of its operations in China must be stored in China, and if a
critical information infrastructure operator, as defined by “The Security Protection Regulations for Critical Information Infrastructure,”
effective on September 1, 2021, purchases internet products and services that affect or may affect national security, it should be subject to
cybersecurity review by the Cyberspace Administration of China (“CAC”). The Cybersecurity Law also establishes more stringent
requirements applicable to operators of computer networks, especially to operators of networks which involve critical information
infrastructure. The Cybersecurity Law contains an overarching framework for regulating Internet security, protection of private and sensitive
information, and safeguards for national cyberspace security and provisions for the continued government regulation of the Internet and
content available in China. The Cybersecurity Law emphasizes requirements for network products, services, operations and information
security, as well as monitoring, early detection, emergency response and reporting. On January 4, 2022, the CAC announced the adoption of
the Cybersecurity Review Measures, and effective on February 15, 2022, online platforms operators possessing personal information of
more than one million user must undergo a cybersecurity review by the CAC when they seek listing in foreign markets. In addition, pursuant
to the PRC Data Security Law (“Data Security Law”), which was promulgated by the Standing Committee of the National People’s
Congress on June 10, 2021 and took effect on September 1, 2021, all data activities that take place in China, as well as abroad if the data
activities are deemed to impair China’s national security, China’s public interest or the legitimate rights and interests of Chinese citizens or
organizations, shall be subject to the Data Security Law. The Data Security Law classifies data collected and stored in China based on its
potential impact on Chinese national security and regulates its storage and transfer depending on the data’s classification level. Data
processors are prohibited from providing any data stored in China, regardless of the data’s sensitivity level and whether or not the data was
initially collected in China, to any foreign judicial or law enforcement agency without the prior approval of the relevant PRC authorities.
China’s central government is required by the Data Security Law to formulate a catalogue of important data based on the data classified and
graded system, while relevant authorities in different regions and industries are then required to identify important data and formulate
detailed implementing catalogues for their respective regions and industries. According to Regulation on Network Data Security
Management, promulgated by the State Council on September 24, 2024, effective on January 1, 2025, Companies handling data classified as
“important data” are required to (i) designate a person in charge of network data security; (ii) set up a network data security management
department, performing the following responsibilities: a) formulating and implementing network data security management systems and
operation procedures as well as emergency response plans for network data security incidents; b) organizing activities such as network data
security risk monitoring, risk assessment, emergency drills, publicity, education and training on a regular basis, and promptly disposing of
network data security risks and incidents; c¢) accepting and handling complaints and reports about network data security; (iii) conduct annual
risk assessment for its processing activities, and (iv) report the assessment’s result to the relevant authority. On July 7, 2022, the CAC
announced the adoption of the Security Assessment Measures for Outbound Data Transfer (“Security Assessment Measures™), and effective
on September 1, 2022, The Security Assessment Measures requires not only CIIOs, but also other data processors to file for CAC’s security
assessment before transferring important data out of China. The Administrative Measures on Data Security in the Industry and Information
Technology Sectors (for Trial Implementation) (“Security Administrative Measures™) effective on January 1, 2023, divides industrial and
telecom data into three categories, namely (i) ordinary data, (ii) important data, and (iii) core data, and requires the data processors to make
filings with their Local Regulators regarding their Important Data and Core Data. Furthermore, the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress passed the Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC (“PIPL”), which became effective on November 1, 2021, and
requires a personal information handler to meet any of the following conditions when transferring personal information outside the territory
of PRC: (i) it shall pass the security assessment organized by the CAC; (ii) it shall have been certified by a specialized agency for protection
of personal information; and (iii) it shall enter into a standard contract for the outbound transfer of personal information with the overseas
recipient. Furthermore, it is mandatory for the following two types of personal information handlers to declare security assessment for their
provision of data abroad to the CAC: (i) personal information handlers processing the personal information of more than one million people
that provide personal information abroad; and (ii) personal information handlers that have provided personal information of 100,000 people
or sensitive personal information of 10,000 people in total abroad since January 1 of the previous year. In addition, Regulation on Network
Data Security Management requires that personal information handlers handling the personal information of more than 10 million
individuals shall also designate a person in charge of network data security and set up a network data security management department
conducting the same responsibilities as the important data handlers mentioned above.

On July 30, 2021, in response to the recent regulatory developments in China and actions adopted by the PRC government, the
Chairman of the SEC issued a statement requesting additional disclosures from offshore issuers with China-based operating companies
before their registration statements will be declared effective, including detailed disclosure related to VIE structures and whether the VIE
and the issuer, when applicable, received or were denied permission from the PRC authorities to list on U.S. exchanges and the risks that
such approval could be denied or rescinded. On August 1, 2021, the CSRC stated in a statement that it had taken note of the new disclosure
requirements announced by the SEC regarding the listings of PRC companies and the recent regulatory development in the PRC, and that
the securities regulators in both countries should strengthen communications on regulating China-related issuers.
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On February 17, 2023, the CSRC releases the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by
Domestic Companies, which came into effect on March 31, 2023. The Trial Administrative Measures require that a domestic company
seeking direct and indirect overseas offering and listing shall fulfill the filing procedure with the CSRC, submit relevant materials that
contain a filing report and a legal opinion, and provide truthful, accurate and complete information on the shareholders and other
information required. Where the filing documents are complete and in compliance with stipulated requirements, the CSRC will, within 20
working days after receiving the filing documents, conclude the filing procedure and publish the filing results on the CSRC website. As is
stipulated in the Trial Administrative Measures, direct overseas offering and listing by domestic companies refers to such overseas offering
and listing by a joint-stock company incorporated domestically, while indirect overseas offering and listing by domestic companies refers to
such overseas offering and listing by a company in the name of an overseas incorporated entity, whereas the company’s major business
operations are located domestically and such offering and listing is based on the underlying equity, assets, earnings or other similar rights of
a domestic company. Any overseas offering and listing made by an issuer that meets both the following conditions will be determined as
indirect: (i) 50% or more of the issuer’s operating revenue, total profit, total assets or net assets as documented in its audited consolidated
financial statements for the most recent accounting year is accounted for by domestic companies; and (ii) the main parts of the issuer’s
business activities are conducted in the Chinese Mainland, or its main places of business are located in the Chinese Mainland, or the senior
managers in charge of its business operation and management are mostly Chinese citizens or domiciled in the Chinese Mainland. The
determination as to whether or not an overseas offering and listing by domestic companies is indirect, shall be made on a substance over
form basis.

Prior to the disposal of our lottery-related business in China in July 2021, we collected and processed personal, transactional and
behavioral data. By the end of 2021, we have disposed of our lottery-related business and suspended the operations of our data centers in
China, and have migrated our cryptocurrency mining business to international markets. Our remaining operations in China do not involve
the processing of any significant amount of personal information. However, we cannot assure you that the PRC regulatory authorities will
not take a contrary view or will not subsequently require us to undergo the approval procedures and subject us to penalties for non-
compliance, or that if we are required to obtain such clearance, such clearance can be timely obtained, or at all. If we become subject to
cybersecurity inspection and/or review by the CAC or other PRC authorities or are required by them to take any specific actions, it could
cause suspension or termination of the future offering of our securities, disruptions to our operations, result in negative publicity regarding
our company, and divert our managerial and financial resources. We may also be subject to significant fines or other penalties, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any actions by the PRC government to exert more
oversight and control over offerings that are conducted overseas and/or foreign investment in companies having operations in China, such as
us, could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer securities to investors, and cause the value of our
securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

Our efforts to adjust our corporate structure and business operations, including the termination of our previous VIE structures and
the exit of our mining pool business from China, may not be completed in a liability-free manner, and we may still be subject to
cybersecurity review by the CAC, or deemed to be in violation of PRC laws regulating our industry and operations.

In light of the recent statements by the Chinese government indicating its intention exert more oversight and control over overseas
offerings of China-based companies, the CAC review for certain data processing operators in China, and restrictions imposed by the PRC
government relating to cryptocurrency mining business, we have adjusted, and may continue to adjust our business operations in the future,
to comply with PRC laws regulating our industry and our business operations. However, such efforts may not be completed in a liability-free
manner or at all.

Due to restrictions over foreign investment in lottery and IDC services, we previously maintained VIE structure with respect to our
lottery-related business in China and certain of our data processing services in connection with our cryptocurrency mining business
previously conducted in China. By the end of 2021, we did not maintain any VIE structures in China. Since June 2021, we have also
suspended the operations of data centers in China. In October 2021, in light of change in the regulatory environment in China, we began to
cause our mining pool subsidiary, BTC.com to exit the China market, cease registering new mining pool customers from China and retire the
accounts of existing mining pool customers in China in an orderly manner.
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We cannot assure you that the disposal of the lottery-related affiliated entities and unwinding of the related VIE structures in China,
or the discontinuation of our mining pool operation in China, will not give rise to dispute or liability, or that such disposal, unwinding and
discontinuation of operations will not adversely affect our overall results of operations and financial condition. In February 2022, the then
subsidiaries of Zhejiang Keying deregistered their respective IDC licenses, and Zhejiang Keying completed the transfer of equity interests of
its then subsidiaries to Loto Shenzhen. In the same month, we completed the formal SAIC registration of the disposal of the subsidiaries
under the former variable interest entity structure. During the process of disposing of the lottery-related affiliated entities and the unwinding
of the related VIE structures in China, including the VIE structure of Zhejiang Keying, and after such process is completed, we cannot
guarantee that we will not continue to be subject to PRC regulatory inspection and/or review relating to cybersecurity, especially when there
remains significant uncertainty as to the scope and manner of the regulatory enforcement. If we become subject to regulatory inspection
and/or review by the CAC or other PRC authorities, or are required by them to take any specific actions, it could cause suspension or
termination of the future offering of our securities, disruptions to our operations, result in negative publicity regarding our company, and
divert our managerial and financial resources. The discontinuation of operations of BTC.com in China and in particular, the retirement of
accounts of existing mining pool customers in China, may give rise to user complaints or dispute claims against us, which could divert a
significant amount of managerial attention and other resources from our business and operations, and require us to incur significant
expenses. We may also be subject to fines or other penalties, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

We could still face the risk of delisting and cease of trading of our securities from a stock exchange or an over-the-counter market in
the United States under the HFCA Act and the securities regulations promulgated thereunder if the PCAOB determines in the
future that it is unable to completely inspect or investigate our auditor which has a presence in China, and it may materially and
adversely affect the value of your investment.

The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act (“HFCA Act”) was enacted on December 18, 2020. The HFCA Act states if the
SEC determines that we have filed audit reports issued by a registered public accounting firm that has not been subject to inspection by the
PCAOB for three consecutive years, the SEC shall prohibit our shares or ADSs from being traded on a national securities exchange or in the
over the counter trading market in the United States.

Our financial statements contained in the annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by
Our U.S.-based auditor, MaloneBailey, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm that is headquartered in the United States with
offices in Beijing and Shenzhen, China. MaloneBailey, LLP is not among the PCAOB-registered public accounting firms headquartered in
the PRC or Hong Kong that are subject to PCAOB’s determination on December 16, 2021 of having been unable to inspect or investigate
completely. As of the date of this annual report, we have not been identified by the SEC as a commission-identified issuer under the HFCA
Act.

On March 24, 2021, the SEC adopted interim final rules relating to the implementation of certain disclosure and documentation
requirements of the HFCA Act. On September 22, 2021, the PCAOB adopted a final rule implementing the HFCA Act, which provides a
framework for the PCAOB to determine, as contemplated under the HFCA Act, whether the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate
completely registered public accounting firms located in a foreign jurisdiction because of a position taken by one or more authorities in that
jurisdiction. On December 2, 2021, the SEC adopted amendments to finalize the implementation of disclosure and documentation measures,
which require us to identify, in our annual report on Form 20-F, (1) the auditors that provided opinions to the financial statements presented
in the annual report, (2) the location where the auditors’ report was issued, and (3) the PCAOB ID number of the audit firm or branch that
performed the audit work. If the SEC determines that we have three consecutive non-inspection years, the SEC will issue a stop order to
prohibit the trading of our ADSs on any U.S. stock exchange or over-the-counter market. On December 29, 2022, the Accelerating Holding
Foreign Companies Accountable Act (the “AHFCA Act”), was signed into law, which reduced the number of consecutive non-inspection
years required for triggering the prohibitions under the AHFCA Act from three years to two. On August 26, 2022, the PCAOB announced
that it had signed a Statement of Protocol (the “Protocol””) with the China Securities Regulatory Commission and the Ministry of Finance of
the People’s Republic of China, governing inspections and investigations of audit firms based in mainland China and Hong Kong. Pursuant
to the Protocol, the PCAOB conducted inspections on select registered public accounting firms subject to the previous December 16, 2021
determinations in Hong Kong between September and November 2022. On December 15, 2022, the PCAOB board announced that it had
completed the inspections, determined that it had complete access to inspect or investigate completely registered public accounting firms
headquartered in mainland China and Hong Kong, and voted to vacate the previous December 16, 2021 determinations.
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Nevertheless, we could still face the risk of delisting and cease of trading of our securities from a stock exchange or an over-the-
counter market in the United States under the HFCA Act and the securities regulations promulgated thereunder if the PCAOB determines in
the future that it is unable to completely inspect or investigate our auditor which has a presence in China, and it may materially and
adversely affect the value of your investment.

The PRC government has significant and arbitrary influence over companies with operations in China by enforcing existing rules
and regulation, adopting new ones, or changing relevant industrial policies in a manner that may materially increase our compliance
cost, abruptly change relevant industry landscape, or cause significant changes to, or otherwise intervene or influence, our
remaining operations in China at any time, which could result in material and adverse changes in our operations and cause the
value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

We currently maintain operations in China primarily for the provision of administrative support to our cryptocurrency mining
business outside China, as well as the provision of internal information technology services to our operating entities outside China. The PRC
government has significant and arbitrary influence over the operations in China of any company by allocating resources, providing
preferential treatment to particular industries or companies, or imposing industry-wide policies on certain industries. The PRC government
may also amend or enforce existing rules and regulation, or adopt ones, which could materially increase our compliance cost, abruptly
change the relevant industry landscape, or cause significant changes to, or otherwise intervene or influence, our remaining operations in
China at any times. In addition, the PRC regulatory system is based in part on government policies and internal guidance, some of which are
not published on a timely basis or at all, and some of which may even have a retroactive effect. We may not be aware of all non-compliance
incidents at all time, and may face regulatory investigation, fines and other penalties as a result. As a result of the changes in the industrial
policies of the PRC government, including the amendment to and/or enforcement of the related laws and regulations, companies with
operations in China, including us, and the industries in which we operate, face significant compliance and operational risks and
uncertainties. For example, on July 24, 2021, Chinese state media, including Xinhua News Agency and China Central Television, announced
a broad set of reforms targeting private education companies providing after-school tutoring services and prohibiting foreign investments in
institutions providing such after-school tutoring services. As a result, the market value of certain U.S. listed companies with operations in
China in the affected sectors declined substantially. On August 30, 2021, the PRC government imposed restrictions over the provision of
online gaming services to minors, aiming at curbing excessive indulgence in online gaming and protecting minors’ mental and physical
health, which could adversely affect the development of the online gaming industry in China. The PRC government has also imposed severe
restrictions over the operations of cryptocurrency business, which changed the entire industry landscape in China. See “—It may be or
become illegal to acquire, own, hold, sell or use cryptocurrencies, participate in the blockchain, or transfer or utilize similar cryptocurrency
assets in international markets where we operate due to adverse changes in the regulatory and policy environment in these jurisdictions.” In
addition, the National Development and Reform Commission of China has classified cryptocurrency mining operations as an industry to be
eliminated. We have adopted a development strategy to focus on expansion of our blockchain and cryptocurrency mining operations in
international markets, and have adjusted our business operations in China, including the termination of the operations of our data centers in
China. As of the date of this annual report, we are not aware of any similar regulations that may be adopted to significantly curtail our
remaining non-revenue generating operations in China. However, if other adverse regulations or policies are adopted in China, our
remaining operations in China will be materially and adversely affected, and we may have to cease our administrative supports and internal
information technology services in China and move them abroad to support our international cryptocurrency mining business, and relocate
our offices and certain assets to international markets outside China, which may significantly disrupt our international operations and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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PRC regulation of loans to and direct investment in PRC entities by offshore holding companies and governmental control of
currency conversion may delay or prevent us from using the proceeds of any offering of our securities to make loans or additional
capital contributions to our PRC subsidiaries.

We are an offshore holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, with limited operations in China. To the extent necessary,
we may make loans to our PRC subsidiaries subject to the approval, registration, and filing with governmental authorities and limitation of
amount, or we may make additional capital contributions to our wholly foreign-owned subsidiaries in China. Any loans to our wholly
foreign-owned subsidiaries in China, which are treated as foreign-invested enterprises under PRC law, are subject to foreign exchange loan
registrations with the National Development and Reform Commission, or the NDRC, and SAFE or its local branches. In addition, a foreign
invested enterprise shall use its capital pursuant to the principle of authenticity and self-use within its business scope. The capital of a
foreign invested enterprise shall not be used for the following purposes: (i) directly or indirectly used for expenditures prohibited by laws
and regulations of the State; (ii) unless otherwise specified, directly or indirectly used for securities investment or other investment and
wealth management (except for wealth management products and structured deposits with risk rating results of not higher than Grade II);
(iii) used for granting loans to non-affiliated enterprises (except for circumstances where it is specified in the scope of business, or in four
areas, namely, Lin-gang Special Area of the China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone, Guangzhou Nansha New Area of the China
(Guangdong) Pilot Free Trade Zone, Yangpu Economic Development Zone of the China (Hainan) Pilot Free Trade Zone, and Beilun District
of Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province); or (iv) used for purchasing residential real estate not for self-use (except for enterprises engaging in real
estate development and leasing operation).

In light of the various requirements imposed by PRC regulations on loans to and direct investment in PRC entities by offshore
holding companies, we cannot assure you that we will be able to complete the necessary government registrations or obtain the necessary
government approvals or filings on a timely basis, if at all, with respect to future loans by us to our PRC subsidiaries or with respect to
future capital contributions by us to our PRC subsidiaries. If we fail to complete such registrations or obtain such approvals, our ability to
use the proceeds from any offering of our securities and capitalize or otherwise fund our PRC operations may be negatively affected.

‘We have changed our business model a few times during the last few years, which makes it difficult to evaluate our business.

In recent years, we have begun new lines of businesses and suspended or disposed of existing lines of businesses. Since announcing
our entry into the cryptocurrency industry in December 2020, we have (i) purchased cryptocurrency mining machines, (ii) acquired a 7-
nanometer mining machine manufacturer to unfurl a comprehensive approach to cryptocurrency mining, (iii) developed a cryptocurrency
mining data center in Ohio with power capacity of 82.5 megawatts, and (iv) completed the first closing of acquisition of cryptocurrency
mining data centers and Bitcoin mining machines in Ethiopia.

Many of our business lines are relatively new business models in an emerging and rapidly evolving market. This makes it difficult
for you to evaluate our business, financial performance and prospects, and our historical growth rate may not be indicative of our future
performance. We may not be able to realize our profit expectations when we began to offer any of these new lines of businesses. You should
consider our prospects in light of the risks and uncertainties that fast-growing companies in a rapidly evolving market may encounter.

Implementation of new lines of business may not yield desirable profits or improve our results of operations.

From time to time, we may implement new lines of business or offer new products and product enhancements as well as new
services within our existing lines of business. There are substantial risks and uncertainties associated with these efforts, particularly when
considering the market is not fully developed. In developing these new lines of business or services, we may invest significant time and
resources. Initial timetables for the introduction and development of these lines of business and services may not be achieved and
profitability targets may not prove feasible. External factors, such as compliance with regulations, competition and shifting market
preferences, may also impact the successful implementation of these new lines business or services. Our personnel and technology systems
may fail to adapt to the changes in these new lines of business or we may fail to effectively integrate new services into our existing
operations. In addition, we may be unable to compete effectively due to the different competitive landscape in the new areas of business.
Furthermore, these lines of business could have a significant impact on the effectiveness of our internal control system. Failure to
successfully manage these risks in the development and implementation of these lines of business and services could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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The success of our business depends on our ability to maintain and enhance our reputation and brand.

We have developed our reputation and established a leading position by providing our users with what we believe are superior and
trustworthy services. We have conducted, and may continue to conduct, various marketing and brand promotion activities. We cannot assure
you, however, that these activities will be successful and achieve the brand promotion and activity enhancement goals we expected. In
addition, any negative publicity in relation to our services or products, regardless of its veracity, could harm our brand image and, in turn,
have adverse effects on our user loyalty and stickiness, or result in a reduction in the number of our users. For example, we are aware of
certain complaints against our websites on a number of online forums with regard to purchase order processing and prize collections. Even
though the allegations made in such complaints were not factually proven or the amounts in issue were diminutive, such complaints can
nonetheless have a detrimental effect on our reputation. If we fail to maintain and enhance our reputation and brand, or if we incur excessive
expenses in our efforts to do so, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

We depend on the technology and advanced information system, which may fail or be subject to disruption.

We are dependent on our IT systems for handling purchase orders, and the efficiency and reliability of our systems are in turn
dependent on the functionality and stability of the underlying technical infrastructure. The functionality of the servers used by us and the
related hardware and software infrastructure are of considerable significance to our business, our reputation and our ability to attract
business partners and users. Our IT systems may be damaged or interrupted by increases in usage, human errors, unauthorized access,
destruction of hardware, power cuts not covered by backup facilities, system crashes, software problems, virus attacks, natural hazards or
disasters, or similar disruptions or disruptive events. Furthermore, our current IT systems may be unable to support a significant increase in
online traffic or an increased number of users, whether as a result of organic or inorganic growth of the business. We have in place business
continuity procedures, disaster recovery systems and security measures to protect against network or technical failures or disruptions.
Despite such procedures, failures in computer processing and weakness in the existing software and hardware cannot be entirely prevented
or eliminated. Any failure of our IT system and infrastructure could lead to significant costs and disruptions that could reduce our revenues,
harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our operations.

In addition, we rely on bandwidth providers, communications carriers, data centers and other third parties for key aspects of the
process in providing services to our users. Any failure or interruption in the services and products provided by these third parties could limit
our ability to operate certain of our businesses, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

We are exposed to contractual claims by third parties arising from regulatory actions, which could damage our reputation and
results of operations.

We have entered into various service, online payment and advertisement agreements with a number of third parties. Many of these
agreements contain warranties, indemnities and termination provisions in which we have made representations and warranties to the
counterparties as to the legitimacy of our operations and our compliance with relevant laws and regulations. If a claim or regulatory action is
brought against our counterparties alleging that our historical business conduct breached such provisions on which our counterparties have
relied, whether as a result of judicial proceedings or a change of law or otherwise, we may face material claims or regulatory actions and
may owe damages to the relevant third parties. We may also remain liable for any outstanding fees payable to the counterparty of an
agreement which has been terminated.

Future strategic acquisitions may have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation and results of operations.

We may acquire additional assets, products, technologies or businesses that are complementary to our existing business if we are
presented with appropriate opportunities. Future acquisitions and subsequent integration of newly acquired assets and businesses into our
own would require significant attention from our management and could result in a diversion of resources from our existing business, which
in turn could have an adverse effect on our business operations. Acquired assets or businesses may not generate the financial results we
expect. In addition, acquisitions could result in the use of substantial amounts of cash, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the
occurrence of significant goodwill impairment charges, amortization expenses for other intangible assets and exposure to potential unknown
liabilities of the acquired business. Moreover, the cost of identifying and consummating acquisitions may be significant.
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We may fail to detect fraudulent activities of our users or employees.

Online transactions may be subject to sophisticated schemes or collusion to defraud or other illegal activities, and there is a risk that
our platform may be used for those purposes either by our users or our employees. While we intended to continue our efforts to protect our
business and our users from such illegal activities, including a user identity verifying system and pre-payment procedures to protect against
fictitious transactions, the controls and procedures we have implemented may not be effective in all cases. Failure to protect our operations
and our users from fraudulent activity either by other users or our employees could result in reputational damage to us and could materially
and adversely affect our results of operations.

Failure to adequately protect user account information could have a material adverse effect on us.

We process our users’ personal data (including name, address, age, bank details and transaction history) as part of our business and
therefore must comply with data protection laws in China. Data protection laws restrict our ability to collect and use personal information
relating to our users and potential users. Notwithstanding our IT and data security and other systems, we may not be effective in detecting
any intrusion or other security breaches, or safeguarding against sabotage, hackers, viruses and cybercrime. We are exposed to the risk that
personal data could be wrongfully accessed and/or used, whether by employees, users or other third parties, or otherwise lost or disclosed or
processed in breach of data protection laws. If we or any of the third-party service providers whom we rely on fail to transmit user
information and payment details online in a secure manner or if any such theft or loss of personal user data were to otherwise occur, it could
subject us to liabilities under the data protection laws or result in the loss of the goodwill of our users.

We have no insurance coverage against business interruptions.

We do not have any business interruption insurance. We have no insurance for the cryptocurrency mining machines in our internet
data centers. Any business disruption or natural disaster that affects our data centers and mining machines could result in us incurring
substantial costs, including costs to repair our data centers or acquire new mining machines, and a diversion of our resources away from our
business, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We might not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property rights.

We believe our trademarks, software, technology know-how and other intellectual property provide competitive advantages to us,
which are important to our achievements to date and our future success. We have invested significant resources to develop our brand name
and domain name, which is an important asset to us. We cannot assure you that steps taken to protect our intellectual property rights will be
sufficient to prevent infringement of our intellectual property rights. If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights,
including our rights in our trademarks and know-how, it could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

The validity, enforceability and scope of protection available under intellectual property laws with respect to the Internet industry in
China are uncertain and evolving. Implementation and enforcement of PRC intellectual property-related laws have historically been
deficient and ineffective. Accordingly, protection of intellectual property rights in China may not be as effective as in the United States or
other western countries. Furthermore, policing unauthorized use of proprietary technology is difficult and expensive, and we may need to
resort to litigation to enforce or defend our copyrights or other intellectual property rights or to determine the enforceability, scope and
validity of our proprietary rights or those of others. Such litigation and any adverse determination thereof could result in substantial costs
and diversion of resources and management attention away from our business.

We rely on our senior management and key employees.

Our success is dependent upon the expertise and continued service of our senior management and other key personnel. Most of our
senior management team members have 20 years of experience in information technology or Internet-related industries. They are crucial to
our smooth operation and continued innovation. In addition, we rely on a limited number of specialized staff members in certain areas of our
IT operations where we do not receive support from external service providers. Furthermore, our ability to expand our operations to
accommodate our anticipated growth will also depend on our ability to attract and retain additional personnel such as qualified risk
managers, finance, management, marketing, technical and other personnel. Competition for these employees is intense due to the limited
number of qualified personnel. It may be difficult for us to manage our business and meet our objectives if we fail to attract and retain such
personnel and our results of operations or financial condition may be adversely affected.

18



Table of Contents

We are dependent on external service providers with respect to payment and settlement processing, and the provision of faulty
services by these providers could lead to financial loss and damage to our reputation.

We are dependent on cooperation with external service providers with specialist knowledge and technology for processing orders.
This includes, among other things, data and voice communication, procurement, installation, further development, maintenance and
servicing of hardware and software, server housing and payment processing. It is possible that one or more of the external service providers
do not perform the services, or that they do not perform them in a timely and accurate manner. It is therefore possible that, due to failures or
omissions by the external service providers that we have engaged, we will not be in a position to perform our own services faultlessly or on
time. This could lead to revenue losses, liability for damage, and substantial damage to our reputation.

Our quarterly revenues and operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results of operations difficult to predict and may
cause our quarterly results of operations to fall short of expectations.

Our quarterly revenues and operating results have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate depending upon a number of
factors, many of which are out of our control. For these reasons, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be
meaningful, and you should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance. Our quarterly and annual revenues and
costs and expenses as a percentage of our revenues may be significantly different from our historical or projected rates. Our operating results
in future quarters may fall below expectations. Any of these events could cause the price of our ADSs to fall. Other factors that may affect
our financial results include, among others:

e changes in government policies or regulations, or their enforcement;
e economic conditions in worldwide; and
e geopolitical events or natural disasters such as war, threat of war, earthquake or epidemics.

The ability of U.S. authorities to bring actions for violations of U.S. securities law and regulations against us, our directors, executive
officers or the expert named in this annual report may be limited and therefore you may not be afforded the same protection as
provided to investors in U.S. domestic companies.

The Securities and Exchange Commission, or the Commission or the SEC, U.S. Department of Justice, or the DOJ, and other
authorities often have substantial difficulties in bringing and enforcing actions against non-U.S. companies such as us, and non-U.S. persons,
such as our directors and executive officers in China. Due to jurisdictional limitations, matters of comity and various other factors, the SEC,
DOJ and other U.S. authorities may be limited in their ability to pursue bad actors, including in instances of fraud, in emerging markets such
as China. Most of our operations are conducted, and most of our assets are located, outside China; however, some of our directors and
executive officers reside within China. There are significant legal and other obstacles for U.S. authorities to obtain information needed for
investigations or litigation against us or our directors, executive officers or other gatekeepers in case we or any of these individuals engage
in fraud or other wrongdoing. In addition, local authorities in China may be constrained in their ability to assist U.S. authorities and overseas
investors more generally. As a result, if we have any material disclosure violation or if our directors, executive officers or other gatekeepers
commit any fraud or other financial misconduct, the U.S. authorities may not be able to conduct effective investigations or bring and enforce
actions against us, our directors, executive officers or other gatekeepers. Therefore, you may not be able to enjoy the same protection
provided by various U.S. authorities as it is provided to investors in U.S. domestic companies.

Our grant of employee share options, restricted shares or other share-based compensation and any future grants could have an
adverse effect on our net income.

U.S. GAAP prescribes how we account for share-based compensation and may have an adverse impact on our results of operations
or the price of our ADSs. U.S. GAAP requires us to recognize share-based compensation as compensation expense in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income generally based on the fair value of equity awards on the date of the grant, with compensation expense
recognized over the period in which the recipient is required to provide service in exchange for the equity award. The expenses associated
with share-based compensation may reduce the attractiveness of issuing share options or restricted shares under our equity incentive plan.
However, if we do not grant share options or restricted shares, or reduce the number of share options or restricted shares we grant, we may
not be able to attract and retain key personnel. If we grant more share options or restricted shares to attract and retain key personnel, the
expenses associated with share-based compensation may adversely affect our net income.
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We could be adversely affected by political tensions between the United States and China.

Political tensions between the United States and China have escalated in recent years due to, among other things, the ongoing trade
war between the two countries, the COVID-19 outbreak, the PRC National People’s Congress’ passage of Hong Kong national security
legislation, the imposition of U.S. sanctions on certain Chinese officials from China’s central government and the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region by the U.S. government, and the imposition of sanctions on certain individuals from the U.S. by the Chinese
government. Export controls, economic and trade sanctions have been imposed and/or threatened by the U.S. government on a number of
Chinese technology companies. The United States has also threatened to impose further export controls, sanctions, trade embargoes, and
other heightened regulatory requirements on China and Chinese companies. These have raised concerns that there may be increasing
regulatory challenges or enhanced restrictions against China and other Chinese technology companies in a wide range of areas such as data
security, emerging technologies, semiconductor manufacturing, artificial intelligence, “dual-use” commercial technologies and applications
that could be deployed for surveillance or military purposes, import/export of technology or other business activities. For instance, in 2019
and 2020, the U.S. government announced several executive orders and regulations effectively barring American firms from selling,
exporting, re-exporting, or transferring U.S.-origin technology, components and software, among other items, to Chinese technology
companies and their respective affiliates. In May 2020, the U.S. Bureau of Industry and Security, or BIS, announced plans to restrict certain
Chinese companies and their overseas-related affiliates’ ability to use U.S. technology and software to design and manufacture their
products. In August 2020, the U.S. State Department expanded their “Clean Network™ program to cover, among others, availability of apps
from Chinese companies and storage of data sensitive to U.S. citizens and businesses on cloud-based storage systems run by Chinese
companies, including Alibaba. Various executive orders issued by U.S. President Trump have also led to escalating political tensions
between the U.S. and China, such as the one issued in August 2020 that prohibits certain transactions with ByteDance Ltd., Tencent
Holdings Ltd. and the respective subsidiaries of such companies, the executive order issued in November 2020 that prohibits U.S. persons
from transacting publicly traded securities of certain “Communist Chinese military companies” named in such executive order, as well as the
executive order issued in January 2021 that prohibits such transactions as are identified by the U.S. Secretary of Commerce with certain
“Chinese connected software applications,” including Alipay and WeChat Pay. When such measures become effective, any transaction that
is related to such target companies by any such person, or with respect to any such property, subject to the jurisdiction of the United States,
with such target companies shall be prohibited. In March 2021, the Federal Communications Commission, or the FCC, said it had identified
five Chinese companies that posed a threat to U.S. national security. In November 2021, the U.S. enacted the Secure Equipment Act, which
stops companies judged to be a security threat from receiving new telecoms equipment licenses, and directs the Federal Communications
Commission not to review applications from such companies ruled a threat. The Secure Equipment Act signifies that equipment from
Huawei, ZTE and three other Chinese companies cannot be used in U.S. telecoms networks. In August 2022, the U.S. enacted the Creating
Helpful Incentives to Produce Semiconductors and Science Act of 2022 (CHIPS Act). The CHIPS Act aims to strengthen U.S. domestic
semiconductor manufacturing, design and research, fortify the economy and national security, and to help the U.S. compete economically
against China. In October 2022, BIS released broad changes in export control regulations, including new regulations restricting the export to
China of advanced semiconductors, supercomputer technology, equipment for the manufacturing of advanced semiconductors, and
components and technology for the manufacturing in China of certain semiconductor manufacturing equipment. These restrictions or
regulations, and similar or more expansive restrictions or regulations that may be imposed by the U.S. or other jurisdictions in the future,
may materially and adversely affect our ability to acquire technologies, systems, devices or components that may be critical to our
technology infrastructure, service offerings and business operations. There can be no assurance that the current and/or future restrictions or
regulations implemented by the U.S. government, or authorities in other jurisdictions, and related developments, will not have a negative
impact on our business operations or reputation.

In addition, if any additional existing or potential customers and/or suppliers of ours or any other parties that have collaborative
relationships with us or our affiliates, or our company, were to become targeted under sanctions or export control restrictions, this may result
in significant interruption in our business, regulatory investigations and reputational harm to us. Media reports on alleged violation of export
control or economic and trade sanctions or data security and privacy laws, by us or by our customers, even on matters not involving us,
could nevertheless damage our reputation and lead to regulatory investigations, fines and penalties against us. Such fines and penalties may
be significant, and if we were publicly named or investigated by any regulator on the basis of suspected or alleged violations of export
control or economic and trade sanctions or data security and privacy laws and rules, even in situations where the potential amount or fine
involved may be relatively small, our businesses could be severely interrupted and our reputation could be significantly harmed.
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Furthermore, rising trade and political tensions between the United States and China could place pressure on the economic growth
in China as well as the rest of the world. Such rising tensions could also reduce levels of trade, investments, technological exchanges and
other economic activities between the two major economies, which would have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and
the stability of global financial markets. Starting from February 2025, the U.S. government imposed a series of tariff increases on imports
from China. Following the recent announcement by President Trump on April 9, 2025, the tariffs on imports from China have been raised to
145%, and a fact sheet issued by White House on April 15, 2025 indicated that tariffs on certain goods imported from China could be as
high as 245%. In response to the multiple rounds of tariff increases by the U.S. government, China also announced several rounds of
retaliatory tariffs on goods imported from the U.S., raising the rate to 125%. There may be further developments in tariff policies that are
currently unpredictable. Trade tension between China and the United States may further intensify. The United States may adopt even more
drastic measures in the future, and China may further retaliate in response to new trade policies, treaties and tariffs implemented by the
United States. If we were unable to conduct our business as it is currently conducted as a result of such regulatory or policy changes, our
business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

Any further escalation in trade or other tensions between the United States and China or news and rumors of any escalation, could
introduce further uncertainties to the global economy. Any decline in, or slowdown in the growth of, the cryptocurrency industry may lead to
decreased demand for our services, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

In October 2024, the U.S. Treasury Department issued a final rule establishing a new national security regulatory framework
restricting outbound investment from the United States in certain sensitive industries and sectors in China including the Special
Administrative Regions of Hong Kong and Macau (the “Outbound Investment Rule”). The Outbound Investment Rule, which took effect on
January 2, 2025, targets investments involving any “covered foreign person” which includes persons and entities associated with countries of
concern, currently only China, that engage in certain activities in three sectors: (i) semiconductor and microelectronics, (ii) quantum
information technologies, and (iii) artificial intelligence systems. Depending on the activity in question, the Outbound Investment Rule
imposes obligations on U.S. persons, either prohibiting, or requiring notification to the U.S. government concerning, “covered transactions,”
which is defined to include, among other things, acquisitions of equity interests or provision of certain debt financing to covered foreign
persons, brownfield or greenfield investment in China, or entry into a joint venture with a covered person, unless an enumerated exception
applies, such as investment in publicly traded securities. We currently do not believe that we are a “covered foreign person” under the
Outbound Investment Rule. However, there is no assurance that the U.S. Treasury Department will take the same view as ours. If we were to
be deemed a Covered Foreign Person, our ability to raise capital would be significantly and negatively affected, which could be detrimental
to our business, financial condition and prospects. In such case, the trading prices of our ADSs and/or our Class A ordinary shares may be
materially and adversely affected and the value of our securities may decline significantly. It is also possible that the U.S. government may
expand the sectors and technologies subject to the Outbound Investment Rule or adopt additional laws or regulations further restricting
outbound investment from the U.S. to or relating to China. For example, on February 20, 2025, President Trump issued the America First
Trade Policy Memorandum, which proposes possible expansion of the set of technologies of concern and a review of exceptions to the
Outbound Investment Rule, possibly including changes to the existing exception for publicly trades securities. As of the date of this annual
report, the proposed changes under the America First Investment Policy are not implemented, although the proposed restrictions may further
deepen the uncertainties for cross-border collaborations, investments, and funding opportunities for China-based issuers. If our ability to
raise such capital is significantly and negatively affected, it could be detrimental to our business, financial condition and prospects, and our
ADSs may significantly decline in value.

Furthermore, there were media reports on deliberations within the U.S. government regarding potentially limiting or restricting
China-based companies from accessing U.S. capital markets, and delisting China-based companies from U.S. national securities exchanges.
In January 2021, after reversing its own delisting decision, the NYSE ultimately resolved to delist China Mobile, China Unicom and China
Telecom in compliance with the executive order issued in November 2020, after receiving additional guidance from the U.S. Department of
Treasury and its Office of Foreign Assets Control. These delistings have introduced greater confusion and uncertainty about the status and
prospects of Chinese companies listed on the U.S. stock exchanges. On April 9, 2025, amid the escalation of trade war between the U.S. and
China, the U.S. Secretary of the State, Scott Bessent, indicated the possibility of delisting U.S.-listed China-based issuers. If any further such
deliberations were to materialize, it may have a material and adverse impact on the stock performance of China-based issuers listed in the
United States such as us, and we cannot assure you that we will always be able to maintain the listing of our ADSs on a national stock
exchange in the U.S., such as the NYSE or the Nasdaq Stock Market, or that you will always be allowed to trade our ADSs.
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Our mining operating costs outpace our mining revenues, which could seriously harm our business or increase our losses.

Our mining operations are costly and our expenses may increase in the future. This expense increase may not be offset by a
corresponding increase in revenue. Our expenses may be greater than we anticipate, and our investments to make our business more efficient
may not succeed and may outpace monetization efforts. Increases in our costs without a corresponding increase in our revenue would
increase our losses and could seriously harm our business and financial performance.

We have an evolving business model which is subject to various uncertainties.

Since announcing our entry into the cryptocurrency industry in December 2020, we have (i) purchased cryptocurrency mining
machines, (ii) acquired a 7-nanometer mining machine manufacturer to unfurl a comprehensive approach to cryptocurrency mining, (iii)
developed a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ohio with power capacity of 82.5 megawatts, and (iv) completed the first closing of
acquisition of cryptocurrency mining data centers and Bitcoin mining machines in Ethiopia. As cryptocurrency assets and blockchain
technologies become more widely available, we expect the services and products associated with them to evolve. In order to stay current
with the industry, our business model may need to continue to evolve as well. From time to time, we may modify aspects of our business
model relating to our strategy. There can be no assurance that these or any other modifications will be successful or will not result in harm to
our business. We may not be able to manage growth effectively, which could damage our reputation, limit our growth and negatively affect
our operating results. Further, we cannot provide any assurance that we will successfully identify all emerging trends and growth
opportunities in this business sector and we may lose out on those opportunities. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on
our business, prospects or operations.

We may acquire other businesses, form joint ventures or acquire other companies or businesses that could negatively affect our
operating results, dilute our shareholders’ ownership, increase our debt or cause us to incur significant expense; notwithstanding the
foregoing, our growth may depend on our success in uncovering and completing such transactions.

We have been and will continue to actively consider strategic opportunities, particularly in the field of blockchain and
cryptocurrency; however, there can be no assurance that acquisitions of businesses, assets and/or entering into strategic alliances or joint
ventures will be successful. We may not be able to find suitable partners or acquisition candidates and may not be able to complete such
transactions on favorable terms, if at all. If we make any acquisitions, we may not be able to integrate these acquisitions successfully into the
existing business and could assume unknown or contingent liabilities. Furthermore, most potential partners and acquisition candidates in the
field of blockchain and cryptocurrency have a short operating history and an evolving business model, which heighten the risks to us and
may reduce the likelihood that any such partnership or acquisition will be successful.

Any future acquisitions also could result in the issuance of ordinary shares, incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or future write-
offs of intangible assets or goodwill, any of which could have a negative impact on our cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations. Integration of an acquired company may also disrupt ongoing operations and require management resources that otherwise
would be focused on developing and expanding our existing business. We may experience losses related to potential investments in other
companies, which could harm our financial condition and results of operations. Further, we may not realize the anticipated benefits of any
acquisition, strategic alliance or joint venture if such investments do not materialize.

To finance any acquisitions or joint ventures, we may choose to issue shares of ordinary shares, preferred shares or a combination
of debt and equity as consideration, which could significantly dilute the ownership of our existing sharcholders or provide rights to such
preferred shareholders in priority over holders of our ordinary shares. Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to
us, or at all. If the price of our ADSs is low or volatile, we may not be able to acquire other companies or fund a joint venture project using
ordinary shares as consideration.

We may not be able to compete with other companies, some of whom have greater resources and experience.

We may not be able to compete successfully against present or future competitors. We do not have the resources to compete with
larger providers of similar services at this time. The cryptocurrency industry has attracted various high-profile and well-established
operators, some of which have substantially greater liquidity and financial resources than we do. With the limited resources we have
available, we may experience great difficulties in expanding and improving our network of computers to remain competitive. Competition
from existing and future competitors could result in our inability to secure acquisitions and partnerships that we may need to expand our
business in the future. This competition from other entities with greater resources, experience and reputations may result in our failure to
maintain or expand our business, as we may never be able to successfully execute our business plan. If we are unable to expand and remain
competitive, our business could be negatively affected which would have an adverse effect on the trading price of our ADSs, which would
harm investors in our company.
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If regulatory changes or interpretations require the regulation of bitcoins under the Securities Act and Investment Company Act by
the SEC, we may be required to register and comply with such regulations. To the extent that we decide to continue operations, the
required registrations and regulatory compliance steps may result in extraordinary, non-recurring expenses to us. We may also
decide to cease certain operations. Any disruption of our operations in response to the changed regulatory circumstances may be at
a time that is disadvantageous to investors. This would likely have a material adverse effect on us and investors may lose their
investment.

Current and future legislation and the SEC rulemaking and other regulatory developments, including interpretations released by a
regulatory authority, may impact the manner in which bitcoins are treated for classification and clearing purposes. The SEC’s July 25, 2017
Report expressed its view that digital assets may be securities depending on the facts and circumstances. As of the date of this annual report,
we are not aware of any rules that have been proposed to regulate bitcoins as securities. We cannot be certain as to how future regulatory
developments will impact the treatment of bitcoins under the law. Such additional registrations may result in extraordinary, non-recurring
expenses, thereby materially and adversely impacting an investment in us. If we determine not to comply with such additional regulatory
and registration requirements, we may seek to cease certain of our operations. Any such action may adversely affect an investment in us.

To the extent that digital assets including ether, bitcoins and other digital assets we may own are deemed by the SEC to fall within
the definition of a security, we may be required to register and comply with additional regulation under the Investment Company Act,
including additional periodic reporting and disclosure standards and requirements and the registration of our Company as an investment
company. If we determine not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, we may seek to cease all or certain
parts of our operations. Any such action would likely adversely affect an investment in us and investors may suffer a complete loss of their
investment.

Cryptocurrency-Related Risks

Regulatory changes or actions may alter the nature of an investment in us or restrict the use of cryptocurrencies in a manner that
adversely affects our business, prospects or operations.

As cryptocurrencies have grown in both popularity and market size, governments around the world have reacted differently to
cryptocurrencies; certain governments have deemed them illegal, and others have allowed their use and trade without restriction, while in
some jurisdictions, such as in the U.S., subject to extensive, and in some cases overlapping, unclear and evolving regulatory requirements.
Ongoing and future regulatory actions may impact our ability to continue to operate, and such actions could affect our ability to continue as
a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations.

The development and acceptance of cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the issuance of and transactions in
cryptocurrencies is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate.

The use of cryptocurrencies to, among other things, buy and sell goods and services and complete transactions, is part of a new and
rapidly evolving industry that employs cryptocurrency assets based upon a computer-generated mathematical and/or cryptographic
protocol. Large-scale acceptance of cryptocurrencies as a means of payment has not, and may never, occur. The growth of this industry in
general, and the use of cryptocurrencies in particular, is subject to a high degree of uncertainty, and the slowing or stopping of the
development or acceptance of developing protocols may occur unpredictably. The factors include, but are not limited to:

e continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of cryptocurrencies as a medium to exchange;

e governmental and quasi-governmental regulation of cryptocurrencies and their use, or restrictions on or regulation of access to and
operation of the network or similar cryptocurrency systems;

e changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences;
e the maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of the network;

e the increased consolidation of contributors to the bitcoin blockchain through mining pools;
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e the availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including new means of using
fiat currencies;

e the use of the networks supporting cryptocurrencies for developing smart contracts and distributed applications;
e general economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to cryptocurrencies;

e political stability of the jurisdictions where we house and operate our cryptocurrency mining machines, as any instability or unrest
could lead to damage to our assets or disruption to our operations; and

e negative consumer sentiment and perception of bitcoin specifically and cryptocurrencies generally.

The outcome of these factors could have negative effects on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our business
strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations as well as potentially negative effect on
the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account, which would harm investors in
our securities.

Banks and financial institutions may not provide banking services, or may cut off services, to businesses that engage in
cryptocurrency-related activities or that accept cryptocurrencies as payment, including financial institutions of investors in our
securities.

A number of companies that engage in bitcoin and/or other cryptocurrency-related activities have been unable to find banks or
financial institutions that are willing to provide them with bank accounts and other services. Similarly, a number of companies and
individuals or businesses associated with cryptocurrencies may have had and may continue to have their existing bank accounts closed or
services discontinued with financial institutions in response to government action, particularly in China, where regulatory response to
cryptocurrencies has been to exclude their use for ordinary consumer transactions within China. We also may be unable to obtain or maintain
these services for our business. The difficulty that many businesses that provide bitcoin and/or derivatives on other cryptocurrency-related
activities have and may continue to have in finding banks and financial institutions willing to provide them services may be decreasing the
usefulness of cryptocurrencies as a payment system and harming public perception of cryptocurrencies, and could decrease their usefulness
and harm their public perception in the future.

The usefulness of cryptocurrencies as a payment system and the public perception of cryptocurrencies could be damaged if banks
or financial institutions were to close the accounts of businesses engaging in bitcoin and/or other cryptocurrency-related activities. This
could occur as a result of compliance risk, cost, government regulation or public pressure. The risk applies to securities firms, clearance and
settlement firms, national stock and derivatives on commodities exchanges, the over-the-counter market, and the Depository Trust Company,
which, if any of such entities adopts or implements similar policies, rules or regulations, could negatively affect our relationships with
financial institutions and impede our ability to convert cryptocurrencies to fiat currencies. Such factors could have a material adverse effect
on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects or operations and harm investors.

We may face risks of Internet disruptions, which could have an adverse effect on the price of cryptocurrencies.

A disruption of the Internet may affect the use of cryptocurrencies and subsequently the value of our securities. Generally,
cryptocurrencies and our business of mining cryptocurrencies is dependent upon the Internet. A significant disruption in Internet
connectivity could disrupt a currency’s network operations until the disruption is resolved and have an adverse effect on the price of
cryptocurrencies and our ability to mine cryptocurrencies.

The digital asset exchanges on which digital assets trade are relatively new and, in most cases, largely unregulated and may
therefore be more exposed to fraud and failure than established, regulated exchanges for other products. To the extent that the
digital asset exchanges representing a substantial portion of the volume in digital asset trading are involved in fraud or experience
security failures or other operational issues, such digital asset exchanges’ failures may result in a reduction in the price of some or
all digital assets and can adversely affect an investment in us.

The digital asset exchanges on which the digital assets trade are new and, in most cases, largely unregulated. Furthermore, many
digital asset exchanges (including several of the most prominent USD denominated digital asset exchanges) do not provide the public with
significant information regarding their ownership structure, management teams, corporate practices or regulatory compliance. As a result,
the marketplace may lose confidence in, or may experience problems relating to, digital asset exchanges, including prominent exchanges
handling a significant portion of the volume of digital asset trading.
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For example, over the past four years, a number of bitcoin exchanges have been closed due to fraud, failure or security breaches. In
many of these instances, the customers of such bitcoin exchanges were not compensated or made whole for the partial or complete losses of
their account balances in such bitcoin exchanges. While smaller bitcoin exchanges are less likely to have the infrastructure and capitalization
that make larger bitcoin exchanges more stable, larger bitcoin exchanges are more likely to be appealing targets for hackers and “malware”
(i.e., software used or programmed by attackers to disrupt computer operation, gather sensitive information or gain access to private
computer systems). Further, the collapse of the largest bitcoin exchange in 2014 suggests that the failure of one component of the overall
bitcoin ecosystem can have consequences for both users of a bitcoin exchange and the bitcoin industry as a whole.

A lack of stability in the digital asset exchange market and the closure or temporary shutdown of digital asset exchanges due to
fraud, business failure, hackers or malware, or government-mandated regulation may reduce confidence in the digital asset networks and
result in greater volatility in digital asset values. These potential consequences of a digital asset exchange’s failure could adversely affect an
investment in us.

The impact of geopolitical and economic events on the supply and demand for cryptocurrencies is uncertain.

Geopolitical crises may motivate large-scale purchases of bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies, which could increase the price of
bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies rapidly. This may increase the likelihood of a subsequent price decrease as crisis-driven purchasing
behavior dissipates, adversely affecting the value of our inventory following such downward adjustment. Such risks are similar to the risks
of purchasing commodities in general uncertain times, such as the risk of purchasing, holding or selling gold. Alternatively, as an emerging
asset class with limited acceptance as a payment system or commodity, global crises and general economic downturn may discourage
investment in cryptocurrencies as investors focus their investment on less volatile asset classes as a means of hedging their investment risk.

As an alternative to fiat currencies that are backed by central governments, cryptocurrencies, which are relatively new, are subject
to supply and demand forces. How such supply and demand will be impacted by geopolitical events is largely uncertain but could be
harmful to us and investors in our ADSs. Political or economic crises may motivate large-scale acquisitions or sales of cryptocurrencies
either globally or locally. Such events could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new
strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or
any other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

Acceptance and/or widespread use of cryptocurrency is uncertain.

Currently, there is a relatively limited use of any cryptocurrency in the retail and commercial marketplace, thus contributing to price
volatility that could adversely affect an investment in our securities. Banks and other established financial institutions may refuse to process
funds for cryptocurrency transactions, process wire transfers to or from cryptocurrency exchanges, cryptocurrency-related companies or
service providers, or maintain accounts for persons or entities transacting in cryptocurrency. Conversely, a significant portion of
cryptocurrency demand is generated by investors seeking a long-term store of value or speculators seeking to profit from the short- or long-
term holding of the asset. Price volatility undermines any cryptocurrency’s role as a medium of exchange, as retailers are much less likely to
accept it as a form of payment. Market capitalization for a cryptocurrency as a medium of exchange and payment method may always be
low.

The relative lack of acceptance of cryptocurrencies in the retail and commercial marketplace, or a reduction of such use, limits the
ability of end users to use them to pay for goods and services. Such lack of acceptance or decline in acceptances could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of bitcoin or any other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or
hold for our own account.

Transactional fees may decrease demand for bitcoin and prevent expansion.

As the number of bitcoins currency rewards awarded for solving a block in a blockchain decreases, the incentive for mining
machines to continue to contribute to the bitcoin network may transition from a set reward to transaction fees.
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In order to incentivize mining machines to continue to contribute to the bitcoin network, the bitcoin network may either formally or
informally transition from a set reward to transaction fees earned upon solving a block. This transition could be accomplished by mining
machines independently electing to record in the blocks they solve only those transactions that include payment of a transaction fee. If
transaction fees paid for bitcoin transactions become too high, the marketplace may be reluctant to accept bitcoin as a means of payment and
existing users may be motivated to switch from bitcoin to another cryptocurrency or to fiat currency. Either the requirement from mining
machines of higher transaction fees in exchange for recording transactions in a blockchain or a software upgrade that automatically charges
fees for all transactions may decrease demand for bitcoin and prevent the expansion of the bitcoin network to retail merchants and
commercial businesses, resulting in a reduction in the price of bitcoin that could adversely impact an investment in our securities. Decreased
use and demand for bitcoin may adversely affect its value and result in a reduction in the price of bitcoin and the value of our ADSs.

The decentralized nature of cryptocurrency systems may lead to slow or inadequate responses to crises, which may negatively affect
our business.

The decentralized nature of the governance of cryptocurrency systems may lead to ineffective decision making that slows
development or prevents a network from overcoming emergent obstacles. Governance of many cryptocurrency systems is by voluntary
consensus and open competition with no clear leadership structure or authority. To the extent lack of clarity in corporate governance of
cryptocurrency systems leads to ineffective decision making that slows development and growth of such cryptocurrencies, the value of our
ADSs may be adversely affected.

It may be illegal now, or in the future, to mine for, acquire, own, hold, sell or use bitcoin, ether, or other cryptocurrencies,
participate in blockchains or utilize similar cryptocurrency assets in one or more countries, the ruling of which would adversely
affect us.

Although currently cryptocurrencies generally are not regulated or are lightly regulated in most countries, one or more countries
such as China and Russia, which have taken harsh regulatory action in recent months, may take regulatory actions in the future that could
severely restrict the right to mine for, acquire, own, hold, sell or use these cryptocurrency assets or to exchange for fiat currency. In many
nations, particularly in China and Russia, it is illegal to accept payment in bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies for consumer transactions and
banking institutions are barred from accepting deposits of cryptocurrencies. Such restrictions may adversely affect us as the large-scale use
of cryptocurrencies as a means of exchange is presently confined to certain regions globally. In addition, mining for bitcoin, ether, or other
cryptocurrencies may become restricted or prohibited in locations where we operate. Such circumstances could have a material adverse
effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for
our own account, and harm investors.

There is a lack of liquid markets, and possible manipulation of blockchain/cryptocurrency-based assets.

Cryptocurrencies that are represented and trade on a ledger-based platform may not necessarily benefit from viable trading markets.
Stock exchanges have listing requirements and vet issuers; requiring them to be subjected to rigorous listing standards and rules, and
monitor investors transacting on such platform for fraud and other improprieties. These conditions may not necessarily be replicated on a
distributed ledger platform, depending on the platform’s controls and other policies. The laxer a distributed ledger platform is about vetting
issuers of cryptocurrency assets or users that transact on the platform, the higher the potential risk for fraud or the manipulation of the ledger
due to a control event. These factors may decrease liquidity or volume or may otherwise increase volatility of investment securities or other
assets trading on a ledger-based system, which may adversely affect us. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own
account, and harm investors.
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Our operations, investment strategies and profitability may be adversely affected by competition from other methods of investing in
cryptocurrencies.

We compete with other users and/or companies that are mining cryptocurrencies and other potential financial vehicles, including
securities backed by or linked to cryptocurrencies through entities similar to us. Market and financial conditions, and other conditions
beyond our control, may make it more attractive to invest in other financial vehicles, or to invest in cryptocurrencies directly, which could
limit the market for our shares and reduce their liquidity. The emergence of other financial vehicles and exchange-traded funds have been
scrutinized by regulators and such scrutiny and the negative impressions or conclusions resulting from such scrutiny could be applicable to
us and impact our ability to successfully pursue our new strategy or operate at all, or to establish or maintain a public market for our
securities. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new
strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or
other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account, and harm investors.

The development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies may cause consumers to use alternative
distributed ledgers or other alternatives.

The development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies may cause consumers to use alternative
distributed ledgers or an alternative to distributed ledgers altogether. Our business utilizes presently existent digital ledgers and blockchains
and we could face difficulty adapting to emergent digital ledgers, blockchains, or alternatives thereto. This may adversely affect us and our
exposure to various blockchain technologies and prevent us from realizing the anticipated profits from our investments. Such circumstances
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or
otherwise acquire or hold for our own account, and harm investors.

Our cryptocurrencies may be subject to loss, theft or restriction on access.

There is a risk that some or all of our cryptocurrencies could be lost or stolen. Cryptocurrencies are stored in cryptocurrency sites
commonly referred to as “wallets” by holders of cryptocurrencies which may be accessed to exchange a holder’s cryptocurrency assets.
Access to our cryptocurrency assets could also be restricted by cybercrime (such as a denial of service attack) against a service at which we
maintain a hosted hot wallet. A hot wallet refers to any cryptocurrency wallet that is connected to the Internet. Generally, hot wallets are
casier to set up and access then wallets in cold storage, but they are also more susceptible to hackers and other technical vulnerabilities. Cold
storage refers to any cryptocurrency wallet that is not connected to the Internet. Cold storage is generally more secure than hot storage, but is
not ideal for quick or regular transactions and we may experience lag time in our ability to respond to market fluctuations in the price of our
cryptocurrency assets. We currently hold all of our cryptocurrencies in hot wallets and are exploring the use of cold storage. However, the
risk of loss of our cryptocurrency assets cannot be wholly eliminated even if cold storage is used.

Hackers or malicious actors may launch attacks to steal, compromise or secure cryptocurrencies, such as by attacking the
cryptocurrency network source code, exchange mining machines, third-party platforms, cold and hot storage locations or software, or by
other means. We may be in control and possession of one of the more substantial holdings of cryptocurrency. As we increase in size, we may
become a more appealing target of hackers, malware, cyber-attacks or other security threats. Any of these events may adversely affect our
operations and, consequently, our investments and profitability. The loss or destruction of a private key required to access our digital wallets
may be irreversible and we may be denied access for all time to our cryptocurrency holdings or the holdings of others held in those
compromised wallets. Our loss of access to our private keys or our experience of a data loss relating to our digital wallets could adversely
affect our investments and assets.

Cryptocurrencies are controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public and private keys relating to the local or online
digital wallet in which they are held, which wallet’s public key or address is reflected in the network’s public blockchain. We will publish
the public key relating to digital wallets in use when we verify the receipt of transfers and disseminate such information into the network,
but we will need to safeguard the private keys relating to such digital wallets. To the extent such private keys are lost, destroyed or otherwise
compromised, we will be unable to access our cryptocurrency rewards and such private keys may not be capable of being restored by any
network. Any loss of private keys relating to digital wallets used to store our cryptocurrencies could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own
account.
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Risks due to hacking or adverse software event.

There can be no assurances that any processes to manage wallets that are associated with our cryptocurrency holdings that we have
adopted or will adopt in the future are or will be secure or effective, and we would suffer significant and immediate adverse effects if we
suffered a loss of our cryptocurrency due to an adverse software or cybersecurity event. Human error and the constantly evolving state of
cybercrime and hacking techniques may render present security protocols and procedures ineffective in ways which we cannot predict. If our
security procedures and protocols are ineffectual and our cryptocurrency assets are compromised by cybercriminals, we may not have
adequate recourse to recover our losses stemming from such compromise and we may lose much of the accumulated value of our
cryptocurrency mining activities. This would have a negative impact on our business and operations.

Incorrect or fraudulent cryptocurrency transactions may be irreversible.

Cryptocurrency transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred cryptocurrencies may be irretrievable. As a result,
any incorrectly executed or fraudulent cryptocurrency transactions could adversely affect our investments and assets.

Cryptocurrency transactions are not, from an administrative perspective, reversible without the consent and active participation of
the recipient of the cryptocurrencies from the transaction. In theory, cryptocurrency transactions may be reversible with the control or
consent of a majority of processing power on the network, however, we do not now, nor is it feasible that we could in the future, possess
sufficient processing power to effect this reversal. Once a transaction has been verified and recorded in a block that is added to a blockchain,
an incorrect transfer of a cryptocurrency or a theft thereof generally will not be reversible and we may not have sufficient recourse to recover
our losses from any such transfer or theft. It is possible that, through computer or human error, or through theft or criminal action, our
cryptocurrency rewards could be transferred in incorrect amounts or to unauthorized third parties, or to uncontrolled accounts. Further,
according to the SEC, at this time, there is no specifically enumerated U.S. or foreign governmental, regulatory, investigative or
prosecutorial authority or mechanism through which to bring an action or complaint regarding missing or stolen cryptocurrency. We would
be, therefore, reliant on existing private investigative entities to investigate any potential loss of our cryptocurrency assets. Such third-party
service providers rely on data analysis and compliance of ISPs with traditional court orders to reveal information such as the IP addresses of
any attackers who may have target us. To the extent that we are unable to recover our losses from such action, error or theft, such events
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations of and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine
or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

Our interactions with a blockchain may expose us to SDN or blocked persons or cause us to violate provisions of law that did not
contemplate distribute ledger technology.

The Office of Financial Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury requires us to comply with its sanction program and not
conduct business with persons named on its specially designated nationals (“SDN”) list. However, because of the pseudonymous nature of
blockchain transactions we may inadvertently and without our knowledge engage in transactions with persons named on OFAC’s SDN list.
Our Company’s policy prohibits any transactions with such SDN individuals, but we may not be adequately capable of determining the
ultimate identity of the individual with whom we transact with respect to selling cryptocurrency assets. Moreover, federal law prohibits any
U.S. person from knowingly or unknowingly possessing any visual depiction commonly known as child pornography. Recent media reports
have suggested that persons have imbedded such depictions on one or more blockchains. Because our business requires us to download and
retain one or more blockchains to effectuate our ongoing business, it is possible that such digital ledgers contain prohibited depictions
without our knowledge or consent. To the extent government enforcement authorities literally enforce these and other laws and regulations
that are impacted by decentralized distributed ledger technology, we may be subject to investigation, administrative or court proceedings,
and civil or criminal monetary fines and penalties, all of which could harm our reputation and affect the value of our ADSs.
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Cryptocurrencies face significant scaling obstacles that can lead to high fees or slow transaction settlement times.

Cryptocurrencies face significant scaling obstacles that can lead to high fees or slow transaction settlement times, and attempts to
increase the volume of transactions may not be effective. Scaling cryptocurrencies is essential to the widespread acceptance of
cryptocurrencies as a means of payment, which widespread acceptance is necessary to the continued growth and development of our
business. Many cryptocurrency networks face significant scaling challenges. For example, cryptocurrencies are limited with respect to how
many transactions can occur per second. Participants in the cryptocurrency ecosystem debate potential approaches to increasing the average
number of transactions per second that the network can handle and have implemented mechanisms or are researching ways to increase scale,
such as increasing the allowable sizes of blocks, and therefore the number of transactions per block, and sharding (a horizontal partition of
data in a database or search engine), which would not require every single transaction to be included in every single mining machine’s or
validator’s block. However, there is no guarantee that any of the mechanisms in place or being explored for increasing the scale of
settlement of cryptocurrency transactions will be effective, or how long they will take to become effective, which could adversely affect an
investment in our securities.

The price of cryptocurrencies may be affected by the sale of such cryptocurrencies by other vehicles investing in cryptocurrencies or
tracking cryptocurrency markets.

The global market for cryptocurrency is characterized by supply constraints that differ from those present in the markets for
commodities or other assets such as gold and silver. The mathematical protocols under which certain cryptocurrencies are mined permit the
creation of a limited, predetermined amount of currency, while others have no limit established on total supply. To the extent that other
vehicles investing in cryptocurrencies or tracking cryptocurrency markets form and come to represent a significant proportion of the demand
for cryptocurrencies, large redemptions of the securities of those vehicles and the subsequent sale of cryptocurrencies by such vehicles could
negatively affect cryptocurrency prices and therefore affect the value of the cryptocurrency inventory we hold. Such events could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise
acquire or hold for our own account.

Cryptocurrency assets and transactions may be subject to further taxation in the future.

In recent years, the rise of cryptocurrency prices and transaction volume has attracted the attention of tax authorities. As the laws
governing cryptocurrencies are still evolving, the tax treatment of cryptocurrencies in various jurisdictions are subject to change. While
some countries intend to or have imposed taxation on cryptocurrency assets and transactions, other tax authorities are silent. As there is
considerable uncertainty over the taxation of cryptocurrencies, we cannot guarantee that the cryptocurrency assets and transactions
denominated in cryptocurrencies will not be subject to further taxation in the future, including but not limited to additional taxes and
increased tax rate. These events could reduce the economic return of cryptocurrency and increase the holding costs of cryptocurrency assets,
which could materially and adversely affect the businesses and financial performances of our blockchain customers engaging in
cryptocurrency mining businesses, and in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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Cryptocurrency Mining-Related Risks

There are risks related to technological obsolescence, the vulnerability of the global supply chain for cryptocurrency hardware
disruption, and difficulty in obtaining new hardware which may have a negative effect on our business.

Our mining operations can only be successful and ultimately profitable if the costs, including hardware and electricity costs,
associated with mining cryptocurrencies are lower than the price of a bitcoin. As our mining facility operates, our mining machines
experience ordinary wear and tear, and may also face more significant malfunctions caused by a number of extraneous factors beyond our
control. As of the date of this annual report, most of our mining machines were previously owned and were purchased by us on a second
hand basis. These second-hand mining machines may cost more to repair, maintain and operate, and will likely have a shorter useful life,
than new mining machines. If our mining machines cannot be maintained and operated efficiently, our aggregate hash rate and actual bitcoin
production rate will decrease. We may need to incur additional costs in order to restore our aggregate hash rate and actual bitcoin production
rate to prior levels. The degradation of our mining machines will require us to, over time, replace those mining machines which are no
longer functional. Additionally, as the technology evolves, we may be required to acquire newer models of mining machines to remain
competitive in the market. The cost of acquiring new mining machines is unpredictable and could be extremely high. We may need to obtain
mining machines and other hardware from third parties at premium prices, to the extent they are available. Additionally, in order to keep
pace with technological advances and competition from other mining companies, we may need to acquire new mining machines which will
eventually need to be repaired or replaced along with other equipment from time to time to stay competitive. This upgrading process requires
substantial capital investment, and we may face challenges in doing so on a timely and cost-effective basis. Any inability to maintain or
upgrade our mining machines and other hardware on a cost-effective basis could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
and financial condition.

Furthermore, there are a limited number of suppliers of quality, high performance mining machines. The prices for such mining
machines are often closely linked and similarly volatile to the price of bitcoin. Currently there is a shortage of quality, high performance
mining machines due to recent increases in the price of bitcoin. This combination of factors makes quality, high performance mining
machines expensive and difficult to acquire. Suppliers are often unwilling to commit to long-term contracts with fixed pricing terms due to
the volatility and significant fluctuations in the price of bitcoin. In addition, any shortage of chips, processors and ASICs can result in a
shortage in the mining machines they power. Such events could have a material adverse effect on our ability to pursue our new strategy,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business and the value of our ADSs.

Our operations are dependent upon the mining machines we use, which are susceptible to failure.

The performance and reliability of our mining machines and our technology is critical to our reputation and our operations. If there
is any issue with mining machines we use, our operations could be affected. Any system error or failure may significantly delay response
times or even cause our system to fail. Any disruption in our ability to continue mining could result in lower yields and harm our reputation
and business. Any exploitable weakness, flaw, or error common to our mining machines could affect all our mining operations, if a defect
other flaw is exploited, all or a part of our mining operations could go offline simultaneously. Any interruption, delay or system failure could
result in financial losses, a decrease in the trading price of our ADSs and damage to our reputation.

The primary cryptocurrency for which we mine, bitcoin, is subject to halving; the cryptocurrency reward for successfully
uncovering a block will halve several times in the future and their value may not adjust to compensate us for the reduction in the
rewards we receive from our mining efforts.

Halving is a process designed to control the overall supply and reduce the risk of inflation in cryptocurrencies using a Proof-of-
Work consensus algorithm. At a predetermined block, the mining reward is cut in half, hence the term “halving.” For bitcoin, the reward was
initially set at 50 bitcoin currency rewards per block and this was cut in half to 25 in November 28, 2012 at block 210,000, to 12.5 on July 9,
2016 at block 420,000, 6.25 on May 11, 2020 at block 630,000, and again to 3.125 on April 20, 2024 at block 720,000. This halving process
will reoccur until the total amount of bitcoin currency rewards issued reaches 21 million, which is expected around 2140. While bitcoin
prices have had a history of price fluctuations around the halving of its cryptocurrency reward, there is no guarantee that the price change
will be favorable or would compensate for the reduction in mining reward. If a corresponding and proportionate increase in the trading price
of bitcoin does not follow these anticipated halving events, the revenue we earn from our mining operations would see a corresponding
decrease, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and operations.
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Our future success will depend in large part upon the value of bitcoin; the value of bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies may be
subject to pricing risk and has historically been subject to wide swings.

Our operating results will depend in large part upon the value of bitcoin because it’s the primary cryptocurrency we currently mine.
Specifically, our revenues from our bitcoin mining operations are based upon two factors: (1) the number of bitcoin rewards we successfully
mine and (2) the value of bitcoin. In addition, our operating results are directly impacted by changes in the value of bitcoin, because under
the value measurement model, both realized and unrealized changes will be reflected in our statement of operations (i.e., we will be marking
bitcoin to fair value each quarter). This means that our operating results will be subject to swings based upon increases or decreases in the
value of bitcoin. Furthermore, our new strategy initially focuses almost entirely on bitcoin (as opposed to other cryptocurrencies). Further,
our current application-specific integrated circuit, or ASIC, machines (which we refer to as “mining machines”) are principally utilized for
mining bitcoin and bitcoin cash and cannot mine other cryptocurrencies, such as ether, that are not mined utilizing the “SHA-256 algorithm.”
If other cryptocurrencies were to achieve acceptance at the expense of bitcoin or bitcoin cash causing the value of bitcoin or bitcoin cash to
decline, or if bitcoin were to switch its proof of work algorithm from SHA-256 to another algorithm for which our mining machines are not
specialized, or the value of bitcoin or bitcoin cash were to decline for other reasons, particularly if such decline were significant or over an
extended period of time, our operating results would be adversely affected, and there could be a material adverse effect on our ability to
continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or
operations, and harm investors.

Bitcoin and other cryptocurrency market prices, which have historically been volatile and are impacted by a variety of factors
(including those discussed below), are determined primarily using data from various exchanges, over-the-counter markets and derivative
platforms. Furthermore, such prices may be subject to factors such as those that impact commodities, more so than business activities, which
could be subjected to additional influence from fraudulent or illegitimate actors, real or perceived scarcity, and political, economic,
regulatory or other conditions. Pricing may be the result of, and may continue to result in, speculation regarding future appreciation in the
value of cryptocurrencies, or our share price, inflating and making their market prices more volatile or creating “bubble” type risks for both
bitcoin and our ADSs.

Currently, there is relatively small use of digital assets in the retail and commercial marketplace in comparison to relatively large
use by speculators, thus contributing to price volatility that could adversely affect an investment in us.

As relatively new products and technologies, digital assets and the blockchain networks on which they exist have only recently
become widely accepted as a means of payment for goods and services by many major retail and commercial outlets and use of digital assets
by consumers to pay such retail and commercial outlets remains limited. Conversely, a significant portion of demand for digital assets is
generated by speculators and investors seeking to profit from the short- or long-term holding of such digital assets. A lack of expansion of
digital assets into retail and commercial markets, or a contraction of such use, may result in increased volatility or a reduction in the price of
all or any digital asset, either of which could adversely impact an investment in us.

‘We may not be able to realize the benefits of forks.

To the extent that a significant majority of users and mining machines on a cryptocurrency network install software that changes the
cryptocurrency network or properties of a cryptocurrency, including the irreversibility of transactions and limitations on the mining of new
cryptocurrency, the cryptocurrency network would be subject to new protocols and software. However, if less than a significant majority of
users and mining machines on the cryptocurrency network consent to the proposed modification, and the modification is not compatible with
the software prior to its modification, the consequence would be what is known as a “fork™ of the network, with one prong running the pre-
modified software and the other running the modified software. The effect of such a fork would be the existence of two versions of the
cryptocurrency running in parallel, yet lacking interchangeability and necessitating exchange-type transaction to convert currencies between
the two forks. Additionally, it may be unclear following a fork which fork represents the original asset and which is the new asset. Different
metrics adopted by industry participants to determine which is the original asset include: referring to the wishes of the core developers of a
cryptocurrency, blockchains with the greatest amount of hashing power contributed by mining machines or validators; or blockchains with
the longest chain. A fork in the network of a particular cryptocurrency could adversely affect an investment in our securities or our ability to
operate.
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We may not be able to realize the economic benefit of a fork, either immediately or ever, which could adversely affect an
investment in our securities. If we hold a cryptocurrency at the time of a hard fork into two cryptocurrencies, industry standards would
dictate that we would be expected to hold an equivalent amount of the old and new assets following the fork. However, we may not be able,
or it may not be practical, to secure or realize the economic benefit of the new asset for various reasons. For instance, we may determine that
there is no safe or practical way to custody the new asset, that trying to do so may pose an unacceptable risk to our holdings in the old asset,
or that the costs of taking possession and/or maintaining ownership of the new cryptocurrency exceed the benefits of owning the new
cryptocurrency. Additionally, laws, regulation or other factors may prevent us from benefitting from the new asset even if there is a safe and
practical way to custody and secure the new asset.

There is a possibility of cryptocurrency mining algorithms transitioning to proof of stake validation and other mining related risks,
which could make us less competitive and ultimately adversely affect our business and the value of our ADSs.

Proof of stake is an alternative method in validating cryptocurrency transactions. Should the algorithm shift from a proof of work
validation method to a proof of stake method, mining would require less energy and may render any company that maintains advantages in
the current climate (for example, from lower priced electricity, processing, real estate, or hosting) less competitive. We, as a result of our
efforts to optimize and improve the efficiency of our cryptocurrency mining operations, may be exposed to the risk in the future of losing the
benefit of our capital investments and the competitive advantage we hope to gain form this as a result, and may be negatively impacted if a
switch to proof of stake validation were to occur. This may additionally have an impact on other various investments of ours. Such events
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or
otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

To the extent that the profit margins of bitcoin mining operations are not high, operators of bitcoin mining operations are more
likely to immediately sell bitcoin rewards earned by mining in the market, thereby constraining growth of the price of bitcoin that
could adversely impact us, and similar actions could affect other cryptocurrencies.

Over the past two years, bitcoin mining operations have evolved from individual users mining with computer processors, graphics
processing units and first-generation ASIC servers. Currently, new processing power is predominantly added by incorporated and
unincorporated “professionalized” mining operations. Professionalized mining operations may use proprietary hardware or sophisticated
ASIC machines acquired from ASIC manufacturers. They require the investment of significant capital for the acquisition of this hardware,
the leasing of operating space (often in data centers or warehousing facilities), incurring of electricity costs and the employment of
technicians to operate the mining farms. As a result, professionalized mining operations are of a greater scale than prior mining machines
and have more defined and regular expenses and liabilities. These regular expenses and liabilities require professionalized mining operations
to maintain profit margins on the sale of bitcoin. To the extent the price of bitcoin declines and such profit margin is constrained,
professionalized mining machines are incentivized to more immediately sell bitcoin earned from mining operations, whereas it is believed
that individual mining machines in past years were more likely to hold newly mined bitcoin for more extended periods. The immediate
selling of newly mined bitcoin greatly increases the trading volume of bitcoin, creating downward pressure on the market price of bitcoin
rewards.

The extent to which the value of bitcoin mined by a professionalized mining operation exceeds the allocable capital and operating
costs determines the profit margin of such operation. A professionalized mining operation may be more likely to sell a higher percentage of
its newly mined bitcoin rapidly if it is operating at a low profit margin and it may partially or completely cease operations if its profit margin
is negative. In a low profit margin environment, a higher percentage could be sold more rapidly, thereby potentially depressing bitcoin
prices. Lower bitcoin prices could result in further tightening of profit margins for professionalized mining operations creating a network
effect that may further reduce the price of bitcoin until mining operations with higher operating costs become unprofitable forcing them to
reduce mining power or cease mining operations temporarily.

The foregoing risks associated with bitcoin could be equally applicable to other cryptocurrencies, whether existing now or
introduced in the future. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue
our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of
bitcoin and any other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account, and harm investors.
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If a malicious actor or botnet obtains control of more than 50% of the processing power on a cryptocurrency network, such actor or
botnet could manipulate blockchains to adversely affect us, which would adversely affect an investment in us or our ability to
operate.

If a malicious actor or botnet (a volunteer or hacked collection of computers controlled by networked software coordinating the
actions of the computers) obtains a majority of the processing power dedicated to mining a cryptocurrency, it may be able to alter
blockchains on which transactions of cryptocurrency reside and rely by constructing fraudulent blocks or preventing certain transactions
from completing in a timely manner, or at all. The malicious actor or botnet could control, exclude or modify the ordering of transactions,
though it could not generate new units or transactions using such control. The malicious actor could “double-spend” its own cryptocurrency
(i.e., spend the same bitcoin in more than one transaction) and prevent the confirmation of other users’ transactions for as long as it
maintained control. To the extent that such malicious actor or botnet does not yield its control of the processing power on the network or the
cryptocurrency community does not reject the fraudulent blocks as malicious, reversing any changes made to blockchains may not be
possible. The foregoing description is not the only means by which the entirety of blockchains or cryptocurrencies may be compromised but
is only an example.

Although there are no known reports of malicious activity or control of blockchains achieved through controlling over 50% of the
processing power on the network, it is believed that certain mining pools may have exceeded the 50% threshold in bitcoin. The possible
crossing of the 50% threshold indicates a greater risk that a single mining pool could exert authority over the validation of bitcoin
transactions. To the extent that the bitcoin ecosystem, and the administrators of mining pools, do not act to ensure greater decentralization of
bitcoin mining processing power, the feasibility of a malicious actor obtaining control of the processing power will increase because the
botnet or malicious actor could compromise more than 50% mining pool and thereby gain control of blockchain, whereas if the blockchain
remains decentralized it is inherently more difficult for the botnet of malicious actor to aggregate enough processing power to gain control of
the blockchain, may adversely affect an investment in our ADSs. Such lack of controls and responses to such circumstances could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise
acquire or hold for our own account, and harm investors.

Cryptocurrencies, including those maintained by or for us, may be exposed to cybersecurity threats and hacks.

As with any computer code generally, flaws in cryptocurrency codes may be exposed by malicious actors. Several errors and
defects have been found previously, including those that disabled some functionality for users and exposed users’ information. Exploitations
of flaws in the source code that allow malicious actors to take or create money have previously occurred. On December 3, 2022, the
Company’s former subsidiary, BTC.com, experienced a cyberattack. In the cyberattack, certain digital assets were stolen, including
approximately US$700,000 in asset value owned by BTC.com’s clients, and approximately US$2.4 million in asset value owned by the
Company.

Despite our efforts and processes to prevent breaches, our devices, as well as our mining machines, computer systems and those of
third parties that we use in our operations, are vulnerable to further cyber security risks, including cyber-attacks such as viruses and worms,
phishing attacks, denial-of-service attacks, physical or electronic break-ins, employee theft or misuse, and similar disruptions from
unauthorized tampering with our mining machines and computer systems or those of third parties that we use in our operations. Such events
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our new strategy at all, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or
otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.
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We are subject to risks associated with our need for significant electrical power. Government regulators may potentially restrict the
ability of electricity suppliers to provide electricity to mining operations, such as ours.

The operation of a bitcoin or other cryptocurrency mine can require massive amounts of electrical power. Further, our mining
operations can only be successful and ultimately profitable if the costs, including electrical power costs, associated with mining a bitcoin are
lower than the price of a bitcoin. Our electrical power costs could rise dramatically due to price increases. Any increases in our electrical
power costs would reduce the profit margin of our mining operations. As a result, any mine we establish can only be successful if we can
obtain sufficient electrical power for that mine on a cost-effective basis, and our establishment of new mines requires us to find locations
where that is the case. There may be significant competition for suitable mine locations, and government regulators may potentially restrict
the ability of electricity suppliers to provide electricity to mining operations in times of electricity shortage, or may otherwise potentially
restrict or prohibit the provision or electricity to mining operations. Additionally, our mining machines, aggregate hash rate, and actual
bitcoin production rate could be materially and adversely affected by a power outage. Given the power requirement, it would not be feasible
to run mining machines on back-up power generators in the event of a government restriction on electricity or a power outage. If we are
unable to receive adequate power supply and are forced to reduce our operations due to the availability or cost of electrical power, our
business would experience materially negative impacts.

If the award of cryptocurrency rewards, for us primarily bitcoin for solving blocks and transaction fees are not sufficiently high, we
may not have an adequate incentive to continue mining and may cease mining operations, which will likely lead to our failure to
achieve profitability.

As the number of cryptocurrency rewards awarded for solving a block in a blockchain decreases, our ability to achieve profitability
worsens. Decreased use and demand for bitcoin rewards may adversely affect our incentive to expend processing power to solve blocks. If
the award of bitcoin rewards for solving blocks and transaction fees are not sufficiently high, we may not have an adequate incentive to
continue mining and may cease our mining operations. For instance, the current fixed reward for solving a new block on the bitcoin
blockchain is 3.125 bitcoin currency rewards per block, which decreased from 12.5 bitcoin in May 2020. This reduction may result in a
reduction in the aggregate hash rate of the bitcoin network as the incentive for mining machines decreases. Mining machines ceasing
operations would reduce the collective processing power on the network, which would adversely affect the confirmation process for
transactions (i.e., temporarily decreasing the speed at which blocks are added to a blockchain until the next scheduled adjustment in
difficulty for block solutions) and make cryptocurrency networks more vulnerable to a malicious actor or botnet obtaining control in excess
of 50 percent of the processing power active on a blockchain, potentially permitting such actor or botnet to manipulate a blockchain in a
manner that adversely affects our activities. A reduction in confidence in the confirmation process or processing power of the network could
result and be irreversible. Such events could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue to pursue our new strategy at all, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other
cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

‘We may not adequately respond to price fluctuations and rapidly changing technology, which may negatively affect our business.

Competitive conditions within the cryptocurrency industry require that we use sophisticated technology in the operation of our
business. The industry for blockchain technology is characterized by rapid technological changes, new product introductions, enhancements
and evolving industry standards. New technologies, techniques or products could emerge that might offer better performance than the
software and other technologies we currently utilize, and we may have to manage transitions to these new technologies to remain
competitive. We may not be successful, generally or relative to our competitors in the cryptocurrency industry, in timely implementing new
technology into our systems, or doing so in a cost-effective manner. During the course of implementing any such new technology into our
operations, we may experience system interruptions and failures during such implementation. Furthermore, there can be no assurances that
we will recognize, in a timely manner or at all, the benefits that we may expect as a result of our implementing new technology into our
operations. As a result, our business and operations may suffer, and there may be adverse effects on the price of our ADSs.

If we are unable to successfully renew our leases for our mining farms on acceptable terms or otherwise relocate to a replacement
facility, our operations may be disrupted, and our business results may suffer.

We have leased land use rights for our mining farms in Ohio for a term of five years, which expires in September 2026. Our mining
farms at the site operate and rely on high-tension electrical equipment owned by the lessor. There can be no assurance that the lessor will
permit us to renew or that we will be able to negotiate terms acceptable to both our management team and the lessor. If we are unable to
successfully negotiate an extension of this existing lease, we may be forced to relocate our farms to other sites.
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If we are forced to relocate our mining operations, including our mining farm in Ohio, we may not be successful in identifying
adequate replacement facilities to house our miners. Even if we do identify such facilities, we may not be successful in leasing those
facilities at rates that are economically viable to support our miner hosting activities. Relocating our mining farms will require us to incur
costs to transition to new facilities including, but not limited to, transportation expenses and insurance, downtime while we are unable to
mine, legal fees to negotiate the new lease, de-installation at our current farms and, ultimately, installation at any new facility we identify.
These costs may be substantial, and we cannot guarantee that we will be successful in transitioning our miners to new facilities. If we are
required to move our mining operations, our mining machines could be damaged in the course of transportation to and re-installation at their
new locations; if negotiations to renew our existing leases result in unfavorable terms for our miner hosting operations, our business may
suffer and the results of our operations may be adversely affected.

We may fail to obtain or renew or may experience material delays in obtaining requisite approvals, licenses and permits, which
could negatively impact our miner hosting business.

We require various approvals, licenses and permits to conduct our miner hosting business. We cannot assure you that we will not
encounter significant problems in obtaining new or renewing existing approvals, licenses and permits, or that we will continue to satisfy the
conditions to which such approvals, licenses and permits granted. If previously obtained approvals, licenses and permits are revoked and/or
if we fail to obtain and/or maintain the necessary approvals, licenses and permits required to conduct our miner hosting business, we may be
required to suspend or terminate our miner hosting business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

If the PCAOB is not able to inspect and investigate completely auditors in China for any reason, our investors may be deprived of
the benefits of such inspections again.

Our independent registered public accounting firm that issues the audit report included in our annual report filed with the SEC, as
auditors of companies that are traded publicly in the U.S. and a firm registered with the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board,
or the PCAOB, is required by the laws of the U.S. to undergo regular inspections by the PCAOB to assess its compliance with the laws of
the U.S. and professional standards. According to Article 177 of the PRC Securities Law (last amended in March 2020), no overseas
securities regulator is allowed to directly conduct investigation or evidence collection activities within the territory of the PRC. Accordingly,
without the consent of the competent PRC securities regulators and relevant authorities, no organization or individual may provide the
documents and materials relating to securities business activities to overseas parties. In 2021, the PCAOB made determinations that the
positions taken by PRC authorities prevented the PCAOB from inspecting and investigating firms headquartered in mainland China and
Hong Kong completely. On August 26, 2022, the PCAOB signed a Statement of Protocol with the China Securities Regulatory Commission
and the Ministry of Finance of the PRC, taking the first step toward opening access for the PCAOB to inspect and investigate completely
registered public accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and Hong Kong including our auditor. According to its announcement,
the PCAOB sent staff to conduct on-site inspections and investigations in Hong Kong from September to November 2022 and conducted
inspection field work and investigative testimony in a manner consistent with the PCAOB’s methodology and approach to inspections and
investigations in the U.S. and globally. The PCAOB inspections have identified numerous deficiencies in the audit firms in China, which are
consistent with the types and number of findings the PCAOB has encountered in other first-time inspections around the world.

In addition, while the PCAOB announced in December 2022 that it secured complete access to inspect and investigate registered
public accounting firms headquartered in China, we cannot assure you that the PCAOB will continue to have such access in the future. If the
PCAOB is not able to inspect and investigate completely auditors in China for any reason, such as any change in the position of the
governmental authorities in China in the future, our investors may be deprived of the benefits of such inspections again.

Risks Related to Our ADSs
The trading price of our ADSs may be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to investors.

The trading price of our ADSs may be volatile and could fluctuate widely in response to factors relating to our business as well as
external factors beyond our control. Factors such as variations in our financial results, announcements of new business initiatives by us or by
our competitors, recruitment or departure of key personnel, changes in the estimates of our financial results or changes in the
recommendations of any securities analysts electing to follow our securities or the securities of our competitors could cause the market price
for our ADSs to change substantially. At the same time, securities markets may from time to time experience significant price and volume
fluctuations that are not related to the operating performance of particular companies. For example, in late 2008 and early 2009, the
securities markets in the United States, China and other jurisdictions experienced the largest decline in share prices since September 2001.
These market fluctuations may also have a material adverse effect on the market price of our ordinary shares.
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In addition, the performance and fluctuation of the market prices of other companies with business operations located mainly in
China that have listed their securities in the United States may affect the volatility in the price of and trading volumes for our ADSs. In
recent years, some of PRC companies having listing their securities on U.S. stock markets have experienced significant volatility, including
significant price declines in connection with their initial public offerings. The trading performances of these PRC companies’ securities at
the time of or after their offerings may affect the overall investor sentiment towards PRC companies listed in the United States and
consequently may impact the trading performance of our ADSs. These broad market and industry factors may significantly affect the market
price and volatility of our ADSs, regardless of our actual operating performance. Any of these factors may result in large and sudden
changes in the trading volume and price for our ADSs.

The price at which the ADSs are traded may decline below the offering price, meaning that you may experience a decrease in the
value of your ADSs regardless of our operating performance or prospects. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a
company’s securities, shareholders have often instituted securities class action litigation against that company. If we were involved in a class
action suit, it could divert the attention of senior management, and, if adversely determined, could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.

Future sales or perceived sales of our ADSs or ordinary shares by existing shareholders could cause our ADSs price to decline.

If our existing shareholders sell, indicate an intention to sell, or are perceived to intend to sell, substantial amounts of our ordinary
shares in the public market, the trading price of our ADSs could decline. All ADSs sold in our initial public offering and in our subsequent
SEC-registered offerings are freely tradable, without restriction, in the public market. All of our outstanding shares will be eligible for sale in
the public market, subject to volume limitations and other restrictions under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. In addition, ordinary shares
subject to outstanding options under our share incentive plan will become eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the
provisions of various vesting agreements, and Rules 144 and 701 under the Securities Act. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is
perceived that they will be sold in the public market, the trading price of our ordinary shares could decline.

Future issuance of share options or restricted shares may have a diluting effect on existing and future shareholders.

The grant and exercise of share options or restricted shares to be issued in the future will likely result in a dilution of the value of
our ordinary shares for all shareholders. We have established a 2021 Share Incentive Plan under which we are able to issue shares up to 12%
of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares from time to time. For more details, see “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and
Employees—B. Compensation—Share Incentive Plan.” We may in the future issue additional share options and other share-based awards
under the plan, which may dilute the interest of the existing and future shareholders. Moreover, we may seek authorization to increase the
number of shares subject to our 2021 Share Incentive Plan, or sell additional securities and/or rights to purchase such securities at any time
in the future. Dilution of the value of the ordinary shares will likely result from such sales, which in turn could adversely affect the market
price of our ordinary shares and ADSs.

We may become a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, which could result in adverse United States tax consequences to
United States investors.

Based on our financial statements and the composition of our income and assets and the valuation of our assets, we intend to take
the position that we were not a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, for United States federal income tax purposes for 2024,
although there can be no assurances in this regard. Additionally, it is possible that we may be a PFIC in 2025 or future taxable years. The
determination of whether or not we are a PFIC is made on an annual basis and will depend on the composition of our income and assets and
the valuation of our assets from time to time. The IRS or a court may disagree with our determinations, including the manner in which we
determine the value of our assets and the percentage of our assets that are passive assets under the PFIC rules. For any taxable year we will
be classified as a PFIC for United States federal income tax purposes if either (i) 75% or more of our gross income in that taxable year is
passive income or (ii) at least 50% of the value (generally determined based on a quarterly average) of our assets in that taxable year is
attributable to assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income. For this purpose, passive income generally includes
dividends, interest, royalties and rents (other than royalties and rents derived in the active conduct of a trade or business and not derived
from a related person). The calculation of the value of our assets will be based, in part, on the quarterly market value of our ADSs, which is
subject to change, and a portion of which could be attributable to the value of the digital assets and cryptocurrencies we hold for our own
account. Therefore, a decrease in the price of our ADSs, or an increase in the proportion of the market value of our ADSs attributable to the
value of the digital assets and cryptocurrencies we hold for our own account, may result in our becoming a PFIC.
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If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which you hold our ADSs or ordinary shares, such characterization could result in
adverse United States federal income tax consequences to you if you are a United States Holder, as defined under “Item 10. Additional
Information—E. Taxation—United States Federal Income Taxation.” For example, if we are or become a PFIC, you may become subject to
increased tax liabilities under United States federal income tax laws and regulations, and will become subject to burdensome reporting
requirements. See “Item 10. Additional Information—E. Taxation—United States Federal Income Taxation—Passive Foreign Investment
Company.” We cannot assure you that we were not a PFIC in 2024 nor assure you that we will not be a PFIC for 2025 or any future taxable
year.

You may not be able to participate in rights offerings and may experience dilution of your holdings in relation to any such offerings.

We may, from time to time, distribute rights to our shareholders, including rights to acquire securities. Under the deposit agreement,
the depositary will not distribute rights to holders of ADSs unless the distribution and sale of rights and the securities to which these rights
relate are either exempt from registration under the Securities Act with respect to all holders of ADSs, or are registered under the provisions
of the Securities Act. The depositary may, but is not required to, attempt to sell these undistributed rights to third parties, and may allow the
rights to lapse. We may be unable to establish an exemption from registration under the Securities Act, and we are under no obligation to file
a registration statement with respect to these rights or underlying securities or to endeavor to have a registration statement declared effective.
Accordingly, holders of ADSs may be unable to participate in our rights offerings and may experience dilution of their holdings as a result.

In addition, the depositary of our ADSs has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian
receives on our ordinary shares or other deposited securities after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in
proportion to the number of ordinary shares your ADSs represent. However, the depositary may, at its discretion, decide that it is inequitable
or impractical to make a distribution available to any holders of ADSs. For example, the depositary may determine that it is not practicable
to distribute certain property through the mail, or that the value of certain distributions may be less than the cost of mailing them. In these
cases, the depositary may decide not to distribute such property and you will not receive such distribution.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents may discourage a third party from acquiring us, which could limit our
shareholders’ opportunities to sell their shares at a premium.

Our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association include provisions that could limit the ability of others to
acquire control of us, modify our structure or cause us to engage in change-of-control transactions. For example, our board of directors has
the authority, without further action by our shareholders, to issue preferred shares in one or more series and to fix the powers and rights of
these shares, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption and liquidation preferences, any or all of which
may be greater than the rights associated with our ordinary shares. Preferred shares could thus be issued quickly with terms calculated to
delay or prevent a change in control or make removal of management more difficult. In addition, if our board of directors issues preferred
shares, the market price of our ADSs may fall and the voting and other rights of the holders of our ordinary shares may be adversely
affected. These provisions could have the effect of depriving our shareholders of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over
prevailing market prices by discouraging third parties from seeking to obtain control of us in a tender offer or similar transaction.

We are a Cayman Islands company and, because judicial precedent regarding the rights of shareholders is more limited under
Cayman Islands law than under U.S. law, you may have less protection of your shareholder rights than you would under U.S. law.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association, the Cayman Islands
Companies Law and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of shareholders to take action against the directors, actions by non-
controlling shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors to us under Cayman Islands law are to a large extent governed by
the common law of the Cayman Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islands is derived in part from comparatively limited judicial
precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as from English common law, which has persuasive, but not binding, authority on a court in the
Cayman Islands. The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Cayman Islands law are not as
clearly established as they would be under statutes or judicial precedent in some jurisdictions in the United States. In particular, the Cayman
Islands has a less developed body of securities laws than the United States and provides significantly less protection to investors. In addition,
some U.S. states, such as Delaware, have more fully developed and judicially interpreted bodies of corporate law than the Cayman Islands.
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There is no statutory recognition in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the United States, although a judgment obtained
in the United States will be recognized and enforced in the courts of the Cayman Islands at common law, without any re-examination of the
merits of the underlying dispute, by an action commenced on the foreign judgment debt in the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands, provided
such judgment (a) is given by a foreign court of competent jurisdiction; (b) imposes on the judgment debtor a liability to pay a liquidated
sum for which the judgment has been given; (c) is final; (d) is not in respect of taxes, a fine or a penalty; and (e) was not obtained in a
manner and is not of a kind the enforcement of which is contrary to natural justice or the public policy of the Cayman Islands.

You will have limited ability to bring an action against our directors and officers, based on United States or other foreign laws,
because most of our directors and officers reside outside the United States and therefore you may not be able to enjoy the protection
of such laws in an effective manner.

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Most of our directors and officers reside outside the United States and a substantial
portion of the assets of those persons are located outside of the United States. As a result, it may be difficult or impossible for you to bring
an action against these individuals in the Cayman Islands in the event that you believe that your rights have been infringed under the
applicable securities laws or otherwise. Even if you are successful in bringing an action of this kind, the laws of the Cayman Islands may
render you unable to enforce a judgment against the assets of our directors and officers. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether the
courts of the Cayman Islands would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts against such persons predicated upon the civil liability
provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state, and it is uncertain whether such Cayman Islands courts would be
competent to hear original actions brought in the Cayman Islands against such persons predicated upon the securities laws of the United
States or any state. Therefore, recognition and enforcement overseas of judgments of a court in any of these jurisdictions may be difficult or
impossible. In addition, you may not be able to bring original actions based on the U.S. or other foreign laws against our directors or our
executive officers named in this annual report either. As a result, shareholder claims that are common in the U.S., including class action
securities law and fraud claims, may be difficult to pursue as a matter of law and practicality.

Shareholders of Cayman Islands exempted companies such as ourselves have no general rights under Cayman Islands law to
inspect corporate records and accounts or to obtain copies of lists of shareholders of these companies. Our directors have discretion under
our amended and restated articles of association to determine whether or not, and under what conditions, our corporate records may be
inspected by our shareholders, but are not obliged to make them available to our shareholders. This may make it more difficult for you to
obtain the information needed to establish any facts necessary for a sharecholder motion or to solicit proxies from other shareholders in
connection with a proxy contest.

As a result of all of the above, public shareholders may have more difficulty in protecting their interests in the face of actions taken
by management, members of the board of directors or controlling shareholders than they would as public shareholders of a U.S. company.
Therefore, you may not be able to effectively enjoy the protection offered by the U.S. laws and regulations that intend to protect public
investors.

Your ability to protect your rights as shareholders through the U.S. federal courts may be limited because we are incorporated
under Cayman Islands law.

Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to initiate a derivative action in a federal court of the United States. As a result,
your ability to protect your interests if you are harmed in a manner that would otherwise enable you to sue in a United States federal court
may be limited to direct shareholder lawsuits.

The voting rights of holders of ADSs are limited in several significant ways by the terms of the deposit agreement.

Holders of our ADSs may only exercise their voting rights with respect to the underlying ordinary shares in accordance with the
provisions of the deposit agreement. Upon receipt of voting instructions from a holder of ADSs in the manner set forth in the deposit
agreement, the depositary will endeavor to vote the underlying ordinary shares in accordance with these instructions. Under our amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association and Cayman Islands law, the minimum notice period required for convening a general
meeting is five days. When a general meeting is convened, you may not receive sufficient notice of a shareholders’ meeting to permit you to
withdraw your ordinary shares to allow you to cast your vote with respect to any specific matter at the meeting. In addition, the depositary
and its agents may not be able to send voting instructions to you or carry out your voting instructions in a timely manner. We will make all
reasonable efforts to cause the depositary to extend voting rights to you in a timely manner, but we cannot assure you that you will receive
the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the depositary to vote your shares. Furthermore, the depositary and its agents will
not be responsible for any failure to carry out any instructions to vote, for the manner in which any vote is cast or for the effect of any such
vote. As a result, you may not be able to exercise your right to vote and you may lack recourse if your ordinary shares are not voted as you
requested.

38



Table of Contents

The depositary of our ADSs, except in limited circumstances, grants to us a discretionary proxy to vote the ordinary shares
underlying your ADSs if you do not vote at shareholders’ meetings, which could adversely affect your interests and the ability of our
shareholders as a group to influence the management of our company.

Under the deposit agreement for the ADSs, the depositary gives us a discretionary proxy to vote our ordinary shares underlying
your ADSs at shareholders’ meetings if you do not vote, unless:

e we have failed to timely provide the depositary with our notice of meeting and related voting materials;

e we have instructed the depositary that we do not wish a discretionary proxy to be given;

e we have informed the depositary that there is substantial opposition as to a matter to be voted on at the meeting;
e a matter to be voted on at the meeting would have a material adverse impact on shareholders; or

e voting at the meeting is made on a show of hands.

The effect of this discretionary proxy is that you cannot prevent our ordinary shares underlying your ADSs from being voted,
absent the situations described above, and it may make it more difficult for holders of ADSs to influence the management of our company.
Holders of our ordinary shares are not subject to this discretionary proxy.

You may not receive distributions on our ordinary shares or any value for them if it is unlawful or impractical for us to make them
available to you.

The depositary of our ADSs has agreed to pay you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian for our ADSs
receives on our ordinary shares or other deposited securities after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in
proportion to the number of our ordinary shares your ADSs represent. However, the depositary is not responsible if it is unlawful or
impractical to make a distribution available to any holders of ADSs. For example, it would be unlawful to make a distribution to a holder of
ADS:s if it consists of securities that require registration under the Securities Act but that are not properly registered or distributed pursuant
to an applicable exemption from registration. The depositary is not responsible for making a distribution available to any holders of ADSs if
any government approval or registration is required for such distribution. We have no obligation to take any other action to permit the
distribution of our ADSs, ordinary shares, rights or anything else to holders of our ADSs. This means that you may not receive the
distributions we make on our ordinary shares or any value for them if it is unlawful or impractical for us to make them available to you.
These restrictions may have a material adverse effect on the value of your ADSs.

You may be subject to limitations on the transfer of your ADSs.

Your ADSs, represented by ADRs, are transferable on the books of the depositary. However, the depositary may close its books at
any time or from time to time when it deems expedient in connection with the performance of its duties. The depositary may close its books
from time to time for a number of reasons, including in connection with corporate events such as a rights offering, during which time the
depositary needs to maintain an exact number of ADS holders on its books for a specified period. The depositary may also close its books in
emergencies, and on weekends and public holidays. The depositary may refuse to deliver, transfer or register transfers of our ADSs generally
when our books or the books of the depositary are closed, or at any time if we think or the depositary thinks it is necessary or advisable to do
so in connection with the performance of its duty under the deposit agreement, including due to any requirement of law or any government
or governmental body, or under any provision of the deposit agreement.

We incurred, and will continue to incur increased costs as a result of being a public company.
As a public company, we have incurred significant accounting, legal and other expenses that we did not incur when we were a
private company, including additional costs associated with our public company reporting obligations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as

well as rules subsequently implemented by the SEC, and NYSE, impose various requirements on the corporate governance practices of
public companies.
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We expect these rules and regulations to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some corporate activities
more time-consuming and costly. Since we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” we expect to incur significant expenses and
devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and the other rules and regulations of the SEC. For example, as a result of becoming a public company, we need to increase the number of
independent directors and adopt policies regarding internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures. Operating as a public company
will make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept
reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. It may also be more difficult
for us to find qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or as executive officers. We are currently evaluating and monitoring
developments with respect to these rules and regulations, and we cannot predict or estimate with any degree of certainty the amount of
additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs.

In the past, shareholders of a public company often brought securities class action suits against the Company following periods of
instability in the market price of that company’s securities. On February 27, 2015, a purported stockholder class action lawsuit was brought
against the Company consisting of purchasers of our ADSs during the period between November 22, 2013 and February 25, 2015. On
January 15, 2020, a purported class action complaint was brought against the Company consisting of purchasers of our ADSs during the
period between April 27, 2018 and December 31, 2019. When we are involved in a class action suit, it could divert a significant amount of
our management’s attention and other resources from our business and operations, which could harm our results of operations and require us
to incur significant expenses to defend the suit. Any such class action suit, whether or not successful, could harm our reputation and restrict
our ability to raise capital in the future. In addition, if a claim is successfully made against us, we may be required to pay significant
damages, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
A. History and Development of the Company

We began operations in the online lottery service industry in 2001 through one of our consolidated affiliated entities, E-Sun
Network Co., Ltd., or E-Sun Network, in Shenzhen, China. In May 2006, E-Sun Network established its wholly-owned subsidiary, E-Sun
Sky Network Technology Co., Ltd., or E-Sun Sky Network, which became our major operation entity for our online lottery services
business.

Our company was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on April 20, 2007 under the name Fine Success Limited,
which was changed to 500wan.com on May 9, 2011, changed to 500.com on October 8, 2013 and further changed to the current name BIT
Mining Limited in April 2021.

On November 22, 2013, our ADSs began trading on the NYSE under the ticker symbol “WBAIL” We issued and sold a total of
6,653,900 ADS:s, representing 66,539,000 Class A ordinary shares, at an initial offering price of $13.00 per ADS. Our ticker symbol was
subsequently changed to “BTCM” in April 2021.

We have voluntarily suspended our online sports lottery sales services in response to the promulgation of the Self-Inspection Notice
and the Public Announcement since April 4, 2015, and switched to cryptocurrency mining starting from December 2020.

We are committed to becoming a leading cryptocurrency mining enterprise. Since announcing our entry into the cryptocurrency
industry in December 2020, we have (i) purchased cryptocurrency mining machines, (ii) acquired a mining machine manufacturer, to unfurl
a comprehensive approach to cryptocurrency mining, (iii) invested in the development of a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ohio with
power capacity of 82.5 megawatts in aggregate, and (iv) completed the first closing of acquisition of cryptocurrency mining data centers and
Bitcoin mining machines in Ethiopia.

In December 2020, we entered into a definitive share subscription agreement with Good Luck Information Technology Co.,
Limited, or Good Luck Information, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, for the issuance and sale of newly issued Class A ordinary
shares of our company. Upon closing of the transaction in February 2021, we received 356.04342 bitcoins and US$11.5 million in cash from
Good Luck Information, and we issued 85,572,963 newly issued Class A ordinary shares to Good Luck Information. Good luck Information
is controlled by Mr. Man San Vincent Law, a founder of our company. Following the completion of this transaction, our shareholding
structure became relatively dispersed. In order to ensure the stability of our corporate governance and long-term development of our
businesses, our board of directors appointed Mr. Law as our Executive Director, effective as of April 5, 2021, and authorized the Company
to issue 65,000 Class A preference shares (the “Preference Shares”) at US$1.0 per share, for a total consideration of US$65,000, to Good
Luck Capital Limited (“Good Luck”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Law. The following is a summary of the key terms associated with
the Preference Shares:
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1) The voting power of each Preference Share is equal to that of 10,000 Class A ordinary shares of the Company, subject to
proportional reduction commensurate with the number of Class A ordinary shares beneficial owned by Good Luck;

2) The Preference Shares cannot be converted into Class A ordinary shares, Class B ordinary shares, or ADRs;
3) The Preference Shares are not entitled to receive dividends;

4) If Good Luck transfers the Preference Shares to a third party which is not an affiliate of Good Luck, or when Good Luck
ceases to be controlled by any person holding executive office in or being a member of the board of director of the Company,
Class A Preference Shares shall cease to have any voting right; and

5) If Mr. Law ceases to serve as a director of the Company, the Company shall be entitled to redeem the Class A Preference
Shares at the original subscription price.

In January 2021, we announced that we entered into a definitive purchase agreement with certain sellers, pursuant to which we
issued 11,882,860 newly-issued Class A ordinary shares in March 2021 as consideration to acquire bitcoin mining machines owned by the
sellers. In this transaction, we also acquired 100% equity interest in Star Light Inc. through Fine Brand Limited, and its wholly owned
subsidiaries of Skill Espot Limited and Chongqing Yusheng Information Technology Limited. Since June 2022, we have suspended mining
activities in Kazakhstan. We have successfully produced approximately 8,000 Dogecoin/Litecoin mining machines during 2022 and 2023,
and have deployed all of these Dogecoin/Litecoin mining machines at our data center in the U.S. for use in our self-mining business. As the
date of this annual report, part of these mining machines are deployed and in operation in the U.S., with an aggregate theoretical hash rate
capacity of 37,689.7 PH/s.

As the date of this annual report, 3,000 BTC mining machines are deployed and in operation in the U.S., with an aggregate
theoretical hash rate capacity of 423.0 PH/s.

In February 2021, we also entered into a share exchange agreement with Blockchain Alliance Technologies Holding Company
(“Blockchain Alliance”), a Cayman Islands company and a “Non-U.S. Person” as defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act, pursuant to
which we agreed to issue an aggregate of 44,353,435 Class A ordinary shares of our company to Blockchain Alliance at the first closing in
exchange for the entire outstanding share capital of Alliance International Technologies Limited (formerly named “Blockchain Alliance
Technologies Limited”) held by Blockchain Alliance after the reorganization. The first closing of the transactions contemplated by the share
exchange agreement is subject to certain closing conditions, which include, among others, the transfer to the Company of the entire mining
pool business of Bitdeer Technologies Holding Company operated under BTC.com, including the domain name BTC.com and the
cryptocurrency wallet of BTC.com (collectively, the “BTC.com Pool Businesses”). BitDeer Technologies Holding Company was the parent
company of Blockchain Alliance. We completed the acquisition of the entire BTC.com Pool Businesses operated under BTC.com, including
the domain name BTC.com and the cryptocurrency wallet of BTC.com, on April 15, 2021.

In addition, in February 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement to purchase 2,000 new ETH mining machines for a total
consideration of RMB195 million (approximately US$30.2 million). We changed our strategy to ETC mining operations and these ETH
mining machines were transformed to ETC mining machines since September 15, 2022. As of the date of this annual report, these ETC
mining machines are not currently in operation.

In March 2021, a majority of our board of directors resolved to change our (i) English name to “BIT Mining Limited”, or the
English Name Change, subject to shareholder approval being received for the English Name Change, (ii) Chinese business name to “Pb4F4)
Ab,” and (iii) ticker symbol to “BTCM.” Pursuant to our Second Amended and Restated Articles of Association, the English Name Change
needs to be adopted by a Special Resolution at a general meeting of shareholders. For the purpose of seeking such shareholder approval, a
majority of the board also resolved to call an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders to consider the English Name Change. On April
8, 2021, we held an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders in which our shareholders passed the following resolutions: (i) as a
special resolution that the English name of the Company be changed to “BIT Mining Limited”; and (ii) as an ordinary resolution that the
authorized share capital of the Company be increased to US$100,000 divided into 1,600,000,000 Class A Ordinary Shares of a nominal or
par value of US$0.00005 each and 400,000,000 Class B Ordinary Shares of a nominal or par value of US$0.00005 each, by the creation of
900,000,000 Class A Ordinary Shares of a nominal or par value of US$0.00005 each and 100,000,000 Class B Ordinary Shares of a nominal
or par value of US$0.00005 each.

In April 2021, we entered into a share exchange agreement (“Share Exchange Agreement”) with shareholders (the “Selling
Shareholders”) of Bee Computing (HK) Limited (“Bee Computing”), which was amended and restated in April 2022. In May 2022, we have
successfully completed the first closing of the share exchange, and we issued 16,038,930 Class A ordinary shares to the Selling
Shareholders. The first closing occurred following the satisfaction or waiver of certain required closing conditions, including, among others,
Bee Computing’s completion of certain reorganization steps and other customary conditions.
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Pursuant the Amended and Restated Share Exchange Agreement, the Company shall issue (i) up to 18,330,210 of its Class A
ordinary shares to the Selling Shareholders, and (ii) up to 4,582,560 of its Class A ordinary shares to certain research and development team
members, subject to achievement of the following milestones:

1) Development and mass-production of a new generation of Bitcoin mining machines incorporating 7-nanometer application
specific integrated circuits (“ASICs”);

2) Successful development of high-performance and mass-producible Ethereum ASIC mining machines, with certain power
consumption and cost control targets; and;

3) Successful development of high-performance and mass-producible LTC ASIC mining machines.

Bee Computing was established in 2018 and specializes in the development and manufacture of cryptocurrency mining chips and
mining machines for different cryptocurrencies, including BTC, ETH, and LTC. In 2019, Bee Computing launched a bitcoin mining machine
incorporating 7-nanometer ASICs co-developed with MediaTek Inc., the largest IC design company in Asia, manufactured by Taiwan
Semiconductor Manufacturing Company, the world’s leading third-party foundry, and tested and packaged by ASE Technology Holding Co.,
Ltd., the world’s largest semiconductor testing company, who is also a major investor of Bee Computing. As of the date of this annual report,
we have successfully developed the high-performance and mass-producible LTC ASIC mining machines.

On June 21, 2021, our data centers in Sichuan have suspended their operations and we have ceased all operations relating to data
centers and cryptocurrency mining in China. On July 23, 2021, we terminated the contractual arrangements with the lottery-related affiliated
entities. The lottery-related affiliated entities were deconsolidated and their financial results were no longer included in our consolidated
financial statements since the termination of the related VIE structures. Accordingly, as of the date of this annual report, we do not maintain
any VIE structure in China.

In July 2021, the Company completed a private placement of 100,000,000 Class A ordinary shares and warrants to purchase up to
an additional 100,000,000 Class A ordinary shares, at a purchase price of US$50.00 per one hundred Class A ordinary shares, with one
warrant included in the price of each Class A ordinary share, in a private, unregistered transaction to certain investors. The private placement
resulted in gross proceeds to the Company of US$50.0 million before the deduction of placement agent fees and expenses and offering
expenses payable by the Company. The warrants have a term of three years, are exercisable six months following their issuance date and
have an exercise price of US$68.10 per one hundred Class A ordinary shares. One hundred Class A ordinary shares can be converted into
one ADS of the Company if certain conditions are satisfied. In connection with the private placement, the Company and its investors entered
into a registration rights agreement, which has been incorporated by reference as an exhibit to this annual report.

On September 22, 2021, we entered into the Ohio Mining Site Agreement with Viking Data Centers to jointly invest in the
development of the Ohio Mining Site. In October 2021, we increased our investment in the Ohio Mining Site and brought its total planned
power capacity up to 150 megawatts. As we intend to devote more resources to the Ohio Mining Site and improve its operational efficiency,
we have terminated our Texas cryptocurrency mining data center cooperation with Dory Creek, LLC, with whom we entered into an
investment term sheet in May 2021. In order to increase the cost efficiency of our mining business, we disposed of certain old model mining
machines with a total hash rate capacity of 610.7 PH/s.

On October 14, 2021, we announced that our mining pool subsidiary, BTC.com, would completely exit the China market, cease
registering new users from China and start to retire accounts of existing mining pool customers from China.

On June 23, 2022, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors to raise US$16.0 million to

acquire additional mining machines, expand infrastructure, and improve working capital position. The private placement transaction closed
on June 27, 2022.

42



Table of Contents

On June 30, 2022, we entered into an agreement with Viking Data Centers that the Company agreed to purchase all remaining
equity interest from Viking Data Centers by transferring certain assets that represent 67.5 megawatts, or 45%, of total planned power
capacity at the Ohio Mining Site. After completion of the transaction, we have exclusive access to 82.5 megawatts of planned electrical
power and Viking Data Centers has exclusive access to the remaining 67.5 megawatts, in accordance to their respective equity ownership
immediately prior to the transaction. As of the date of this annual report, 82.5 megawatts have been completed and in operation.

On July 12, 2022, we entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with an unaffiliated third party, pursuant to which we agreed
to sell, and the buyer agreed to purchase, approximately 51% of the total issued share capital of Loto Interactive, representing 279,673,200
shares of Loto Interactive at the price of HK$0.28 per share for a total consideration of HK$78,308,496. After the transaction, our share
ownership in Loto Interactive decreased to 8.79%. On March 15, 2023, we entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with an
unaffiliated third party, pursuant to which we agreed to sell, and the buyer agreed to purchase, all of our remaining share ownership in
Crypto Flow Technology Limited, or Crypto Flow, previously known as Loto Interactive, namely, 48,195,605 shares of Crypto Flow,
representing approximately 8.79% of the total issued share capital of Crypto Flow, at the price of HK$0.38 per share for the total
consideration of HK$18,314,330. Upon completion of this transaction, we do not own any shares in Crypto Flow.

On August 16, 2022, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors to raise US$9.3 million to
acquire additional mining machines, expand infrastructure, and improve working capital position. The private placement transaction closed
on August 19, 2022.

On December 23, 2022, we completed to change the ratio of ADSs to Class A ordinary shares (the “ADS Ratio”), par value
US$0.00005 per share, from the current ADS Ratio of one (1) ADS to ten (10) Class A ordinary shares, to a new ADS Ratio of one (1) ADS
to one hundred (100) Class A ordinary shares (the “ADS Ratio Change”). No fractional new ADSs will be issued in connection with the
ADS Ratio Change. The ADS Ratio Change will have no impact on our underlying Class A ordinary shares, and no Class A ordinary shares
will be issued or cancelled in connection with the ADS Ratio Change. After the ADS Ratio Change, the NYSE confirmed that a calculation
of our average stock price for the 30-trading days ended January 30, 2023, indicated that our stock price was above the NYSE’s minimum
requirement of $1 based on a 30-trading day average. Accordingly, we are no longer considered below the $1 continued listing criterion.

On June 9, 2023, we were notified by the NYSE that we were not in compliance with the NYSE’s minimum market capitalization
and shareholders’ equity requirement (the “Market Cap and Equity Requirement”) of Section 802.01B of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual because our average total market capitalization over a consecutive 30 trading-day period and last reported stockholders’ equity were
both below $50 million. On December 17, 2024, we received a letter (the “Letter”) from the NYSE notifying us that we had regained
compliance with the NYSE’s quantitative continued listing standards. In accordance with the NYSE’s Listed Company Manual, we will be
subject to a 12-month follow-up period within which we will be reviewed to ensure that we do not once again fall below any of the NYSE’s
continued listing standards.

On March 4, 2024, we announced the closing and completion of the sale of the entire BTC.com Pool Businesses to Esport -Win
Limited, a Hong Kong limited liability company, for a total consideration of US$5 million (the “Consideration”). While the closing of the
transaction occurred on February 29, 2024, for accounting purposes the Business was deemed to be disposed of on January 31, 2024 when
the Company relinquished control and received the first payment of the Consideration by retaining 71.37 bitcoins of the BTC.com Pool
Businesses for compliance and safety purposes when transferring the BTC.com Pool Businesses to Esport -Win Limited. The retained
bitcoins have a fair value of US$3 million as determined using US$42,034.57 per bitcoin, which was published by Coinbase.com on January
29,2024 at UTC 0:00.
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On November 6, 2024, we entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright &
Co., LLC (the “Manager”), as sales agent. Pursuant to the Sales Agreement, we filed a prospectus supplement dated November 6, 2024 (the
“Prospectus Supplement”) to the Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-258329), as amended, relating to the offer and sale of
the ADSs, pursuant to which we may offer and sell from time to time an aggregate offering price of up to approximately US$9.6 million of
the ADSs during the term of the Sales Agreement through or to the Manager as sales agent or principal. Under the Sales Agreement, the
Manager may sell the ADSs by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415 under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including, without limitation, sales made directly on or through the NYSE or any other existing trading
market in the United States for ADSs representing our Class A ordinary shares, sales made to or through a market maker other than on an
exchange or otherwise, directly to the Manager as principal, in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at
prices related to such prevailing market prices and/or in any other method permitted by law. Under the Sales Agreement, the Manager is not
required to sell any specific number or dollar amount of the ADSs, but will act as our sales agent using commercially reasonable efforts
consistent with its normal trading and sales practices, and will sell the ADSs from time to time, if any, based upon instructions from us
(including any price, time or size limits or other customary parameters or conditions we may impose), in each case, on the terms and subject
to the conditions stated in the Sales Agreement. We have agreed to pay the Manager a cash commission equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds
from the sales of ADSs pursuant to the Sales Agreement and have agreed to provide the Manager with customary indemnification and
contribution rights. We have also agreed to reimburse the Manager for certain specified expenses. We intend to use the net proceeds from the
offering to invest in mining machines, build new data centers, expand our business operation, explore new business opportunities, and
improve working capital position. The offering and sale of the ADSs will be made pursuant to the Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File
No. 333-258329), as amended, which was initially filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on July 30, 2021 and
declared effective on May 17, 2022. As of the date of this annual report, we have raised gross proceeds of US$2.3 million through the At-
The-Market offering.

On December 9, 2024, we completed the first closing of acquisition of crypto mining data centers and Bitcoin mining machines in
Ethiopia. To complete the first closing of the acquisition, we had made a payment of US$2.265 million in the form of 2,265,000 USDT and
issued an aggregate number of 369,031,800 Class A ordinary shares to the sellers. The remaining mining facilities under construction are on
track to be operational by mid second quarter of 2025, and some of the mining equipment for which prepayment has been made prior to the
acquisition has been delivered to the site with the remaining to be delivered soon.

On January 7, 2025, we held an annual general meeting of shareholders in which our shareholders passed the resolution increasing
our authorized share capital to US$440,000 divided into 8,399,935,000 Class A Ordinary Shares of a nominal or par value of US$0.00005
each, 65,000 Class A Preference Shares of a nominal or par value of US$0.00005 each, and 400,000,000 Class B Ordinary Shares of a
nominal or par value of US$0.00005 each, by the creation of 6,800,000,000 Class A Ordinary Shares of a nominal or par value of
US$0.00005 each.

Principal Offices

Our principal executive offices are located at 428 South Seiberling Street, Akron, Ohio 44306, United States of America. Our
telephone number at this address is +1 (346) 204-8537. Our registered office in the Cayman Islands is at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. Our websites are https://www.btcm.group. Effective as of and after April 9, 2021, our agent for
service of process in the United States is Cogency Global Inc., located at 122 East 42nd Street, 18th Floor, New York, New York 10168,
U.S.A.

B. Business Overview
Overview

We intend to become a leading cryptocurrency mining enterprise. We began our transformation from a China-based lottery
company into an international cryptocurrency mining company since December 2020 through the acquisition of (1) certain cryptocurrency
mining machines, (2) a 7-nanometer mining machine manufacturer Bee Computing to unfurl a comprehensive approach to cryptocurrency

mining, and (3) a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ohio with power capacity of 82.5 megawatts, and completion of the first closing of
acquisition of cryptocurrency mining data centers and Bitcoin mining machines in Ethiopia.
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BIT Mining Limited, our ultimate Cayman Islands holding company, holding certain of our digital assets in connection with our
cryptocurrency mining business and indirectly holding the equity interest in our subsidiaries in China and other countries and regions. We
voluntarily suspended our online sports lottery sales services in April 2015. We have previously conducted our lottery-related business in
China through a series of contractual arrangements, also commonly known as the variable interest entity, or VIE structure, with several
PRC-incorporated companies (collectively, the “lottery-related affiliated entities™), and their respective registered shareholders. The lottery-
related affiliated entities have been deconsolidated and their financial results have no longer been included in our consolidated financial
statements for the third quarter of 2021 since the termination of the related VIE structures. Accordingly, as of the date of this annual report,
we do not maintain any VIE structure in China.

We operate cryptocurrency mining machines for the sole purpose of mining cryptocurrencies (primarily Bitcoin, Ethereum-Classic,
Litecoin and Dogecoin). Our mining machines are operating with the primary intent of accumulating Bitcoin which we may sell for fiat
currency from time to time depending on market conditions and management’s determination of our cash flow needs.

We have deployed our Bitcoin mining machines in data centers in the U.S. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we produced
17.6 Bitcoins from our Bitcoin cryptocurrency mining operations, and recognized revenue of approximately US$1.1 million. As of the date
of this annual report, the total hash rate capacity of our online Bitcoin mining machines is approximately 385.5 PH/s. We also produced
29,575 ETC from our cryptocurrency mining operations, and recognized revenue of approximately US$0.8 million.

We have deployed all of these Dogecoin/Litecoin mining machines at our data center in the U.S. for use in our self-mining
business. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we produced 88.2 million DOGE and 25,084 LTC from our DOGE/LTC cryptocurrency
mining operations and recognized revenue of approximately US$14.9 million. As of the date of this annual report, our DOGE/LTC mining
machines are shut down. For the year ended December 31, 2024, Cryptocurrency mining revenue from other cryptocurrencies, such as ETC,
BEL, JKC, PEP and LKY, totaled approximately US$0.3 million.

We measure our mining performance based on the overall hash rate being produced by our mining machines. The above theoretical
information regarding approximate maximum hashing rates are estimates only and the actual outputs of the mine are subject to changes
based in part on the difficulty rates associated with the bitcoin network, as well as other conditions that impact our mining output.

We operate mining machines that perform blockchain computations measured in “hash rate” or “hashes per second.” A “hash” is
the blockchain computation run by mining machines. Accordingly, a mining machine’s “hash rate” refers to the rate at which it can solve
such blockchain computations. The original equipment used for mining bitcoin utilized the Central Processing Unit (CPU) of a computer to
mine various forms of cryptocurrency. Due to performance limitations, CPU mining was rapidly replaced by the Graphics Processing Unit
(GPU), which offers significant performance advantages over CPUs. General purpose chipsets like CPUs and GPUs have since been
replaced in the mining industry by Application Specific Integrated Circuits (ASIC) chips. These ASIC chips are designed specifically to
maximize the rate of hashing operations.

In terms of our data center business, in September 2021 we entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement and certain
other auxiliary agreements (the “Ohio Mining Site Agreements”) with Viking Data Centers, LLC (“Viking Data Centers”) to acquire a 51%
equity interest in a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ohio (the “Ohio Mining Site””) with power capacity of up to 85 megawatts. In
October 2021, we increased our investment in the Ohio Mining Site and brought its total planned power capacity up to 150 megawatts. Upon
the successful execution of the increased investment, the Company’s equity interest in the Ohio Mining Site increased to 55%, and Viking
Data Centers held the remaining 45%. The Ohio mining site has a total planned power capacity up to 150 megawatts. In June 2022, we
entered into an agreement with Viking Data Centers that we agreed to purchase all remaining equity interest from Viking Data Centers for
approximately US$17.8 million, by transferring certain assets that represent 67.5 megawatts, or 45%, of total planned power capacity at the
Ohio Mining Site. After completion of the transaction, we have exclusive access to 82.5 megawatts of planned electrical power and Viking
Data Centers has exclusive access to the remaining 67.5 megawatts, in accordance to their respective equity ownership immediately prior to
the transaction. As of September 2023, 82.5 megawatts have been completed and in operation in the Ohio Mining Site. The data center in
Hong Kong, with a maximum capacity of approximately 1.4 megawatts, has been operational and mining ETH since October 2021 and was
disposed according to the sale of shares of Loto Interactive. We have terminated our data center construction plan in Kazakhstan, which was
announced in May 2021, due to the unstable local power supply. On December 9, 2024, we completed the first closing of acquisition of
crypto mining data centers with total planned power capacity up to 100 megawatt and Bitcoin mining machines in Ethiopia. To complete the
first closing of the acquisition, we had made a payment of US$2.265 million in the form of 2,265,000 USDT and issued an aggregate
number of 369,031,800 Class A ordinary shares to the sellers. The remaining mining facilities under construction are on track to be
operational by mid second quarter of 2025, and some of the mining equipment for which prepayment has been made prior to the acquisition
has been delivered to the site with the remaining to be delivered soon.
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On December 28, 2023, we agreed to sell our entire mining pool business operated under BTC.com to Esport — Win Limited, a
Hong Kong limited liability company, for a total consideration of US$5 million. While the closing of the transaction occurred on February
29, 2024, for accounting purposes the Business was deemed to be disposed of on January 31, 2024 when the Company relinquished control
and received the first payment of the Consideration by retaining 71.37 bitcoins of the Business for compliance and safety purposes when
transferring the Business to Esport — Win Limited. The retained bitcoins have a fair value of US$3 million as determined using
US$42,034.57 per bitcoin, which was published by Coinbase.com on January 29, 2024 at UTC 0:00.

Our Business

We are primarily engaged in cryptocurrency mining for our own account, data center operation to host cryptocurrency mining
activities and miner manufacturing. We are pursuing a development strategy to focus on cryptocurrency mining operations globally.

Cryptocurrency Mining Business

We currently operate cryptocurrency mining machines for the sole purpose of mining cryptocurrencies (Bitcoin, Ethereum Classic,
Litecoin and Dogecoin), which we may sell for fiat currency for our own account from time to time depending on market condition and
management’s determination of our cash flow needs. As of the date of this annual report, our Bitcoin mining machines are mainly located in
the United States and Ethiopia, and more mining machines are gradually arriving at the data center in Ethiopia. We have primarily deployed
our Bitcoin mining machines in data centers in the U.S. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we produced 17.6 Bitcoins from our Bitcoin
cryptocurrency mining operations, and recognized revenue of approximately US$1.1 million. As of the date of this annual report, the total
hash rate capacity of our online Bitcoin mining machines is approximately 385.5 PH/s. We also produced 29,575 ETC from our
cryptocurrency mining operations, and recognized revenue of approximately US$0.8 million.

We have deployed all of these Dogecoin/Litecoin mining machines at our data center in the U.S. for use in our self-mining
business. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we produced 88.2 million DOGE and 25,084 LTC from our DOGE/LTC cryptocurrency
mining operations and recognized revenue of approximately US$14.9 million. As of the date of this annual report, our DOGE/LTC mining
machines are shut down. For the year ended December 31, 2024, Cryptocurrency mining revenue from other cryptocurrencies, such as BEL,
JKC, PEP and LKY, totaled approximately US$0.3 million.

Data Center Services

We operate data centers which provide rack space, utility, and cloud services such as virtual services, virtual storage and data
backup services to third-party cryptocurrency mining companies. Our data centers also host a number of our own cryptocurrency mining
machines. We typically charge our customers a monthly service fee, which factors into, among others, the number of machines hosted in our
facilities, utility costs and other associated expenses in connection with the operations of our data centers. The service fees for our data
center services are settled in fiat currency.

We formerly conducted our data center business in mainland China through Loto Interactive and its subsidiaries. After suspending
the operations of two data centers in Sichuan province, China, we have migrated our data center operations overseas and are currently in the
process of investing in or constructing cryptocurrency mining data centers in overseas jurisdictions outside of mainland China. On July 12,
2022, we entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with an unaffiliated third party, pursuant to which we agreed to sell, and the
buyer agreed to purchase, approximately 51% of the total issued share capital of Loto Interactive, representing 279,673,200 shares of Loto
Interactive at the price of HK$0.28 per share for a total consideration of HK$78,308,496. After the Transaction, our share ownership in Loto
Interactive decreased to 8.79%. On March 15, 2023, we entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with an unaffiliated third party,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell, and the buyer agreed to purchase, all of the Company’s remaining share ownership in Crypto
Flow Technology Limited, or Crypto Flow, previously known as Loto Interactive, namely, 48,195,605 shares of Crypto Flow, representing
approximately 8.79% of the total issued share capital of Crypto Flow, at the price of HK$0.38 per share for the total consideration of
HK$18,314,330. Upon completion of this transaction, the Company does not own any shares in Crypto Flow.
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In September 2021, we entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement and certain other auxiliary agreements with Viking
Data Centers, LLC to acquire the 51% equity interest in Asgard Data Centers LLC, which intended to operate a cryptocurrency mining data
center in the Ohio Mining Site. In October 2021, we increased our equity interest ownership in the Ohio Mining Site to 55%. The Ohio
mining site has a total planned power capacity up to 150 megawatts. In June 2022, we entered into an agreement with Viking Data Centers
that we agreed to purchase all remaining equity interest from Viking Data Centers for approximately US$17.8 million, by transferring
certain assets that represent 67.5 megawatts, or 45%, of total planned power capacity at the Ohio Mining Site. After completion of the
transaction, we have exclusive access to 82.5 megawatts of planned electrical power and Viking Data Centers has exclusive access to the
remaining 67.5 megawatts, in accordance to their respective equity ownership immediately prior to the transaction. In December 2022, 82.5
megawatts have been completed and in operation in the Ohio Mining Site.

On December 9, 2024, we completed the first closing of acquisition of crypto mining data centers and Bitcoin mining machines in
Ethiopia. To complete the first closing of the acquisition, we had made a payment of US$2.265 million in the form of 2,265,000 USDT and
issued an aggregate number of 369,031,800 Class A ordinary shares to the sellers. The subsequent closing of the acquisition, which involves
transfer of the remaining data centers to the Company, will close upon completion of construction of the remaining data centers, which is
expected to occur in the mid second quarter of 2025. Upon subsequent closing, the Company will issue an additional 45,278,600 Class A
ordinary shares as consideration.

We expect our international operations to contribute most of our revenues going forward. For the risks and uncertainties relating to
our international operation development and expansion, and the regulatory and policy environment affecting our blockchain and
cryptocurrency mining business and our remaining operations in China, see “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to
Our Business and Industry — It may be or become illegal to acquire, own, hold, sell or use cryptocurrencies, participate in the blockchain,
or transfer or utilize similar cryptocurrency assets in international markets where we operate due to adverse changes in the regulatory and
policy environment in these jurisdictions.”

Our Digital Assets

We hold our own digital assets mined through our cryptocurrency mining operation, which consist primarily of Bitcoin, Dogecoin,
Ethereum, USDT, and Litecoin. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had cryptocurrency assets of US$9.6 million in aggregate, which
comprised of 19.06 BTC, 1,246 ETH, 7.6 million DOGE, 0.9 million USDT, 1,770 Litecoin and various other cryptocurrency assets, which
were generated from its cryptocurrency mining business and were the only digital assets individually accounts for more than 0.1% of our
total assets as of December 31, 2024. These five specific digital assets, on a cost basis, in the aggregate account for 10.86% of our total
assets as of December 31, 2024. The other digital assets that we hold collectively, on a cost basis, represent less than 0.1% as of December
31, 2024.

Our digital assets are held through BIT Mining Limited, our ultimate Cayman Islands holding company, as well as our consolidated
subsidiaries in British Virgin Islands, and United States. As of the date of this annual report, we hold 6.7 Bitcoins, 1.73 million Dogecoins,
1,158 Ethereum, 332 Litecoins and 0.87 million USDT. Our digital assets have an aggregate fair value of approximately US$3.95 million,
calculated based on the quoted price of the respective cryptocurrencies measured at fair value at UTC 0:00 as of the date of this annual
report.

Our cryptocurrency business focuses on mining cryptocurrencies for our own account, operating data centers to host our and
customers’ mining machines. We do not facilitate the trading of, or investing in, cryptocurrencies, although we may sell digital assets mined
by us for fiat currency for our own account from time to time. We intend to mine cryptocurrencies that are generally not deemed as
“securities.” The SEC and its staff have taken the position that certain digital assets fall within the definition of a “security” under the U.S.
federal securities laws. Public statements by senior officials at the SEC indicate that the SEC does not intend to take the position that Bitcoin
or Ethereum, in their current form, are securities. However, such statements are not official policy statements by the SEC and reflect only the
speakers’ views, which are not binding on the SEC or any other agency or court, and cannot be generalized to any other digital asset. On
February 27, 2025, the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance issued a formal Staff Statement which took the position that typical meme
coins do not constitute “securities” under U.S. federal securities law, and thus transactions in these meme coins need not be registered under
the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, nor exempt from registration because they do not involve an “offer and sale” of securities. In
accordance with a framework for analyzing whether a given digital assets is a security, published by the SEC’s Strategic Hub for Innovation
and Financial Technology in April 2019, we would need to determine whether each of the digital assets acquired and held by us is an
“investment contract,” as well as other instruments such as stocks, bonds, and transferable shares.
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We intend to consult counsel prior to attempting to mine any cryptocurrency other than those that are generally not considered as
“securities,” such as Bitcoin, Ethereum and meme coins, in order to avoid inadvertently dealing in a cryptocurrency which may be deemed a
security. We anticipate that, should we consider mining a cryptocurrency other than those that are generally not considered as “securities,”
we will seek the advice of securities counsel, and the process will include research, review and analysis of the current federal securities laws
and regulations regarding digital assets, including judicial interpretations and administrative guidance. However, the processes employed for
determining whether particular digital assets are securities within the meaning of U.S. federal securities laws are risk-based assessments and
are not a legal standard or binding on the SEC or other regulators. See “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our
Business and Industry—A particular digital asset’s status as a “security” in any relevant jurisdiction is subject to a high degree of
uncertainty, and if we are unable to properly characterize a digital asset, we may be subject to regulatory scrutiny, investigations, fines, and
other penalties, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.” We recognize that whether a
digital asset is a security is a complex and evolving legal issue. For that reason, we have no plan in the foreseeable future to mine anything
other than cryptocurrencies that are generally not considered as “securities.” However, if our compliance procedures and legal reviews prove
to be incorrect, we may be subject to prohibitive SEC penalties and/or private lawsuit defense costs and adverse rulings.

Legal and Administrative Proceedings

Our board of directors formed a Special Investigation Committee, or SIC, and retained King & Wood Mallesons LLP, or KWM, as
legal advisor to assist the internal investigation into the role played by the Company’s former external consultants in alleged illegal money
transfers following their arrest by the Tokyo District Public Prosecutors Office. The SIC was composed of Mr. Shengwu Wu, then chairman
of the board, Dr. Honghui Deng and Ms. Wong, Angel Yan Ki, each then an independent director. On October 7, 2020, the Company
announced that the SIC of the Company’s Board completed its internal investigation. KWM presented its investigation review to SIC on
October 7, 2020. Based on the findings and analyses in KWM’s review, the SIC concluded that it did not find a sufficient basis to establish a
violation of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 in connection with the Company’s prior activities in Japan. The SIC also
reviewed the Company’s compliance policies, procedures and internal controls in light of the suggestions from KWM. The Company
updated such policies, procedures and internal controls based on recommendations from the SIC, and will continue to enhance its internal
controls as appropriate.

Regulatory Investigation

On December 31, 2019, we announced the formation of a special investigation committee, consisting of the independent members
of the board, to internally investigate (i) alleged illegal money transfers made in connection with the potential development of an integrated
casino resort project in Japan and (ii) the previous arrests that were made by the Tokyo District Public Prosecutors Office. The prosecutions
resulted in the conviction of government officials and former intermediaries, including an external consultant of the Company who also
formerly served as a director of our subsidiary in Japan. We also cooperated with the U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) and the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in connection with their investigations into the Company. In 2024, we entered into a
deferred prosecution agreement (the “DPA”) with the DOJ and consented to an entry by the SEC of a Cease-And-Desist Order (the “SEC
Order”) to resolve their investigations, in which we agreed to a combined penalty amount of US$10 million. As of December 31, 2024, we
had fully paid the combined penalty amounts. Pursuant to the DPA, we also agreed to maintain: (a) an effective system of internal
accounting controls designed to ensure the making and keeping of fair and accurate books, records, and accounts; and (b) a rigorous anti-
corruption compliance program that incorporates relevant internal accounting controls, as well as policies and procedures designed to
effectively detect and deter violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and other applicable anti-corruption laws, and (3) report
to the DOJ annually during the three-year term of the DPA regarding remediation and implementation of the compliance measures. The DOJ
agreed that if we fully comply with all of our obligations under the DPA, the DOJ will not continue the criminal prosecution against us and,
within six months after the three-year term expires, will seek dismissal with prejudice of the criminal information filed against us. If we
breach the terms of the DPA during the three-year term, we will be subject to prosecution for any federal criminal violation of which the
DOIJ has knowledge. Pursuant to the SEC Order, we also agreed to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any
future violations of Sections 30A, 13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Other than as described above, we are not currently a party to, nor are we aware of, any legal proceeding, investigation or claim
which, in the opinion of our management, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operation.
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We do not intend to obtain the approval or clearance from either the CSRC or the CAC in connection with any future offering by
our company or our shareholders. We cannot assure you, however, that regulators in China will not take a contrary view or will not
subsequently require us to undergo the approval or clearance procedures and subject us to penalties for non-compliance. See “Item 3. Key
Information—D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in China—Recent regulatory developments in China may subject us to
additional regulatory review and disclosure requirements, expose us to government interference, or otherwise restrict or completely hinder
our ability to offer securities and raise capitals outside China, all of which could materially and adversely affect our business, and cause the
value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless.”

Our financial statements contained in the annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by
MaloneBailey, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm that is headquartered in the United States with offices in Beijing and
Shenzhen, China. MaloneBailey, LLP is a firm registered with the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the “PCAOB”), and
is required by the laws of the U.S. to undergo regular inspections by the PCAOB to assess its compliance with the laws of the U.S. and
professional standards. MaloneBailey, LLP has been subject to PCAOB inspections, and is not among the PCAOB-registered public
accounting firms headquartered in the PRC or Hong Kong that are subject to PCAOB’s determination on December 16, 2021 of having been
unable to inspect or investigate completely.

However, our audit work was carried out by MaloneBailey, LLP with the collaboration of its China-based offices. According to
Article 177 of the PRC Securities Law (last amended in March 2020), no overseas securities regulator is allowed to directly conduct
investigation or evidence collection activities in China. Accordingly, without the consent of the competent PRC securities regulators and
relevant authorities, no organization or individual may provide the documents and materials relating to securities business activities to
overseas parties. Therefore, the audit working papers of our financial statements may not be fully inspected by the PCAOB without the
approval of the PRC authorities. Our ADSs could still be delisted from a U.S. exchange and prohibited from being traded over-the-counter in
the United States under the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act (the “HFCA Act”) if the PCAOB determines in the future that it is
unable to fully inspect or investigate our auditor which has a presence in China. The delisting or cessation of trading of our ADSs, or the
threat of their being delisted or prohibited from being traded, may materially and adversely affect the value of your investment. Additionally,
the inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections deprives our investors with the benefits of such inspections. See “Item 3. Key Information
—D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in China— Our ADSs could still be delisted from a U.S. exchange and prohibited
from being traded over-the-counter in the United States under the HFCA Act if the PCAOB determines in the future that it is unable to fully
inspect or investigate our auditor which has a presence in China, and the delisting and cease of trading our ADSs, or the threat of their being
delisted or prohibited from being traded, may materially and adversely affect the value of your investment.”

M&A Regulations and Overseas Listings

On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory authorities, including the CSRC, promulgated the Provisions on Merger and Acquisition of
Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investors, which were later amended on June 22, 2009, or the 2006 M&A Rules. Pursuant to the 2006
M&A Rules, an offshore special purpose vehicle, or SPV, refers to an overseas company controlled directly or indirectly by PRC domestic
companies or individuals for purposes of overseas listing of equity interests in domestic companies (defined as enterprises in the PRC other
than foreign-invested enterprises). If an SPV purchases, for the purpose of overseas listing, equity interests of any PRC company that are
held by PRC companies or individuals controlling such SPV, then the overseas listing by the SPV must obtain the approval of the CSRC.
The application of the 2006 M&A Rules remains unclear and there is currently no consensus among PRC law firms regarding the scope of
CSRC’s jurisdiction.

Our then PRC counsel, Han Kun Law Offices, advised us that the 2006 M&A Rules do not require us to obtain prior CSRC
approval for the listing and trading of our ADSs on the NYSE, given that:

e the CSRC approval requirement applies to SPVs that acquired equity interests of any PRC company that are held by PRC
companies or individuals controlling such SPV and seek overseas listing; and

e our PRC operating subsidiary was incorporated as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise by means of direct investment rather than by
merger or acquisition by our company of the equity interest or assets of any “domestic company” as defined under the 2006 M&A
Rules, and no provision in the 2006 M&A Rules classifies the contractual arrangements between our company, our PRC operating
subsidiary and any of the affiliated consolidated entities, including, among others, the Equity Interests Pledge Agreements and the
Shareholder’s Voting Power Assignment Agreement, either by each agreement itself or taken as a whole, as a type of acquisition
transaction falling under the 2006 M&A Rules.
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C. Organizational Structure

The following diagram illustrates our company’s organizational structure, and the place of formation, ownership
affiliation of each of our principal subsidiaries and affiliated entities as of the date of this annual report.
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Our principal executive offices are located at 428 South Seiberling Street, Akron, Ohio 44306, United States of America and
occupy a total of 13,027.4 square meters. We also have representative offices in USA and Shenzhen. We lease our premises from unrelated
third parties. Each of the lessors for the leased premises either has a valid title to the property or has proper authorization from the title

owner to sublease the property.

In September 2016, we entered into a lease agreement with Shenzhen Harbor Technology Development Co., Ltd., to lease offices of
9,659 square meters in Nanshan District, Shenzhen, with a total expenditure of RMBO0.16 million (US$0.02 million) per month. We have
gradually and partially terminated our leases with respect to certain amounts of office space, reducing our total leased office space from
9,659 square meters to 1,189 square meters between August 2020 and February 2021, with the 1,189 square-meter space incurring a total
expenditure of US$25,658 per month. In June 2022, we entered into a lease agreement to lease offices in Los Angeles with an expenditure of

US$20,000 per month.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEMS. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this annual report. This discussion may contain forward-
looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties.

A. Operating Results
Overview

We intend to become a leading cryptocurrency mining enterprise. We began our transformation from a China-based lottery
company into an international cryptocurrency mining company since December 2020 through the acquisition of (1) certain cryptocurrency
mining machines, (2) a 7-nanometer mining machine manufacturer Bee Computing to unfurl a comprehensive approach to cryptocurrency
mining, and (3) a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ohio with power capacity of 82.5 megawatts, and completion of the first closing of
acquisition of cryptocurrency mining data centers and Bitcoin mining machines in Ethiopia.

BIT Mining Limited, our ultimate Cayman Islands holding company, holding certain of our digital assets in connection with our
cryptocurrency mining business and indirectly holding the equity interest in our subsidiaries in China and other countries and regions. We
voluntarily suspended our online sports lottery sales services in April 2015. We have previously conducted our lottery-related business in
China through a series of contractual arrangements, also commonly known as the variable interest entity, or VIE structure, with several
PRC-incorporated companies (the “lottery-related affiliated entities”), and their respective registered shareholders. In July 2021, we
announced our decision to dispose of our VIE structures in China, and the lottery-related affiliated entities have been deconsolidated and
their financial results will no longer be included in our consolidated financial statements for the third quarter of 2021 following the
termination of the related VIE structures. Accordingly, as of the date of this annual report, we do not maintain any VIE structure in China.
The results of operations for this VIE structure were excluded from the company’s continuing operations for the fiscal years 2021 presented
as a discontinued operation in this report. On December 28, 2023, we agreed to sell our entire mining pool business operated under
BTC.com to Esport -Win Limited, a Hong Kong limited liability company, for a total consideration of US$5 million. Accordingly, the results
of operations for the mining pool business were excluded from the company’s continuing operations for the fiscal year 2023 and the
comparable periods presented as discontinued operations in this report. See Note 4 — Discontinued Operations, of the consolidated financial
statements for further details. For the risks and uncertainties relating to the termination of our previous VIE structures in China and the sale
of its mining pool business, see “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in China—Our efforts to
adjust our corporate structure and business operations, including the termination of our previous VIE structures and the exit of our mining
pool business from China, may not be completed in a liability-free manner, and we may still be subject to cybersecurity review by the CAC,
or deemed to be in violation of PRC laws regulating our industry and operations.”

As of the date of this annual report, we have no PRC-sourced revenue, and our remaining operations in the PRC primarily involve
the provision of administrative supports to our cryptocurrency mining business outside the PRC, as well as internal information technology
services to our operating entities outside the PRC. We believe we have obtained the business licenses and permits required for our remaining
non-revenue generating operations in the PRC. In addition, certain subsidiaries have deregistered the internet data center (“IDC”) licenses
that were no longer needed after the termination of the data center operations in the PRC. However, due to the complexity of the PRC
regulatory regime over our industry, we cannot assure you that we have obtained all the permits or licenses required for conducting our
remaining operations in the PRC or will be able to maintain our existing licenses or obtain any new licenses required under any new laws or
regulations. We have received government approvals, permits and licenses required for our operations of data centers in the United States.
However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain or renew such required approval, permits or licenses on commercially
reasonable terms and in a timely manner or at all. See “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and
Industry—Any failure to obtain or renew any required approvals, licenses, permits or certifications could materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations.”
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Our revenues from continuing operations were US$57.0 million, US$43.1 million and US$32.9 million in 2022, 2023 and 2024,
respectively, representing a decrease of US$13.9 million from 2022 to 2023, and a decrease of US$10.2 million from 2023 to 2024,
respectively. The continuous annual decrease was mainly attributable to the higher computing power of the whole network in the third and
fourth quarter of 2023 compared with the computing power in 2022 and the higher computing power of the whole network in the year of
2024 compared with the computing power in the year of 2023, resulting in an increased difficulty in cryptocurrency mining activities.

Net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited were US$76.4 million in 2022, US$25.4 million in 2023
and US$6.9 million in 2024, representing a decrease of US$51.0 million from 2022 to 2023, and a decrease of US$18.5 million from 2023
to 2024, respectively. Net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited in 2022 was adversely impacted by an
impairment provision of US$7.5 million provided for acquired intangible assets, an impairment provision of US$35.2 million provided for
property and equipment, an impairment provision of US$9.4 million provided for cryptocurrency assets, and US$7.8 million in net loss on
disposal of cryptocurrency assets. Net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited in 2023 was adversely impacted
by the accrual of legal contingencies of US$10 million included in other operating expenses and an impairment provision of US$2.4 million
provided for impairment of cryptocurrency assets, which was offset by US$7.1 million net gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets. Net
loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited in 2024 was adversely impacted by general and administrative salary
and benefit expenses of US$4.8 million, and professional expense of US$3.9 million, which was offset by the gain of US$3.2 million from
changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets.

Description of Key Statement of Operations Items from Continuing Operation
Revenues
The table below sets forth our revenues in aggregate and by service type after inter-segment elimination therein for the three years:

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
US$ US$ US$
(in thousands)
Cryptocurrency mining 46,839 21,562 17,091
Data center 9,987 21,539 15,831
Others 199 — —
Revenues 57,025 43,101 32,922

Cryptocurrency mining and data center services accounted for 99.65%, 100.00% and 100.00% of the total revenues in 2022, 2023
and 2024, respectively. The revenues disclosed in the table are after inter-segment eliminations. The continuous annual decrease was mainly
attributable to higher computing power of the whole network year over year, resulting in an increased difficulty in cryptocurrency mining
activities.

The table below sets forth our operating expenses from continuing operations for the three years:

Years ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
US$ US$ US$
(in thousands)

Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue 61,195 40,055 29,937
Sales and marketing expenses 336 153 54
General and administrative expenses 21,946 18,465 13,709
Service development expenses 2,213 874 69
Total operating costs and expenses 85,690 59,547 43,769

Our operating expenses consist primarily of cost of revenue, sales and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses and
service development expenses.
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Cost of revenue

Our cost of revenue is directly related to the services we provide, and fluctuates in line with our revenues. Our cost of revenue
primarily consists of: (i) direct production costs related to data center service for operation, leasing expense of servers hosting and other
equipment used in providing online services and cryptocurrency mining business; (ii) depreciation of machinery and equipment related to
cryptocurrency mining and data center services; (iii) amortization fees, which consist primarily of amortization of intangible assets arising
from business combination and asset acquisition; and (iv) cost of cryptocurrency mining, which consist primarily of direct costs related to
cryptocurrency mining machines, including the server leasing and maintenance charges.

Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of: (i) promotional and marketing expenses, which primarily consist of
expenses associated with various promotional events; and (ii) salary and benefit expenses for sales and marketing employees.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of: (i) share-based compensation expenses; (ii) salary and benefit
expenses for our management and general administrative employees; (iii) third-party professional service fees, which consist primarily of
professional service fees paid to third-party professionals; (iv) depreciation expenses mainly for improvement of leasehold; (v) office
expenses, which consist primarily of office rental and other office administrative expenses; and (vi) travel, communication and other
business expenses, which consist primarily of expenses associated with business travels.

Service development expenses

Our service development expenses consist primarily of salary and benefit expenses for our research and development employees,
share-based compensation expenses and rental expenses.

Other operating expenses

Our other operating expenses consist primarily of loss from disposal of property and equipment and certain expenses related to our
Form F-3 filing in 2022. Our other operating expenses consist primarily of accrual for legal contingencies and provision for credit losses
related to other receivables in 2023. Our other operating expenses consist primarily of write-off of prepayments in 2024.
Government grant

We recognized grants from the Hong Kong government in 2022. We did not recognize such grants in 2023 and 2024.
Net gain (loss) on disposal of cryptocurrency assets

Net gain (loss) on disposal of cryptocurrency assets in 2022 and 2023 was mainly due to fluctuating market prices for
cryptocurrency assets by using first-in-first-out (“FIFO”) to calculate the cost of disposition. Effective January 1, 2024, the Company
adopted ASU 2023-08, which requires cryptocurrency assets to be measured at fair value. Therefore, there was no gain or loss on disposal of
cryptocurrency assets in 2024.

Impairment of cryptocurrency assets

Impairment is provided for cryptocurrency assets held in cryptocurrency mining business in 2022 and 2023. Upon adoption of ASU
2023-08 on January 1, 2024, there was no impairment of cryptocurrency assets in 2024.

Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets were due to the remeasurement on the fair value of the cryptocurrency assets held as

we adopted ASU 2023-08 on January 1, 2024.
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Changes in fair value of contingent considerations

Changes in fair value of contingent considerations in 2022 was due to the remeasurement on the fair value of the contingent
considerations related to the combination of BTC.com.

Impairment of property and equipment

Impairment of property and equipment in 2022 was due to provision for impairment of mining machines in Kazakhstan and the
U.s.

Impairment of intangible assets

Impairment of intangible assets in 2022 was related to the strategy contract that the Company acquired through its acquisition of
Asgard Data Centers in October 2021.

Impairment of long-term investments

The impairment loss in 2022 was related to our long-term investment in Cheerful Interactive Limited, which was acquired in March
2017, and PTE (Hong Kong) Limited, which was acquired in 2021. The impairment loss in 2023 was related to our long-term investment in
Beijing Weisaishidai Sports Technology Co., Ltd, which was acquired in June 2016. The impairment loss in 2024 was related on equity
investment in Beijing Dark Horse Venture Capital Center. L.P.

Gain from disposal of subsidiaries

We recognized a disposition gain of US$3.3 million mainly related to the disposal of Loto Interactive Limited and its subsidiaries in
2022.

Description of Key Statement of Operations Items from Discontinued Operation
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes

We recognized gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes of US$18.7 million related to the
disposition of mining pool business in January 2024.

Taxation

Our group includes entities incorporated in various jurisdictions throughout the world including the Cayman Islands, the British
Virgin Islands, the United States, Malta, Curacao, Cyprus, Ethiopia, Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China. Most of these entities
are either holding companies or non-operating entities. As a result, they are either not subject to any taxes in their respective local
jurisdictions or did not generate any income for tax purposes.

The applicable taxation for our main operating entities is as follows:

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. In addition, upon
payments of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax will be imposed.

US4

Summit Bend, Ohio I, Ohio II and Asgard are incorporated in the USA. Under the current laws, profits tax in the USA is generally
assessed at the rate 21% of taxable income.
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British Virgin Islands

Under the current laws of the British Virgin Islands, subsidiaries incorporated in British Virgin Islands are not subject to tax on
income or capital gains.

Malta

Under the current laws, profits tax in Malta is generally assessed at the rate of 35% of taxable income. When a dividend is paid or
declared to the holding company, the paying entity is entitled to claim six-sevenths (6/7) of the profits tax paid as a refund, which may
effectively reduce the income tax rate to 5%.

Curacao

Multi Pay N.V. is incorporated in Curacao. Under the current laws, profits tax in Curacao is generally assessed at the rate of 2% of
taxable income.

Ethiopia

Under the current laws, profits tax in Ethiopia is generally assessed at the rate of 30% of taxable income. In accordance with
Council of Ministers Investment Incentive Regulation No. 517/2022, which is a law enacted by the Council of Ministers of Ethiopia, any
investor who invests to establish a new business shall be entitled to income tax exemption for four years. Under such regulation, no income
tax will be imposed on Alpha.
Hong Kong

500wan HK, Skill Esport, Bee Computing and the discontinued operations Sunstar Technology are incorporated in Hong Kong,
under the current laws, profits tax in Hong Kong is generally assessed at the rate of 8.25% of taxable income up to HKD2 million and
assessed at the rate of 16.5% of taxable income over HKD2 million.
Mainland China

A new enterprise income tax law (the “EIT Law”) in the PRC was enacted and became effective on January 1, 2008. The EIT Law
applies a uniform 25% enterprise income tax (“EIT”) rate to both foreign invested enterprises and domestic enterprises. The subsidiaries
incorporated in mainland China are subject to the EIT rate of 25% in 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We are a public company in the United States subject to Sarbanes-Oxley. Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley and applicable rules and
regulations thereunder require that we include a report of management on our internal control over financial reporting in this annual report.

Results of Operations
The following summary of the consolidated financial data for the periods and as of the dates indicated is qualified by reference to,

and should be read in conjunction with, our consolidated financial statements and related notes.
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Our historical results do not necessarily indicate our results to be expected for any future period.

For the years ended December 31
2

2022 2024
USS USS USS
(in thousands, except for per share data)

Consoli of Comp ive (Loss) Income Data:
Revenues 57,025 43,101 32922
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (61,195) (40,055) (29.937)
Sales and marketing expenses (336) (153) (54)
General and administrative expenses (21,946) (18,465) (13,709)
Service development expenses (.213) 874 69
Total operating costs and expenses (85,690) (59,547) (43,769)
Other operating income 115 180 214
Government grant 29 — —
Other operating expenses (2.370) (13,642) (613)
Net (loss) gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets (7.835) 7.074
Impairment of cryptocurrency assets (9.396) (2.359) —
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets 3,203
Changes in fair value of contingent considerations 1,247 — —
Impairment of property and equipment (35.224)
Impairment of intangible assets (7.539) — —
Changes in fair value of payables settled by cryptocurrency assets = — 37
Operating loss from continuing operations (89,638) (25,193) (8,006)
Other income, net 9,031 691 627
Interest income 150 242 56
Interest expense (218)
Gain (loss) from equity method investments 164 (295) (20)
Impairment of long-term investments (2.250) (1,408) (132)
Gain from disposal of long-term investments — 614 —
Gain from short-term investments — — 156
Gain from disposal of subsidiari 3,340 — —
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments — (35) 311
Loss before income tax from continuing operations (79,421) (25,384) (7,008)
Income tax benefits — — —
Net loss from continuing operations (79,421) (25,384) (7,008)
(Loss) income from net of applicable income taxes (79.006) (3.326) 240
Gain on disposal of ions, net of applicable income taxes = — 18,687
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes (79,006) (3.326) 18,927
Net (loss) income (158.427) (28.710) 11,91
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests (3.012) — (154)
Net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited (155,415) (28.710) 12,07
Net loss attributable to BIT Mining Limited from continuing operations (76.409) (25.384) (6,854)
Net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited from discontinued operations (79.006) (3.326) 18,927
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation loss (1.735) (316) (116)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (1,735) (316) (116)
Comprehensive (loss) income (160,162) (29.026) 11,803
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interests (3.142) — (154)
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited (157,020) (29,026 11,957
(Losses) earnings per share attributable to BIT Mining Limited-Basic and Diluted:

Net loss from continuing operations 09) .03) (0.01)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations .09) .00) .02
Net (loss) income .18) 03) .01
(Losses) earnings per American Depositary Share (“ADS*”) attributable to BIT Mining Limited-Basic and Diluted:
Net loss from continuing operations (8.77) (2.30) (0.58)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (9.07) 0.30) 61
Net (loss) income (17.84) (2.60) .03
Weighted average number of Class A and Class B ordinary shares outstanding:
Basic 871,036.499 1,102,373.814 1,171,663.430
Diluted 871,036.499 1102373814 1,171,663.430
Non-GAAP financial data(!)
Operating loss from continuing operations (89,638) (25,193) (8,006)
for share-based ion expenses 474 1,030 1214
Adjustment for changes in fair value of contingent considerations (1.247)
for impai of property and 35224 — —
Adjustment for impairment of intangible assets 7,539
Adjustment for legal contingencies — 10000 =
Adjusted operating loss (non-GAAP) from continuing operations (43,648) (14,163) (6,792)
Net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited (155,415) (28,710) 12,073
Net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited from discontinued operations (79.006) (3.326) 18927
Net loss attributable to BIT Mining Limited from continuing operations (76,409) (25,384) (6,854)
Adijust for continuing operations:

s for share-based expenses 4474 1,030 1214
Adjustment for changes in fair value of contingent considerations (1,247) — —
Adjustment for impairment of property and equipment 35224
Adjustment for impairment of intangible assets 7.539 — —

for of long-term 2,250 1,408 132
Adjustment for gain from disposal of long-term investments — (614) —
Adjustment for gain from disposal of subsidiaries (3,340) — —
Adjustment for changes in fair value of derivative instruments — 35 311y
Adjustment for legal contingencies - 10,000 —

for gain from sk = — (156)
Adjusted net loss attributable to BIT Mining Limited from continuing operations (non-GAAP) (31,509) (13,525) (5,975)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes (79,006) (3.326) 18,927
Net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited from discontinued operations (79,006) (3.326) 18,927
Adjustment for impairment of intangible assets 48,555
Adjustment for impairment of goodwill 26569 = =

i ontinued operations (non-GAAP) (3.382) (3.326) 18,927
Adjusted net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited (non-GAAP) (35,391 (16,851 12,952

*  American Depositary Shares, which are traded on the NYSE. Each ADS represents one hundred Class A ordinary shares of the

Company.
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(1) As a supplement to net (loss) income, we use the non-GAAP financial measure of adjusted net (loss) income which is U.S. GAAP net
(loss) income as adjusted to the impact of share-based compensation expenses, impairment of property and equipment, impairment of
intangible assets, impairment of goodwill, impairment of long-term investments, gain from disposal of subsidiaries, legal contingencies,
changes in fair value of contingent considerations, gain from short-term investments, gain from disposal of long-term investments and
changes in fair value of derivative instruments. This non-GAAP financial measure is provided as additional information to help our
investors compare business trends among different reporting periods on a consistent basis and to enhance investors’ overall
understanding of our current financial performance and prospects for the future. This non-GAAP financial measure should not be
considered in addition to or as a substitute for or superior to U.S. GAAP net income. In addition, our definition of adjusted net income
may be different from the definition of such term used by other companies, and therefore comparability may be limited.

The year ended December 31, 2024 compared with the year ended December 31, 2023
Revenues

Our revenues decreased from US$43.1 million in 2023 to US$32.9 million in 2024, primarily attributable to the higher computing
power of the whole network in the year of 2024 compared with the computing power in the year of 2023, resulting in an increased difficulty

in cryptocurrency mining activities.

Revenues were mainly comprised of revenues from the cryptocurrency mining business of US$17.1 million, and the data center
business of US$15.8 million.

Operating cost and expenses

Our operating cost and expenses decreased from US$59.5 million in 2023 to US$43.8 million in 2024. Our operating expenses
consisted of the following:

Cost of revenue. Our cost of revenue decreased from US$40.1 million in 2023 to US$29.9 million in 2024. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the (i) decrease of US$8.7 million in hosting fee due to the termination of cooperation with a third party data center in
Texas and us, and (ii) a decrease of US$1.5 million of computing power rental cost.

Sales and marketing expenses. Sales and marketing expenses decreased from US$0.2 million in 2023 to US$0.1 million in 2024.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased from US$18.5 million in 2023 to US$13.7
million in 2024. The decrease was mainly due to (i) a decrease of US$4.3 million in consulting service fee; and (ii) a decrease of US$0.6

million in technical service fee.

Service development expenses. Service development expenses decreased from US$0.9 million in 2023 to US$0.1 million in 2024.
The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in staff costs and other related expenses as a result of a decrease in headcount.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses decreased from US$13.6 million in 2023 to US$0.6 million in 2024. The decrease was mainly due to (i) a
decrease of credit loss provision related to other receivables of US$1.9 million and (ii) a decrease of US$10.0 million in legal contingencies
as the accrual for the investigations by the DOJ and the SEC in 2023.
Net gain (loss) on disposal of cryptocurrency assets

Net gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets was US$7.1 million in 2023, which was mainly due to fluctuating market prices for
cryptocurrency assets by using first-in-first-out (“FIFO”) to calculate the cost of disposition. Effective January 1, 2024, the Company

adopted ASU 2023-08, which requires cryptocurrency assets to be measured at fair value. Therefore, there was no gain or loss on disposal of
cryptocurrency assets for the year of 2024.
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Impairment of cryptocurrency assets

Impairment of cryptocurrency assets was US$2.4 million in 2023, mainly due to the provisions for impairment of cryptocurrency
assets held as a result of fluctuations in cryptocurrency prices. Upon adoption of ASU 2023-08 on January 1, 2024, there was no impairment
of cryptocurrency assets for the third and fourth quarter of 2024.

Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets

Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets were US$3.2 million in 2024, and nil in 2023. The difference was due to the
remeasurement on the fair value of the cryptocurrency assets held as we adopted ASU 2023-08 on January 1, 2024, while the accounting
treatment was different in 2023.

Operating loss from continuing operations

As a result of the foregoing factors, we recorded operating loss from continuing operations of US$8.0 million in 2024, a decrease of
US$17.2 million compared with operating loss from continuing operations of US$25.2 million in 2023. The decrease in operating loss from
continuing operations was mainly due to (i) a decrease of US$10.0 million in accrual for legal contingencies and (ii) a decrease of US$4.3
million in consulting service fee.

Impairment of long-term investments

Impairment of long-term investments in 2024 were US$0.1 million, a decrease of US$1.3 million compared with impairment of
long-term investments of US$1.4 million in 2023. The impairment loss in 2023 was related to our equity investment in Beijing Weisaishidai
Sports Technology Co., Ltd, and the impairment loss in 2024 was related to our equity investment in Beijing Dark Horse Venture Capital
Center. L.P.

Loss before income taxes from continuing operations

Loss before income taxes from continuing operations was US$7.0 million in 2024, a decrease of US$18.1 million compared with
loss before income taxes from continuing operations of US$25.4 million in 2023.

Net loss from continuing operations

As a result of the foregoing factors, we recorded net loss from continuing operations of US$7.0 million in 2024, as compared to net
loss from continuing operations of US$25.4 million in 2023.

Net loss attributable to BIT Mining Limited from continuing operations

We recorded net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$6.9 million in 2024, as compared to net
loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$25.4 million in 2023. We also recorded non-GAAP net loss from
continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$6.0 million in 2024, as compared to non-GAAP net loss from continuing
operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$13.5 million in 2023.

Net income (loss) attributable to BIT Mining Limited from discontinued operations
We recorded net income from discontinuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$18.9 million in 2024, as
compared to net loss from discontinuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$3.3 million in 2023. We also recorded non-

GAAP net income from discontinuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$18.9 million in 2024, as compared to non-
GAAP net loss from discontinuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$3.3 million in 2023.
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Net income (loss) attributable to BIT Mining Limited

Net income attributable to BIT Mining Limited was US$12.1 million in 2024, compared with net loss attributable to BIT Mining of
US$28.7 million in 2023. The decrease in net loss attributable to BIT Mining was mainly due to (i) a decrease of credit loss provision related
to other receivables of US$1.9 million, (ii) a decrease of US$10.0 million in legal contingencies accrued for the DOJ and SEC
investigations, (iii) a decrease of US$22.2 million in loss from discontinued operations, and (iv) a decrease of US$4.8 million in general and
administrative expenses.

Non-GAAP net income attributable to BIT Mining Limited was US$13.0 million in 2024, compared with non-GAAP net loss
attributable to BIT Mining of US$16.9 million in 2023. The decrease in non-GAAP net loss attributable to BIT Mining was mainly due to (i)
a decrease of credit loss provision related to other receivables of US$1.9 million, (ii) a decrease of US$22.2 million in loss from
discontinued operations, and (iii) a decrease of US$4.8 million in general and administrative expenses.

The year ended December 31, 2023 compared with the year ended December 31, 2022
Discussions below reflect results of operations related to continuing operations.
Revenues
Our revenues decreased from US$57.0 million in 2022 to US$43.1 million in 2023, primarily attributable to the higher computing
power of the whole network in the year of 2023 compared with the computing power in the year of 2022, resulting in an increased difficulty

in cryptocurrency mining activities.

Revenues were mainly comprised of revenues from the cryptocurrency mining business of US$21.6 million, and the data center
business of US$21.5 million.

Operating cost and expenses

Our operating cost and expenses decreased from US$85.7 million in 2022 to US$59.5 million in 2023. Our operating expenses
consisted of the following:

Cost of revenue. Our cost of revenue decreased from US$61.2 million in 2022 to US$40.1 million in 2023. The decrease was
primarily due to (i) a decrease of US$13.2 million in depreciation of machinery and equipment related to cryptocurrency mining and data
center services; (ii) a decrease of US$2 million in amortization of intangible assets; (iii) a decrease of US$1.5 million in hosting fee due to
transferring certain mining machines from third-party data center to our own data center; and (iv) a decrease of US$2 million in machine
transportation fee.

Sales and marketing expenses. Sales and marketing expenses decreased from US$0.3 million in 2022 to US$0.2 million in 2023.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased from US$21.9 million in 2022 to US$18.5
million in 2023. The decrease was mainly due to (i) a decrease of US$1.4 million in consulting service fee; (ii) a decrease of US$1.0 million
in depreciation and amortization fees; and (iii) decrease of US$0.7 million of travel and hospitality expenses.

Service development expenses. Service development expenses decreased from US$2.2 million in 2022 to US$0.9 million in 2023.
The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in staff costs, benefits, share-based compensation and other related expenses as a result of a
decrease in headcount.
Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses increased from US$2.4 million in 2022 to US$13.6 million in 2023. The increase was mainly due to (i) an

increase of credit loss provision related to other receivables of US$1.4 million and (ii) an increase of US$10.0 million in legal contingencies
as the accrual for the investigations by the DOJ and the SEC.
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Net gain (loss) on disposal of cryptocurrency assets

Net gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets was US$7.1 million in 2023, compared to a net loss on disposal of cryptocurrency
assets of US$7.8 million in 2022, which was related to the increasing market prices for cryptocurrency assets in 2023 by using the
accounting method of first-in-first-out (FIFO) to calculate the cost of disposition.

Impairment of cryptocurrency assets

Impairment of cryptocurrency assets decreased from US$9.4 million in 2022 to US$2.4 million in 2023, which was due to the
cryptocurrency assets held as a result of fluctuations in cryptocurrency prices.

Impairment of property and equipment

Impairment of property and equipment decreased from US$35.2 million in 2022 to nil in 2023.
Impairment of intangible assets

Impairment of intangible assets decreased from US$7.5 million in 2022 to nil in 2023.
Operating loss from continuing operations

As a result of the foregoing factors, we recorded operating loss from continuing operations of US$25.2 million in 2023, a decrease
of US$64.4 million compared with operating loss from continuing operations of US$89.6 million in 2022. The decrease in operating loss
from continuing operations was mainly due to (i) a decrease of US$13.2 million in depreciation of machinery and equipment related to
cryptocurrency mining and data center services, (i) a decrease of US$7.0 million in impairment of cryptocurrency assets, (iii) a decrease of
US$42.7 million in impairment of mining machines and intangible asset, offset by (iv) an increase of US$10.0 million in accrual for legal
contingencies.

Loss before income taxes from continuing operations

Loss before income taxes from continuing operations was US$25.4 million in 2023, a decrease of US$54.0 million compared with
loss before income taxes from continuing operations of US$79.4 million in 2022.

Net loss from continuing operations

As a result of the foregoing factors, we recorded net loss from continuing operations of US$25.4 million in 2023, as compared to
net loss from continuing operations of US$79.4 million in 2022.

Net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited
We recorded net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$25.4 million in 2023, as compared to
net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$76.4 million in 2022. We also recorded non-GAAP net loss

from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$13.5 million in 2023, as compared to non-GAAP net loss from
continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining Limited of US$31.5 million in 2022.
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

We conduct our operations primarily through our wholly-owned subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the United States and the holding
subsidiary in Ethiopia. Our principal sources of liquidity have been cash provided by our operating activities and proceeds from the
issuances of preferred shares and ordinary shares. As of December 31, 2024, we had US$1.8 million in cash and cash equivalents.

We believe that our current cash, cash that could be received from disposal of cryptocurrency assets, and net proceeds we received
from our At-The-Market offering will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs, including our cash needs for working capital and
capital expenditures, for at least the next 12 months from the date of this report. We also have reduced the expenditures, such as overhead or
administrative expenditures and marketing expenses. In addition to the U.S. data center, in 2025, with the phased completion of the
Ethiopian data center, we will increase the cash inflow related to data center revenue. All these factors combined will have a positive impact
on our cash flows for at least the next 12 months. We may, however, require additional cash due to changing business conditions or other
future developments, including any investments or acquisitions we may decide to pursue. If our existing cash is insufficient to meet our
requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity securities or debt securities or borrow from lending institutions. Financing may be
unavailable in the amounts we need or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. The sale of additional equity securities, including convertible debt
securities, would dilute our earnings per share. The incurrence of debt would divert cash for working capital and capital expenditures to
service debt obligations and could result in operating and financial covenants that restrict our operations and our ability to pay dividends to
our shareholders. If we are unable to obtain additional equity or debt financing as required, our business operations and prospects may suffer.

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the years indicated.

Years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
US$ US$ US$
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities (63,561) (28,413) (32,743)
Net cash provided by investing activities 24,386 26,164 28,853
Net cash provided by financing activities 29,770 — 2,368
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,825) (48) 55
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of the year 17,804 5,574 3,277
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of the year 5,574 3,277 1,810

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities in 2024 was US$32.7 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) net income of US$11.9
million adjusted by (ii) amortization of right-of-use assets of US$1.7 million; (iii) depreciation and amortization expenses of US$11.5
million; (iv) share-based compensation of US$1.2 million; (v) changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets of US$2.9 million; and (vi)
gain on disposal of discontinued operations of US$18.7 million. Net cash used in operating activities in 2024 was also attributable to (i) an
increase in cryptocurrency assets of US$28.7 million; (ii) a decrease of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of US$10.7 million;
(iii) a decrease in operating lease liabilities of US$1.7 million; and (iv) a decrease in accounts payable of US$1.5 million, which was
partially offset by (i) a decrease in accounts receivable of US$1.3 million; (ii) a decrease in prepayments and other current assets of US$1.6
million and (iii) a decrease in long-term prepayments and other non-current assets of US$1.7 million.

Net cash used in operating activities in 2023 was US$28.4 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) net loss of US$28.7
million adjusted by (ii) US$1.4 million of amortization of right-of-use assets; (iii) depreciation and amortization expenses of US$11.1
million; (iv) impairment of long-term investments of US$1.4 million; (v) provision for credit losses of US$4.8 million; (vi) impairment of
cryptocurrency assets of US$5.2 million; (vii) share-based compensation of US$1.0 million; and (viii) net gain on disposal of
cryptocurrency assets of US$6.2 million. Net cash used in operating activities in 2023 was also attributable to (i) an increase in accounts
receivable of US$2.6 million; (ii) an increase in cryptocurrency assets of US$38.0 million; and (iii) a decrease in operating lease liabilities of
US$1.6 million, which was partially offset by (i) an increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities of US$23.3 million; and (ii) a
decrease in prepayments and other current assets of US$1.2 million.
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Net cash used in operating activities in 2022 was US$63.6 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) net loss of US$158.4
million adjusted by (ii) US$56.1 million of impairment of intangible assets; (iii) depreciation and amortization expenses of US$33.2 million;
(iv) impairment of property and equipment of US$35.2 million; (v) impairment of goodwill of US$26.6 million; (vi) impairment of
cryptocurrency assets of US$18.4 million; (vii) net gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets of US$8.4 million; (viii) gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of US$3.3 million; (ix) share-based compensation of US$4.5 million; (x) changes in fair value of contingent considerations of
US$1.2 million; and (xi) impairment of long-term investment of US$2.3 million. Net cash used in operating activities in 2022 was also
attributable to (i) an increase in cryptocurrency assets of US$34.2 million; (ii) a decrease of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of
US$17.3 million; (iii) a decrease in accounts payable of US$16.9 million; (iv) a decrease in amount due to related party of US$4.6 million;
(v) an increase in accounts receivable of US$3.8 million; and (vi) a decrease in operating lease liabilities of US$1.9 million, which was
partially offset by (i) a decrease in prepayments and other receivables of US$9.8 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net cash provided by investing activities in 2024 was US$28.9 million, which was primarily attributable to cash received from
disposal of cryptocurrency assets of US$33.7 million, which was partially offset by (i) cash paid for property and equipment of US$1.2
million; (ii) cryptocurrencies purchased using fiat currency of US$2.3 million and (iii) loans provided to third parties of US$1.4 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities in 2023 was US$26.2 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) cash received from
disposal of cryptocurrency assets of US$36.8 million; (ii) cash received from return of short-term investments of US$2.4 million; and (iii)
proceeds from disposal of long-term investments of US$2.3 million, which was partially offset by (i) cash paid for acquisition of property
and equipment of US$1.4 million; and (ii) cryptocurrencies purchased using fiat currency of US$14.2 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities in 2022 was US$24.4 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) cash received from
disposal of cryptocurrency assets of US$34.4 million; (ii) cash received from return of long-term investments of US$1.4 million; and (iii)
cash received from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed, of US$5.0 million, which was offset by (i) cash paid for acquisition of
property and equipment of US$13.8 million; and (ii) cash paid for short-term investments of US$2.4 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2024 was US$2.4 million which was primarily attributable to proceeds from issuance
of ordinary shares under At-The-Market offering of US$2.3 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2023 was nil.

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2022 was US$29.8 million which was primarily attributable to (i) proceeds from
issuance of ordinary shares for private placement of US$23.5 million; and (ii) proceeds from short-term borrowings of US$6.3 million.

Capital Expenditures

We made capital expenditures for property and equipment of US$13.8 million, US$1.4 million and US$1.2 million in 2022, 2023
and 2024, respectively, which primarily due to purchases of mining machines.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

New accounting standards which have been adopted

In November 2023, Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, Segment
Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”), which requires that an entity disclose
significant segment expenses impacting profit and loss that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. The update is
required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented, unless impracticable, based on the significant segment expense categories
identified and disclosed in the period of adoption. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. The
Company adopted ASU 2023-07 on January 1, 2024. The information is disclosed in Note 24.
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In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-08, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Crypto Assets
(Topic 350-60): Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets (“ASU 2023-08”), which requires entities to measure cryptocurrency assets
that meet specific criteria at fair value with changes recognized in net income for each reporting period. Additionally, ASU 2023-08 requires
an entity to present cryptocurrency assets measured at fair value separately from other intangible assets in the balance sheets and record
changes from remeasurement of cryptocurrency assets separately from changes in the carrying amounts of other intangible assets in the
income statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those
fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted ASU 2023-08 on January 1, 2024. Upon adoption, the Group
recognized a fair value adjustment on cryptocurrency assets from continuing operations and discontinued operations of $854 and $39,
respectively, for a combined cumulative-effect adjustment of $893 increase in retained earnings.

New accounting standards which have not yet been adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09). ASU 2023-09 requires that entities disclose specific categories in their rate reconciliation and
provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. The new standard is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Group is
currently evaluating the impact of adopting the standard.

In November 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2024-03, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive
Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, requiring public
companies to disclose additional information about specific expense categories in the notes to the consolidated financial statements on an
annual and interim basis (“ASU No. 2024-03). ASU No. 2024-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and for
interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting the standard.

C. Research and Development

We expect to make expenditures on research and development activities on developing new mining machines and new chips in the
future.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright, patent and trade secret protection laws in the PRC and other jurisdictions, as
well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property rights and our brands. As of the date of this
annual report, our intellectual property rights and our brands are as follows: We have registered 19 trademarks in PRC through E-Sun Sky
Computer (Shenzhen) Co., Limited. We have also registered 7 trademarks in Taiwan, 7 trademarks in Hongkong, 2 trademarks in Malaysia
and 2 trademarks in the United States, all of which belong to Bee Computing (HK) Limited. We own 5 software copyright registrations in
PRC through E-Sun Sky Computer (Shenzhen) Co., Limited. We own 4 authorized patents in the PRC, 14 authorized patents in Taiwan, and
1 authorized patent in Hongkong through Bee Computing (HK) Limited.

D. Trend Information
Other than as disclosed in this annual report, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events for the
current fiscal year that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our revenues, income, profitability, liquidity or capital

resources, or that caused the disclosed financial information to be not necessarily indicative of future operating results or financial
conditions.
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E. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires us to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions. We continually evaluate these judgments, estimates and assumptions based on our own historical experience, knowledge
and assessment of current business and other conditions and our expectations regarding the future based on available information, which
together form our basis for making judgments about matters that are not readily apparent from other sources. Since the use of estimates is an
integral component of the financial reporting process, actual results could differ from those estimates. Some of our accounting policies
require a higher degree of judgment than others in their application. We believe critical accounting policies as disclosed herein reflect the
more significant judgments and estimates used in preparation of our consolidated financial statements. We did not identify any critical
accounting estimates.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenues were derived principally from cryptocurrency mining and data center services. The Group also generated
revenue from its mining pool business, which is classified as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss)
income.

The Group accounts for revenues under ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”.

Revenue is recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferred to the Group’s customers in an amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The Group follows the five steps
approach for revenue recognition under ASC 606: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the
contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (v)
recognize revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation.

The primary sources of the Group’s revenues are as follows:
Cryptocurrency mining

The Group has entered into cryptocurrency mining pools, by executing contracts with the mining pool operators to provide hash
calculation services to the mining pools. The contracts are terminable at any time by either party and the Group’s enforceable right to
compensation only begins when, and lasts as long as, the Group provides hash calculation services to the mining pool operators. In exchange
for providing hash calculation services, the Group is entitled to considerations in the form of cryptocurrencies from the mining pool
operators (less pool operator fees to the mining pool operators which are recorded net with revenues), which is calculated based on a
predetermined formula agreed by the Group and the mining pool operators as a part of the contracts. For accounting purpose, the agreement
by and between the Group and the mining pool operator has a duration of less than 24 hours as a result of the agreement being continually
renewed at the beginning of each measurement period. However, the continual renewal of the agreement does not represent a material right
requiring separate performance obligations because the predetermined formula remains the same upon each renewal. Providing hash
calculation services is an output of the Group’s ordinary activities and is the only performance obligation in the Group’s contract with the
pool operators. The transaction consideration the Group receives is noncash consideration in the form of cryptocurrencies. The Group
measures the cryptocurrencies at fair value at contract inception. All considerations are variable and revenue is recognized on the same day
that control of the contracted service transfers to the mining pool operator, which is the same day as contract inception. There is no
significant financing component in these transactions.

Data center services

The Group provides data center services such as providing its customers with rack space, utility, and cloud services such as virtual
services, virtual storage, and data backup services, generally based on monthly services provided at a defined price included in the contracts.
The performance obligations are the services provided to a customer for the month based on the contract. The transaction price is the price
agreed with the customer for the monthly services provided and the revenues are recognized monthly based on the services rendered for the
month.

Cryptocurrency assets

Cryptocurrency assets are included in current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Cryptocurrency assets
generated from the cryptocurrency mining business and the mining pool business, which is classified as discontinued operations, are
accounted for in connection with the Group’s revenue recognition policy disclosed below.
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Effective January 1, 2024, the Group adopted ASU No. 2023-08, Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets (“ASU 2023-
08”) using a modified retrospective approach, which requires cryptocurrency assets to be measured at fair value each reporting period with
changes in fair value recorded in net income or loss. Upon adoption, the Group recognized a fair value adjustment on cryptocurrency assets
from continuing operations and discontinued operations of $854 and $39, respectively, for a combined cumulative-effect adjustment of $893
increase in retained earnings.

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2023-08, cryptocurrencies held were accounted for as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. An
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized but assessed for impairment quarterly, or more frequently, when events or
changes in circumstances occur, principally decreases in the quoted prices of the cryptocurrencies, indicating that it is more likely than not
that the indefinite-lived asset is impaired. In determining if an impairment had occurred, the Group considered the intraday lowest quoted
price of one unit of cryptocurrency asset since acquiring the cryptocurrency asset. If the then current carrying value of the unit of
cryptocurrency exceeded the fair value so determined, an impairment loss has occurred with respect to those units of cryptocurrencies in the
amount equal to the difference between their carrying values and the fair value determined. To the extent an impairment loss was recognized,
the loss established the new cost basis of the asset. Subsequent reversal of impairment losses was not permitted. Prior to the adoption of
ASU 2023-08, any realized gains or losses from sales of cryptocurrencies were included in gain or loss of disposal of cryptocurrencies in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income. The Group accounted for its gains or losses in accordance with the first-in-first-out
(FIFO) method of accounting.

Cryptocurrencies generated from the cryptocurrency mining business, and cryptocurrencies generated from and distributed to
mining pool participants in relation to the discontinued mining pool business, are included within operating activities in the accompanying
consolidated statements of cash flows. As the Group does not have the practice to convert cryptocurrencies nearly immediately into cash, the
purchases and sales of cryptocurrencies are included within investing activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. Directors and Senior Management
Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information regarding our directors and executive officers as of the date of this annual report.

Directors and Executive Officers Age Position/Title
Bo Yu 57 Chairman, Chief Operating Officer
Man San Vincent Law 57 Executive Director
Xianfeng Yang 56 Chief Executive Officer
Qian Sun 52 Independent Director
Honghui Deng 56 Independent Director
Heng Henry Lu 59 Independent Director
Qiang Yuan 52 Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Bo Yu has served as our director from January 20, 2017, as our chief operating officer from December 21, 2020, and as our
general counsel since 2014. Mr. Yu received a master’s degree in law from the University of lowa, and a master’s degree in law and a
bachelor’s degree in science from the University of Wuhan. Mr. Yu is admitted to the Bar of the State of Michigan and All China Lawyers
Association.

Mr. Man San Vincent Law has served as our executive director from April 2021. He is the founder of BIT Mining Limited (formerly
known as 500.com Limited). He serves as a senior adviser of Loto Interactive Limited from 2017 to 2021. He served as the chief executive
officer of the Company from 2007 to 2015 and was the chairman of the board of directors from 2001 to 2017. Mr. Law founded E-Sun
Network Co., Ltd. in 1999 and of the online lottery service market who has been at the forefront of developing innovative online products
and solutions. Mr. Law received a bachelor’s degree from Wuhan University in 1990, and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2009.
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Mr. Xianfeng Yang has served as our chief executive officer since December 21, 2020. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in the
cryptographic digital virtual currency industry. He has been in charge of the construction and operation of the big data center of Loto
Interactive Limited. Mr. Yang also serves as the Chairman of Changhe Hydropower Absorption Blockchain Big Data Industrial Park in
Sichuan. Mr. Yang served as the Company’s senior Vice President from 2018 to 2020. Mr. Yang received a bachelor’s degree in Architecture
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology.

Mpr. Qian Sun has served as our director from October 21, 2013 and became our independent director in August 2016. Mr. Sun is a
partner of HongShan, where he focuses on consumer and technology-related investment. Prior to joining HongShan in 2006, Mr. Sun
worked at General Atlantic from 2003 to 2005, focusing on technology-related growth investment in China. He also worked as a
management consultant at Monitor Group in Hong Kong from 1997 to 1999. Mr. Sun received a BA degree in applied mathematics from
Harvard College in 1997, an MBA from Harvard Business School and a J.D. from Harvard Law School in 2003.

Dr. Honghui Deng has served as our independent director since May 2011. Dr. Deng was an independent director at Borgs
Technology Inc., a company listed on NASDAQ from 2015 to 2019. Dr. Deng is currently a global fellow of the Institute of Innovation
Creativity Capital (IC2), the University of Texas at Austin. He is an Adjacent Professor at the School of Economics and Business
Administration, the Chinese University of Hong Kong (Shenzhen), and a Visiting Professor of Guanghua School of Management, Peking
University. He is also a tenured Full Professor at the Lee Business School of University of Nevada, Las Vegas. Dr. Deng was the founder
and served as the chief executive officer of HHD Consulting Service LLC from 2003 to 2008. Dr. Deng has extensive consulting
experiences for business firms on long-term strategy, finance and operation management. Dr. Deng is the organizing and program committee
member as well as session chair of several international conferences such as Workshop of e-Business (WeB), CSWIM. Dr. Deng served as
Co-President of the First DSI World Congress in Beijing 2016, which focused on “Managing Big Data and Decision Making in a New
Global Economy.” Dr. Deng received his Ph.D. in business administration from Red McCombs School of Business, the University of Texas
at Austin in 2003.

Dr. Heng Henry Lu has served as our independent director since April 17, 2023. Dr. Lu is the Managing Member of Nimbus 2020
LLC and a Venture Partner of Sycamore Management Corporation (“Sycamore Ventures”), a private equity and venture capital firm, since
January 2019. Prior to that, Dr. Lu was the Managing Director of China Merchants Capital where he led buyout investments in healthcare
and selected industrial sector investments. Dr. Lu was a Partner and Chief Representative of China, for William Blair & Company, the
Chicago-headquartered investment banking and asset management firm, from 2006 to 2011. Dr. Lu worked at McKinsey & Company where
he advised global and regional companies on their growth and financial strategies. Dr. Lu was a director of China Nepstar Chain Drugstore
Ltd. (formerly, NYSE: NPD) from 2014 to 2016 and currently an independent director of Hong Kong Exchange-listed Hua Lien
International (Holding) Company Limited (HKEX: 0969) (director since December 2017) and China Automotive Systems, Inc (NASDAQ:
CAAS) (director since July 2019). Dr. Lu holds a Ph.D. in Microbiology from Columbia University and an MBA from the University of
Chicago Booth School of Business.

Mpr. Qiang Yuan has served as our chief financial officer since December 18, 2017. Prior to his appointment as a chief financial
officer, Mr. Yuan has served in various positions within the Company since 2001. Mr. Yuan was a vice president in charge of financial
matters for the Company from June 2014 to July 2016 and has served as a senior vice president since July 2016. Mr. Yuan received a
bachelor’s degree in Financial Management from Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics.

B. Compensation
Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers
In 2024, the aggregate cash compensation to all our directors and our executive officers was US$1.9 million. For share-based

compensation, see “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—B. Compensation—Share Incentive Plan.” We did not have any
amount accrued in 2021 for pension, retirement or other similar benefits to our directors and our executive officers.

66



Table of Contents

Share Incentive Plan
2021 Share Incentive Plan

We have adopted our 2021 share incentive plan to attract and retain the best available personnel, provide additional incentives to
our employees, directors and consultants, and promote the success of our business. The 2021 share incentive plan provides for the grant of
options, restricted shares and other share-based awards, collectively referred to as “awards.” The board has authorized under the plan the
issuance of up to 12% of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares from time to time, on an as-exercised and fully diluted basis, upon
exercise of awards granted under our 2021 share incentive plan.

The following table summarizes the restricted shares granted to our employees under the 2021 share incentive plan that were
outstanding as of the date of this annual report, respectively.

Restricted shares:

Vesting
Number of Ordinary Commencement Date of Date of
Name Shares Date Grant Expiration
Man San Vincent Law 8,519,400 June 1, 2025 Nov 22, 2024 Nov 22, 2034
Xianfeng Yang * June 1, 2025 Nov 22, 2024 Nov 22, 2034
Bo Yu * June 1, 2025 Nov 22, 2024 Nov 22, 2034
Qiang Yuan * June 1, 2025 Nov 22, 2024 Nov 22, 2034
Directors and officers as a group 22,669,400
Other Individuals as a group 15,975,000

*  Restricted shares to vest less than 1% of our issued and outstanding share capital from time to time on an as-exercised and fully diluted
basis as of the date of this annual report.

The following paragraphs describe the principal terms of our 2021 share incentive plan.

Plan Administration. Our compensation committee administers the 2021 share incentive plan. The committee or the full board of
directors, as appropriate, will determine the participants to receive awards, the type and number of awards to be granted, and the terms and
conditions of each award grant.

Option Agreements. Awards granted under our 2021 share incentive plan are evidenced by an option agreement that sets forth the
terms, conditions and limitations for each grant, which may include the term of the award, the provisions applicable in the event that the
grantee’s employment or service terminates, and our authority to unilaterally or bilaterally amend, modify, suspend, cancel or rescind the
award.

Transfer Restrictions. The right of a grantee in an award granted under our 2021 share incentive plan may not be transferred in any
manner by the grantee other than by will or the laws of succession and, with limited exceptions, may be exercised during the lifetime of the
grantee only by the grantee.

Option Exercise. The term of options granted under the 2021 share incentive plan may not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
The consideration to be paid for our ordinary shares upon exercise of an option or purchase of ordinary shares underlying the option may
include cash, check or other cash-equivalent, ordinary shares, consideration received by us in a cashless exercise, or any combination of the
foregoing methods of payment.

Acceleration upon a Change of Control. If a change of control of our company occurs, (i) the compensation committee may
determine that any outstanding unexercisable, unvested or lapsable awards shall automatically be deemed exercisable, vested and not subject
to lapse immediately prior to the event triggering the change of control and (ii) the compensation committee may cancel such awards for fair
value, provide for the issuance of substitute awards or provide that for a period of at least 15 days prior to the event triggering the change of
control, such options shall be exercisable and that upon the occurrence of the change of control, such options shall terminate and be of no
further force and effect.
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Termination and Amendment. Unless terminated earlier, our 2021 share incentive plan will expire after ten years. Our board of

directors has the authority to amend or terminate our share incentive plan, subject to shareholder approval, to the extent necessary to comply
with applicable laws.

C.

Board Practices

Committees of the Board of Directors

Board of Directors

We currently have five directors, including three independent directors, on our board of directors. Our board of directors consists of

an audit committee, a compensation committee, a nominating and corporate governance committee and a strategy committee. Each
committee’s members and functions are described below.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of Heng Henry Lu, Honghui Deng and Qian Sun. Heng Henry Lu is the chairman of our audit

committee. Heng Henry Lu satisfies the criteria of an audit committee financial expert as set forth under the applicable rules of the SEC. All
three committee members satisfy the requirements for an “independent director” within the meaning of NYSE rules and will meet the
criteria for independence set forth in Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act.

The audit committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our financial statements. Our audit

committee is responsible for, among other things:

selecting the independent auditor;

pre-approving auditing and non-auditing services permitted to be performed by the independent auditor;

annually reviewing the independent auditor’s report describing the auditing firm’s internal quality control procedures, any material
issues raised by the most recent internal quality control review, or peer review, of the independent auditors and all relationships
between the independent auditor and our company;

setting clear hiring policies for employees and former employees of the independent auditors;

reviewing with the independent auditor any audit problems or difficulties and management’s response;

reviewing and approving all related party transactions on an ongoing basis;

reviewing and discussing the annual audited financial statements with management and the independent auditor;

reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditors major issues regarding accounting principles and
financial statement presentations;

reviewing reports prepared by management or the independent auditors relating to significant financial reporting issues and
judgments;

discussing earnings press releases with management, as well as financial information and earnings guidance provided to analysts
and rating agencies;

reviewing with management and the independent auditors the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives, as well as off-balance
sheet structures, on our financial statements;

discussing policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management with management, internal auditors and the independent
auditor;
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timely reviewing reports from the independent auditor regarding all critical accounting policies and practices to be used by our
company, all alternative treatments of financial information within U.S. GAAP that have been discussed with management and all
other material written communications between the independent auditor and management;

establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received from our employees regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls or auditing matters and the confidential, anonymous submission by our employees of concerns
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters;

annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacy of our audit committee charter;

such other matters that are specifically delegated to our audit committee by our board of directors from time to time;

meeting separately, periodically, with management, internal auditors and the independent auditor; and

reporting regularly to the full board of directors.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Bo Yu, Man San Vincent Law, and Honghui Deng. Bo Yu is the chairman of our

compensation committee. Honghui Deng satisfies the requirements for an “independent director” within the meaning of NYSE rules.

Our compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:

reviewing and evaluating and, if necessary, revising our compensation policy;

reviewing and evaluating the performance of our executive officers and determining the compensation of our executive officers;
reviewing and approving our executive officers’ employment agreements and severance arrangements, if any;

reviewing and evaluating the performance of our directors and recommending to our board the compensation for our directors;
reviewing all annual bonus, long-term incentive compensation, share option, employee pension and welfare benefit plans, setting
performance targets of the executive officers under all annual bonus and long-term incentive compensation plans as appropriate,
certifying that any and all performance targets of the executive officers have been met, and granting any awards under any
performance-based annual bonus, long-term incentive compensation and equity compensation plans to the executive officers;
periodically reviewing our policies concerning perquisite benefits, change of control or “parachute” payments, if any;

reviewing and approving our executive officer and director indemnification and insurance matters; and

such other matters that are specifically delegated to the compensation committee by our board of directors from time to time.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our nominating and corporate governance committee consists of Bo Yu, Man San Vincent Law and Qian Sun. Bo Yu is the

chairman of our nominating and corporate governance committee. Our nominating and corporate governance committee assists the board of
directors in selecting individuals qualified to become our directors and executive officers and in determining the composition of the board
and its committees. The nominating and corporate governance committee will be responsible for, among other things:

identifying qualified candidates as consistent with the criteria approved by our board of directors for director nominees and
recommending such candidates to the board for selection for all directorships to be filled by the board or by the shareholders;

identifying qualified candidates as consistent with the criteria approved by our board of directors for executive officer nominees
and recommending such candidates to our board of directors for selection;
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e conducting annual reviews of our board of directors’ independence, qualifications and experiences in light of the availability of
potential board members; and

e monitoring compliance with our code of business conduct and ethics, including reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of our
internal rules and procedures to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Strategy Committee

Our strategic planning committee consists of Man San Vincent Law and Qian Sun. Man San Vincent Law is the chairman of our
strategic planning committee. Our strategic planning committee assists the board of directors in designing the strategic plan of our business.
Our strategic planning committee is responsible for, among other things:

e reviewing and providing guidance to our management and the board of directors with respect to our strategy for strategic
transactions;

e reporting to our board of directors any strategic transactions being considered, or authorized and approved, by our management;

e notifying our nominating and corporate governance committee of any conflict of interest or related party transaction that comes to
its attention; and

e cxercising such additional powers and duties as may be reasonable, necessary or desirable, in the committee’s discretion, to fulfill
its duties.

Terms of Directors and Executive Officers

We have five directors, three of whom are independent directors, on our board of directors. Any director on our board may be
appointed or removed by way of an ordinary resolution of shareholders. Any vacancies on our board of directors or additions to the existing
board of directors can be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, provided that any candidate for the vacancy
or addition must be nominated by our nominating and corporate governance committee. Each of our directors holds office until he or she is
removed by an ordinary resolution of shareholders or by a resolution of the board.

All of our executive officers are appointed by and serve at the discretion of our board of directors. Our executive officers are
elected by and may be removed by a majority vote of our board of directors, provided that any candidate for an executive officer position
must be nominated by our nominating and corporate governance committee.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with each of our executive officers. We may terminate an executive officer’s
employment for cause, at any time, without notice or remuneration, for certain acts of the officer, including, but not limited to, a conviction
or plea of guilty to a felony, willful misconduct to our detriment or a failure to perform agreed duties. We may also terminate an executive
officer’s employment under certain conditions, including, but not limited to, incapacity or disability of the officer, by a one-month prior
written notice or upon paying compensation of one-month salary to the officer. An executive officer may terminate his or her employment
with us with or without cause, or by a one-month prior written notice. The benefits provided upon termination of employment is
T+1 months’ salary of the employee (T represents years of working experience in the Company).
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D. Employees
Employees
Our ability to maintain a trained management team and other employees is critical to the success of our business. We had a total of

74, 75 and 56 employees as of December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The table below sets forth the number of employees
categorized by function as of December 31, 2024.

Function Number of employees

Management and Administration 6
Investing, Marketing and Website Operation 7
Technology and Mining Division 20
General and Administrative Support 23
Total 56

The remuneration package of our employees includes salary, bonus, stock options and other cash benefits. In accordance with
applicable regulations in China, we participate in a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an unemployment insurance plan, a
personal injury insurance plan, a maternity insurance plan and a housing reserve fund for the benefit of all of our employees. We have not
experienced any material labor disputes or disputes with the labor department of the PRC government since our inception.

E. Share Ownership

The following table sets forth information as of the date of this annual report with respect to the beneficial ownership of our
ordinary shares, by:

e each person known to us to own beneficially more than 5.0% of our ordinary shares; and
e cach of our directors and executive officers.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect
to the securities. Except as indicated below, and subject to applicable laws, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all ordinary shares shown as beneficially owned by them. Percentage of beneficial ownership for each of the persons
listed below is determined by dividing (i) the number of ordinary shares beneficially owned by such person, including ordinary shares such
person has the right to acquire within 60 days after the date of this annual report by (ii) the total number of ordinary shares outstanding plus
the number of ordinary shares such person has the right to acquire within 60 days after the date of this annual report. The total number of
ordinary shares outstanding as of the date of this annual report is 1,595,399,890 Class A ordinary shares, 65,000 Class A preference shares
and 99 Class B ordinary shares.

Percentage
Shares Beneficially of Votes

Owned Held

Number Percent Percent
Directors and Executive Officers:
Man San Vincent Law(!) 140,515,369 8.8 % 35.1 %
Xianfeng Yang * * *
Bo Yu * * *
Qian Sun * * *
Honghui Deng * * *
Heng Henry Lu * * *
Qiang Yuan * * *
Directors and Executive Officers as a Group 193,029,069 11.9 % 372 %

The business address of our directors and executive officers is 428 South Seiberling Street, Akron, Ohio 44306, United States of
America.

*  Less than 1% of our outstanding ordinary shares.
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(1) represents (i) 140,515,369 Class A ordinary shares composed of (a) 59,988 ADSs which represent 5,998,800 Class A ordinary shares
owned by Delite Limited (“Delite”) as described below, (b) 85,572,963 Class A ordinary shares owned by Good Luck Capital Limited
(“Good Luck”) as described below, and (c) 488,786 ADSs which represent 48,878,600 Class A ordinary shares owned by Mr. Law
directly; (ii) 6 Class B ordinary shares which owned by Delite as described below; and (iii) 65,000 Class A preference shares which
owned by Good Luck as described below. Delite directly holds (i) 6 Class B ordinary shares and owns (ii) 59,988 ADSs which represent
5,998,800 Class A ordinary shares. Delite is 100% owned by Mr. Law. Mr. Law indirectly holds all voting and investment powers of
Delite and its assets, and is the sole director of Delite. Mr. Law may be deemed to beneficially own all of the ordinary shares (including
Class A ordinary shares represented by the ADSs) held by Delite. Good Luck directly holds (i) 85,572,963 Class A ordinary shares,
pursuant to the completion of a share purchase agreement entered into between Good Luck Information Technology Co., Ltd. and the
Company dated December 21, 2020, which shares were later transferred to Good Luck, and (ii) 65,000 Class A Preference Shares. Mr.
Law is the sole shareholder of Good Luck. Mr. Law indirectly holds all voting and investment powers of Good Luck and its assets, and
is the sole director of Good Luck. Mr. Law may be deemed to beneficially own all of the ordinary shares and the Class A preference
shares held by Good Luck. Delite is a British Virgin Islands company with its address at Vistra Corporate Services Centre, Wickhams
Cay II, Road Town, Tortola, VG1110, British Virgin Islands. Good Luck is a British Virgin Islands company with its address at Trinity
Chambers, P.O. Box 4301, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands.

As of the date of this annual report, we are not aware of any of our shareholders being affiliated with a registered broker-dealer or
being in the business of underwriting securities.

As of the date of this annual report, a total of 10,655,138 ADSs representing 1,065,513,800 Class A ordinary shares were
outstanding. Such ordinary shares were registered in the name of a nominee of Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, the depositary for

the ADSs. We have no further information as to ordinary shares or ADSs held, or beneficially owned, by U.S. persons.

Please refer to “— B. Compensation—Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers — Share Incentive Plan” above for
information regarding options, restricted shares and other share-based awards granted to our employees, directors and consultants.

F. Disclosure of a registrant’s action to recover erroneously awarded compensation.
None.
ITEM7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A. Major Shareholders
Please refer to “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—E. Share Ownership.”
B. Related Party Transactions
Non-Interest-Bearing Borrowings from Related Parties
Since January 1, 2019, we have not provided any loans to certain directors or entities controlled by certain directors, executive
officers or principal shareholders of our company. As of December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, there were no outstanding balance due from
these related parties.

Interest-Bearing Borrowings from Related Parties

Please refer to Note 18. Related Party Transactions of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this
annual report on Form 20-F.

Reorganization and Private Placement

See “Item 4. Information on the Company—A. History and Development of the Company” and “Item 4. Information on the
Company—C. Organizational Structure.”
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Share Incentives

For a discussion of the share option plan we adopted in 2021, see “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—
Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers—Share Incentive Plan.”

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not applicable.
ITEMS8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information

We have appended consolidated financial statements filed as part of this annual report.
Legal and Administrative Proceedings

Please refer to “Item 4. Information on the Company—B. Business Overview—Legal and Administrative Proceedings.”
Dividend Policy

We currently intend to permanently reinvest all available funds and any future earnings to fund growth and expansion of our
business and, therefore, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends on our ordinary shares, including those represented by ADSs, in the
foreseeable future. We currently have no specific intention to issue share dividends in the future. Any future determination to pay dividends
will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and may be based on a number of factors, including our future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board of directors
may deem relevant. If we pay any dividends, we will pay our ADS holders to the same extent as holders of our ordinary shares, subject to
the terms of the deposit agreement, including the fees and expenses payable thereunder. See “Description of American Depositary Shares” in
our F-1 registration statement (File No. 333-191844), as amended, initially filed with the Commission on October 22, 2013. Cash dividends
on our ordinary shares, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars.

B. Significant Changes

We have not experienced any significant changes since the date of our audited consolidated financial statements included in this
annual report.

ITEMY9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
A. Offering and Listing Details

Our ADSs have been listed on the NYSE since November 22, 2013. Our ticker symbol on the NYSE changed from “WBAI” to
“BTCM?” effective at the start of trading on April 20, 2021. The ratio of our ADSs to our Class A ordinary shares changed from one (1) ADS

to ten (10) Class A ordinary shares, to one (1) ADS to one hundred (100) Class A ordinary shares, effective at the start of trading on
December 23, 2022.

B. Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.
C. Markets

Our ADSs have been trading on the NYSE since November 22, 2013.
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From November 22, 2013 to April 19, 2021, our ADSs traded on the NYSE under the Company’s former English name “500.com
Limited” and its former ticker symbol “WBAIL” Consistent with a special resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting held on April 8, 2021, our ADSs began trading under the Company’s new English name “BIT Mining
Limited,” and its new ticker symbol “BTCM,” effective at the start of trading on April 20, 2021.

From November 22, 2013 to December 22, 2022, each of our ADSs represented ten (10) of our Class A ordinary shares. The ratio
of our ADSs to our Class A ordinary shares changed from one (1) ADS to ten (10) Class A ordinary shares, to one (1) ADS to one hundred
(100) Class A ordinary shares, effective at the start of trading on December 23, 2022.

D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.

E. Dilution
Not applicable.

F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

We incorporate by reference into this annual report the description of our second amended and restated memorandum of association
Our shareholders adopted our second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association by unanimous resolutions upon the
completion of our initial public offering on November 22, 2013. The second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
was further amended by a special resolution passed on December 30, 2016.

C. Material Contracts

In July 2022, the Company entered into a share sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with an
unaffiliated third party (the “Buyer”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell, and the Buyer agreed to purchase, approximately 51%
of the total issued share capital of Loto Interactive Limited (“Loto Interactive”), representing 279,673,200 shares of Loto Interactive at the
price of HK$0.28 per share for a total consideration of HK$78,308,496 (the “Transaction”). After the Transaction, the Company’s share
ownership in Loto Interactive decreased to 8.79%.

In March 2023, the Company entered into a share sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with an
unaffiliated third party (the “Buyer”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell, and the Buyer agreed to purchase, all of the Company’s
remaining share ownership in Crypto Flow Technology Limited (“Crypto Flow”), previously known as Loto Interactive Limited, namely,
48,195,605 shares of Crypto Flow, representing approximately 8.79% of the total issued share capital of Crypto Flow, at the price of
HK$0.38 per share (the “Sale Price”) for the total consideration of HK$18,314,330 (the “Transaction”). Upon completion of the Transaction,
the Company does not own any shares in Crypto Flow.

In December 2023, the Company announced that it has agreed to sell its entire mining pool business operated under BTC.com (the

“Business”) to Esport — Win Limited, a Hong Kong limited liability company, for a total consideration of US$5 million, and further disposed
of its mining pool business in January 2024. The sale does not include or affect any of BIT Mining’s other businesses.
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On December 9, 2024, we completed the first closing of acquisition of cryptocurrency mining data centers and Bitcoin mining
machines in Ethiopia. After the first closing of acquisition, we acquired 51% equity interests in a cryptocurrency mining data center in
Ethiopia. The acquisition of the Ethiopia data center represents a development strategy to focus on data center globally and has a major
effect on our results of operations.

As of December 31, 2024, we had not entered into any other material contracts, other than in the ordinary course of business and
other than those described in “Item 4. Information on the Company” or elsewhere in this annual report.

D. Exchange Controls
None.
E. Taxation

Cayman Islands Taxation

The Cayman Islands currently levy no taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or appreciation, and
there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty. No Cayman Islands stamp duty will be payable unless an instrument is
executed in, brought to, or produced before a court of the Cayman Islands. The Cayman Islands are not parties to any double tax treaties.
There are no exchange control regulations or currency restrictions in the Cayman Islands.

United States Federal Income Taxation

The following discussion describes the material United States federal income tax consequences of the ownership of our ADSs and
Class A ordinary shares as of the date hereof. The discussion is applicable only to United States Holders (as defined below) who hold ADSs
or Class A ordinary shares as capital assets. As used herein, the term “United States Holder” means a beneficial owner of an ADS or Class A
ordinary share that is for United States federal income tax purposes:

e an individual citizen or resident of the United States;

e a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes) created or organized in or
under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

e an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

e atrustifit (1) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more United States persons have
the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) has a valid election in effect under applicable United States
Treasury regulations to be treated as a United States person.

This discussion does not represent a detailed description of the United States federal income tax consequences applicable to you if
you are subject to special treatment under the United States federal income tax laws, including if you are:

e adealer in securities or currencies;
e a financial institution;

e arcgulated investment company;
e areal estate investment trust;

®  an insurance company;,

e atax-exempt organization;

e aperson holding our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares as part of a hedging, integrated or conversion transaction, a constructive sale
or a straddle;
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e atrader in securities that has elected the mark-to-market method of accounting for your securities;
e aperson liable for alternative minimum tax;

e aperson who owns or is deemed to own 10% or more of our stock (by vote or value);

e apartnership or other pass-through entity for United States federal income tax purposes;

e aperson required to accelerate the recognition of any item of gross income with respect to our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares as
a result of such income being recognized on an applicable financial statement; or

e aperson whose “functional currency” is not the United States dollar.

The discussion below is based upon the provision of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and regulations,
rulings and judicial decisions thereunder as of the date hereof, and such authorities may be replaced, revoked or modified, perhaps
retroactively, so as to result in United States federal income tax consequences different from those discussed below. In addition, this
discussion is based, in part, upon representations made by the depositary to us and assumes that the deposit agreement, and all other related
agreements, will be performed in accordance with their terms.

If a partnership (or other entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes) holds our
ADSs or Class A ordinary shares, the tax treatment of a partner will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the
partnership. If you are a partner of a partnership holding our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares, you are urged to consult your tax advisors.

This discussion does not contain a detailed description of all the United States federal income tax consequences to you in
light of your particular circumstances and does not address the Medicare tax on net investment income, United States federal estate
and gift taxes, or the effects of any state, local or non-United States tax laws. If you are considering the purchase, ownership or
disposition of our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares, you are urged to consult your own tax advisors concerning the United States
federal income tax consequences to you in light of your particular situation as well as any consequences arising under other United
States federal tax laws (such as estate and gift taxes) and the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

ADSs

If you hold ADSs, for United States federal income tax purposes, you generally will be treated as the owner of the underlying Class
A ordinary shares that are represented by such ADSs. Accordingly, deposits or withdrawals of Class A ordinary shares for ADSs will not be
subject to United States federal income tax.

Taxation of Dividends

Subject to the discussion under “—Passive Foreign Investment Company” below, the gross amount of distributions on the ADSs or
Class A ordinary shares will be taxable as dividends, to the extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined
under United States federal income tax principles. Such income will be includable in your gross income as ordinary income on the day
actually or constructively received by you, in the case of the Class A ordinary shares, or by the depositary, in the case of ADSs. Such
dividends will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction allowed to corporations under the Code. Subject to applicable limitations
(including a minimum holding period requirement), dividends received by non-corporate United States investors from a qualified foreign
corporation may be treated as “qualified dividend income” that is be subject to reduced rates of taxation.
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Subject to applicable limitations (including a minimum holding period requirement), dividends received by non-corporate United
States investors from a qualified foreign corporation may be treated as “qualified dividend income” that is subject to reduced rates of
taxation. A foreign corporation generally is treated as a qualified foreign corporation with respect to dividends paid by that corporation on
ordinary shares (or ADSs backed by such shares) that are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States. United
States Treasury Department guidance indicates that our ADSs, which are listed on the NYSE, are readily tradable on an established
securities market in the United States. Thus, we believe that dividends we pay on our ADSs will meet the conditions required for the reduced
tax rates. Since we do not expect that our Class A ordinary shares will be listed on an established securities market in the United States, we
do not believe that dividends that we pay on our Class A ordinary shares that are not represented by ADSs currently meet the conditions
required for these reduced tax rates. There also can be no assurance that our ADSs will be considered readily tradable on an established
securities market in the United States in later years. You are urged to consult your own tax advisors regarding the application of these rules
given your particular circumstances.

In addition, notwithstanding the foregoing, we will not be treated as a qualified foreign corporation, and non-corporate United
States Holders will not be eligible for reduced rates of taxation on any dividends received from us, if we are a PFIC in the taxable year in
which such dividends are paid or in the preceding taxable year. See “—Passive Foreign Investment Company” below.

To the extent that the amount of any distribution exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits for a taxable year, as
determined under United States federal income tax principles, the distribution will first be treated as a tax-free return of capital, causing a
reduction in the adjusted basis of your ADSs or Class A ordinary shares (thereby increasing the amount of gain, or decreasing the amount of
loss, to be recognized by you on a subsequent disposition of the ADSs or Class A ordinary shares), and the balance in excess of adjusted
basis will be taxed as capital gain recognized on a sale or exchange. However, we do not expect to determine earnings and profits in
accordance with United States federal income tax principles. Therefore, you should expect that a distribution will generally be reported as a
dividend (as discussed above).

Passive Foreign Investment Company

Based on our financial statements and the composition of our income and assets and the valuation of our assets, we intend to take
the position that we were not a PFIC for 2024 for United States federal income tax purposes, although there can be no assurances in this
regard. Additionally, it is possible that we may be a PFIC in 2025 or future taxable years.

In general, we will be a PFIC for any taxable year in which:
e atleast 75% of our gross income is passive income, or

e at least 50% of the value (determined based on a quarterly average) of our assets is attributable to assets that produce or are held
for the production of passive income.

For this purpose, passive income generally includes dividends, interest, royalties and rents (other than royalties and rents derived in
the active conduct of a trade or business and not derived from a related person). In addition, cash and other assets readily convertible into
cash are generally treated as an asset that produces passive income. If we own at least 25% (by value) of the stock of another corporation, we
will be treated, for purposes of the PFIC tests, as owning our proportionate share of the other corporation’s assets and receiving our
proportionate share of the other corporation’s income.

The determination of whether we are a PFIC is made annually. Accordingly, it is possible that our PFIC status may change due to
changes in our asset or income composition, and the IRS or a court may disagree with our determinations, including the manner in which we
determine the value of our assets and the percentage of our assets that are passive assets under the PFIC rules. The calculation of the value of
our assets will also be based, in part, on the quarterly market value of our ADSs, which is subject to change, and a portion of which could be
attributable to the value of the digital assets and cryptocurrencies we hold for our own account. Therefore, a decrease in the price of our
ADSs, or an increase in the proportion of the market value of our ADSs attributable to the value of the digital assets and cryptocurrencies we
hold for our own account, may result in our becoming a PFIC. If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which you hold our ADSs or
Class A ordinary shares, you will be subject to special tax rules discussed below. If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which you
hold our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares and you do not make a timely mark-to-market election (as described below), you will be subject
to special tax rules with respect to any “excess distribution” received and any gain realized from a sale or other disposition, including a
pledge, of ADSs or Class A ordinary shares. Distributions received in a taxable year that are greater than 125% of the average annual
distributions received during the shorter of the three preceding taxable years or your holding period for the ADSs or Class A ordinary shares
will be treated as excess distributions. Under these special tax rules:
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e the excess distribution or gain will be allocated ratably over your holding period for the ADSs or Class A ordinary shares,

e the amount allocated to the current taxable year, and any taxable year prior to the first taxable year in which we were a PFIC, will
be treated as ordinary income, and

e the amount allocated to each other year will be subject to tax at the highest tax rate in effect for that year for individuals or
corporations, as applicable, and the interest charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax will be imposed on the resulting
tax attributable to each such year.

In addition, non-corporate United States Holders will not be eligible for reduced rates of taxation on any dividends received from us
if we are a PFIC in the taxable year in which such dividends are paid or in the preceding taxable year. You will generally be required to file
IRS Form 8621 if you hold our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares in any year in which we are classified as a PFIC.

If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which you hold our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares and any of our non-United States
subsidiaries is also a PFIC, a United States Holder would be treated as owning a proportionate amount (by value) of the shares of the lower-
tier PFIC for purposes of the application of these rules. You are urged to consult your tax advisors about the application of the PFIC rules to
any of our subsidiaries.

In lieu of being subject to the rules discussed above regarding excess distributions and realized gains, you may make an election to
include gain on the stock of a PFIC as ordinary income under a mark-to-market method, provided that such stock is regularly traded on a
qualified exchange. Since our ADSs are listed on the NYSE, which constitutes a qualified exchange, under current law, the mark-to-market
election will be available to holders of ADSs if the ADSs are “regularly traded” for purposes of the mark-to-market election (for which no
assurance can be given). It should also be noted that only the ADSs and not the Class A ordinary shares are listed on the NYSE.
Consequently, if you are a holder of Class A ordinary shares that are not represented by ADSs, you generally will not be eligible to make a
mark-to-market election if we are or were to become a PFIC.

If you make an effective mark-to-market election, you will include in each taxable year that we are a PFIC as ordinary income the
excess of the fair market value of your ADSs at the end of the year over your adjusted tax basis in the ADSs. You will be entitled to deduct
as an ordinary loss in each such year the excess of your adjusted tax basis in the ADSs over their fair market value at the end of the year, but
only to the extent of the net amount previously included in income as a result of the mark-to-market election. If you make an effective mark-
to-market election, any gain you recognize upon the sale or other disposition of your ADSs in a year that we are a PFIC will be treated as
ordinary income and any loss will be treated as ordinary loss, but only to the extent of the net amount previously included in income as a
result of the mark-to-market election.

Your adjusted tax basis in the ADSs will be increased by the amount of any income inclusion and decreased by the amount of any
deductions under the mark-to-market rules. If you make a mark-to-market election, it will be effective for the taxable year for which the
election is made and all subsequent taxable years unless the ADSs are no longer regularly traded on a qualified exchange or the IRS consents
to the revocation of the election. You are urged to consult your tax advisor about the availability of the mark-to-market election, and whether
making the election would be advisable in your particular circumstances.

A U.S. investor in a PFIC generally can mitigate the consequences of the rules described above by electing to treat the PFIC as a
“qualified electing fund” under Section 1295 of the Code. However, this option is not available to you because we do not intend to comply
with the requirements necessary to permit you to make this election. You are urged to consult your tax advisors concerning the uncertain
application of the PFIC rules to us and the United States federal income tax consequences of holding ADSs or Class A ordinary shares if we
are considered a PFIC in any taxable year.

Taxation of Capital Gains

For United States federal income tax purposes, you will recognize taxable gain or loss on any sale, exchange or other taxable
disposition of the ADSs or Class A ordinary shares in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized for the ADSs or Class
A ordinary shares and your tax basis in the ADSs or Class A ordinary shares. Subject to the discussion under “—Passive Foreign Investment
Company” above, such gain or loss will generally be capital gain or loss. Capital gains of individuals derived with respect to capital assets
held for more than one year are eligible for reduced rates of taxation. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. Any gain or
loss recognized by you will generally be treated as United States source gain or loss.
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Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

In general, information reporting will apply to dividends in respect of our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares and the proceeds from
the sale, exchange or other disposition of our ADSs or Class A ordinary shares that are paid to you within the United States (and in certain
cases, outside the United States), unless you establish that you are an exempt recipient. A backup withholding tax generally would apply to
such payments if you fail to provide a taxpayer identification number and a certification of exempt status or if you fail to report in full
dividend and interest income. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against your
United States federal income tax liability provided the required information is timely furnished to the IRS in a timely manner.

Certain United States Holders are required to report information relating to ADSs or Class A ordinary shares, subject to certain
exceptions (including an exception for ADSs or Class A ordinary shares held in accounts maintained by certain financial institutions), by
attaching a complete IRS Form 8938, Statement of Specified Foreign Financial Assets, with their tax return for each year in which they hold
the ADSs or common shares. You are urged to consult your own tax advisors regarding information reporting requirements relating to your
ownership of the ADSs or Class A ordinary shares.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We have filed this annual report, including exhibits, with the SEC. As allowed by the SEC, in Item 19 of this annual report, we
incorporate by reference certain information we filed with the SEC. This means that we can disclose important information to you by
referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this
annual report.

You may read and copy this annual report, including the exhibits incorporated by reference in this annual report, at the SEC’s
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 and at the SEC’s regional offices in New York, New York and
Chicago, Illinois. You can also request copies of this annual report, including the exhibits incorporated by reference in this annual report,
upon payment of a duplicating fee, by writing information on the operation of the SEC’s Public Reference Room.

The SEC also maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements and other information regarding
registrants that file electronically with the SEC. Our annual report and some of the other information submitted by us to the SEC may be
accessed through this web site.

As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of
quarterly reports and proxy statements, and officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short swing
profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

We will furnish our shareholders with annual reports, which will include a review of operations and annual audited consolidated
financial statements prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

L. Subsidiary Information
Not Applicable.

J. Annual Report to Security Holders
Not applicable.
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ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Exchange Risk

We operate in North America, Asia and Europe. We are exposed to foreign exchange risk to the extent that there is a mismatch
between the currencies in which revenues, expenses and borrowings are denominated.

Much of our current revenue is derived from our cryptocurrency mining business and data center business, which uses the U.S.
Dollars as its functional currency. Starting from the third quarter of 2021, the Company has changed its reporting currency from the
Renminbi to the U.S. Dollar, to reduce the impact of increased volatility of the U.S. Dollar to Renminbi exchange rate on the Company’s
reported operating results. The alignment of the reporting currency with underlying operations will better depict the Company’s results of
operations for each period. Accordingly, we do not anticipate being exposed to material risks due to changes in foreign exchange rates, but
we can provide no assurance that we will not be affected in the future.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk primarily relates to the interest income generated by excess cash, which is mostly held in interest-
bearing bank accounts. We have not been exposed to, nor do we anticipate being exposed to, material risks due to changes in market interest
rates. However, our future interest income may fall short of expectations due to changes in market interest rates.

Inflation

We have not in the past been materially affected by inflation, but we can provide no assurance that we will not be affected in the
future.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

A. Debt Securities
Not applicable
B. Warrants and Rights
Not applicable
C. Other Securities
Not applicable
D. American Depositary Shares

The depositary may charge each person to whom ADSs are issued, including, without limitation, issuances against deposits of
shares, issuances in respect of share distributions, rights and other distributions, issuances pursuant to a stock dividend or stock split declared
by us or issuances pursuant to a merger, exchange of securities or any other transaction or event affecting the ADSs or deposited securities,
and each person surrendering ADSs for withdrawal of deposited securities or whose ADRs are cancelled or reduced for any other reason,
US$5.00 for each 100 ADSs (or any portion thereof) issued, delivered, reduced, cancelled or surrendered, as the case may be. The depositary
may sell (by public or private sale) sufficient securities and property received in respect of share distribution, rights and/or other distribution
prior to such deposit to pay such charge.

The following additional charges shall be incurred by the ADR holders, by any party depositing or withdrawing shares or by any
party surrendering ADSs or to whom ADSs are issued (including, without limitation, issuance pursuant to a stock dividend or stock split
declared by us or an exchange of stock regarding the ADRs or the deposited securities or a distribution of ADSs), whichever is applicable:

e afee of up to US$1.50 per ADR or ADRs for transfers of certificated or direct registration ADRs;
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e afee of up to US$0.05 per ADS for any cash distribution made pursuant to the deposit agreement;

e afee of up to US$0.05 per ADS per calendar year (or portion thereof) for services performed by the depositary in administering the
ADRs (which fee may be charged on a periodic basis during each calendar year and shall be assessed against holders of ADRs as
of the record date or record dates set by the depositary during each calendar year and shall be payable in the manner described in
the next succeeding provision);

e reimbursement of such fees, charges and expenses as are incurred by the depositary and/or any of the depositary’s agents
(including, without limitation, the custodian and expenses incurred on behalf of holders in connection with compliance with
foreign exchange control regulations or any law or regulation relating to foreign investment) in connection with the servicing of the
shares or other deposited securities, the delivery of deposited securities or otherwise in connection with the depositary’s or its
custodian’s compliance with applicable law, rule or regulation (which charge shall be assessed on a proportionate basis against
holders as of the record date or dates set by the depositary and shall be payable at the sole discretion of the depositary by billing
such holders or by deducting such charge from one or more cash dividends or other cash distributions);

e a fee for the distribution of securities (or the sale of securities in connection with a distribution), such fee being in an amount equal
to the fee for the execution and delivery of ADSs which would have been charged as a result of the deposit of such securities
(treating all such securities as if they were shares) but which securities or the net cash proceeds from the sale thereof are instead
distributed by the depositary to those holders entitled thereto;

e stock transfer or other taxes and other governmental charges;

e cable, telex and facsimile transmission and delivery charges incurred at your request in connection with the deposit or delivery of
shares;

e transfer or registration fees for the registration of transfer of deposited securities on any applicable register in connection with the
deposit or withdrawal of deposited securities; and

e cxpenses of the depositary in connection with the conversion of foreign currency into U.S. dollars.

We will pay all other charges and expenses of the depositary and any agent of the depositary (except the custodian) pursuant to
agreements from time to time between us and the depositary. The charges described above may be amended from time to time by agreement
between us and the depositary.

Our depositary has agreed to reimburse us for certain expenses we incur that are related to the establishment and maintenance of the
ADR program, including investor relations expenses and exchange application and listing fees. Neither the depositary nor we can determine
the exact amount to be made available to us because (i) the number of ADSs that will be issued and outstanding, (ii) the level of fees to be
charged to holders of ADSs and (iii) our reimbursable expenses related to the ADR program are not known at this time. The depositary
collects its fees for issuance and cancellation of ADSs directly from investors depositing shares or surrendering ADSs for the purpose of
withdrawal or from intermediaries acting for them. The depositary collects fees for making distributions to investors by deducting those fees
from the amounts distributed or by selling a portion of distributable property to pay the fees. The depositary may collect its annual fee for
depositary services by deduction from cash distributions, or by directly billing investors, or by charging the book-entry system accounts of
participants acting for them. The depositary may generally refuse to provide services to any holder until the fees and expenses owing by
such holder for those services or otherwise are paid.
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PART II
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None.
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
A. Material Modifications to the Rights of Securities Holders
See “Item 10. Additional Information” for a description of the rights of securities holders, which remain unchanged.
B. Use of Proceeds

The following “Use of Proceeds” information relates to the registration statement on Form F-3, as amended (File No. 333-258329)
in relation to our public offerings of ADSs, as well as pre-funded warrants, Series A warrants, Series B warrants and placement agent
warrants to purchase ADSs, which was declared effective by the SEC on May 13, 2022. On June 27, 2022 and August 18, 2022, we
completed our public offerings in which we sold an aggregate of 31,566,665 ADSs, as well as up to 75,701,663 ADSs underlying pre-funded
warrants, Series A warrants, Series B warrants, placement agent warrants and HCW warrants to purchase ADSs. H.C. Wainwright & Co.,
LLC acted as placement agent in connection with the public offering completed on June 27, 2022. Revere Securities LLC acted as placement
agent in connection with the public offering completed on August 18, 2022.

For the period from May 13, 2022, the date that the registration statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-258329) was declared
effective by the SEC, to December 31, 2022, we used approximately US$20.1 million of the net proceeds from our public offerings of ADSs
and warrants to invest in mining machines, expand infrastructure, improve working capital position and invest in new business opportunity.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, we used approximately US$2.4 million of the net proceeds from our public offerings of ADSs
and warrants to invest in mining machines, expand infrastructure, improve working capital position and invest in new business opportunity.
During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not make similar expenditures. As disclosed in the prospectus supplements to the
accompanying base prospectus dated May 6, 2022, included in the registration statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-258329), we still intend
to use the remainder of the net proceeds from our public offerings of ADSs and warrants to invest in mining machines, expand
infrastructure, improve working capital position and invest in new business opportunity.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file and furnish under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the
time period specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, has performed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our disclosure and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by
this report, as required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our management has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that the information required to be disclosed by us in
the report that we file and furnish under the Exchange Act was recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time period
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that the information required to be disclosed by us in the report that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S.
GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and
fairly reflect our transactions; (2) provide reasonable assurance that our transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only
in accordance with appropriate authorizations; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may
deteriorate.

Under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, we assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management concluded that internal
control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2024.

Remediation

Our Board of Directors, Audit Committee and management take internal control over financial reporting and the integrity of our
financial statements seriously.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there are no material weakness in the company that requires designing additional
control measures for remediation. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. The company introduced enhanced controls in 2023 to remediate the material weakness in 2022. In
2024, the company carried out continuous follow up on that material weakness, and there were no subsequent control failures reported in
2024.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange
Act) that occurred during the period covered by this annual report on Form 20-F that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Board of Directors has determined that Heng Henry Lu, an independent director within the meaning of Section 303A of the
NYSE Listed Company Manual, and the chairman of our audit committee, qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in
Item 16A of Form 20-F.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

Our board of directors has adopted a code of ethics that applies to our directors, officers, employees and agents, including certain
provisions that specifically apply to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief strategy officer, financial controller and any
other persons who perform similar functions for us. We have filed our code of business conduct and ethics as an exhibit to our registration
statement on Form F-1. We hereby undertake to provide to any person without charge, a copy of our code of business conduct and ethics
within ten working days after we receive such person’s written request.
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ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees by categories specified below in connection with certain professional services
rendered by MaloneBailey, LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2023 2024
US$ US$
(in thousands)
Audit fees(D 809 546
Audit related fees? 67 62
Total 876 608

(1) Audit fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of our year-end financial statements and services that are
normally provided by our independent registered public accounting firm in connection with regulatory filings. The above amounts
include interim procedures and audit fees, as well as attendance at Board meetings.

(2) Audit-related fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to performance of the audit or
review of our financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.” These services include attest services that are not required

by statute or regulation and consultation concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.

The policy of our audit committee is to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services, such as audit-related, tax and other services, as
provided by our independent registered public accounting firm.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

Not applicable.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT
Not applicable.
ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We are a “foreign private issuer” (as such term is defined in Rule 3b-4 under the Exchange Act), and our ADSs, each representing
one hundred (100) Class A ordinary shares, are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Under Section 303A of the New York Stock
Exchange Listed Company Manual, New York Stock Exchange listed companies that are foreign private issuers are permitted to follow
home country practice in lieu of the corporate governance provisions specified by the New York Stock Exchange with limited exceptions.
The following summarizes some significant ways in which our corporate governance practices differ from those followed by domestic
companies under the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

In respect of the oversight of our executive officer compensation and director nominations matters: As our home country practice
does not require independent director oversight of executive officer compensation and director nomination matters, each of our
compensation committee and our nominating and corporate governance committee is not comprised solely of independent directors.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 161. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 16J. INSIDER TRADING POLICIES

(a) We have adopted insider trading policies and procedures governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of our securities by
directors, senior management, and employees that are reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable insider trading laws, rules
and regulations, and listing standards applicable to us.

(b) Please see our Statement of Policies Governing Material, Non-Public Information and the Prevention of Insider Trading, which
has been filed as Exhibit 11.2 to this annual report.

ITEM 16K. CYBERSECURITY
Cybersecurity risk management, strategy and governance
I. Corporate governance level:

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the Company’s cybersecurity strategy, monitors and reviews the implementation of
cybersecurity policies, and makes appropriate adjustments and assists with cybersecurity strategies and processes as necessary.

The Board of Directors ensures that the Company has sufficient resources (including personnel, technical and financial resources) to
support effective cybersecurity measures and that the Company has conducted a comprehensive risk assessment, including identifying potential
cybersecurity threats, assessing the likely impact of those threats and determining appropriate measures in response.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the implementation and execution of the cybersecurity strategy, and for providing
ongoing oversight of the plans, procedures, processes, and execution of the Company’s controls in the areas of cybersecurity, system security, data
transmission security, and data privacy controls.

The Board of Directors requires the Company’s management to report regularly, and at least on the implementation of information security
matters, including the occurrence of any cybersecurity incidents as well as the process and results of handling them, the progress of major
cybersecurity initiatives, and the overall status of the adjustment and implementation of cybersecurity strategies.

II. Cybersecurity control measures:

The formulation of the Company’s cybersecurity strategy is based on the Company’s business processes, strategic objectives and legal
requirements and regulations; we assess and classify cybersecurity risks, formulate corresponding security policies and standards, and design
security frameworks and contingency plans. The monitoring of cybersecurity risks has been included in the Company’s comprehensive risk
management plan, fully ensuring that cybersecurity risks are managed and the Company’s relevant policies and standards are complied with.

The Company has established a complete technical security team, and regularly provides adequate resources and training to IT security
personnel so that they are fully aware of the Company’s guidelines and expectations regarding cybersecurity strategy.

The Company requires employees to use public devices and secure office networks within the scope defined by the cybersecurity policy,
and to utilize technical means provided by third-party security companies, updated in 2024, for 24/7 continuous monitoring, event resolution, and
reporting to enhance the cybersecurity environment, including reducing cybersecurity attacks, threat monitoring, vulnerability remediation, and
implementing security patches.

I11. Significant cybersecurity matters

As of the date of this annual report, there have not been any risks from cybersecurity threats or any previous cybersecurity incidents that
have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.

However, despite our efforts, risks from cybersecurity threats cannot be completely eliminated. There can be no assurance that we have not
experienced an undetected cybersecurity incident. For more information about these risks, please see “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors
— Cyberattacks and security breaches of our system, or those impacting our third parties, could adversely impact our brand and reputation and our
business, operating results, and financial condition” and “— We may suffer significant and adverse effects because of hacking or one or more
adverse software events.”
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PART III
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have elected to provide financial statements pursuant to Item 18.
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our consolidated financial statements are included at the end of this annual report.

86



Table of Contents

ITEM 19.

1.1

2.1
2.2

2.3

24
4.1

4.2

43
44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11
4.12

4.13

4.14
4.15%
4.16%+

8.1*

EXHIBITS

Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

3.2 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-191844), as amended,_initially filed with the SEC on October
22,2013),

Statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-191844), as amended,_initially filed with the SEC on October 22, 2013)
Specimen Certificate for Ordinary Shares of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Registration

Form of Deposit Agreement among_the Registrant, the depositary and holder of the American Depositary Receipts
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-191844), as
amended, initially filed with the SEC on October 22, 2013)

Description of Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.4 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on May 15, 2024)

Form of Employment Agreement with the Registrant’s executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our

with the SEC on July 30, 2021),
Share Exchange Agreement between the Registrant and Blockchain Alliance Technologies Holding_Company_dated
February 16, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No. 333-

Amendment to the Share Exchange Agreement between the Registrant and Blockchain Alliance Technologies Holding
Company dated April 15, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File

Registration Rights Agreement dated July 12, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Registration Statement
on Form F-3 (File No. 333-258329),_as amended,_initially filed with the SEC on July 30, 2021)

April 7,2022),
Membership Interest Purchase Agreement entered into by and between the Registrant and Viking Data Centers LLC on

April 7,2022)
Share Sale and Purchase Agreement entered into by and between the Registrant and Manful Kingdom Limited on July 25,

Share Transfer Agreement entered into by and between Esport — Win Limited and BIT Mining Limited on December 28,
2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on May 15, 2024)
Supplemental Agreement to Share Transfer Agreement entered into by and between Esport — Win Limited and BIT Mining

to the SEC on November 6, 2024)

Share Transfer Agreement, dated December 3, 2024, by and between BIT Mining_Limited and the Selling_Shareholders
named therein

Supplemental Agreement to the Share Transfer Agreement , dated December 3, 2024, by and between BIT Mining Limited
and YOU Hongyan

List of the Registrant’s Subsidiaries
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11.1% Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of Registrant

11.2* Registrant’s Statement of Policies Governing Material, Non-Public Information and the Prevention of Insider Trading

12.1* Chief Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

12.2* Chief Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13.1%* Chief Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13.2%* Chief Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

15.1%* Consent of MaloneBailey, LLP

97.1 Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 to our Annual Report

on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on May 15, 2024)
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* Inline Taxonomy Extension Scheme Document

101.CAL* Inline Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

*  Filed with this annual report
**  Furnished with this annual report
+  Portions of this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing its annual report on Form 20-F and that it has duly
caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.

BIT MINING LIMITED
By: /s/ Xianfeng Yang

Name: Xianfeng Yang
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 29, 2025
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
BIT Mining Limited

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BIT Mining Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical
audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of the Existence and Control of Cryptocurrency Assets Held

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2024, the Company adopted ASU No. 2023-08,
Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets, using a modified retrospective approach, which requires cryptocurrency assets to be
measured at fair value each reporting period with changes in fair value recorded in net income or loss. The Company’s cryptocurrency assets
as of December 31, 2024 amounted to approximately $9.6 million.

We identified the evaluation of the existence and control of the cryptocurrency assets held as a critical audit matter due to the subjective
auditor judgment involved in determining the nature and extent of audit evidence required to address the risks of material misstatement
related to the existence and rights and obligations of the cryptocurrency assets as the cryptocurrency holdings are stored using the custodial
service provided by third parties. Control over cryptocurrency assets is provided through private cryptographic keys stored using third-party
custodial services.
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The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following:

e Obtained an understanding of the internal controls over the Company’s cryptocurrency assets process, including a reconciliation
control over the comparison of the Company’s records of cryptocurrency assets held to the custodial records;

e Independently and directly confirmed the balance of the Company’s cryptocurrency assets in the custody of third parties, evaluated
the reliability and relevance of the information obtained from third party custodians, and compared the balance confirmed to the
Company’s record of cryptocurrency holdings;

e Tested selected transactions by obtaining and inspecting source documents including agreements;

e Independently obtained evidence from public blockchains, to the extent applicable, to test the existence of cryptocurrency assets
transactions and balances and evaluated the relevance and reliability of audit evidence obtained from public blockchains;

e Reviewed and evaluated the custodian contracts, and observed the Company accessing its wallets under custody to conduct
transactions, including subsequent transfers, tested selected transactions occurred between the year-end and the observation date
and verified the transactions on public blockchains independently; and

e FEvaluated the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence obtained by assessing the results of procedures performed over the
cryptocurrencies.

Evaluation of Accounting for and Disclosure of Cryptocurrency Mining Revenue Recognized

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. For cryptocurrency mining revenue, the Company provides hash calculation services to a mining pool and
in exchange for providing such services, the Company is entitled to considerations in the form of cryptocurrencies from the mining pool,
which is calculated based on a predetermined formula agreed by the Company and the mining pool operator as a part of the contract. The
Company’s management has exercised significant judgments in their determination of how existing accounting guidance should be applied
to the accounting for and disclosure of cryptocurrency mining revenue recognized.

We identified the accounting for and disclosure of cryptocurrency mining revenue recognized as a critical audit matter due to the nature and
extent of audit effort required to address the matter, which includes significant involvement of more experienced engagement team
members. Subjective auditor judgment was required in determining the nature and extent of audit procedures to test the occurrence of the
revenues recognized by the Company.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following:

e With the assistance of our Information Technology (“IT”) professionals, we identified the key systems the Company used to
monitor hashrate, tested the IT general controls over the system and validated the hashrate has been provided to the mining pool;

e Performed observation of the facilities where the Company’s mining machines were located, which included an observation of the
environment and mining machines observation procedures;

e FEvaluated management’s rationale for the application of ASC 606 to account for its cryptocurrency mining revenue, which
included evaluating the contract between the Company and the mining pool operator;

e Confirmed with the mining pool operator the significant contractual terms used in the determination of the cryptocurrency mining
revenue earned by the Company, total mining rewards earned, and the cryptocurrencies wallet addresses in which the rewards are
deposited;

e Evaluated and tested management’s rationale and supporting documentation associated with the valuation of cryptocurrency
awards earned, including evaluating the reasonableness of the cryptocurrency prices utilized by the Company to value
cryptocurrency awards earned by obtaining independent cryptocurrency prices and comparing those to the prices used by the
Company;

e Compared the Company’s wallet records of cryptocurrency mining revenue received to publicly available blockchain records and
evaluated the relevance and reliability of audit evidence obtained from public blockchains;

e Performed certain substantive analytical procedures to determine completeness and existence of cryptocurrencies earned by the
Company as consideration for services rendered, including recalculating the cryptocurrency mining revenue recognized according
to the formula prescribed in the contractual payout method using the hashrate provided to the mining pool and independently
obtained blockchain inputs; and

e FEvaluated management’s disclosures of its cryptocurrency mining revenue in the financial statement footnotes.

/s/ MaloneBailey, LLP

www.malonebailey.com

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020
Houston, Texas

April 29, 2025
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BIT MINING LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands U.S. dollars (“USS$”), except for number of shares)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepayments and other current assets
Cryptocurrency assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Total current assets

Non-current assets:

Property and equipment, net

Intangible assets, net

Deposits

Long-term investments

Right-of-use assets

Long-term prepayments and other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and welfare payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities-current
Income tax payable
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes

B o]

13
11
15

As of December

As of December

31,2023 31,2024
3,044 1,810
2,876 1,845
6,298 5,911
7,625 9,581

13.813 —
33,856 19,147
22,833 19,896
2,033 11,084
2,466 2,462
4,173 3,557
4273 2,627
2,962 27.562
38,740 67,188
72,596 86,335
821 25
410 306
14,333 9,349
1,681 1,485
76 71
27.605 —
44,926 11,236
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BIT MINING LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)
(Amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars (“US$”), except for number of shares)

As of December As of December

Notes 31,2023 31,2024
Non-current liabilities:
Operating lease liabilities-non-current 11 2,538 1,063
Other non-current liabilities — 7,256
Total non-current liabilities 2,538 8.319
TOTAL LIABILITIES 47,464 19,555
Shareholders’ equity:
Class A ordinary shares, par value US$0.00005 per share; 1,599,935,000 shares authorized as of December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2024; 1,111,232,210 and 1,595,399,890 shares issued and outstanding as of December
31, 2023 and December 31, 2024, respectively 21 54 78
Class A preference shares, par value US$0.00005 per share; 65,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2024; 65,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024 21 — —
Class B ordinary shares, par value US$0.00005 per share; 400,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023
and December 31, 2024; 99 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024 21 — —
Additional paid-in capital 21 621,837 640,724
Treasury shares (21,604) (21,604)
Accumulated deficit and statutory reserve 14 (570,879) (557,913)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,276) (4,392)
Total BIT Mining Limited shareholders’ equity 25,132 56,893
Non-controlling interests — 9,887
Total shareholders’ equity 25,132 66,780
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 72,596 86,335

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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BIT MINING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
(Amounts in thousands U.S. dollars (“USS$”), except for number of shares and per share (or ADS) data)

Revenues
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Service development expenses
Total operating costs and expenses
Other operating income
Government grant
Other operating expenses
Net (loss) gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets
Impairment of cryptocurrency assets
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets
Changes in fair value of contingent considerations
Impairment of property and equipment
Impairment of intangible assets
Changes in fair value of payables settled by cryptocurrency assets
Operating loss from continuing operations
Other income, net
Interest income
Interest expense
Gain (loss) from equity method investments
Impairment of long-term investments
Gain from disposal of long-term investments
Gain from short-term investments
Gain from disposal of subsidiaries
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments
Loss before income tax from continuing operations
Income tax benefits
Net loss from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes
Net (loss) income
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited
Net loss attributable to BIT Mining Limited from continuing operations
Net (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited from discontinued operations
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation loss
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Comprehensive (loss) income
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to BIT Mining Limited

(Losses) earnings per share attributable to BIT Mining Limited-Basic and Diluted:
Net loss from continuing operations
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations

Net (loss) income

(Losses) earnings per American Depositary Share (“ADS*”) attributable to BIT Mining Limited-Basic and Diluted:

Net loss from continuing operations

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations

Net (loss) income

‘Weighted average number of Class A and Class B ordinary shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Notes

20

20

20

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
57,025 43,101 32,022
(61,195) (40,055) (29.937)

(336) (153) (54)
(21,946) (18,465) (13,709)
(2.213) (874) (69)
(85,690) (59,547) (43,769)
115 180 214
29 — —
(2,370) (13,642) (613)
(7.835) 7,074 —
(9,396) (2,359) —
— — 3,203
1,247 — —
(35,224) — —
(7,539) — —
— — 37
(89,638) (25,193) (8,006)
9,031 691 627
150 242 56
(218) — —
164 (295) (20)
(2,250) (1,408) (132)
— 614 —
— — 156
3,340 — —
— 35) 311
(79,421) (25,384) (7.008)
(79,421) (25,384) (7,008)
(79,006) (3,326) 240
— — 18,687
(79,006) (3.326) 18,927
(158.427) (28.710) 11,919
(3.012) — (154)
(155415) (28.710) 12,073
(76,409) (25,384) (6.854)
(79,006) (3.326) 18,027
(1,735) (316) (116)
(1,735) (316) (116)
(160,162) (29,026) 11,803
(3.142) — (154)
(157,020) (29,026) 11,957
(0.09) (0.03) (0.01)
(0.09) (0.00) 0.02
(0.18) (0.03) 0.01
(8.77) (2.30) (0.58)
(9.07) (0.30) 161
(17.84) (2.60) 1.03
871,036,499 1,102,373,814 1,171,663.430
871,036,499 1,102,373 814 1,171,663 430

*  American Depositary Shares, which are traded on the NYSE. Each ADS represents one hundred Class A ordinary shares of the

Company.
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BIT MINING LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands U.S. dollars (“US$™))

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
Cash flow from operating activities
Net (loss) income (158,427) (28,710) 11,919
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities:
Amortization of right-of-use assets 1,586 1,449 1,680
Depreciation of property and equipment 24,050 9,858 10,149
Amortization of intangible assets 9,132 1,258 1,388
Share-based compensation 4,474 1,030 1,214
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment — 3 (51)
Impairment of intangible assets 56,094 — —
Impairment of goodwill 26,569 — —
Impairment of long-term investments 2,250 1,408 132
Impairment of cryptocurrency assets 18,435 5,245 —
Impairment of property and equipment 35,224 — —
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments — 35 (311)
Changes in fair value of contingent considerations (1,247) — —
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets — — (2,932)
Changes in fair value of payables settled by cryptocurrency assets — — (37)
Provision for credit losses — 4,798 —
Write-off of prepayments — — 604
Loss (gain) from equity method investments (164) 296 20
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations — — (18,687)
Gain from short-term investments — — (156)
Net gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets (8,360) (6,214) —
Non-cash other operating expense-cyberattack loss 3,100 — —
Gain from relief of liability (4,426) — —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (3,340) — —
Gain from disposal of long-term investments — (614) —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,802) (2,591) 1,280
Prepayments and other current assets 9,807 1,225 1,303
Cryptocurrency assets (34,178) (38,040) (28,699)
Long-term prepayments and other non-current assets — (831) 1,692
Deposits — (79) —
Operating lease liabilities (1,870) (1,572) (1,705)
Accounts payable (16,861) 625 (1,523)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (17,285) 23,295 (10,663)
Accrued payroll and welfare payable 330 (290) (130)
Other non-current liabilities — — 775
Amounts due to related parties (4,645) — —
Income tax payable (7 3 (5)
Net cash used in operating activities (63,561) (28,413) (32,743)
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash paid for property and equipment (13,782) (1,428) (1,175)
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 5,007 — (372)
Cash paid for short-term investments (2,360) — —
Cash received from return of short-term investments — 2,360 —
Cash received for asset acquisition, net of cash paid 25 — 46
Cash received from return of long-term investments 1,424 363 123
Cash received from disposal of cryptocurrency assets 34,354 36,753 33,663
Cryptocurrencies purchased using fiat currency — (14,237) (2,258)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment — 20 237
Proceeds from disposal of long-term investments 177 2,333 —
Loans provided to third parties (459) — (1,411)
Net cash provided by investing activities 24,386 26,164 28,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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BIT MINING LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(Amounts in thousands U.S. dollars (“US$”))

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants
Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares under At-The-Market offering
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares for private placement
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Income tax paid
Interest received
Interest paid

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:
Operating lease right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for operating lease liability

Payment of expense and non-current assets in the form of cryptocurrencies

Collateral rendered to lender in the form of cryptocurrencies

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment in the form of cryptocurrencies
Cryptocurrencies paid to purchase mining machines

Ordinary shares issued and issuable in connection with business combination and asset acquisition
Deposits received from customers of mining data center in the form of cryptocurrencies
Deposits refund to customers of mining data center in the form of cryptocurrencies
Cryptocurrencies collected from short-term investments

Cryptocurrencies paid to short-term investments

Cryptocurrencies collected from disposal of discontinued operation

Receivables from disposal and return of long-term investments

Cryptocurrencies collected from derivative contracts

Cryptocurrencies paid to derivative contracts

Consideration paid to purchase the non-controlling interests in subsidiary

Property, plant and equipment transferred from long-term prepayment

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
USS$ USS$ USS

— — 30
6,306 — —
— — 2,338
23.464 — —
29,770 — 2.368
(2,825) (48) 55
(12,230) (2,297) (1,467)
17.804 5,574 3,277
5,574 3277 1,810
150 242 2
218) — —
— 1,587 34
6,939 13,810 148
6,306 — —
— — 1

— — 2,750
3416 — 15,329
2.192 — 442
— 71 1,194

— — 5,506

— — 5350

— — 1,000

— — 303

— 7.195 23,109

— 3,560 22,265
17,785 — —
10,924 4232 3
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BIT MINING LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars (“US$”) except for number of shares)

BIT Mining Limited shareholders

Number of ~ Number of Number of Accumulated
Class A Class A Class B Additional other Accumulated Total
ordinary preference  ordinary  Ordinary Preference  paid-in Treasury ~comprehensive deficit and Non-controlling  shareholders
shares shares shares shares shares capital shares loss statutory reserve interests equity

Balance as of December 31, 2021 710,078,070 65,000 99 36 — 590,567 (21,604) (2,355) (386,754) 25,373 205,267
Disposal of subsidiaries — — — — — — — — — (5,542) (5,542
Net loss for the year — — — — — — — — (155,415) (3,012) (158,427
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — — (1,605) — (130) (1,73
Issuance of ordinary shares for private placement, net of issuance costs 315,666,650 — — 16 — 23,448 — — — — 23.,46¢
Issuance of ordinary shares for asset acquisition 16,038,930 — — 1 — 3,415 — — — — 3,41¢
Issuance of ordinary shares from exercise of share-based awards — — — 1 — (1) — — — — —
Purchase of non-controlling interests — — — — — (1,096) — — — (16,689) (17,78¢
Share-based compensation 22,029,560 — — — — 4,474 — — — — 4,47
Balance as of December 31, 2022 1,063,813,210 65,000 99 54 — 620,807 (21,604) (3,960) (542,169) — 53,12¢
Net loss for the year — — — — — — — — (28,710) — (28,71
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — — (316) — — (31¢
Share-based compensation 47,419,000 — — — — 1,030 — — — — 1,03(
Balance as of December 31, 2023 1,111,232,210 65,000 99 54 — 621,837  (21,604) (4,276) (570,879) — 25,132
Cumulative effect upon adoption of ASU 2023-08, net
of tax — — — — — — — — 893 — 893
Net income for the year — — — — — — — — 12,073 (154) 11,919
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — — (116) — — (116)
Share-based compensation 40,318,000 — — 2 — 1,143 — — — — 1,145
Issuance of ordinary shares as incentive shares 2,291,280 — — — — 69 — — — — 69
Issuance of ordinary shares from exercise of Series B
warrants 500,000 — — — 30 — — — — 30
Issuance of ordinary shares under At-The-Market
offering 72,026,600 — — 4 — 2,334 — — — — 2,338
Issuance of ordinary shares for asset acquisition 369,031,800 — — 18 — 15,311 — — — — 15,329
Non-controlling interests arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries — — — — — — — — — 10,041 10,041
Balance as of December 31, 2024 1,595,399,890 65,000 99 78 — 640,724 (21,604) (4,392) (557,913) 9,887 66,780

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of

shares and per share (or ADS) data)

ORGANIZATION

BIT Mining Limited (the “Company” or the “Group”) was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on April 20, 2007 under
the original name of “Fine Success Limited”, which was changed to “500wan.com” on May 9, 2011, and changed to “500.com Limited”
on October 9, 2013. The Company changed to the new name of “BIT Mining Limited” and the new ticker symbol “BTCM” eftfective
April 20, 2021.

The Company has completed the transformation of its business and become an enterprise that primarily engages in cryptocurrency
mining, data center operation and mining pool operation in 2021, and further disposed of its mining pool business in January 2024.

On April 15, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of the entire mining pool business of Blockchain Technologies Holding
Company operated under BTC.com (renamed as “Cloverpool” after its disposition in January 2024), including the domain name
BTC.com and the cryptocurrency wallet of BTC.com (collectively, the “BTC.com Pool Businesses” or “mining pool business”). On
December 28, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement with Esport-Win Limited, a Hong Kong limited liability company, to sell
its entire mining pool business operated under BTC.com for a total consideration of US$5,000. The disposal of the mining pool business
represents a strategic shift and has a major effect on the Company’s results of operations. Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the comparable periods have been classified to reflect the mining pool
business as discontinued operations. The transaction was closed in February 2024 and, for accounting purposes, the mining pool
business was deemed to be disposed of on January 31, 2024 when the Company relinquished control. Refer to Note 4.

On December 9, 2024, the Company completed the first closing of the acquisition of Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd., which had 51%
equity interest in Alpha Data Center LLC and intended to operate a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ethiopia (the “Ethiopia data
center”). The Ethiopia data center has a total planned power capacity up to 100 megawatts. Refer to Note 5.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has subsidiaries incorporated in countries and jurisdictions including British Virgin Islands,

Cayman Islands, Hong Kong, the United States of America (“USA”), Canada, mainland China, Malta, Cyprus, Curacao and Ethiopia.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s major subsidiaries are listed below:

Percentage
of ownership
Place of by the

Entity Date of establishment blist Company Principal activities

Subsidiaries

Fine Brand Limited (“BVI”) February 9, 2011 British Virgin Islands 100 % Investment Holding
BT Mining Limited (BT Mining) April 19, 2021 Cayman Islands 100 % Investment Holding
500wan HK Limited (“500wan HK™) March 8, 2011 Hong Kong 100 % Investment Holding
Bee Computing (HK) Limited (“Bee Computing™) May 17,2016 Hong Kong 100 % Miner Manufacturing
Yibao Energy (Guangzhou) New Energy Technology Limited (“Yibao Energy”) December 21,2023 Mainland China 100 % Technology Service
E-Sun Sky Computer (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“E-Sun Sky Computer”) June 18, 2007 Mainland China 100 % Technology Service
Star Light Inc. (“Star Light”) January 29, 2021 Cayman Islands 100 % Investment Holding
Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd. (“Guanghan™) November 19, 2024 British Virgin Islands 100 % Data Center Service
Alpha Data Center LLC (“Alpha™) July 21,2022 Ethiopia 51 % Data Center Service
Summit Bend US Corporation (“Summit Bend™) September 22, 2021 USA 100 % Investment Holding
Star Light Ohio I Corporation (“Ohio I"") September 23, 2021 USA 100 % Cryptocurrency Mining
Star Light Ohio II Corporation (“Ohio 1) September 23, 2021 USA 100 % Investment Holding
Asgard Data Centers LLC (“Asgard”) September 16, 2021 USA 100 % Data Center Service
Alliance International Technologies Limited (“Alliance International Technologies”)** March 11, 2020 British Virgin Islands 100 % Cryptocurrency Mining
1324492 B.C. Ltd September 16, 2021 Canada 100 % Investment Holding
The Multi Group Ltd (“The Multi Group” or “TMG”) June 26, 2015 Malta 100 % Investment Holding
Multi Warehouse Ltd* December 3, 2014 Malta 100 % Online Gaming
Multi Brand Gaming Ltd* October 3, 2014 Malta 100 % Online Gaming
Multilotto UK Ltd* Septemberl, 2016 Malta 100 % Online Gaming
Lotto Warehouse Ltd* Septemberl, 2016 Malta 100 % Online Gaming
Wasp Media Ltd* August 12,2016 Malta 100 % Online Gaming
Round Spot Services Ltd* May 6, 2015 Cyprus 100 % Online Gaming
Multi Pay N.V.* August 25,2011 Curacao 100 % Online Gaming
Oddson Europe Ltd* January10, 2018 Malta 100 % Online Gaming

* A subsidiary of the Multi Group

**  Alliance International Technologies is the holding company of the mining pool business prior to the disposition in January 2024 and is

also engaged in cryptocurrency mining operation.
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BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation and use of estimates

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet
dates and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Estimates and assumptions reflected in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, allowance for credit losses, useful lives of property and
equipment and intangible assets, impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill, valuation of cryptocurrencies, realization of deferred tax
assets, uncertain income tax positions, share-based compensation, valuation of derivative instruments, implicit interest rate of operating
lease, accrual for contingencies, valuation of intangible asset and liability acquired from asset acquisition and purchase price allocation
for asset acquisitions. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. The results of
the subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Company obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. A controlling financial interest is typically determined when a company holds a majority of the voting equity
interest in an entity. All significant intercompany balances and transactions among the Company and its subsidiaries have been
eliminated on consolidation.

Foreign currency translation and change in reporting currency

The functional currency of the Company, BVI, 500wan HK, Bee Computing, Alliance International Technologies, Skill Esport, Summit
Bend, Ohio I, Ohio II, Asgard, Guanghan, Alpha and its discontinued operation Hong Kong Sunstar Technology Co., Limited (“Sunstar
Technology”) is the USS$. The functional currency of the Multi Group and its subsidiaries is EUR. The functional currency of the Loto
Interactive and its subsidiaries is HKD. E-Sun Sky Computer, Yibao Energy, and its discontinued operations Beijing Guixinyanghang
Technology Limited (“Guixinyanghang™) and Shenzhen Chuangyinghuanyu Network Technology Limited (“Chuangyinghuanyu
Technology”) determined their functional currencies to be RMB, which is their respective local currencies based on the criteria of ASC
830, “Foreign Currency Matters”. The Group uses the monthly average exchange rate for the year and the spot exchange rate at the
balance sheet date to translate the operating results and financial position, respectively. Translation differences are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss as a component of shareholders’ equity.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are re-measured into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Exchange gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive (loss) income.
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BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations, asset acquisitions and non-controlling interests

The Group accounts for its business combinations using the purchase method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, “Business
Combinations”. The purchase method of accounting requires that the consideration transferred to be allocated to the assets, including
separately identifiable assets and liabilities the Group acquired, based on their estimated fair values. The consideration transferred in an
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair values at the date of exchange of the assets given, liabilities incurred, and equity
instruments issued as well as the contingent considerations and all contractual contingencies as of the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration is recognized at its fair value on the acquisition date. A liability resulting from contingent consideration is remeasured to
fair value as of each reporting date until the contingency is resolved, and subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in earnings.
The costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired or assumed are measured separately at their fair value as of the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-
controlling interests. The excess of (i) the total of cost of acquisition, fair value of the non-controlling interests and acquisition date fair
value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over, (ii) the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree, is
recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognized directly in earnings.

If investment involves the acquisition of an asset or group of assets that does not meet the definition of a business, the transaction is
accounted for as an asset acquisition. An asset acquisition is recorded at cost, which includes capitalized transaction costs, and does not
result in the recognition of goodwill. The cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets acquired on the basis of relative fair values.

The determination and allocation of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and non-controlling interests is
based on various assumptions and valuation methodologies requiring considerable judgment from management. The most significant
variables in these valuations are discount rates, terminal values, the number of years on which to base the cash flow projections, as well
as the assumptions and estimates used to determine the cash inflows and outflows. The Group determines discount rates to be used
based on the risk inherent in the related activity’s current business model and industry comparisons. Terminal values are based on the
expected life of assets, forecasted life cycle and forecasted cash flows over that period.

In a business combination, the Group may recognize identifiable intangibles that meet either or both the contractual legal criterion or the
separability criterion. In an asset acquisition, intangible assets are recognized if they meet the asset recognition criteria in the FASB
Statement of Concepts No.8 (“CON 8”) chapter 5. Identifiable intangible assets recognized in the Group’s acquisitions generally include
brand name, strategic contract and unpatented technology.

For the Company’s majority-owned subsidiaries, non-controlling interests are recognized to reflect the portion of their equity which is
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group. “Net (loss) income” on the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income
includes the “net loss attributable to non-controlling interests”. The cumulative results of operations attributable to non-controlling
interests are also recorded as non-controlling interests in the Group’s consolidated balance sheets.

The Group recognized changes in fair value of contingent consideration in the amount of a gain of US$1,247, nil and nil during the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively, which was related to the remeasurement of the contingent consideration
from the acquisition of Alliance International Technologies Limited. The contingent consideration is settled as of December 31, 2022.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash on hand and time deposits, which have original maturities of three months or less when

purchased and which are unrestricted as to withdrawal and use. In addition, highly liquid investments which have original maturities of
three months or less when purchased are classified as cash equivalents.
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BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Short-term investment

Short-term investment the Group entered into during 2022 and fully redeemed in 2023 represented fixed coupon notes with original
maturities of greater than three months but less than a year. The Group’s short-term investments purchased in 2024 consist of debt
securities classified as available-for-sale. The Group’s available-for-sale securities are measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and
losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, and realized gains or losses recorded as gain from short-term investments in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income. The Group had no short-term investment outstanding as of December 31,
2023 and 2024.

Allowance for credit losses

Receivables are carried at original invoiced amount less an allowance for credit losses when collection of the amount is no longer
probable. Collateral is not typically required, nor is interest charged on receivables.

The Group’s accounts receivable and other receivables are within the scope of ASC 326, “Financial Instruments — Credit Losses”. To
estimate expected credit losses, the Group has identified the relevant risk characteristics of the receivables which include size and
nature. Receivables with similar risk characteristics have been grouped into pools. For each pool, the Group considers the past
collection experience, current economic conditions and future economic conditions (external data and macroeconomic factors). This is
assessed at each quarter based on the Group’s specific facts and circumstances.

Cryptocurrency assets

Cryptocurrency assets are included in current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Cryptocurrency assets generated
from the cryptocurrency mining business and the mining pool business, which is classified as discontinued operations, are accounted for
in connection with the Group’s revenue recognition policy disclosed below.

Effective January 1, 2024, the Group adopted ASU No. 2023-08, Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets (“ASU 2023-08)
using a modified retrospective approach, which requires cryptocurrency assets to be measured at fair value each reporting period with
changes in fair value recorded in net income or loss. Upon adoption, the Group recognized a fair value adjustment on cryptocurrency
assets from continuing operations and discontinued operations of $854 and $39, respectively, for a combined cumulative-effect
adjustment of $893 increase in retained earnings.

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2023-08, cryptocurrencies held were accounted for as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. An
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized but assessed for impairment quarterly, or more frequently, when events or
changes in circumstances occur, principally decreases in the quoted prices of the cryptocurrencies, indicating that it is more likely than
not that the indefinite-lived asset is impaired. In determining if an impairment had occurred, the Group considered the intraday lowest
quoted price of one unit of cryptocurrency asset since acquiring the cryptocurrency asset. If the then current carrying value of the unit of
cryptocurrency exceeded the fair value so determined, an impairment loss has occurred with respect to those units of cryptocurrencies in
the amount equal to the difference between their carrying values and the fair value determined. To the extent an impairment loss was
recognized, the loss established the new cost basis of the asset. Subsequent reversal of impairment losses was not permitted. Prior to the
adoption of ASU 2023-08, any realized gains or losses from sales of cryptocurrencies were included in gain or loss of disposal of
cryptocurrencies in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income. The Group accounted for its gains or losses in
accordance with the first-in-first-out (FIFO) method of accounting.

Cryptocurrencies generated from the cryptocurrency mining business, and cryptocurrencies generated from and distributed to mining
pool participants in relation to the discontinued mining pool business, are included within operating activities in the accompanying
consolidated statements of cash flows. As the Group does not have the practice to convert cryptocurrencies nearly immediately into
cash, the purchases and sales of cryptocurrencies are included within investing activities in the accompanying consolidated statements
of cash flows.
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BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as
follows:

Category Estimated Useful Life Estimated Residual

Machinery and equipment-data

center equipment 5 years 5%
Machinery and equipment- mining

machine and other equipment 2-3 years —
Electronics and office equipment 3-5 years 5%
Motor vehicles 5-10 years 5%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or the

estimated useful lives of the assets —

Repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred, whereas the cost of renewals and betterment that extend the useful
lives of property and equipment are capitalized as additions to the related assets. Retirements, sales and disposals of assets are recorded
by removing the cost and accumulated depreciation from the asset and accumulated depreciation accounts with any resulting gain or
loss reflected in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software, internet domain name, licensing agreement, and intangible assets arising from business
combination and asset acquisitions. Computer software, internet domain name and licensing agreement purchased from third parties are
initially recorded at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The Group
performs valuation of the intangible assets arising from business combination and asset acquisitions to determine the fair value to be
assigned to each asset acquired. The acquired intangible assets are expensed or amortized using the straight-line approach over the
estimated useful life of the assets. Estimated useful lives of the respective assets are set out as follows:

Category Estimated Useful Life
Computer software 3-10 years
Internet domain name 10 years
Licensing agreement Agreement term
Intangible assets arising from business combination and asset acquisitions
Licenses and brand name 10 years
Internet domain name and brand name 10 years
Strategic contract 3-5 years
Unpatented technology 3 years



Table of Contents

BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired in a business combination.
The Group assesses goodwill for impairment in accordance with ASC 350-20, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other: Goodwill”, which
requires that goodwill to be tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at least annually and more frequently upon the occurrence
of certain events. The Group recognizes an impairment charge based on the excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair
value, up to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

The Company identified the BTC.com Pool Business to be the reporting unit for goodwill impairment testing. During the year ended
December 31, 2022, the Company performed both qualitative and quantitative assessment for goodwill impairment by comparing the
fair value of BTC.com Pool Businesses to its carrying value. The Company used the income approach with the discounted cash flow
valuation method with the assistance of a third-party valuation specialist to estimate fair value, which requires management to make
significant estimates and assumptions related to forecasted revenues and cash flows and the discount rate. As a result, the impairment
loss on goodwill of US$26,569 was recognized and included in net loss from discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive (loss) income for the year ended December 31, 2022. There was no outstanding balance for goodwill as of December
31,2023 and 2024.

Impairment of long-lived assets other than goodwill

The Group evaluates its long-lived assets or asset group, including property and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets,
with finite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances (such as a significant adverse change to market conditions
that will impact the future use of the assets) indicate that the carrying amount of a group of long-lived assets may not be fully
recoverable. When these events occur, the Group evaluates the impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the assets to future
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected
undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying amount of the assets, the Group recognizes an impairment loss based on the excess of
the carrying amount of the asset group over its fair value.

The Group recorded an impairment loss of US$7,539 for intangible assets of Asgard for the year ended December 31, 2022. There was
no such impairment for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

The Group recorded an impairment loss of US$35,224 mainly for the mining machines in Kazakhstan and the USA for the year ended
December 31, 2022. There was no such impairment for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

Long-term investments

The Group’s long-term investments consist of equity investments without readily determinable fair value and equity method
investments.

For those investments over which the Group does not have significant influence and without readily determinable fair value, the Group
records them at cost, less impairment, and plus or minus subsequent adjustments for observable price changes, in accordance with ASC
321, “Investments Equity Securities”. Under this measurement alternative, changes in the carrying value of the equity investments are
required to be made whenever there are observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the
same issuer.

Management regularly evaluates the impairment of these investments based on performance and financial position of the investee as
well as other evidence of market value. Such evaluation includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the investee’s cash position, recent
financing, projected and historical financial performance, cash flow forecasts and financing needs. An impairment loss is recognized in
earnings equal to the excess of the investment’s cost over its fair value at the balance sheet date of the reporting period for which the
assessment is made. The fair value would then become the new cost basis of investment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Long-term investments (continued)

Investments in entities in which the Group can exercise significant influence but does not own a majority equity interest or control are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting in accordance with ASC 323, “Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures”.
Under the equity method, the Group initially records its investment at cost and the difference between the cost of the equity investee and
the fair value of the underlying equity in the net assets of the equity investee is recognized as equity method goodwill, which is included
in the equity method investment on the consolidated balance sheets. The Group subsequently adjusts the carrying amount of the
investment to recognize the Group’s proportionate share of each equity investee’s net income or loss into earnings after the date of
investment. The Group will discontinue applying the equity method if an investment (and additional financial supports to the investee, if
any) has been reduced to zero. Under the conditions that the Group is not required to advance additional funds to an investee and the
equity-method investment in ordinary shares is reduced to zero, if further investments are made that have a higher liquidation preference
than ordinary shares, the Group would recognize the loss based on its percentage of the investment with the same liquidation preference,
and the loss would be applied to those investments of a lower liquidation preference first before being further applied to the investments
of a higher liquidation preference. The Group evaluates the equity method investments for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the investment might not be recoverable. Factors considered by the Group when
determining whether an investment has been otherthantemporarilyimpaired, includes, but not limited to, the length of the time and the
extent to which the market value has been less than cost, the financial performance and nearterm prospect of the investee, and the
Group’s intent and ability to retain the investment until the recovery of its cost. An impairment loss on the equity method investments is
recognized in earnings when the decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary.

According to the above testing, impairment loss of US$2,250, US$1,408 and US$132 for the long-term investments was recognized
during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Investments in limited partnerships greater than 5% are considered more than minor and accounted for using the equity method, unless
it is readily apparent that the Group has virtually no influence over the partnership’s financial and operating policies.

Derivative contracts

Derivative contracts derive their value from underlying asset prices, other inputs or a combination of these factors. The Group does not
apply hedge accounting to the derivative contracts, which are recognized as either assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized as changes in fair value of derivative instruments.

From June 2023 to October 2023, the Group entered into several collar arrangements with a third party with one-month term to mitigate
the effect of future price fluctuations on Ethereum or Bitcoin. The arrangements result in the Group settling a certain amount of
Ethereum or Bitcoin at prices within a range. The arrangements are accounted for as derivative instruments and recorded at fair value.
All collar agreements were matured as of December 31, 2023.

From October 2023 to November 2024, the Group entered into several accumulator agreements with a third party with terms ranging
from three to twelve months, subject to early termination. The agreements established a barrier price and a forward strike price on future
Ethereum or Bitcoin prices, and Group would receive certain Ethereum or Bitcoins over the terms at the prices specified in the
agreements. From February 2024 to September 2024, the Group also entered into several decumulator agreements with the same third
party mentioned above with terms ranging from three to six months, subject to early termination. The agreements established a barrier
price and a forward strike price on future Litecoin, Ethereum or Bitcoin prices, and Group would payout certain Litecoins, Ethereum or
Bitcoins over the terms at the prices specified in the agreements. The agreements are accounted for as derivative instruments and
recorded at fair value.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derivative contracts (continued)

The derivative contracts are valued by the issuer of the instruments using pricing models whose inputs are calibrated from observable
market data, mainly quoted Litecoin, Ethereum or Bitcoin prices, and do not involve material subjectivity. Such valuations are classified
within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, the Group recognized derivative asset of US$1,392 and US$859, respectively, which were included
in prepayment and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, the Group
recognized changes in fair value of derivative instruments of a loss of US$35 and a gain of US$311, respectively, in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive (loss) income.

Fair value measurements

Financial instruments primarily include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepayments and other receivables, derivative
asset, equity security without readily determinable fair values, equity method investments, accounts payable and accrued expenses and
other current liabilities. The Group carries the equity securities without readily determinable fair values under the measurement
alternative basis and equity method investments on other-than-temporary basis. Derivative asset related to the derivative contracts is
measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The carrying values of other financial instruments, approximate their fair values due to their
short-term maturities.

The Group’s non-financial assets, including cryptocurrency assets prior to the adoption of ASU 2023-08, intangible assets, goodwill and
property and equipment are measured at fair value when an impairment charge is recognized. Fair value of cryptocurrencies is based on
quoted prices in active markets. After the adoption of ASU 2023-08, cryptocurrency assets are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis.

The Group applies ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”. ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and requires disclosures to be provided on fair value measurement.

ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:
Level 1— Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2— Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3— Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

ASC 820 describes three main approaches to measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities: (1) market approach; (2) income
approach, and (3) cost approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated from market transactions
involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The income approach uses valuation techniques to convert future amounts to a
single present value amount. The measurement is based on the value indicated by current market expectations about those future
amounts. The cost approach is based on the amount that would currently be required to replace an asset.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related party transactions

A related party is generally defined as (i) any person holds 10% or more of the Company’s securities and their immediate families (ii)
the Company’s management, (iii) someone that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the
Company, or (iv) anyone who can significantly influence the financial and operating decisions of the Company. A transaction is
considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. Related parties
may be individuals or corporate entities.

Transactions involving related parties cannot be presumed to be carried out on an arm’s-length basis, as the requisite conditions of
competitive, free market dealings may not exist. Representations about transactions with related parties, if made, shall not imply that the
related party transactions were consummated on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s-length transactions unless such
representations can be substantiated. It is not, however, practical to determine the fair value of amounts due from/to related parties due
to their related party nature.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenues were derived principally from cryptocurrency mining and data center services. The Group also generated revenue
from its mining pool business, which is classified as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss)
income.

The Group accounts for revenues under ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”.

Revenue is recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferred to the Group’s customers in an amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The Group follows the five steps
approach for revenue recognition under ASC 606: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations
in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and
(v) recognize revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The primary sources of the Group’s revenues are as follows:
Cryptocurrency mining

The Group has entered into cryptocurrency mining pools, by executing contracts with the mining pool operators to provide hash
calculation services to the mining pools. The contracts are terminable at any time by either party and the Group’s enforceable right to
compensation only begins when, and lasts as long as, the Group provides hash calculation services to the mining pool operators. In
exchange for providing hash calculation services, the Group is entitled to considerations in the form of cryptocurrencies from the
mining pool operators (less pool operator fees to the mining pool operators which are recorded net with revenues), which is calculated
based on a predetermined formula agreed by the Group and the mining pool operators as a part of the contracts. For accounting purpose,
the agreement by and between the Group and the mining pool operator has a duration of less than 24 hours as a result of the agreement
being continually renewed at the beginning of each measurement period. However, the continual renewal of the agreement does not
represent a material right requiring separate performance obligations because the predetermined formula remains the same upon each
renewal. Providing hash calculation services is an output of the Group’s ordinary activities and is the only performance obligation in the
Group’s contract with the pool operators. The transaction consideration the Group receives is noncash consideration in the form of
cryptocurrencies. The Group measures the cryptocurrencies at fair value at contract inception. All considerations are variable and
revenue is recognized on the same day that control of the contracted service transfers to the mining pool operator, which is the same day
as contract inception. There is no significant financing component in these transactions.

Data center services

The Group provides data center services such as providing its customers with rack space, utility, and cloud services such as virtual
services, virtual storage, and data backup services, generally based on monthly services provided at a defined price included in the
contracts. The performance obligations are the services provided to a customer for the month based on the contract. The transaction
price is the price agreed with the customer for the monthly services provided and the revenues are recognized monthly based on the
services rendered for the month.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Mining pool services

The Group operated its mining pool, BTC.com, to enable providers of hash calculation services (“pool participants™) to participate in
crypto-mining activities in an efficient manner in the blockchain network. It received all the mining rewards, and then allocated mining
rewards to each pool participant net of the pool operator fees based on the sharing mechanism predetermined. Using hash calculation
services provided by the pool participants, the Group provided transaction verification services to the blockchain networks and
transaction requesters (the “primary mining pool services” or the Group as the “primary mining pool operator”). The Group also entered
into arrangements with certain third-party mining pool operators to contribute a portion of the hash calculation services it obtained from
BTC.com pool participants to the third-party mining pool operators. In exchange, the Group was entitled to considerations in the form
of cryptocurrencies from the third-party mining pools operators calculated based on a predetermined formula regardless of whether the
third-party mining pool operators successfully validated the blocks (the “sub mining pool services” or the Group as the “sub mining
pool operator”) (primary mining pool services and sub mining pool services collectively referred as the “mining pool services”).

Primary mining pool services

As the primary mining pool operator, the Group provided transaction verification services. Transaction verification services were an
output of the Group’s ordinary activities. The mining rewards the Group received from the blockchain network included the block
rewards and the transaction verification fees related to the transactions included in the block. For block rewards, the customer was the
blockchain as the Group attempted to be the first vendor to solve an algorithm that it would then place as a successful block on the
blockchain in exchange for cryptocurrency block rewards awarded by the blockchain protocols. For transaction verification fees, the
requester for each blockchain transaction request was the customer.

A contract with the blockchain for the block rewards or with the transaction requester for the transaction verification fees existed upon
the transfer of a verified block to the blockchain. The performance obligation was to validate each block. Revenue was recognized at the
point when the block validation was successfully completed, which was also when the Group received the rewards. Revenue, which was
noncash consideration, was measured at the fair value of block rewards and transaction verification fees earned at contract inception.
The Group considered itself the principal in transactions with the blockchain networks as it coordinated all the hash calculation services
within the mining pool, utilized such aggregated hash calculation services to validate blocks, collected centrally all mining rewards and
distributed them in accordance with the predetermined sharing mechanisms. The Group had control over the pool participants’ hash
calculation services. Although the pool participants could enter and exit the pool at will and deploy the qualifying types of mining
machines at the choices of the pool participants, during the mining process, the Group dictated the tasks and the participants’ mining
machines merely followed the allocation prescribed by the Group. As a result, the Group was primarily responsible for fulfilling the
promise to provide the specified service, which was to transfer a verified block to the blockchain. Further, under existing sharing
mechanisms, the Group was exposed to the risk that actual block rewards might differ from expected rewards, therefore, bore the
inventory risk before the specified service had been transferred to the blockchain network. Therefore, the Group recognized the mining
pool revenue on a gross basis by recording all of the transaction fees and block rewards earned under the primary mining pool services
as revenue, and the portion of the transaction fees and block rewards remitted to pool participants as cost of revenue.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Sub mining pool services

As the sub mining pool operator, using hash calculation services obtained from pool participants, the Group provided hash calculation
services to certain third-party mining pool operators in exchange for considerations in the form of cryptocurrencies from the third-party
mining pool operators. As the Group was entitled to consideration, which was calculated based on a predetermined formula agreed by
the Group and the mining pool operators as a part of the contracts, even if a block was not successfully placed by the third-party mining
pool operators, the Group entered into such arrangements to stabilize the mining rewards it was entitled to. Same to cryptocurrency
mining arrangements, the contracts were terminable at any time by either party and the Group’s enforceable right to compensation only
began when the Group provided hash calculation services to the third-party mining pool operators. Providing hash calculation services
was an output of the Group’s ordinary activities and was the only performance obligation in the Group’s contract with the third-party
pool operators. The transaction consideration the Group received was noncash variable consideration in the form of cryptocurrencies.
The Group measured the cryptocurrencies at fair value at contract inception. The revenue was recognized when the hash calculation
services were provided to the third-party mining pool operators which was the same day as contract inception. There was no significant
financing component in these transactions.

The Group considered itself the principal in sub mining pool service transactions as the pool participants of BTC.com did not directly
enter into contracts with the third-party mining pool operators and the Group was primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the hash calculation services and to remit a portion of the mining rewards to the pool participants. In case of the non-
performance of the third-party mining pool operators, the Group was obligated to compensate the pool participants for considerations
they were entitled to. As a result, the Group determined that it controlled the hash calculation services before they were provided to the
third-party mining pool operators. The Group recognized the mining pool revenue on a gross basis by recording all of the mining
rewards earned under the sub mining pool services as revenue, and the portion of mining rewards remitted to pool participants as cost of
revenue.

Contract balances

The Group does not have any contract assets. The Group’s contract liabilities include advance from customers, which is recorded when
consideration is received from a customer prior to providing services to the customer under the terms of a contract. As of December 31,
2023 and 2024, the Group recorded advance from customers balance of US$397 and US$1,218 respectively, which was included in
“Accrued expenses and other current liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. US$361, nil and nil of deferred
revenue included in the opening balances of advance from customers was recognized during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024, respectively. The amounts were included in revenues on the accompanying statements of comprehensive (loss) income.

Refer to Note 24 regarding the discussion of the Group’s disaggregate revenue data.

Cost of services

Cost of data center services

The cost of data center services, which consist primarily of direct production costs related to data center service, including the direct
service charges for operations. The amounts were US$17,515, US$21,834 and US$16,877 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024, respectively. These costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cost of cryptocurrency mining

The cost of cryptocurrency mining, which consist primarily of direct costs related to cryptocurrency mining machines, including the
server leasing and maintenance charges. The amounts before inter-segment elimination were US$21,678, US$19,216 and US$14,263
for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The amounts after inter-segment elimination were US$14,085,
US$7,273 and US$1,705 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. These costs are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation fees

Depreciation fees, which consist primarily of depreciation of machinery and equipment related to cryptocurrency mining and data center
services, were US$22,934, US$9,737 and US$9,973 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. These costs
are recorded in consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the machinery and
equipment.

Amortization fees

Amortization fees, which consist primarily of amortization of intangible assets arising from business combinations and asset
acquisitions, were, US$3,236, US$1,211 and US$1,382 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. These
costs are recorded in consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the
intangible assets.

Cost of services also comprise employee costs, account handling expense and other direct costs incurred in providing services. These
costs are expensed as incurred.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee costs, commission to certain internet companies and expenses related to
promotional activities. These costs are expensed as incurred.

Service development expenses

Service development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses incurred for the development of, enhancement to, and
maintenance of the Group’s website that either (i) did not meet the capitalization criteria in accordance with ASC 350, “Intangibles -
Goodwill and other”’; or (i1) met the capitalization criteria but the costs cannot be separated on a reasonably cost-effective basis between
maintenance and relatively minor upgrades and enhancements. Service development expenses are recognized as expenses when
incurred.

Leases
The Group’s operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, current operating lease liability, and non-current operating lease liability are
within the scope of ASC 842, “Leases”, and are included in the Group’s consolidated balance sheets. The Group elected not to record

assets and liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet for new or existing lease arrangements with terms of 12 months or less. The
Group recognizes lease expenses for such leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The initial lease liability is equal to the future fixed minimum lease payments discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate,
on a secured basis. The initial measurement of the right-of-use asset is equal to the initial lease liability plus any initial direct costs and
prepayments, less any lease incentives. When a lease is terminated, the right-of-use asset and operating lease liability associated with
the lease are derecognized and any difference between the carrying amounts of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability is recognized
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income as a gain or loss.

The Group does not have finance lease arrangements as of December 31, 2023 and 2024. All right-of-use assets are reviewed for
impairment. No impairment on the right-of-use lease assets was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Income taxes

The Group follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on the difference between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates that
will be in effect in the period in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Group records a valuation allowance to offset
deferred tax assets if based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive (loss) income in the period that includes the enactment date.

Interest and penalties arising from underpayment of income taxes are computed in accordance with the applicable tax law and is
classified in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income as income tax expense. The amount of interest expense is
computed by applying the applicable statutory rate of interest to difference between the tax position recognized and the amount
previously taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.

In accordance with the provisions of ASC 740, “Income taxes” the Group recognizes in its financial statements the impact of a tax
position if a tax return position or future tax position is “more likely than not” to be sustained upon examination based solely on the
technical merits of the position. Tax positions that meet the “more likely than not” recognition threshold are measured at the largest
amount of tax benefit, determined on a cumulative probability basis, that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized
upon settlement. The Group’s estimated liability for unrecognized tax position is periodically assessed for adequacy and may be affected
by changing interpretations of laws, rulings by tax authorities, changes and/or developments with respect to tax audits, and expiration of
the statute of limitations. The outcome for a particular audit cannot be determined with certainty prior to the conclusion of the audit and,
in some cases, appeal or litigation process. The actual benefits or liability ultimately realized may differ from the Group’s estimates. As
each audit is concluded, adjustments, if any, are recorded in the Group’s financial statements. Additionally, in future periods, changes in
facts, circumstances, and new information may require the Group to adjust the recognition and measurement estimates with regard to
individual tax positions. Changes in recognition and measurement estimates are recognized in the period in which the changes occur.

In conjunction with ASC 740, the Group also applied ASC 740-30, “Income Taxes: Other Considerations or Special Areas”, to account
for the temporary differences arising from the undistributed earnings of the foreign subsidiaries. According to ASC 740-30, all
undistributed earnings of a subsidiary shall be presumed to be transferred to the parent entity. Accordingly, the undistributed earnings of
a subsidiary included in consolidated income shall be accounted for as a temporary difference and affect deferred tax expense unless the
tax law provides a means by which the investment in a domestic subsidiary can be recovered tax free.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based compensation

Share options and restricted shares granted to employees and directors are accounted for under ASC 718, “Compensation - Stock
compensation”. In accordance with ASC 718, the Group determines whether a share option or restricted shares should be classified and
accounted for as an equity award. All grants of share options and restricted shares to employees and directors classified as equity awards
are recognized in the financial statements based on their grant date fair values. There were no liability awards granted during any of the
periods stated herein. The Group recognizes compensation expense using the accelerated method for share options and restricted shares
granted with graded vesting based on service conditions, provided that the amount of compensation expense recognized at any date is at
least equal to the portion of the grant-date value of the share options and restricted shares that are vested at that date.

ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in the subsequent period if actual forfeitures
differ from initial estimates. Forfeiture rate is estimated based on historical and future expectation of employee turnover rate and is
adjusted to reflect future change in circumstances and facts, if any. Share-based compensation expense is recorded net of estimated
forfeitures such that expense was recorded only for those share-based awards that are expected to vest. To the extent the Group revises
this estimate in the future, the share-based payments could be materially impacted in the period of revision, as well as in following
periods.

The compensation costs associated with a modification of the terms of the award (“Modification Award”) are recognized if either the
original vesting condition or the new vesting condition has been achieved. Such compensation costs cannot be less than the grant-date
fair value of the original award. The incremental compensation cost is measured as the excess of the fair value of the Modification
Award over the fair value of the original award at the modification date. Therefore, in relation to the Modification Award, the Group
recognizes share-based compensation over the vesting periods of the new options, which comprises, (1) the amortization of the
incremental portion of share-based compensation over the remaining vesting term, and (2) any unrecognized compensation cost of
original award, using either the original term or the new term, whichever is higher for each reporting period.

(Loss) earnings per share

The Group computes (loss) earnings per Class A and Class B ordinary shares in accordance with ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share”, using
the two-class method. Under the provisions of ASC 260, basic net (loss) earnings per share is computed using the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net (loss) earnings per share is computed using the weighted average
number of ordinary shares and, if dilutive, potential ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive securities have
been excluded from the computation of diluted net (loss) earnings per share if their inclusion is anti-dilutive. Potential ordinary shares
consist of unvested RSUs and the incremental ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options. The dilutive effect of
unvested RSUs and outstanding stock options is reflected in diluted (loss) earnings per share by application of the treasury stock
method. The computation of the diluted net (loss) earnings per share of Class A ordinary shares assumes the conversion of Class B
ordinary shares, while the diluted net (loss) earnings per share of Class B ordinary shares does not assume the conversion of those
shares.

The liquidation and dividend rights of the holders of the Group’s Class A and Class B ordinary shares are identical, except with respect
to voting. As a result, and in accordance with ASC 260, the undistributed earnings for each year are allocated based on the contractual
participation rights of the Class A and Class B ordinary shares as if the earnings for the year had been distributed. As the liquidation and
dividend rights are identical, the undistributed earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis. Further, as the conversion of Class B
ordinary shares is assumed in the computation of the diluted net (loss) earnings per share of Class A ordinary shares, the undistributed
earnings are equal to net loss for that computation.

For the purposes of calculating the Group’s basic and diluted (loss) earnings per Class A and Class B ordinary shares, the ordinary
shares relating to the options that were exercised are assumed to have been outstanding from the date of exercise of such options.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the attached conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss over the period necessary to
match the grant on a systematic basis to the related costs. Where the grant relates to an asset acquisition, it is recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income in proportion to the depreciation of the related assets.

Treasury shares

The Group accounts for treasury shares using the cost method. Under this method, the cost incurred to purchase the shares is recorded in
the treasury shares account on the consolidated balance sheets. At retirement, the ordinary shares account is charged only for the
aggregate par value of the shares. The excess of the acquisition cost of treasury shares over the aggregate par value is allocated between
additional paid-in capital (up to the amount credited to the additional paid-in capital upon original issuance of the shares) and retained
earnings.

Recent accounting pronouncements

New accounting standards which have been adopted

In November 2023, Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, Segment
Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07), which requires that an entity disclose
significant segment expenses impacting profit and loss that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. The update is
required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented, unless impracticable, based on the significant segment expense
categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2023. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 on January 1, 2024. The information is disclosed in Note 24.

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-08, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Crypto Assets
(Topic 350-60): Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets (“ASU 2023-08”), which requires entities to measure cryptocurrency
assets that meet specific criteria at fair value with changes recognized in net income for each reporting period. Additionally, ASU 2023-
08 requires an entity to present cryptocurrency assets measured at fair value separately from other intangible assets in the balance sheets
and record changes from remeasurement of cryptocurrency assets separately from changes in the carrying amounts of other intangible
assets in the income statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim
periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted ASU 2023-08 on January 1, 2024. Upon
adoption, the Group recognized a fair value adjustment on cryptocurrency assets from continuing operations and discontinued
operations of $854 and $39, respectively, for a combined cumulative-effect adjustment of $893 increase in retained earnings.

New accounting standards which have not yet been adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income
Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09). ASU 2023-09 requires that entities disclose specific categories in their rate reconciliation and
provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. The new standard is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Group is
currently evaluating the impact of adopting the standard.

In November 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2024-03, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive
Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, requiring public
companies to disclose additional information about specific expense categories in the notes to the consolidated financial statements on
an annual and interim basis (“ASU No. 2024-03). ASU No. 2024-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026,
and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of adopting the standard.
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3. CONCENTRATION OF RISKS
Concentration of credit risk

Assets that potentially subject the Group to significant concentration of credit risk primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents. As of
December 31, 2024, substantially all of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were deposited in financial institutions located in the
mainland China, Hong Kong, Ethiopia and United States, which management believes are of high credit quality.

Concentration of customers

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the customers accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenues generated
from continuing operations were as follows:

For the years ended December 31

2022 2023 2024
A *% 14.4 % *%
B *% 11.5 % 13.1%
C *% *% 162 %

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, the customers accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s accounts receivable generated from
continuing operations were as follows:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
A 45.7 % 29.4 %
B 21.3 % * %
C 14.8 % 19.3 %
D *% 28.9 %

Concentration of suppliers

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the suppliers accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s costs generated from
continuing operations were as follows:

For the years ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024

A 24.9 % 54.0 % 48.0 %

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, the suppliers accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s accounts payable generated from
continuing operations were as follows:

As of As of

December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
A * % 100 %
B 79.5 % *%
C 16.3 % * %

*  Less than 10%
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4.

*

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Disposition of mining pool business

On December 28, 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with Esport-Win Limited, a Hong Kong limited liability company, to sell
its entire mining pool business for a total consideration of US$5,000, with payment arrangement of US$3,000 as the initial payment,
US$1,000 as the second payment in October 2024 and US$1,000 as the third payment in October 2025.

While the closing of the transaction occurred on February 29, 2024, for accounting purposes the mining pool business was deemed to be
disposed of on January 31, 2024 when the Group relinquished control and received the first payment of the consideration by retaining
71.37 bitcoins of the mining pool business for compliance and safety purposes when transferring the mining pool business to the buyer.
The retained bitcoins have a fair value of US$3,000 as determined using US$42 per bitcoin, which was published by Coinbase.com on
January 29, 2024 at UTC 0:00. In October 2024, the Group received the second payment of $1,000 in the form of 1,000,000 USDT.

The disposal of the mining pool business represents a strategic shift and has a major effect on the Group’s results of operation, and as a
result, is reported as a discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024. The assets and liabilities of this business are also presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2023.

The following table represents a summary of the assets and liabilities disposed on January 31, 2024, and the related gain resulting from
the transaction.

As of January 31, 2024

Uss$
Consideration* 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents 372
Accounts receivable, net 866
Prepayments and other current assets 104
Cryptocurrency assets* 8,937
Property and equipment, net 4
Intangible assets, net 6
Accounts payable (26,711)
Accrued payroll and welfare payable (93)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (172)
Net liabilities of discontinued operations (16,687)
Gain from disposal of discontinued operations 18,687

For accounting purpose, the 71.37 bitcoins retained were not included in the consideration in the table above as they were not received
from the buyer, and accordingly these bitcoins were also excluded from the net assets transferred. The resulting gain from disposal of
discontinued operations remained unchanged.
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4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Disposition of mining pool business (continued)

Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations of the mining pool business were as follows as of December 31, 2023:

As of
December 31,

2023

US$
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 33
Accounts receivable, net 1,115
Prepayments and other current assets 101
Cryptocurrency assets 12,553
Property and equipment, net** 4
Intangible assets, net** 7
Current assets of discontinued operations 13,813
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 27,250
Accrued payroll and welfare payable 119
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 236
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 27,605

** For presentation purpose, property and equipment, net and intangible assets, net as of December 31, 2023 have been classified as
current assets of discontinued operations in the consolidated balance sheets as the disposition occurred in January 2024.

Cash flows in respect of the disposal were as follows:

For the year ended December 31

2024

USS$
Cash and cash equivalent deconsolidated 372
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries —
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed (372)
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4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)
Disposition of mining pool business (continued)

The operating results from discontinued operations of the mining pool business included in the Group’s consolidated statements of
comprehensive (loss) income were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024:

For the years ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024

Major classes of line items constituting pre-tax profit of discontinued operations

Revenues 636,937 296,942 30,340
Cost of revenue (642,754) (295,468) (30,083)
Sales and marketing expenses 297) (354) (30)
General and administrative expenses (840) (417) (57)
Service development expenses (1,452) (353) (72)
Other operating income 475 70 413
Other operating expenses (3,107) — —
Net gain (loss) on disposal of cryptocurrency assets 16,195 (860) —
Impairment of cryptocurrency assets (9,039) (2,886) —
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets — — (271)
Impairment of intangible assets (48,555) — —
Impairment of goodwill (26,569) — —
(Loss) income before income tax from discontinued operations (79,006) (3,326) 240
Income tax expense — — —
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes (79,006) (3,326) 240

The condensed cash flows of the mining pool business were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024:

For the years ended December 31

2022 2023 2024
USS$ Uss$ Us$

Net cash used in operating activities (29,186) (227) (414)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 34,354 (413) 303

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (6,461) 481 —

Effect of foreign rate exchange on cash 191 115 78

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,102) (44) (33)

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents reported within the consolidated balance sheets that sum to
the total of such amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

As of As of As of
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2022 2023 2024

Us$ USS$ US$
Cash, cash equivalents — consolidated balance sheets 5,497 3,244 1,810
Cash, cash equivalents, discontinued operations 77 33 —
Cash, cash equivalents — consolidated statements of cash flows 5,574 3,277 1,810
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5.

BUSINESS COMBINATION, ASSET ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY
Acquisition and Disposal of Loto Interactive

Loto Interactive is a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8198). The Group’s investment in equity shares of
Loto Interactive was 33.74% before the acquisition of Loto Interactive in 2021.

On March 31, 2021, the Group completed the subscription for 169,354,839 shares of Loto Interactive, at a price of HK$0.62 per share
for a total consideration of HK$105,000 (US$13,503) in cash (the “Share Subscription”). The Group’s ownership of Loto Interactive
thereby increased to 54.2%, and Loto Interactive and its subsidiaries became subsidiaries of the Group. Concurrently with the
completion of the Share Subscription, Loto Interactive has completed its acquisition of the remaining equity interests in its indirectly
held subsidiary, Ganzi Changhe Hydropower Consumption Service Co., Ltd. (“Ganzi Changhe Data Center”), for a total consideration
of RMB&88,200 (US$13,841) in cash.

On June 18, 2021, the Group completed its unconditional mandatory cash offer, all the shares in issue of Loto Interactive other than
those already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Group and its parties acting in concert, pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Hong Kong
Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Share Offer”) and its cash offer for the cancellation of all options of Loto Interactive in
accordance with Rule 13.5 of the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Option Offer”). Upon closing of such cash offer,
the Company acquired a total of 30,642,534 shares with a total consideration of approximately HKD26,224 (US$3,378) under the Share
Offer. The Group’s ownership in Loto Interactive increased to 59.8% accordingly and the transaction was recorded as an equity
transaction.

On July 12, 2022, the Group entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with Manful Kingdom Limited to sell 51% of total issued
share capital of Loto Interactive, representing 279,673,200 shares of Loto Interactive at the price of HK$0.28 per share for a total
consideration of HK$78,308 (the “Transaction”). The Transaction was completed on July 26, 2022. After the Transaction, the Group’s
share ownership in Loto Interactive decreased to 8.79%.
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5. BUSINESS COMBINATION, ASSET ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY (continued)
Acquisition and Disposal of Loto Interactive (continued)

The following table represents a summary of the assets and liabilities disposed of at the disposal date. The calculation of US$ amount
was based on the exchange rate of 1.00 HKD to 0.1274 US$ of the disposal completion date on July 26, 2022.
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Amount Amount
HKD US$
Net assets disposed of:
Cash and cash equivalents 39,174 4,990
Amounts due from related parties 422 54
Prepayments and other receivables 37,534 4,781
Property and equipment, net 24,443 3,114
Long-term investments 3,514 448
Other non-current assets 33,488 4,266
Accounts payable (3,2006) (408)
Amounts due to related parties (6,099) 777)
Accrued payroll and welfare payable (12,623) (1,608)
Other current liabilities (4,756) (606)
Income tax payable (3,278) (418)
Other non-current liabilities (800) (102)
Net assets of the subsidiaries 107,813 13,734
Non-controlling interest of the subsidiaries (43,412) (5,542)
Fair value of retained non-controlling interest in the subsidiaries (13,497) (1,719)
Net assets of the subsidiaries attributable to the Company 50,904 6,473
Reclassification of accumulated translation adjustment into gain on disposal 1,241 184
Consideration 78,308 9,997
Gain from disposal of subsidiaries 26,163 3,340
Cash flows in respect of the disposal is as below:
Amount Amount
HKD USS$
Cash flows of the disposal:
Cash and cash equivalents deconsolidated (39,174) (4,990)
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries 78,308 9,997
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 39,134 5,007
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5. BUSINESS COMBINATION, ASSET ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY (continued)
Acquisition and Disposal of Loto Interactive (continued)
On March 15, 2023, the Group entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with an unaffiliated third party (the “Buyer”), pursuant
to which the Group agreed to sell, and the Buyer agreed to purchase, all of the Group’s remaining share ownership in Crypto Flow
Technology Limited (“Crypto Flow”), previously known as Loto Interactive, namely, 48,195,605 shares of Crypto Flow, representing
approximately 8.79% of the total issued share capital of Crypto Flow, at the price of HK$0.38 per share for the total consideration of
HK$18,314 (US$2,333). Upon completion of this transaction, the Group does not own any shares in Crypto Flow.
Acquisition of Bee Computing (HK) Limited
On May 31, 2022, the Company completed the first closing of its previously announced share exchange agreement dated April 5, 2021
(as amended and restated in April 2022, the “Amended and Restated Share Exchange Agreement”) entered into by the Company and the
shareholders (the “Selling Shareholders™) of the acquisition of Bee Computing (HK) Limited (“Bee Computing”). At the first closing of
the Amended and Restated Share Exchange Agreement, the Company issued 16,038,930 of its Class A ordinary shares to the Selling
Shareholders. Meanwhile, the Company’s preexisting loans to Bee Computing was considered effectively settled upon the acquisition.
The settlement amount was included in the total purchase consideration. The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition as
Bee Computing did not meet the definition of a business upon acquisition.
The following table presents the calculation of the purchase consideration of the acquisition date.
Amount
US$
Fair value of 16,038,930 Class A ordinary shares at acquisition close on May 31, 2022 3,416
Effective settlement of preexisting loans 18,397
Total purchase consideration 21,813
The following is a summary of the estimated fair value of the assets acquired as of the acquisition date.
Amount Amortization Years
US$
Cash 25
Prepayments and other receivables 18,155
Acquired intangible asset 3,633 3.0
Total identifiable assets acquired 21,813
Total purchase consideration 21,813

The acquired intangible asset was the unpatented technology for the Litecoin ASIC mining machines, which has an estimated useful life
of 3 years from the date of acquisition.
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5.

BUSINESS COMBINATION, ASSET ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY (continued)
Acquisition of Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd.

On December 3, 2024, the Company entered into a share transfer agreement with two individuals (collectively, the “seller”) to acquire
Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd. (“Guanghan™), which held 51% equity interest in Alpha Data Center Plc. (“Alpha”). Alpha is an
Ethiopian company that owned certain mining machines and intended to operate a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ethiopia with
total planned power capacity up to 100 megawatts. On December 9, 2024, the Company completed the first closing of the acquisition
and obtained control of Guanghan and Alpha. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company made payment of US$2,265 in the form of
2,265,000 USDT and issued an aggregate of 369,031,800 Class A ordinary shares to the sellers. The subsequent closing of the
acquisition is expected to occur in the second quarter of 2025 upon completion of construction of the remaining data center. The
Company will issue an additional 45,278,600 Class A ordinary shares at subsequent closing. The Company also agreed to grant the
seller an exclusive usage right to 16,628 units of mining machines, which accounted for 51% of total mining machines owned by Alpha,
for the first two years after the acquisition. To make the 49% noncontrolling shareholder whole, on the same day, Alpha entered into an
agreement to grant its 49% noncontrolling shareholder a usage right to remaining mining machines owned by Alpha with no
consideration for the first two years after the acquisition. Effectively, Alpha has granted free usage rights of all mining machines to its
shareholders respectively and the usage right, with the term being unfavorable as compared to the market term, was recorded as an
unfavorable contract in Alpha’s book. The unfavorable contract between Alpha and the Company was considered effectively settled
upon acquisition and was included in the total purchase consideration as the Company granted the usage right to the seller. The
transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition as Guanghan did not meet the definition of a business upon acquisition.
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5. BUSINESS COMBINATION, ASSET ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY (continued)

Acquisition of Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd. (continued)

The following table presents the calculation of the purchase consideration of the acquisition dated December 9, 2024.

Amount
USD
Fair value of 369,031,800 Class A ordinary shares at first closing on December 9, 2024 13,654
Fair value of 45,278,600 Class A ordinary shares at subsequent closing 1,675
Fair value 0f 2,265,000 USDT 2,265
Effective settlement of unfavorable contract 6,063
Total purchase consideration 23,657

As of the acquisition date, the Group identified an unfavorable contract of US$11,888, of which US$6,063 was considered effectively
settled upon acquisition and was included in the total purchase consideration as a deferred consideration. The remaining amount of
$5,825 was included in the net assets acquired. The liabilities would be amortized on a straight-line basis over the two years. US$5,407
of the US$11,888 was recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and US$6,481 was recorded in other non-current
liabilities.

The following is a summary of the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired as of the acquisition date.

Amount Amortization Months
US$

Current assets 201 —
Acquired intangible assets 10,451 41
Property and equipment 3,623 —
Long-term prepayments and other non-current assets 25,300 —
Total identifiable assets acquired 39,575 —
Unfavorable contract (5,825) —
Other current liabilities (52) —
Total identifiable liabilities assumed (5,877) —
Net identifiable assets acquired 33,698 —
Non-controlling interests (10,041) —
Total purchase consideration 23,657 —

The acquired intangible asset was the strategic contract entered into with an Ethiopian electricity provider that it will provide power
supply for the Ethiopia data center with favorable prices until April 2028.
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6. INVESTMENTS

Long-term Investments

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

2023 2024

Us$ USS$
Carrying amount of equity investments without readily determinable fair value 3,350 3,053
Carrying amount of equity method investments 823 504
Carrying amount of long-term investments 4,173 3,557

Equity investments without readily determinable fair value

In accordance with ASC 321, the Group elected to use the measurement alternative to measure such investments at cost, less any
impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar investments
of the same issuer, if any. The carrying amount of the Group’s equity investments measured using the measurement alternative was
US$8,881, net of US$5,531 and US$8,678, net of US$5,625 in accumulated impairment as of December 31, 2023 and 2024,
respectively. The Group recognized an impairment of US$2,250, US$1,408 and US$132 included in the net loss for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. Impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2022 consisted of impairment
on equity investment in PTE (Hong Kong) LTD of US$1,000 and impairment on equity investment in Cheerful Interactive Limited of
US$1,250. Impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2023 consisted of impairment on equity investment in Beijing
Weisaishidai Sports Technology Co., Ltd of US$1,408. Impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2024 consisted of
impairment on equity investment in Beijing Dark Horse Venture Capital Center. L.P of US$132.

Equity method investments
Investments were classified as equity method investments as the Group has significant influence over the entities. The net operating

income (loss) from equity method investments from continuing operations recognized for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 were US$164, US$(295), and US$(20), respectively.
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7. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS

The amounts represented the cryptocurrencies held by the Group’s continuing operations as of December 31, 2023 and 2024. The
movement of cryptocurrencies was as follows:

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
USs$ USs$ US$

Beginning balance 16,859 5,612 7,625
Cumulative effect upon adoption of ASU 2023-08 — — 854
Cryptocurrencies mined from mining business 40,561 21,601 17,092
Deposits received from customers of mining data center 2,192 — 442
Deposits returned to customers of mining data center — (71) (1,194)
Payment of service expense and long-lived assets (6,939) (13,810) (148)
Disposal of cryptocurrency assets” (41,264) (31,601)  (32,995)
Utility fee received from customers of mining data center 3,658 13,901 11,480
Cryptocurrencies purchased using fiat currency — 13,381 2,258
Cryptocurrencies collected from derivative contracts — 9,500 23,109
Cryptocurrencies paid to derivative contracts — (8,560)  (22,265)
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets — — 3,203
Changes in fair value of payables settled by cryptocurrency assets — — 37
Cryptocurrencies collected from short-term investments™™ — — 5,506
Cryptocurrencies paid to short-term investments™* — — (5,350)
Cryptocurrency transferred from discontinued operation to continuing

operations — — 3,064
Cryptocurrencies received in connection with the disposal of discontinued

operation — — 1,000
Cryptocurrencies paid in connection with asset acquisition — — (2,265)
Cryptocurrencies received from disposal of property and equipment — — 42
Impairment of cryptocurrency assets (9,396) (2,359) —
Advances received from customer for hash calculation rental services — — 1,057
Cryptocurrencies paid to purchase mining machines — — (2,752)
Cryptocurrencies paid to settle hosting arrangement — — (229)
Others (59) 31 10
Ending balance of cryptocurrency assets, net 5,612 7,625 9,581

In January 2022, the Company entered into a loan agreement and a pledge agreement for one year, pursuant to which the lender agreed
to lend to the Company funds equal to approximately US$6,306, which was 65% of the current fair market value of 4,000 Ethereum,
with a fixed interest rate of 3.25% per annum. In June 2022, the loan has been fully settled by rendering the pledged Ethereum to the
lender. Disposal of cryptocurrencies for the year ended December 31, 2022 included the carrying amount of the pledged Ethereum of
US$9,628 rendered to the lender and the Group recorded a loss on disposal of cryptocurrencies in the amount of approximately
US$3,322.

From June to October 2023, the Company entered into several collar agreements with a third party with one-month term to mitigate the
effect of future price fluctuations on Ethereum or Bitcoin. Pursuant to the arrangements, the Company transferred in total of 3,200
Ethereum and 40 Bitcoins to the counterparty and received USDT and USDC equal to 70% of the initial notional amount of the
Ethereum and Bitcoins at the agreement date. Disposal of cryptocurrency assets for the year ended December 31, 2023 included the net
effect of the carrying amount of the Ethereum and Bitcoins transferred to the counterparty of US$4,650 and the fair value of the USDT
and USDC received of US$5,015. The Group also recorded a gain on disposal of cryptocurrencies related to the transfer of the
Ethereum in the amount of US$2,344.
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7. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS (continued)

**  From January to November 2024, the Group invested in several wealth management products with payments and collections in USDT.

All such products were redeemed at their respective net asset values as of December 31, 2024. The Group recorded a gain from such
short-term investments in the amount of US$156.

The following table summarizes the units, cost basis, and fair value of cryptocurrency assets:

December 31, 2024

Units Cost Basis Fair Value

Ethereum 1,246 3,415 4,181
Dogecoin 7,605,910 2,915 2,383
Bitcoin 19 1,473 1,831
USDT 932,333 932 932
Litecoin 1,770 192 176
Other cryptocurrency assets” 58 78

8,985 9,581

* Includes various other cryptocurrency asset balances, none of which individually represented more than 1% of total cryptocurrency assets
as of December 31, 2024.

8.  PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and other current assets consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
Uss$ Us$
Receivables from third-party payment service providers 539 504
Utility deposits 3,883 915
Other deposits 490 391
Receivables from disposal of mining pool business — 1,000
Receivables from long-term investments — 559
Deferred expense™ 430 670
Loans to the third parties 895 2,358
Derivative assets 1,392 859
Others 347 290
Less: allowance for credit losses (1,678) (1,635)
Prepayments and other current assets 6,298 5,911

*  Deferred expense represents cash paid in advance to vendors, such as consultant expense and compliance expense, which would be

amortized according to their respective service periods.
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9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment consists of the following:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
US$ US$
Machinery and equipment 93,928 94,091
Electronics and office equipment 469 424
Motor vehicles 1,029 1,127
Leasehold improvements 5,549 5,433
Construction in progress — 272
Property and equipment, cost 100,975 101,347
Less: Accumulated depreciation (43,752) (50,308)
Less: Provision for impairment (34,390) (31,143)
Property and equipment, net 22,833 19,896

Depreciation expenses from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were approximately
US$24,047, US$9,852 and US$10,149, respectively. Depreciation expenses from discontinued operations were approximately US$3,
US$6 and nil for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Impairment as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 was mainly due to the impairment of mining machines in Kazakhstan and the USA.
Impairment loss for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were approximately US$35,224, nil and nil, respectively.

Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were approximately nil,
USS$(3) and US$51, respectively.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
Us$ US$
Cost:
Computer software 3,584 3,513
License agreement 22,252 22,252
Internet domain name 150 150
Brand name 12,710 12,711
Strategic contract 10,010 20,461
Unpatented technology 3,633 3,633
52,339 62,720
Accumulated amortization:
Computer software (3,046) (2,989)
License agreement (5,470) (5,470)
Internet domain name (40) (55)
Brand name (3,116) (3,108)
Strategic contract (2,471) (2,640)
Unpatented technology (1,716) (2,927)
(15,859) (17,189)
Impairment*:
Computer software (524) (524)
License agreement (16,782) (16,782)
Brand name (9,602) (9,602)
Strategic Contract (7,539) (7,539)
(34,447) (34,447)
Intangible assets, net 2,033 11,084

* During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recorded impairment of US$7,539 for the strategy contract of Asgard for
continuing operations. There was no impairment for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

Amortization expenses from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were approximately
US$3,268, US$1,252 and US$1,387, respectively. Amortization expenses from discontinued operations were approximately US$5,864,
US$6 and USS$1 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. Annual estimated amortization expense for each
of the five succeeding years is as follows:

US$
2025 3,782
2026 3,074
2027 3,074
2028 1,119
2029 and thereafter 35
Total 11,084

F-38



Table of Contents

BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”"), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

11. OPERATING LEASES

The Group entered into various operating lease agreements for offices space. The remaining lease terms range from 0.33 to 1.94 years.
The Group’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

The following table presents the operating lease related assets and liabilities recorded on the Group’s consolidated balance sheets.

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

2023 2024

US$ US$
Right-of-use assets 4,273 2,627
Operating lease liabilities - current 1,681 1,485
Operating lease liabilities - non-current 2,538 1,063
Total operating lease liabilities 4,219 2,548

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group had operating lease costs from continuing operations of US$1,611 and recorded
short-term lease costs of US$976. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group had operating lease costs from continuing
operations of US$1,614 and recorded short-term lease costs of US$390. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group had
operating lease costs from continuing operations of US$1,779 and recorded short-term lease costs of US$114. Cash paid for amounts
included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities were US$1,725, US$1,570 and US$1,787 for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average remaining lease term was 1.63 years and the
weighted average discount rate was 3.66%.

The following table summarizes the maturity of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024:

US$
2025 1,544
2026 1,088
Total 2,632
Less: imputed interest (84)
Present value of lease liabilities 2,548
12. LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Long-term prepayments and other non-current assets consist of the following:
As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
USs$ Us$
Recoverable value-added input tax 2,907 2,203
Prepayment for mining machines — 21,326
Prepayment for data center materials — 3,974
Others 55 59
Long-term prepayments and other non-current assets 2,962 27,562
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13. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

2023 2024

USS$ US$
Advance from end users* 397 1,218
Deposit from customers** 1,404 485
Business tax and other taxes payable 129 120
Professional fees and services payable 1,843 1,276
Promotional events payables 355 347
Legal contingencies*** 10,000 —
Unfavorable contract - current — 5,407
Others 205 496
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 14,333 9,349

*  Advance from end users represents payments received by the Group in advance from the end users prior to the services to be provided.

**  Deposit from customers represents deposit payments received by the Group from customers in the data center business.

*** [ egal contingencies as of December 31, 2023 represent the accrual based on the Group’s best estimate for monetary penalties that
would be charged by DOJ and SEC for their investigations into the Group. The Group paid the penalties in the total amount of
US$10,000 in the fourth quarter of 2024. See Note 19 for more details.

14. STATUTORY RESERVE AND RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

The Company’s ability to pay dividends is primarily dependent on the Company receiving distributions of funds from its subsidiaries.
Relevant mainland China statutory laws and regulations permit payments of dividends by the Company’s mainland China subsidiaries
only out of its retained earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with mainland China accounting standards and regulations. The
results of operations reflected in the financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP differ from those reflected in the
statutory financial statements of the Company’s mainland China subsidiaries.

In accordance with the China Foreign Investment Laws taken effect on January 1, 2020, the Company’s mainland China subsidiaries, E-
Sun Sky Computer, Yibao Energy and the discontinued operations Guixinyanghang being foreign-invested enterprises established in the
mainland China, are treated in the same manner as the domestic Chinese entities subject to the China Company Laws and other relevant
laws and regulations such as the China Trade Union laws in terms of statutory account or discretionary account.

In accordance with the China Company Laws, the Company’s mainland China domestic companies must make appropriations from
their after-tax profits as reported in their mainland China statutory accounts to non-distributable reserve funds, namely statutory surplus
fund and discretionary surplus fund. The mainland China domestic companies are required to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax
profits to the statutory surplus fund until such fund has reached 50% of their respective registered capital. Appropriation to discretionary
surplus is made at the discretion of each individual company.

The statutory surplus fund is restricted to set-off against losses, expansion of production and operation and increasing registered capital

of the respective company. The reserves are not allowed to be transferred to the Company in terms of cash dividends, loans or advances,
nor are they available for distribution except under liquidation.
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14. STATUTORY RESERVE AND RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (continued)

15.

Under mainland China laws and regulations, there are restrictions on the Company’s mainland China subsidiaries with respect to
transferring certain of their net assets to the Company either in the form dividends, loans, or advances. Amounts restricted include paid-
in capital and statutory reserve funds of the Company’s mainland China subsidiaries, as determined pursuant to mainland China
generally accepted accounting principles, totaling approximately US$44,215 as of December 31, 2024. Therefore, in accordance with
Rules 504 and 4.08(e)(3) of Regulation S-X, the condensed parent company only financial statements as of December 31, 2023 and
2024 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 are disclosed in Note 26.

Furthermore, cash transfers from the Company’s mainland China subsidiaries to its subsidiaries outside of China are subject to mainland
China government control of currency conversion. Shortages in the availability of foreign currency may restrict the ability of the
mainland China subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities to remit sufficient foreign currency to pay dividends or other payments
to the Company, or otherwise satisfy their foreign currency denominated obligations.

INCOME TAXES

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. In addition, upon payments
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax will be imposed.

USA

Summit Bend, Ohio I, Ohio II and Asgard are incorporated in the USA. Under the current laws, profits tax in USA is generally assessed
at the rate 21% of taxable income.

British Virgin Islands

Under the current laws of the British Virgin Islands, subsidiaries incorporated in British Virgin Islands are not subject to tax on income
or capital gains.

Curacao

Multi Pay N.V. is incorporated in the Curacao, Under the current laws, profits tax in Curacao is generally assessed at the rate of 2% of
taxable income.

Malta

Under the current laws, profits tax in Malta is generally assessed at the rate of 35% of taxable income. When dividend is paid or
declared to the holding company, the paying entity is entitled to claim 6/7 of the profit tax paid as refund, which may effectively reduce
income tax rate to 5%.

Ethiopia

Under the current laws, profits tax in Ethiopia is generally assessed at the rate of 30% of taxable income. In accordance with Council of
Ministers Investment Incentive Regulation No. 517/2022, which is a law enacted by the Council of Ministers of Ethiopia, any investor

who invests to establish a new business shall be entitled to income tax exemption for four years. Under such regulation, no income tax
will be imposed on Alpha.
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15. INCOME TAXES (continued)
Hong Kong
500wan HK, Skill Esport, Bee Computing and the discontinued operations Sunstar Technology are incorporated in Hong Kong, under
the current laws, profits tax in Hong Kong is generally assessed at the rate of 8.25% of taxable income up to HKD2,000 and assessed at
the rate of 16.5% of taxable income over HKD2,000.
Mainland China
A new enterprise income tax law (the “EIT Law”) in mainland China was enacted and became effective on January 1, 2008. The EIT
Law applies a uniform 25% enterprise income tax (“EIT”) rate to both foreign invested enterprises and domestic enterprises. The

subsidiaries incorporated in mainland China are subject to the EIT rate of 25% in 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Income (loss) before income taxes from continuing operations consist of:

2022 2023 2024

Us$ Uss$ Us$
Cayman Islands (354) (14,253) (3,263)
USA (54,267) (3,935) (1,729)
Hong Kong (22,352) (5,294) (3,772)
Malta (421) (1,092) (14)
Curacao 31) 27) )
Mainland China (242) (4,755) (2,100)
British Virgin Islands (1,754) 3,972 4,192
Ethiopia — — (317)

(79.421)  (25,384) (7,008)

The current and deferred components of the income tax expense from continuing operations in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive (loss) income are as follows:

2022 2023 2024
USS$ Uss$ UsS$

Current tax benefit — _ _
Deferred tax benefit _ _ _

Income tax benefit — _ _
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15. INCOME TAXES (continued)

Mainland China (continued)

The reconciliation of tax is computed by applying the statutory United States federal income tax rate of 21% to income tax benefit from
continuing operations as the Group’s continuing operations are primarily operated in the United States for 2023 and 2024. The statutory
United States federal income tax rate of 21% was used for 2022 income tax reconciliations to ensure comparability.

2022 2023 2024
US$ USss$ US$
Loss before income taxes (79,421) (25,384) (7,008)
Income tax computed at applicable tax rates (16,678) (5,331) (1,472)
Effect of different tax rates in different jurisdictions 3,649 2,790 813
Non-deductible expenses 5,088 2,099 322
Change in valuation allowance 8,335 671 337
Effect of EIT reversal for previous years — — —
Research and development super-deduction (394) (229) —
The components of deferred taxes are as follows:
2023 2024
Us$ Us$
Deferred tax assets
Bad debt provision 913 891
Impairment loss 10,004 10,266
Net operating losses (“NOLs”) 28,915 28,338

Less: valuation allowance (39,832)  (39,495)
Total deferred tax assets, net _ _

The Group records a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets that is sufficient to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that is
more likely than not to be realized. Future reversal of the valuation allowance will be recognized either when the benefit is realized or
when it has been determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit in future earnings will be realized.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had NOLs of approximately US$23,696 from mainland China subsidiaries, and US$81,194 from
Hong Kong subsidiaries, which can be carried forward to offset future net profit for income tax purposes. The NOLs from mainland
China subsidiaries as of December 31, 2024 will expire in years 2025 to 2029 if not utilized. The Group recorded a full valuation
allowance against the deferred tax assets as we have determined that it was more likely than not that all of our deferred tax assets will
not be realized in the future due to our continuing pre-tax and taxable losses.

The cumulative amount of the temporary differences in respect of investments in foreign subsidiaries were nil as of December 31, 2023
and 2024. Upon repatriation of the foreign subsidiaries, in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to various
mainland China income taxes including withholding income tax. The related unrecognized deferred tax liabilities were nil as of
December 31, 2023 and 2024.

The Group accounted for uncertainties in income taxes in accordance with ASC 740. The management evaluated the Group’s tax
positions and concluded that no provision for uncertainty in income taxes was necessary as of December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.
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16. EMPLOYEE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Full time employees of the Group in mainland China participate in a government mandated defined contribution plan, pursuant to which
certain pension benefits, medical care, employee housing fund and other welfare benefits are provided to employees. Chinese labor
regulations require that the mainland China subsidiaries of the Group make contributions to the government for these benefits based on
certain percentages of the employees’ salaries. The Group has no legal obligation for the benefits beyond the contributions made. Such
employee benefits, which were expensed as incurred, amounted to approximately US$690, US$364 and US$258 for continuing
operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

On March 28, 2021, the shareholders and board of directors of the Company approved the 2021 Share Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The

Plan provides for the grant of options, restricted shares and other share-based awards. These options were granted with exercise prices

denominated in USS$, which is the functional currency of the Company. The board of directors has authorized under the Plan the

issuance of up to 12% of the Company’s issued and outstanding ordinary shares from time to time, on an as-exercised and fully diluted

basis, upon exercise of awards granted under the Plan. The maximum term of any issued share option is ten years from the grant date.

A summary of share options and restricted shares activity and related information for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and

2024 are as follows:

Share options granted to employees and directors

Weighted Weighted
Weighted average average
average grant date remaining Aggregated
Number of exercise fair value per contractual intrinsic
options price share year value
US$ Us$ (Years) US$

Outstanding, January 1, 2022 41,350 0.40 0.97 1.81 9
Granted — — — — —
Expired — — — — —
Exercised — — — — —
Outstanding, December 31, 2022 41,350 0.40 0.97 0.81 —
Granted — — — — —
Expired (41,350) 0.40 0.97 — —
Exercised — — — — —
Outstanding, December 31, 2023 — — — — —
Granted — — — — —
Expired — — — —
Exercised — — — — —

Outstanding, December 31, 2024 — _ _ _ _
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2024 _ _ _ _ _
Exercisable at December 31, 2024 — _ _ _ _
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued)

Restricted shares granted to employees and directors

Weighted
average
grant date Aggregated
Number of fair value intrinsic
options per share value
US$ US$
Outstanding, January 1, 2022 22,029,560 0.42 13,526
Granted — — —
Forfeited — — —
Exercised (22,029,560) 0.42 348
Outstanding, December 31, 2022 — — —
Granted 87,737,000 0.02 1,955
Forfeited — — —
Exercised (47,419,000) 0.02 754
Outstanding, December 31, 2023 40,318,000 0.03 2,032
Granted 38,644,400 0.03 1,070
Forfeited — — —
Exercised (40,318,000) 0.03 1,201
Outstanding, December 31, 2024 38,644,400 0.03 974

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the difference between the fair value of Company’s ordinary share as of
December 31, 2023 and 2024 and the exercise price.

In addition, on March 27, 2024, the Company issued 2,291,280 Class A ordinary shares as compensation to an employee when the
research and development project meet certain target. See Note 21 for more details.

As of December 31, 2024, there was no unrecognized share-based compensation costs related to options granted to employees and
directors that is expected to be recognized.

As of December 31, 2024, there was US$852 unrecognized share-based compensation costs related to restricted shares granted to
employees that is expected to be recognized.
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued)

Restricted shares granted to employees and directors (continued)

Total share-based compensation expenses relating to options and restricted shares granted to employees, consultants and directors for

the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 are included in:

Cost of services
General and administrative expenses
Service development expenses

Cost of services
General and administrative expenses
Service development expenses

General and administrative expenses
Service development expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2022

Employees Directors Total
Us$ Us$ US$
1,372 — 1,372
919 2,046 2,965
137 — 137

2428 2,046 4,474

For the year ended December 31, 2023

Employees Consultants Directors Total

Uss$ Uss Uss$ Uss
231 — — 231
665 56 52 773

26 — — 26
922 56 52 1,030

For the year ended December 31, 2024

Employees Directors Total
Us$ Us$ Us$
1,136 9 1,145

69 — 69
1,205 9 1,214
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued)
Warrant issued for private placement

On June 27, 2022, the Company completed a private placement, in which it issued certain pre-funded warrants to purchase 480,000
ADSs (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change), Series A warrants to purchase 1,600,000 ADSs (given the effect of the ADS Ratio
Change) and Series B warrants to purchase 1,600,000 ADSs (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change). The pre-funded warrants are
exercisable immediately at an exercise price of US$0.10 per ADS (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change) and were exercised in full
in August 2022. Each Series A warrant is exercisable for one ADS at an exercise price of US$11.00 per ADS (given the effect of the
ADS Ratio Change). The Series A warrants are immediately exercisable and will expire on the fifth anniversary of the issuance date.
Each Series B warrant is exercisable for one ADS at an exercise price of US$10.00 per ADS (given the effect of the ADS Ratio
Change). The Series B warrants are immediately exercisable and will expire on the 2%th anniversary of the issuance date. All Series B
warrants were expired as of December 31, 2024.

On August 16, 2022, the Company completed a private placement, in which it issued Series A warrants to purchase 1,556,667 ADSs
(given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change) and Series B warrants to purchase 1,556,667 ADS (given the effect of the ADS Ratio
Change). The Series A Warrants have an exercise price of US$6.60 per ADS (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change), are
immediately exercisable and will expire on the fifth anniversary of the issuance date. The Series B Warrants have an exercise price of
US$6.00 per ADS (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change), are immediately exercisable and will expire on the 2%4th anniversary of
the issuance date. Part of Series B warrants were exercised into 5,000 ADS in January 2024. Also see Note 21.

A summary of warrants and pre-funded warrants activity and related information for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 are as follows:

Weighted
Average
Class A Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate

Ordinary Shares Exercise Price Contractual Life  Intrinsic Value

USs$ (Years) USs$

Outstanding, January 1, 2022 100,000,000 0.68 2.53 —

Granted 679,333,300 0.09 3.31 —

Forfeited — — — —

Exercised (48,000,000) 0.07 — —

Outstanding, December 31, 2022 731,333,300 0.17 3.07 —

Granted — — — —

Forfeited — — — —

Exercised — — — —

Outstanding, December 31, 2023 731,333,300 0.17 2.07 —

Granted — — — —

Forfeited — — — —

Expired (260,000,000) 0.32 — —

Exercised (500,000) 0.06 0.17 —

Outstanding, December 31, 2024 470,833,300 0.08 1.76 —
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, -

2024 470,833,300 0.08 1.76 —

Exercisable at December 31, 2024 470,833,300 0.08 1.76 —
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions

For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2022 2023 2024
USs$ USss$ US$
Data center operation costs for services provided by a minority interest
shareholder of a subsidiary 9,108 — —

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, the amount due from/due to related parties was nil.
19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Guarantees

The Group accounts for guarantees in accordance with ASC 460, “Guarantees”. Accordingly, the Group evaluates its guarantees to
determine whether (a) the guarantee is specifically excluded from the scope of ASC 460, (b) the guarantee is subject to ASC 460
disclosure requirements only, but not subject to the initial recognition and measurement provisions, or (c¢) the guarantee is required to be
recorded in the financial statements at fair value.

The memorandum and articles of association of the Company require that the Company indemnify its officers and directors, as well as
those who act as directors and officers of other entities at the Company’s request, against expenses, judgments, fines, settlements and
other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any proceedings arising out of their services to the Company. The
indemnification obligations are more fully described in the memorandum and articles of association. The Company purchases standard
directors’ and officers’ insurance to cover claims or a portion of the claims made against its directors and officers. Since a maximum
obligation is not explicitly stated in the Company’s memorandum and articles of association and will depend on the facts and
circumstances that arise out of any future claims, the overall maximum amount of the obligations cannot be reasonably estimated.

Historically, the Group has not been required to make payments related to these obligations, and the fair value for these obligations is
zero as of December 31, 2023 and 2024.

Indemnity cost

There was no indemnity cost occurred in the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.
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19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Legal proceedings

From time to time, the Group is subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. The Group records a liability
when it is both probable that a liability will be incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Group reviews the
need for any such liability on a regular basis and has not recorded any material liabilities in this regard during 2022 and 2024.

On December 31, 2019, the Group announced the formation of a special investigation committee, consisting of the independent
members of the board, to internally investigate (i) alleged illegal money transfers made in connection with the potential development of
an integrated casino resort project in Japan and (ii) the previous arrests that were made by the Tokyo District Public Prosecutors Office.
The prosecutions resulted in the conviction of government officials and former intermediaries, including an external consultant of the
Company who also formerly served as a director of our subsidiary in Japan. The Group has been cooperating with the U.S. Department
of Justice (the “DOJ”) and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in connection with their investigations into the
Group. In November 2024, the Group entered into a deferred prosecution agreement (the “DPA”) with the DOJ and consented to a
Cease-And-Desist Order (the “SEC Order”) from the SEC to resolve the previously-disclosed investigations by the DOJ and SEC
related to the potential development of an integrated casino resort project in Japan, in which the Group agreed to a combined penalty
amount of US$10,000. As of December 31, 2023, the Group believes the loss contingency is probable and accrued, to its best estimate,
US$10,000 for the contingent loss. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has paid the combined penalty amounts of US$10,000 to
the DOJ and the SEC.

Operating lease commitments

The information of lease commitments is provided in Note 11.
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20. (LOSSES) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted (losses) earnings per share for each of the years presented is calculated as follows:

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
US$ Uss$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B

Losses per share from continuing operations—basic:
Numerator:
Allocation of net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining

Limited’s ordinary shareholders used in calculating losses per ordinary share—

basic (76,409) — (25,384) — (6.854) —
Denominator:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in calculating basic

losses per share 871,036,400 99 1,102,373,715 99 1,171,663,331 99
Denominator used for losses per share 871,036,400 99 1,102,373,715 99 1,171,663,331 99
Losses per share from continuing operations — basic (0.09) — (0.03) — (0.01) —

Losses per share from continuing operations—diluted:
Numerator:
Allocation of net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining
Limited’s ordinary shareholders used in calculating losses per ordinary share—
diluted (76,409) — (25,384) — (6,854) —
Reallocation of net loss from continuing operations attributable to BIT Mining
Limited’s ordinary shareholders as a result of conversion of Class B to Class A

shares — — — — — —
Net loss from continuing operations attributable to ordinary shareholders (76,409) — (25,384) — (6,854) —
Denominator:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in calculating basic

losses per share 871,036,400 99 1,102,373,715 99 1,171,663,331 99
Conversion of Class B to Class A ordinary shares 99 — 99 — 99 —
Denominator used for losses per share 871,036,499 99 1,102,373,814 99 1,171,663,430 99
Losses per share from continuing operations—diluted (0.09) — (0.03) — (0.01) —
Losses from continuing operations per ADS*:
Denominator used for losses per ADS - basic 8,710,364 — 11,023,737 — 11,716,633 —
Denominator used for losses per ADS - diluted 8,710,365 — 11,023,738 — 11,716,634 —
Losses from continuing operations per ADS — basic (8.77) — (2.30) — (0.58) —
Losses from continuing operations per ADS — diluted (8.77) — (2.30) — (0.58) —
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20. (LOSSES) EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
Uss$ Uss US$ US$ Uss$ Uss$
Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B

(Losses) earnings per share from discontinued operations—basic:
Numerator:
Allocation of net (loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to BIT

Mining Limited’s ordinary shareholders used in calculating (losses) earnings per

ordinary share—basic (79,006) — (3,326) — 18,927 —
Denominator:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in calculating basic

(losses) earnings per share 871,036,400 99 1,102,373,715 99 1,171,663,331 99
Denominator used for (losses) earnings per share 871,036,400 99 1,102,373,715 99 1,171,663,331 99
(Losses) earnings per share from discontinued operations — basic (0.09) — (0.00) — 0.02 —

(Losses) earnings per share from discontinued operations—diluted:
Numerator:
Allocation of net (loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to BIT

Mining Limited’s ordinary shareholders used in calculating (losses) earnings per

ordinary share— diluted (79,006) — (3,326) — 18,927 —
Reallocation of net (losses) earnings from discontinued operations attributable to

BIT Mining Limited’s ordinary shareholders as a result of conversion of Class

B to Class A shares — — — — — —
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to ordinary

shareholders (79,006) — (3,326) — 18,927 —
Denominator:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in calculating basic

(losses) earnings per share 871,036,400 99 1,102,373,715 99 1,171,663,331 99
Conversion of Class B to Class A ordinary shares 99 — 99 — 99 —
Denominator used for (losses) earnings per share 871,036,499 99 1,102,373.814 99 1,171,663,430 99
(Losses) earnings per share from discontinued operations—diluted (0.09) — (0.00) — 0.02 —
(Losses) earnings from discontinued operations per ADS *:
Denominator used for (losses) earnings per ADS - basic 8,710,364 — 11,023,737 — 11,716,633 —
Denominator used for (losses) earnings per ADS - diluted 8,710,365 — 11,023,738 — 11,716,634 —
(Losses) earnings from discontinued operations per ADS — basic (9.07) — (0.30) — 1.61 —
(Losses) earnings from discontinued operations per ADS — diluted (9.07) — (0.30) — 1.61 —

* American Depositary Shares, which are traded on the NYSE. Each ADS represents one hundred Class A ordinary shares of the
Company.

21. EQUITY TRANSACTIONS

The authorized share capital consisted of 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares at a par value of US$0.00005 per share, of which 1,599,935,000
shares were designated as Class A ordinary shares, 65,000 shares as Class A preference shares and 400,000,000 as Class B ordinary
shares. On January 7, 2025, the Company approved to increase its authorized share capital to 8,800,000,000 ordinary shares at a par
value of $0.00005 per share, which shall be divided into 8,399,935,000 Class A ordinary shares, 65,000 Class A preference shares and
400,000,000 Class B ordinary shares. The rights of the holders of Class A and Class B ordinary shares are identical, except with respect
to voting and conversion rights. Each share of Class A ordinary shares is entitled to one vote per share and is not convertible into
Class B ordinary shares under any circumstances. Each share of Class B ordinary shares is entitled to ten votes per share and is
convertible into one Class A ordinary share at any time by the holder thereof. The voting power of each Class A preference share is
equal to that of 10,000 Class A ordinary shares. The Class A preference shares cannot be converted into Class A ordinary shares, Class
B ordinary shares, or ADRs and are not entitled to receive dividends.
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21. EQUITY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

In 2022, 2023 and 2024, 22,029,560, 47,419,000 and 40,318,000 restricted shares were vested and exercised without exercise price,
respectively.

On May 31, 2022, 16,038,930 Class A ordinary shares were issued for the asset acquisition. See Note 5 for detailed discussion.

On June 27, 2022, the Company completed a private placement, in which it has offered (1) 1,120,000 ADSs (given the effect of the
ADS Ratio Change), (2) certain pre-funded warrants to purchase 480,000 ADSs (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change) (the “Pre-
Funded Warrants”) in lieu of the ADSs being offered, and (3) certain warrants including (i) Series A warrants to purchase up to
1,600,000 ADSs (the “Series A Warrants”) (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change) and (ii) Series B warrants to purchase up to
1,600,000 ADSs (the “Series B Warrants™) (the Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants are collectively referred as the “Warrants™)
(given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change), to certain institutional investors. The Warrants are offered together with the ADSs or the
Pre-Funded Warrants. The combined purchase price of each ADS and the accompanying Warrants is US$10.00 (given the effect of the
ADS Ratio Change). The combined purchase price of each Pre-Funded Warrant and the accompanying Warrants is US$9.90. Each Pre-
Funded Warrant is exercisable for one ADS at an exercise price of US$0.10 (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change). The Pre-
Funded Warrants have been exercised in full in August 2022. Each Series A Warrants and Series B warrants is exercisable for one ADS
at an exercise price of US$11.00 (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change) and US$10.00 (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change),
respectively.

On August 19, 2022, the Company completed a private placement, in which it has offered (1) 1,556,667 ADSs (given the effect of the
ADS Ratio Change), (2) certain warrants including (i) Series A warrants to purchase up to 1,556,667 ADSs (the “Series A Warrants™)
(given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change) and (ii) Series B warrants to purchase up to 1,556,667 ADSs (the “Series B Warrants™) (the
Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants are collectively referred as the “Warrants) (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change), to
certain institutional investors. The combined purchase price of each Warrants is US$6.00 (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change).
Each Series A Warrants and Series B warrants is exercisable for one ADS at an exercise price of US$6.60 (given the effect of the ADS
Ratio Change) and US$6.00 (given the effect of the ADS Ratio Change), respectively.

Effective on December 23, 2022, the ratio of the ADS to its ordinary shares changed from 1 ADS representing 10 Class A ordinary
shares to 1 ADS representing 100 Class A ordinary shares (“ADS Ratio Change”). The ADS Ratio Change affected all ADS holders
uniformly and did not reduce any ADS holder’s percentage ownership interest. Proportionate voting rights and other rights and
preferences of the ADS holders were not reduced by the ADS Ratio Change. All ADS and per ADS data have been retrospectively
adjusted to give effect to the ADS Ratio Change.

On January 5, 2024, in connection with the private placement completed in August 2022, part of Series B warrants were exercised into
5,000 ADSs, or 500,000 Class A ordinary shares, at $6 per ADS.

On March 27, 2024, pursuant to the agreement the Company entered into in April 2022 in relation to the acquisition of Bee Computing,
the Group issued 2,291,280 Class A ordinary shares as incentive shares to an employee, who is also a former employee of Bee
Computing, when the Company has successfully completed the development of Litecoin ASIC mining machine that met the specific
target.

On November 6, 2024, the Group entered into an At-The-Market offering agreement and sell from time to time an aggregate offering
price of up to approximately US$9,600 of its ADSs, each representing 100 Class A ordinary shares, par value US$0.00005 per share. As
of December 31, 2024, 720,266 ADSs, or 72,026,600 Class A ordinary shares, were sold and issued at the market price.

On December 9, 2024, the Group issued 369,031,800 Class A ordinary shares in connection with the asset acquisition. See Note 5 for
more details.

As of December 31, 2024, 1,595,399,890 and 99 Class A and Class B ordinary shares were issued and outstanding, respectively.
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22. PURCHASE OF NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

In September 2021, the Company entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement and certain other auxiliary agreements with
Viking Data Centers, LLC (“Viking Data Centers”) to acquire the 51% equity interest in Asgard Data Centers LLC (“Asgard”), which
intended to operate a cryptocurrency mining data center in Ohio (the “Ohio Mining Site”). In October 2021, the Company increased its
equity interest ownership in the Ohio Mining Site to 55%. The Ohio mining site has a total planned power capacity up to 150 megawatts
“MW”).

In June 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Viking Data Centers that the Company agreed to purchase all remaining
equity interest from Viking Data Centers for approximately US$17,785, by transferring certain assets that represent 67.5MW, or 45%, of
total planned power capacity at the Ohio Mining Site. After completion of the transaction, the Company has exclusive access to
82.5MW of planned electrical power and Viking Data Centers has exclusive access to the remaining 67.5MW, in accordance with their
respective equity ownership immediately prior to the transaction.

The following table summarizes the assets transferred:

Amount
UsS$
Construction in progress 5,863
Other non-current assets 4,902
Intangible assets, net 7,020
Total 17,785

Net book value of the non-controlling interest purchased was approximately US$16,689 and the difference between the assets
transferred and net book of the non-controlling interest purchased was recognized in additional paid-in capital.

23. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis in periods subsequent to their initial
recognition is as follows:

Fair value measurement
at December 31, 2023
Quoted prices
in active

Fair markets for Significant other Significant
value at identical observable unobservable
December 31, assets inputs inputs
2023 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
USs USs USs USss$
Description
Assets
Derivative assets” 1,392 — 1,392 —
Total Assets 1,392 — 1,392 —
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23. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis in periods subsequent to their initial
recognition is as follows:

Fair value measurement
at December 31, 2024
Quoted prices

in active
Fair markets for Significant other Significant
value at identical observable unobservable
December 31, assets inputs inputs
2024 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
US$ USS$ USS$ USS$
Description
Assets
Derivative assets* 859 — 859 —
Cryptocurrency assets 9,581 9,581 — —
Total Assets 10,440 9,581 859 —

*  Derivative assets are related to the accumulator and decumulator agreements in which the Company would purchase or payout certain
cryptocurrencies over the terms. The fair value of derivative assets not settled as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 were US$1,392 and
US$859, respectively.

The Group measures certain financial assets, including the investment under the measurement alternative method and equity method at
fair value on a nonrecurring basis only if they were determined to be impaired. The Group’s non-financial assets, such as intangible
assets, cryptocurrency assets prior to the adoption of ASU 2023-08, goodwill and property and equipment, would be measured at fair
value when an impairment charge is recognized.

24. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group continually monitors the reportable segments for changes in facts and circumstances to determine whether changes in the
identification or aggregation of operating segments are necessary. In December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement to sell its
mining pool business, and classified it as discontinued operations in the financial statements for all periods presented. In accordance
with ASC 280, “Segment Reporting”, the Group’s chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Board of Directors and the
chief executive officer, who makes resource allocation decisions and assesses performance based on the different business operating
results. As a result, the Group has two reportable segments, including the data center business and the cryptocurrency mining. The
Group’s other business, mainly consisting of online gaming in Europe, was not material for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024.

The Group does not allocate assets to the reporting segments because its assets are managed on an entity-wide basis and, therefore, does
not separately disclose the total assets of its reportable operating segments.
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24. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The following table presents summary information by segment for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023

and 2024, respectively.

Reportable segment revenues:

Data center

Cryptocurrency mining

Others

Inter-segment!

Total segment and consolidated revenues
Reportable seg t cost of rev clusive depr

Data center

Cryptocurrency mining

Others

Inter-segment!

Total segment and consolidated cost of revenue-exclusive depreciation and amortization
preciation and amortization:

qd

Reportable seg cost of rev
Data center
Cryptocurrency mining
Others

Total segment and consolidated cost of revenue-depreciation and amortization

Total segment and consolidated cost
Reportable segment gross (loss) profit?:
Data center
Cryptocurrency mining
Others
Total segment gross (loss) profit
General and administrative expenses - payroll:
Data center
Cryptocurrency mining
Others
Total general and administrative expenses - payroll
Reconciling items:
Sales and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses - others
Service development expenses
Operating expenses
Other operating income
Government grant
Other operating expenses
Net (loss) gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets
Impairment of cryptocurrency assets
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets
Changes in fair value of contingent considerations
Impairment of property and equipment:
Data center
Cryptocurrency mining
Impairment of property and equipment, total
Impairment of intangible assets:
Data center
Cryptocurrency mining
Impairment of intangible assets, total
Changes in fair value of payables settled by cryptocurrency assets
Operating loss from continuing operations
Other income, net
Interest income
Interest expense
Gain (loss) from equity method investments
Impairment of long-term investments
Gain from disposal of long-term investments
Gain from short-term investments
Gain from disposal of subsidiaries
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Income tax benefits

Net loss from continuing operations

and amortization:

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
US$ US$ US$

17,580 33,482 28,389
46,839 21,562 17,091
199 — —
(7,593) (11,943) (12,558)
57,025 43,101 32,922
(17,515) (21,834) (16,877)
(21,678) (19,216) (14,263)
(3.425) — —
7,593 11,943 12,558
(35,025) (29,107) (18,582)
(4,983) (2,480) (2,642)
(21,185) (8.468) (8,713)
2 . —
(26,170) (10,948) (11,355)
(61,195) (40,055) (29.937)
(12,511) @.775) (3,688)
11,569 5,821 6,673
(3.228) — —
(4,170) 3,046 2,985
(5) (13) (52)
(823) (2,033) (1,951)
(5.268) (3.921) (3.672)
(6,096) (5.967) (5.675)
(336) (153) (54)
(15,850) (12,498) (8,034)
(2.213) (874) (69)
(24,495) (19,492) (13,832)
115 180 214

29 — —
(2,370) (13,642) (613)
(7.835) 7,074 —
(9,396) (2,359) —
— — 3,203
1,247 — —
(35.224) — —
(35,224) — —
(7,539) — —
(7.539) — —
— — 37
(89,638) (25,193) (8,006)
9,031 691 627
150 242 56
@18) — —
164 (295) (20)
(2,250) (1,408) (132)
— 614 —

— — 156
3,340 — —
— (35) 311
(79.421) (25,384) (7,008)




Table of Contents

BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

24.

1

25.

26.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The inter-segment eliminations mainly consist of data center revenue of US$7,593, US$11,943 and US$12,558 generated from data
center services provided by data center segment to cryptocurrency mining segment for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024, respectively, and corresponding data center services cost of US$7,593, USS$11,943 and US$12,558 incurred by cryptocurrency
mining segment for the years ended December 31, 2022 2023 and 2024, respectively, which have been eliminated upon consolidation.

The segment gross (loss) profit are presented after inter-segment eliminations.

The following table presents the revenue from continuing operations by geographical locations for the years ended December 31, 2022,
2023 and 2024, respectively.

For the years ended December 31

Revenues 2022 2023 2024
US$ US$ US$
Hong Kong 47,038 21,562 17,091
USA 17,580 33,482 28,389
Inter-segment (7,593) (11,943) (12,558)
57,025 43,101 32,922

The following table presents the long-lived assets (including property and equipment, net and right-of-use assets) by geographical
locations as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024, respectively.

Long-lived assets As of December 31, 2023 As of December 31, 2024
US$ Us$

USA 25,400 18,158

Hong Kong 693 140

Mainland China 1,013 650

Ethiopia — 3,575
27,106 22,523

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 7, 2025, the Group approved to increase its authorized share capital to 8,800,000,000 ordinary shares at a par value of
$0.00005 per share, which shall be divided into 8,399,935,000 Class A ordinary shares, 65,000 Class A preference shares and
400,000,000 Class B ordinary shares.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY

The Company performed a test on the restricted net assets of the consolidated subsidiaries in accordance with Securities and Exchange
Commission Regulation S-X Rule 4-08 (e) (3), “General Notes to Financial Statements” and concluded that it was applicable for the
Company to disclose the financial information for the parent company only.

The subsidiaries did not pay any dividend to the Company for the periods presented. Certain information and note disclosures generally
included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed and omitted. The note disclosures
contain supplemental information relating to the operations of the Company, as such, these statements should be read in conjunction
with the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have significant capital commitments and other significant commitments, or
guarantees, except for those which have been separately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
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26. CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY (continued)

The following is the condensed financial information of the Company on a parent company only basis.

Condensed balance sheets

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cryptocurrency assets
Other current assets
Amounts due from intergroup companies

Total current assets

Non-current assets:
Investment in subsidiaries
Intangible assets, net

Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accrued payroll and welfare payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity:

Class A ordinary shares, par value US$0.00005 per share; 1,599,935,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and December 31,
2024; 1,111,232,210 and 1,595,399,890 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024, respectively

Class A preference shares, par value US$0.00005 per share; 65,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024;

65,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024
Class B ordinary shares, par value US$0.00005 per share; 400,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and December 31,
2024; 99 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024

Additional paid-in capital

Treasury shares

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit and statutory reserve

Total shareholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
US$ US$
35 30
349 250
29,646 29,077
150,615 140,168
180,645 169,525
(144,824) (112,300)
110 95
(144,714) (112,205)
35,931 57,320
As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2024
Us$ uUs$
79 34
10,720 393
10,799 427
10,799 427
54 78
621,837 640,724
(21,604) (21,604)
(4,276) (4,392)
(570,879) (557,913)
25,132 56,893
35,931 57,320
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26. CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY (continued)

Condensed statements of comprehensive (loss) income

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
Us$ USS$ US$

Revenues 40,274 — —
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue (15,595) (42) (€20]

Sales and marketing expenses (72) (6) —

General and administrative expenses (3,307) (3,134) (1,681)
Total operating costs and expenses (18,974) (3,182) (1,712)
Net (loss) gain on disposal of cryptocurrency assets (9,349) 539 —
Impairment of cryptocurrency assets (7,360) — —
Changes in fair value of cryptocurrency assets — — 100
Operating profit (loss) 4,591 (2,643) (1,612)
Interest income — 231 —
Interest expense (60) — —
Other operating expense — (10,000) —
Equity in (loss) income of subsidiaries (159,946) (16,298) 13,685
(Loss) income before income tax (155,415) (28,710) 12,073
Net (loss) income (155,415) (28,710) 12,073
Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation loss (1,605) (316) (116)
Comprehensive (loss) income (157,020) (29,026) 11,957

Condensed statements of cash flows

For the years ended December 31

2022 2023 2024

Us$ Uss$ Us$
Net cash used in operating activities (12,259) (2,472) (2,062)
Net cash provided by investing activities 9,925 2,370 —
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,345 — 2,057
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11 (102) %)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 126 137 35
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 137 35 30
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BIT MINING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Amounts in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“US$”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and EUR, except for number of
shares and per share (or ADS) data)

26. CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY (continued)
Basis of presentation

Condensed financial information is used for the presentation of the Company, or the parent company. The condensed financial
information of the parent company has been prepared using the same accounting policies as set out in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements except that the parent company used the equity method to account for its investment in its subsidiaries.

The parent company records its investment in its subsidiaries under the equity method of accounting as prescribed in ASC 323,
“Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures”. Such investments are presented on the condensed balance sheets as “Investment in
subsidiaries” and their respective (loss) income as “Equity in (loss) income of subsidiaries” on the condensed statements of
comprehensive (loss) income. Equity method accounting ceases when the carrying amount of the investment, including any additional
financial support, in a subsidiary is reduced to zero unless the parent company has guaranteed obligations of the subsidiary or is
otherwise committed to provide further financial support. If the subsidiary subsequently reports net income, the parent company shall
resume applying the equity method only after its share of that net income equals the share of net losses not recognized during the period
the equity method was suspended.

The parent company’s condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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*%% Certain information in this document has been excluded pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K. Such excluded
information is not material and is the type the registrant treats as private or confidential. Such omitted information is indicated by
brackets (“|REDACTED]”) in this exhibit. ***

Share Transfer Agreement

This Share Transfer Agreement, dated as of December 3, 2024 (this “Agreement”), is by and between:

BIT MINING LIMITED, a Cayman Islands exempted company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “Company”); and

ZHAN Jiannan, PRC ID: [REDACTED] (the “Selling Shareholder 1)

YOU Hongyan, CHN PPT: [REDACTED] (the “Selling Shareholder 2”).

The Company, Selling Shareholder 1, and Selling Shareholder 2 are referred to in this Agreement collectively as the “Parties” and
individually as a “Party”. The Selling Shareholder 1 and Selling Shareholder 2 are referred to in this Agreement collectively as the “Selling
Shareholders”, and individually as a “Selling Shareholder”.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, The Selling Shareholder 1 owns or will own, at the First Closing, 31.72% of the equity interests (the “Target Shares
1”) of Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd with its BVI company number of 2162988 (the “Target Company”), a business company duly
incorporated and validly existing under the Laws of British Virgin Islands; and the Selling Shareholder 2 owns or will own, at the First
Closing, 68.28% of the equity interests (the “Target Shares 2) of the Target Company. The Target Shares 1 and Target Shares 2 are referred
to in this Agreement collectively as the “Target Shares”.

WHEREAS, the Target Company directly owns or will own, at the First Closing, 51% of the equity interests of ALPHA DATA
CENTER PLC with its company number of EIA/PC/2/0001310/2014, a company duly incorporated and validly existing under the Laws of
Ethiopia (“Ethiopia Company”), and corresponding assets, including the 51 MW Data Centers detailed in Schedule I (the “Data Centers”)
and 17,869 units of mining machines detailed in Schedule II (the “Mining Machines™). The Data Centers and Mining Machines are referred
to in this Agreement collectively as the “Target Assets”.

WHEREAS, the Selling Shareholder 1 desires to, sell the Target Shares 1 to the Company and the Company desires to issue and
sell the Company Shares and pay a portion of the cash consideration to the Selling Shareholder 1 in exchange for the Target Shares 1,
pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth herein; and the Selling Shareholder 2 desires to, sell the Target Shares 2 to the Company and
the Company desires to issue and sell the Company Shares to the Selling Shareholder 2 in exchange for the Target Shares 2, pursuant to the
terms and conditions set forth herein.



NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the Parties to this Agreement hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.01. Defined Terms. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Action” means any claim, action, suit, arbitration, inquiry, litigation, proceeding or investigation by or before any Governmental
Authority.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control
with such specified Person. As used herein, the term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”)
means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or to cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person,
whether through the ownership of voting securities, as trustee or executor, by contract or otherwise.

“Agreement” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Bankruptcy and Equity Exception” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 3.02.

“Selling Shareholders” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in the preamble to this Agreement.
“Target Shares” means all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Target Company.

“Selling_Shareholders Fundamental Reps” means the representations and warranties of the Selling Shareholders contained in
Article IV.

“Ethiopia Company” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in the recitals to this Agreement.
“Selling Shareholder Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 7.02.

“Material Adverse Effect” means any effect that, individually or in the aggregate with all other effects, has or would reasonably be
expected to (a) have a material adverse effect on the business, liabilities, assets, financial condition, or results of operations of the affected
party and its relevant subsidiaries or transferred business, taken as a whole; or (b) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the
transactions contemplated in this Agreement or materially impair the ability of the affected party to perform its obligations under this
Agreement. However, with respect to



clause (a), no effect arising out of or resulting from any of the following, either alone or in combination, shall constitute or be taken into
account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred: (i) changes in general business, economic, or political conditions, or
in financial, credit, or securities markets in general; (ii) changes in applicable accounting standards or regulatory requirements after the date
hereof; (iii) changes in applicable laws binding on the affected party; (iv) effects resulting from the consummation of the transactions or the
public announcement of this Agreement, including any customer or employee losses or disruptions, or litigation relating to this Agreement
or the transactions; (v) acts of God, natural disasters, pandemics, declarations of war, terrorism, or hostilities; (vi) actions or omissions by
the affected party required by this Agreement or with the written consent of the other party; (vii) changes affecting the industries or markets
in which the affected party operates; or (viii) the failure to meet any internal or industry projections, expectations, or forecasts (provided the
underlying causes of such failure may be considered if otherwise meeting the criteria of a Material Adverse Effect). Notwithstanding the
foregoing, effects under clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (v), and (vii) may still be taken into account if, and to the extent, they have a materially
disproportionate impact on the affected party compared to other participants in the relevant industry.

“Target Company” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in the recitals to this Agreement.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which commercial banks are required or authorized
by Law to be closed in the city of Beijing, Hong Kong, Ethiopia, the Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands, or New York.

“Closings” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 2.02(a).

“Company” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in the preamble to this Agreement.

3

‘Company ADSs” means the American depositary shares of the Company, each representing ten (10) Class A Ordinary Shares.
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Company Class A Ordinary Shares” means the Class A ordinary shares of the Company, par value of US$0.00005 per share.

«

Company Class B Ordinary Shares” means the Class B ordinary shares of the Company, par value of US$0.0005 per share.

“Company Shares” means the Class A ordinary shares of the Company, par value of US$0.00005 per share.

Company Fundamental Reps” means the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article III.

“Company Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 7.03.



“Company Ordinary Shares” means Company Class A Ordinary Shares and Company Class B Ordinary Shares.

“Company SEC Reports” means all registration statements, proxy statements, reports, forms and other documents required to be
filed with or furnished to SEC by the Company and all exhibits included therein.

“Currently Owned Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Properties owned by, or under obligation of assignment to, any
Target Company and Subsidiaries, as of the date hereof.

“Exchange Act” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“First Closing” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 2.02(a).

“First Closing Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 2.02(a).

“GAAP” means the generally accepted accounting principles as applied in the United States.

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, national, foreign, supranational, state, provincial, local or other governmental,
regulatory or administrative authority, agency or commission or any court, tribunal, or judicial or arbitral body.

“Governmental Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination or award of any
Governmental Authority.

“Group Companies” means the Company and its Subsidiaries.
“HKIAC” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 9.08(b).
“HKIAC Rules” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 9.08(b).

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, (a) any liabilities for borrowed money or amounts owed or
indebtedness issued in substitution for or exchange of indebtedness for borrowed money, (b) obligations evidenced by notes, bonds,
debentures or other similar instruments, (c) obligations for amounts drawn under bankers’ acceptances, letters of credit or other financial
guaranties, (d) all obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services, (e) all obligations as lessee under leases that are
required to be recorded as capital leases in accordance with applicable accounting standards, (f) all payment obligations under any swap or
hedge agreements, (g) any accrued and unpaid interest on, and any prepayment premiums, penalties or other contractual charges in respect
of, any of the items described in the foregoing clauses (a) through (f), and (h) all guaranties and other contingent obligations in respect of the
liabilities or obligations of any other Person for any of the items described in the foregoing clauses (a) through (g).



“Indemnified Party” means a Company Indemnified Party or each Selling Shareholder Indemnified Party, as the case may be.
“Injunction” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 6.01(b).

“Intellectual Property” means (a) inventions and discoveries, whether patentable or not, in any jurisdiction, including United States,
non-United States and international patents, patent applications (including divisions, continuations, continuations in part and renewal
applications) and statutory invention registrations, and any renewals, extensions or reissues thereof, in any jurisdiction (b) trademarks,
service marks, brand names, certification marks, trade dress, domain names, logos, trade names, corporate names and other source
identifiers, the goodwill associated with the foregoing and registrations and applications for registration thereof including any extension,
modification or renewal of any such registration or application, (c) copyrightable works, copyrights, and registrations and applications for
registration thereof, (d) confidential and proprietary information, including trade secrets and know-how, (e) rights of privacy, publicity and
endorsement, and (f) any similar intellectual property or proprietary rights.

“Knowledge” means, (a) with respect to the Company, the actual knowledge of the directors and executive officers of the
Company; and (b) with respect to the Selling Shareholder, means the actual knowledge of the Selling Shareholder or the directors and
executive officers of the Selling Shareholder.

“Law” means any federal, national, foreign, supranational, state, provincial, local or similar statute, law, treaty, ordinance,
regulation, rule, code, order, requirement or rule of law (including common law) or any Governmental Order.

“Lien” means any security interest, pledge, hypothecation, mortgage, lien, license, claim, charge, title retention, right to acquire,
option, levy, proxy, right of first refusal, and any other encumbrance or condition of any kind, including any restriction on the use, voting,
transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of ownership.

“Losses” means losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies, Actions, judgments, interests, awards, penalties, fines, costs and expenses
of whatever kind, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and the cost of enforcing any right to indemnification hereunder; provided, that
“Losses” shall not include punitive damages, except in the case of fraud or to the extent actually awarded to any Person by any
Governmental Authority.

“Organizational Documents” means, with respect to an entity, its certificate of incorporation, articles of incorporation, by-laws,
articles of association, memorandum of association, certificate of trust, trust agreement, partnership agreement, limited partnership

agreement, certificate of formation, limited liability company agreement or operating agreement, as applicable.

“Owned Intellectual Property” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 4.11(a).




“Party” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Permit” means any permit, license, franchise, approval, registration, filing, qualification, variance, certificate, certification,
consent of any Governmental Authority.

“Permitted Liens” means (a) statutory Liens for Taxes and other governmental charges and assessments not yet due or payable, (b)
Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and other like Liens arising in the ordinary course of business, (c) easements,
rights of way, encroachments, zoning ordinances and other similar encumbrances affecting real property, (d) statutory Liens in favor of
lessors arising in connection with any leased property, and (e) Liens arising under securities or blue sky Laws.

“Per Share Price” means US$ 2.90, and shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 2.06 .

“Person” means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, limited liability company, association, trust, unincorporated
organization, Governmental Authority or other entity.

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of China, but solely for the purposes of this Agreement, excluding the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan.

“Representatives” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and such Person and its Affiliates’ respective
directors, officers, employees, members, partners, accountants, consultants, advisors, attorneys, agents and other representatives.

“Sanctioned Person” means an individual, entity or vessel (i) that appears on any list (the “List”) of sanctioned parties issued by the
United Nations Security Council or by the United States (including such lists issued by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign
Assets Control and by the U.S. State Department), (ii) that is organized, resident, or based in North Korea, Iran, Syria, Cuba, Crimea, or
Venezuela, or (iii) that is owned or controlled by an individual or entity covered by (i) or (ii).

“Sanctions Laws and Regulations” means (i) all laws, regulations and executive orders administered by the U.S. Treasury
Department Office of Foreign Assets Control, including without limitation, the Trading With the Enemy Act, the International Emergency
Economic Powers Act, the Comprehensive Iran Sanctions, Accountability, and Divestment Act of 2010, the Iran Sanctions Act, the United
Nations Participation Act, and the Syria Accountability and Lebanese Sovereignty Act, all as amended, regulations found at Title 31,
Subtitle B, Chapter 5 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) and any enabling legislation or executive order relating to any of the
above, as collectively interpreted and applied by the U.S. Government at the prevailing point in time; (ii) any U.S. sanctions related to or
administered by the U.S. Department of State; or (iii) any sanctions Laws, regulations, directives, measures or embargos imposed or
administered by the United Nations Security Council, Her Majesty’s Treasury, the European Union (including under Council



Regulation (EC) No. 194/2008), or any other jurisdiction that has issued a restrictive trade law applicable to the Transferred Business.
“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Subsequent Closings” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 2.02(b).

“Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Subsidiary” of any Person means any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other legal entity: (a) of which voting power to
elect a majority of the board of directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such organization is held directly or indirectly
by such Person or by any one or more of such Person’s Subsidiaries, (b) of which at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting interests is
controlled by such Person by any one or more of such Person’s Subsidiaries, (c) of which such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person is a
general partner, or (d) whose assets and financial results are consolidated with such Person and are recorded on the books of such Person for
financial reporting purposes in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

“Tax” means (a) any federal, national, provincial, municipal, local or taxes, duties, imposts, levies, or other like assessments in the
nature of a tax, in each case, imposed by any Governmental Authority, including all net income (including enterprise income tax and
individual income withholding tax), turnover (including value-added tax, business tax, and consumption tax), resource (including urban and
township land use tax), special purpose (including land value-added tax, urban maintenance and construction tax, and additional education
fees), property (including urban real estate tax and land use fees), documentation (including stamp duty and deed tax), filing, recording,
tariffs (including import duty and import value-added tax), and other taxes, and (b) all interest, penalties (administrative, civil or criminal),
or additional amounts imposed by any Governmental Authority in connection with any item described in clause (a) above.

“Tax Return” means any report, return, document, declaration or other information or filing required to be supplied to any taxing
authority with respect to Taxes, including information returns or any documents with respect to or accompanying payments of estimated
Taxes.

“Termination Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to this term in Section 8.01(c).

“Transactions” means all transactions contemplated in this Agreement.

“Transferred Business” means the entire business of the Target Company to be transferred to Company on or prior to the First
Closing, including but not limited to the Target Assets and other assets.

“Business License” means the valid business license or equivalent authorization issued by the relevant Ethiopian authorities,
required for the Ethiopian Company to legally conduct its business operations in Ethiopia, in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.



“Selling_Shareholder 2” owns or will own, at the First Closing, 68.28% of the equity interests in the Target Company. This
ownership represents both his personal equity interest and the equity interests owned on behalf of four other individuals (the “Designated
Individuals™), detailed in Schedule II1. At the Closing, the Company shall issue and sell the applicable portion of the Company Shares, as set
forth in this Agreement, directly to the Selling Shareholder 2 and Designated Individuals as instructed by Selling Shareholder 2.

Section 1.02. Interpretation and Rules of Construction. Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this
Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The definitions contained in this Agreement are
applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such
term. When reference is made to an Article, Section, Schedule or Exhibit, such reference is to an Article or Section of, or Schedule or
Exhibit to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. References to clauses without a cross-reference to a Section or subsection are
references to clauses within the same Section or, if more specific, subsection. References from or through any date shall mean, unless
otherwise specified, from and including or through and including, respectively. The table of contents and descriptive headings contained in
this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or
delivered pursuant hereto, unless otherwise defined therein. The words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import,
when used in this Agreement, refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. Any references in
this Agreement to “US$” shall be to U.S. dollars. References to days mean calendar days unless otherwise specified. When used herein, the
word “extent” and the phrase “to the extent” shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such word or phrase shall
not simply mean “if.” The term “or” is not exclusive. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word
“shall.” Any agreement, instrument or statute defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means
such agreement, instrument or statute as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or
instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of statutes) by succession of comparable successor statutes. References in this Agreement
to specific laws or to specific provisions of laws shall include all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Each of the Parties has
participated in the drafting and negotiation of this Agreement. If an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement
must be construed as if it is drafted by all the parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by
virtue of authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11
TARGET SHARES AND CONSIDERATION

Section 2.01. Target Shares and Consideration. The Company will acquire 100% of the equity interests of the Target Company
from the Selling Shareholders for a total consideration of USD 14.28 million. The consideration shall be paid as follows:




(a) Target Shares 1. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the applicable Closings, the Selling Shareholder 1
agrees to transfer to the Company the Target Shares 1. As consideration for the acquisition of Target Share 1, the Company agrees to (i) pay
Selling Shareholder 1 a cash consideration of USD 2.265 million, and (ii) issue and sell to the Selling Shareholder 1 the Company Shares
worth USD 2.265 million. All shares transferred and issued to Selling Shareholder 1 under this Agreement will be free and clear of all liens
(other than Permitted Liens) and will carry all rights attached to such shares as of the applicable Closing date.

(b) Target Shares 2. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the applicable Closings, Selling Shareholder 2
agrees to transfer to the Company the Target Shares 2. As consideration for the acquisition of Target Share 2, the Company agrees to issue
and sell to the Selling Shareholder 2 the Company Shares worth USD 9.75 million. All shares transferred and issued to Selling Shareholder
2 under this Agreement will be free and clear of all liens (other than Permitted Liens) and will carry all rights attached to such shares as of
the applicable Closing date.

Section 2.02. Closings.

(a) First Closing. The First Closing shall take place remotely via the electronic exchange of the closing documents and signatures
by facsimile or email (in PDF format) within five (5) Business Days after all conditions to the First Closing, as set forth in Section 6.01 and
Section 6.02, have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions which by their nature are to be satisfied at the First Closing), or such
other date, time or place as the Company and the Selling Shareholders may mutually agree upon in writing (the date on which the First
Closing occurs, the “First Closing Date”). At the First Closing:

(i) The Selling Shareholder 1 shall transfer the Target Shares 1 to the Company, and deliver to the Company the
completed Data Centers assets (including assets purchased for the construction of data centers that are on shipping). as of the date
of this Agreement. In exchange, the Company shall pay the Selling Shareholder 1 a cash consideration of USD 2.265 million via
wire transfer, and the Company shall issue and sell to the Selling Shareholder 1 the Company Shares worth USD 1.359 million. The
number of Company Shares issued shall be 46,862,100 Class A ordinary shares;

(i) Selling Shareholder 2 shall transfer Target Shares 2 to the Company, and deliver to the Company 17,869 units of
Mining Machines (including the Mining Machines that are on shipping) that the hast rate should be more than 90T. In exchange, the
Company shall issue and sell to the Selling Shareholder 2 and Designated Individuals the Company Shares worth USD 9.75
million. The number of Company Shares issued shall be 336,206,900 Class A ordinary shares.

(b) Subsequent Closings. Subsequent Closings shall occur after the First Closing. The Subsequent Closings are as follows:

For the Selling Shareholder 1:
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Energization and Completion Acceptance. Upon the full energization and completion acceptance by the Company of the
51 MW Data Centers, the Company shall issue the Company Shares worth USD 906,000 to the Selling Shareholder 1. The number
of Company Shares issued shall be 31,241,400 Class A ordinary shares.

Section 2.03. Closing Deliveries by the Company at the First Closing. At the First Closing, the Company shall deliver or cause to
be delivered to the Selling Shareholders:

(a) a cash payment of USD 2.265 million to Selling Sharecholder 1 in accordance with Section 2.02(a), and a duly issued share
certificate in the name of the Selling Shareholder 1, representing the Company Shares issued to the Selling Shareholder 1 in accordance with
Section 2.02(a);

(b) a duly issued share certificate in the name of the Selling Shareholder 2, representing the Company Shares issued to the Selling
Shareholder 2 in accordance with Section 2.02(a);

(c) a certified true copy of the updated Register of Members of the Company as of the First Closing Date reflecting the Selling
Shareholders’ ownership of the issued Company Shares, duly certified by the registered office provider or agent of the Company;

(d) a certified true copy of the resolutions duly and validly adopted by the board of directors of the Company evidencing its
authorization and approval of the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the issuance of the Company Shares, and the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and

(e) all other documents and instruments necessary to consummate the First Closing, as reasonably requested by the Selling
Shareholders.

Section 2.04. Closing_Deliveries by the Selling_Shareholders at the First Closing. At the First Closing, each Selling Shareholder
shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company:

(a) a duly executed share transfer instrument in the form acceptable to the Company, transferring the Target Shares 1 from the
Selling Shareholder 1 and Target Shares 2 from the Selling Shareholder 2 to the Company;

(b) a certified true copy of the Register of Members of the Target Company as of the First Closing Date reflecting the Company’s
ownership of Target Target Shares, duly certified by the registered office provider or agent of the Target Company;

(c) a certified true copy of the resolutions duly and validly adopted by the boards of directors of Selling Shareholder 1, Selling
Shareholder 2, and the Target Company evidencing their authorization and approval of the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the

consummation of the transactions contemplated herein;

(d) all other documents and instruments necessary to consummate the First Closing, as reasonably requested by the Company.
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Section 2.05. Closing Deliveries at the Subsequent Closings.

(a) By_the Company. At each Subsequent Closing, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the applicable
Selling Shareholder:

(1) a duly issued share certificate in the name of the Selling Shareholders representing the Company Shares issued in
accordance with Section 2.02(b); and

(i1) a certified true copy of the updated Register of Members of the Company as of the applicable Subsequent Closings
date reflecting the Selling Shareholder’s ownership of the issued Company Shares, duly certified by the registered office provider
or agent of the Company.

(b) By the Selling Sharcholder 1. At the Subsequent Closing, the Selling Shareholder 1 shall deliver or cause to be delivered
to the Company:

(i) any and all documents evidencing the energization and completion of Data Centers as agreed in Section 2.02(b); and

(i) any documents or evidence reasonably requested by the Company to verify completion and transfer of such Data
Centers.

Section 2.06. Per Share Price Determination and Issuance of Shares.

(a) The price per share of the Company Shares to be issued as consideration under this Agreement shall be determined based
on the average of three prices: (i) the average closing price of the Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange
over the ten (10) trading days immediately preceding the date of this Agreement; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s Class A
Ordinary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange over the five (5) trading days immediately preceding the date of this Agreement; and (iii)
the closing price of the Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of this Agreement. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Per Share Price shall be calculated by summing these three prices and dividing the total by three (the “Per Share
Price”).

(b) The number of Company Shares to be issued to the Selling Shareholders at each Closing shall be calculated by dividing
the total value of consideration to be delivered at such Closing by the Per Share Price (the calculation applies to all instances of share

issuance).

(c) Any fractional shares resulting from the calculation in subsection (b) shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share,
and the value of any fractional shares shall be paid in cash to the Selling Shareholders.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
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Except as set forth in the Company SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement (without giving effect to any amendment
to any such Company SEC Report filed on or after the date hereof and excluding any risk factor disclosures contained under the heading
“Risk Factors,” any disclosure of risks included in any “forward-looking statements” disclaimer or any other statements that are nonspecific,
similarly cautionary, predictive or forward-looking in nature; it being further agreed that (i) any information disclosed in any such Company
SEC Report shall be deemed disclosure only with respect to a Section of this Agreement to which the relevance of such information is
reasonably apparent to from the text of such information contained in such Company SEC Report and (ii) no information disclosed in any
such Company SEC Report shall be deemed to qualify or modify the Company Fundamental Reps), the Company hereby represents and
warrants to the Selling Shareholders, as of the date hereof and as of the First Closing Date, except if a representation or warranty is made as
of a specified date, as of such date, each of the representations and warranties contained in this Article III.

Section 3.01. Organization and Qualification. Each Group Company is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing (to the extent the relevant jurisdiction recognizes such concept of good standing) under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its
organization. Each Group Company has the requisite power and authority (corporate or otherwise) to own, lease or operate its properties and
assets and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted. Each Group Company is duly qualified to do business and is in good
standing (to the extent the relevant jurisdiction recognizes such concept of good standing) in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the
business conducted by it or the character the properties and assets owned, leased or operated by it makes such qualification necessary, except
where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be excepted to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.02. Corporate Authorization. The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreemen by the
Company have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company. This Agreement has been, duly executed
and delivered by the Company, and when executed and delivered by the Company, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by
the Selling Shareholders which is a counterparty to such agreement, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company,
enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity,
whether applied in a court of Law or a court of equity, and by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar Law affecting creditors’ rights

Section 3.03. Valid Issuance of the Company Shares. The Company Shares, when issued in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and sold against receipt of consideration therefor, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, free and
clear of any and all Liens (other than Permitted Liens).

Section 3.04. Capitalization.
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(a) The authorized share capital of the Company consists of 2,000,000,000 Company Ordinary Shares, of which 1,600,000,000
Company Ordinary Shares are designated as Company Class A Ordinary Shares and 400,000,000 are designated as Company Class B
Ordinary Shares. As of June 30, 2024, there were 1,154,406,490 Company Class A Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding and 99
Company Class B Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding. All of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company have been duly
authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable.

(b) Except for the Company Shares and except as set forth in Section 3.04(a) and Section 3.04(b) and Company Ordinary Shares
reserved for issuance under the duly approved share incentive plans of the Company, there are (i) no issued, reserved for issuance or
outstanding shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other ownership interests in the Company, (ii) no outstanding securities of the
Company convertible or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other ownership interests in the Company and
(iii) no rights, options, warrants, calls or other similar rights, agreements or commitments that obligate the Company to (A) issue, transfer or
sell any shares of capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for such
shares of capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests, (B) give any person a right to subscribe for or acquire any shares of
capital stock or voting securities of, or other ownership interests in the Company or (C) redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of capital
stock or voting securities of, or other ownership interests in the Company.

(c) The Company Shares being issued to the Selling Shareholders hereunder, will not be issued in violation of any purchase
option, call option, preemptive right, resale right, subscription right, right of first refusal or similar right or any other Contracts, except
restrictions imposed by the Securities Act and any applicable state securities Laws.

Section 3.05. Non-contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement do not and will not
materially (a) violate any provision of the Organizational Documents of the Company, (b) violate any Law or Governmental Order
applicable to any Group Company or (c) conflict with, result in any breach of, constitute a default (or an event which with the giving of
notice or lapse of time, or both, would become a default) under, require any consent under, or give to others any rights of termination,
amendment, acceleration, suspension, revocation or cancellation of, any Contract to which any Group Company is a party or result in the
creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of any Group Company, other than, in the case of clauses (b) and (c) above, any
such conflict, violation, default, termination, amendment, acceleration, suspension, revocation or cancellation that would not, individually or
in the aggregate, reasonably be excepted to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.06. Governmental Consents and Approvals The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement
and the do not and will not require any consent, approval, authorization or other order of, action by, filing with, or notification to, any
Governmental Authority, other than any approvals or filings required in connection with or in compliance with any obligations under the
Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the applicable listing rules and regulations of the stock exchange where the Company is listed, except,
in each
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case, where failure to obtain such consent, approval, authorization or action, or to make such filing or notification would not, individually or
in the aggregate, reasonably be excepted to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.07. No Actions. There are no Actions against any of the Group Companies pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened before any Governmental Authority which would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.

Section 3.08. SEC Reports; Financial Statements.

(a) Save as the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, the Company has timely
(including following any extensions of time for filing provided by Rule 12b-25 promulgated under the Exchange Act) filed or furnished, as
applicable, all Company SEC Reports. Each of the Company SEC Reports, as of its filing date and except to the extent corrected by a
subsequent Company SEC Report, has complied or, if filed or furnished after the date hereof and before the First Closing Date, will comply,
as to form in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, each as in effect on the dates
such Company SEC Report was filed or amended, as the case may be. No Subsidiary of the Company is subject to the reporting
requirements of Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act. The Company SEC Reports did not contain, when filed or furnished (or, if
amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date hereof, on the date of such filing), any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to
state a material fact required to be stated or incorporated by reference therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No executive officer of the Company has failed in any respect to make the
certifications required of him or her under section 302 or section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in each case with respect to the
Company SEC Reports.

(b) The financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Reports (including, in each case, any
notes thereto, collectively, the “Company Financial Information”) fairly present (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto), or in the
case of Company SEC Reports filed or furnished after the date of this Agreement, will fairly present, to the extent practicable, in all material
respects, the financial position and the results of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated
Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods indicated therein (subject, in the case of the unaudited interim
financial statements, to the absence of notes and normal year-end adjustments that are not material in the aggregate). Such Company
Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis, except as specifically indicated in the notes
thereto.

(c) The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the applicable listing and corporate governance rules and
regulations of New York Stock Exchange. As of the date hereof, the Company has not received notice from New York Stock Exchange to
the effect that the Company is not in compliance with the listing or maintenance requirements of New York Stock Exchange. The Company
is not aware of any violation of the listing or maintenance requirements of New York

15



Stock Exchange and is not delisted by New York Stock Exchange or does not reasonably anticipate that the Company will be delisted by
New York Stock Exchange in the foreseeable future, nor are the Company’s securities “chilled” by the Depositary Trust Company. The
Company and its Subsidiaries are unaware of any facts or circumstances which would reasonably be expected to give rise to any of the
foregoing.

(d) The Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange
Act) as required under Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 of the Exchange Act. Such disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that
material information relating to the Company, including its Subsidiaries, required to be included in reports filed or furnished under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to Company’s management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer
of the Company, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Neither the Company nor, to Company’s Knowledge, the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has identified or been made aware of “significant deficiencies” or “material
weaknesses” (as defined by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board) in the design or operation of Company’s internal controls and
procedures which could reasonably adversely affect Company’s ability to record, process, summarize or report financial data, in each case
which has not been subsequently remediated. The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm and the audit committee of the
board of directors of the Company have not been advised of any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Section 3.09. Compliance with Laws; Permits.

(a) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, each Group
Company has been in compliance with all Laws and Governmental Orders applicable to them. As of the First Closing, the Group Companies
hold all Permits necessary for the lawful conduct of their respective businesses as currently conducted and are in compliance with the terms
of all such Permits, in each case except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be excepted to have a Material Adverse
Effect.

(b) None of the Group Companies or to the Knowledge of the Company, any of their respective directors, executives , or agents
acting under and with the express authorization of such Group Company, has (i) used any corporate funds for any illegal contributions, gifts,
entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to political activity, (ii) used any corporate funds for any direct or indirect unlawful
payments to any foreign or domestic government officials or employees, (iii) violated or is violating any provision of the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the PRC Law on Anti-Unfair Competition promulgated on September 2, 1993, or the Interim Rules on
Prevention of Commercial Bribery promulgated on November 15, 1996, or any PRC Law in relation thereto, (iv) established or maintained
any fund of corporate monies or other properties not recorded on the books and records of any Group Company, (v) to the Knowledge of the
Company, made any bribe, unlawful rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other unlawful payment of any nature, or (vi) violated or
operated in noncompliance with any applicable money laundering law, anti-terrorism law or regulation, anti-boycott regulations, export
restrictions or embargo regulations.
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None of the Group Companies or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of their respective directors, executives or agents acting under and
with the express authorization of such Group Company, is currently the target of any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign
Assets Control of the U.S. Treasury Department.

Section 3.10. Taxes. All material Tax Returns of the Group Companies have been timely filed in accordance with applicable Laws
and all such Tax Returns are true, correct, and complete in all material respects. All material Taxes (whether or not shown on a Tax Return)
of the Group Companies have been timely paid. Each of the Group Companies has timely paid or withheld all material Taxes required to be
paid or withheld with respect to its employees, independent contractors, creditors and other third parties and timely paid over such Taxes to
the appropriate Governmental Authority. None of the Group Companies has executed any outstanding waiver of any statute of limitations or
outstanding extension of the period, for the assessment or collection of any material Tax. To the Knowledge of the Company, no audit or
Action of, or with respect to, any material Tax Return or material Taxes of any the Group Company is currently in progress or threatened.
No deficiency for any material amount of Tax has been asserted or assessed by a Governmental Authority against the Group Companies that
has not been satisfied by payment, settled or withdrawn. All preferential tax treatments granted to the Group Companies have been properly
approved by or filed with the competent Governmental Authorities in accordance with applicable Laws. No written claim has been made by
a Governmental Authority in any jurisdiction where any Group Company has not filed material Tax Return that such Person is or may be
subject to material Tax or any filing requirement related to material Tax in that jurisdiction. None of Group Companies is a party to or bound
by, or has any obligation under, any Tax allocation agreement, Tax indemnity agreement, Tax sharing agreement or similar contract or
arrangement to indemnify any other Person with respect to Taxes that will be in effect after the First Closing. The charges, accruals and
reserves for Taxes with respect to the Group Companies reflected on the books and records of Group Companies are adequate to cover
material Tax liabilities accruing through the end of the last period for which Group Companies ordinarily record items on their respective
books. Since the end of the last period for which Group Companies ordinarily record items on their respective books, none of the Group
Companies has engaged in any transaction, or taken any action that would materially impact any Tax asset or Tax liability of Group
Companies.

Section 3.11. Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since November 1, 2024, (a) the Group Companies have conducted all their
respective businesses, in each case in all material respects in the ordinary course of business, and (b) there has not been any Effect that
would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be excepted to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.12. Purchase for Own Account; Economic Risk. The Company is acquiring the Target Shares for investment for its own
account and not with a view to the distribution thereof in violation of the Securities Act. The Company acknowledges that it (a) can bear the
economic risk of its investment in the Target Shares, and (b) has such knowledge and experience in financial or business matters that it is
capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment in the Target Shares.
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Section 3.13. Private Placement; Non-U.S. Person or Accredited Investor The Company understands that (a) the Target Shares have
not been registered under the Securities Act or any state securities Laws and (b) the Target Shares may not be sold unless such disposition is
registered under the Securities Act and applicable state securities Laws or is exempt from registration thereunder. The Company represents
that it is either (i) an institutional “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act, or (ii) is
not a U.S. Person and it is located outside the United States, as such terms are defined in Rule 902 of Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Section 3.14. Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries.

Section 3.15.No Additional Representations. The Company acknowledges that the Selling Shareholders makes no express or
implied representations or warranties as to any matter whatsoever except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the or any written
certificate delivered by the Selling Shareholders to the Company in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof, and that any such other
representations and warranties are expressly disclaimed and that the Company does not rely on any such other representations and warranties
or the accuracy or completeness thereof.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EACH SELLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each Selling Shareholder hereby represents and warrants to the Company, as of the date hereof and as of the First Closing Date,
except if a representation or warranty is made as of a specified date, as of such date, each of the representations and warranties contained in
this Article IV, and each Selling Shareholder hereby jointly and severally represent and warrant to Company, as of the date hereof and as of
the First Closing Date, except if a representation or warranty is made as of a specified date, as of such date, each of the representations and
warranties contained in this Article IV. For the avoidance of any doubt, no Selling Shareholder shall be liable for the representations and
warranties of any other Selling Shareholders under this Agreement.

Section 4.01. Corporate Status.

(a) Such Selling Shareholder (to the extent it is a legal entity) is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the
laws of its jurisdiction of organization. It has the requisite corporate or other power and authority to own, lease, and operate its properties
and to carry on its business as presently conducted. The Selling Shareholder is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each
jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except where the failure to qualify would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a
Material Adverse Effect on its ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
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(b) Such Selling Shareholder (to the extent he or she is a natural person) is not a minor and has full legal capacity to enter into and
perform this Agreement. No proceeding has been initiated that restricts the Selling Shareholder’s legal capacity, nor is the Selling
Shareholder bankrupt or otherwise unable to pay debts as they fall due.

(c) Ethiopia Company is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (to the extent the relevant jurisdiction
recognizes such concept of good standing) under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization. Ethiopia Company has the requisite power
and authority (corporate or otherwise) to own, lease or operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as it is now being
conducted. Ethiopia Company is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing (to the extent the relevant jurisdiction recognizes such
concept of good standing) in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the character the properties and assets
owned, leased or operated by it makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would
not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.02. Authorization. The Selling Shareholder has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement
and perform its obligations hereunder. If the Selling Shareholder is a legal entity, the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate actions. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Selling
Shareholder and, assuming due authorization, execution, and delivery by the other Parties, constitutes a legal, valid, and binding obligation
of the Selling Shareholder, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, and other similar laws
affecting creditors’ rights.

Section 4.03. Governmental Consents and Approvals. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement by the Selling
Shareholder do not and will not require any consent, approval, or authorization of, or any declaration, filing, or registration with, any
governmental authority, except for those that have been obtained or made, or where failure to do so would not materially and adversely
affect the ability of the Selling Shareholder to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.04. No Contravention. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement by the Selling Shareholder do not and
will not: (a) violate any provision of the Selling Shareholder’s organizational documents (if applicable); (b) violate any applicable law or
regulation; or (c) conflict with, or result in a breach of, any material agreement to which the Selling Shareholder is a party, except where
such violation or conflict would not, individually or in the aggregate, materially affect the Selling Sharcholder’s ability to perform its
obligations under this Agreement.

Section 4.05. Title and Ownership of Target Shares. The Selling Shareholder is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the Target
Shares to be transferred at the First Closing, free and clear of any liens, charges, or encumbrances (other than Permitted Liens). Upon the
transfer of the Target Shares in accordance with this Agreement, the Company will receive good and valid title to such shares, free and clear
of any liens (other than Permitted Liens).
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Section 4.06. Capitalization of the Target Company.

(a) Capitalization and Ownership. Section 4.06(a) of the Target Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the capitalization of the
Target Company as of the date hereof and as of the First Closing Date. The Target Shares constitute all of the issued and outstanding share
capital of the Target Company, all of which have been duly authorized, validly issued, and are fully paid and non-assessable. At or prior to
the First Closing, each Selling Shareholder shall own their respective Target Shares, beneficially and of record, free and clear of any Liens
(other than Permitted Liens). Upon the transfer of the Target Shares at the First Closing, the Company will acquire good and valid title to all
of the Target Shares, free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens).

(b) No Other Securities or Rights. Except for the Target Shares: (i) There are no issued, reserved for issuance, or outstanding
shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other ownership interests in, the Target Company; (ii) There are no outstanding securities of
the Selling Shareholders or the Target Company convertible or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other
ownership interests in, the Target Company; (iii) There are no rights, options, warrants, calls, or other similar rights, agreements, or
commitments obligating the Selling Shareholders or the Target Company to: (A) issue, transfer, or sell any shares of capital stock, voting
securities, or other ownership interests in the Target Company or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares; (B) grant
any person a right to subscribe for or acquire any shares of capital stock, voting securities, or other ownership interests in the Target
Company; or (C) redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock, voting securities, or other ownership interests in the Target
Company.

(c) Compliance with Restrictions. The Target Shares being transferred to the Company or its nominee hereunder will not be
transferred in violation of any purchase option, call option, preemptive right, resale right, subscription right, right of first refusal, or similar
right, or any other Contracts, except for restrictions imposed by the Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws.

Section 4.07. No Additional Representations. Such Selling Shareholder acknowledge that the Company makes no express or
implied representations or warranties as to any matter whatsoever except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, or any certificate delivered
by the Company to such Selling Shareholder in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof, and that any such other representations and
warranties are expressly disclaimed and that such Selling Shareholder do not rely on any such other representations and warranties or the
accuracy or completeness thereof.

Section 4.08. Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since November 1, 2024, with respect to the Target Company and its
Subsidiaries, each Selling Shareholder hereby represents and warrants that: (a) The Target Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted
their respective businesses, in all material respects, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices; and (b) There has not
been any Effect that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Target Company Material Adverse Effect.
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Section 4.09. Compliance with Laws; Permits; Sanctions Laws.

(a) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Target
Company or its Subsidiaries: (i) Each of the Target Company and its Subsidiaries has been in compliance with all applicable Laws and
Governmental Orders; (ii) At the First Closing, the Target Company and its Subsidiaries hold all Permits necessary for the lawful conduct of
their respective businesses, and are in compliance in all respects with the terms of such Permits; and (iii) No Permit necessary for the
operation of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries has been revoked, suspended, or subject to any pending or threatened legal proceeding
seeking to revoke or suspend such Permit.

(b) Neither the Target Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor any of their respective directors, executives, or, to the knowledge
of the Selling Shareholders, agents, has: (i) Used corporate funds for any unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment, or other unlawful
expenses related to political activity; (ii) Made any direct or indirect unlawful payments to any foreign or domestic government officials or
employees using corporate funds; (iii) Violated or is in violation of any provision of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the
PRC Law on Anti-Unfair Competition promulgated on September 2, 1993, the Interim Rules on Prevention of Commercial Bribery
promulgated on November 15, 1996, or any other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption Law; (iv) Established or maintained any fund of
corporate monies or other properties not recorded on their books and records; (v) To the knowledge of the Selling Shareholders, made any
bribe, unlawful rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback, or other unlawful payment of any kind; or (vi) Violated or operated in
noncompliance with any applicable money laundering Law, anti-terrorism Law or regulation, anti-boycott regulations, export restrictions, or
embargo regulations.

(c) To the Knowledge of Such Selling Shareholder , neither the Target Comapany or its Subsidiaries, to extent in relation to the
Transferred Business, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, affiliates or other Person acting on their behalf (i) is
not, or has not, directly or indirectly, engaged in or facilitated any activities that would result in a violation of any of the Sanctions Laws and
Regulations since the date of such Sanctions Laws and Regulations; or (ii) is not, or has not, directly or indirectly, engaged in or facilitated
any business activity or other business dealings with any Sanctioned Person since the date of the applicable List.

Section 4.10. Taxes. Except as set forth in Section 4.10 of the Target Company Disclosure Schedule, all material Tax Returns of the
Target Company and its Subsidiaries required to be filed have been timely filed in accordance with applicable Laws and are true, correct,
and complete in all material respects. All material Taxes (whether or not shown on a Tax Return) owed by the Target Company and its
Subsidiaries have been timely paid. The Target Company and its Subsidiaries have timely paid or withheld all material Taxes required to be
paid or withheld with respect to their employees, independent contractors, creditors, and other third parties and have timely remitted such
Taxes to the appropriate Governmental Authorities. None of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries has executed any outstanding waiver of
any statute of limitations or extension of the period for the assessment or collection of any material Taxes. To the Knowledge of the Selling
Shareholders, no audit or Action with respect to any material Tax Return or material Taxes of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries is
currently in progress or threatened, and no deficiency for any material amount of
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Tax has been asserted or assessed by any Governmental Authority against the Target Company or its Subsidiaries that has not been satisfied
by payment, settled, or withdrawn. All preferential Tax treatments or incentives granted to the Target Company or its Subsidiaries have been
properly approved by or filed with the competent Governmental Authorities in accordance with applicable Laws. No written claim has been
made by any Governmental Authority in any jurisdiction where the Target Company or its Subsidiaries has not filed a Tax Return that
asserts the Target Company or its Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Tax in that jurisdiction. None of the Target Company or its
Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any Tax allocation agreement, Tax indemnity agreement, Tax sharing agreement, or similar
arrangement to indemnify any other Person with respect to Taxes that will remain in effect after the First Closing. The charges, accruals, and
reserves for Taxes with respect to the Target Company and its Subsidiaries reflected on their respective books and records are adequate to
cover all material Tax liabilities accruing through the end of the last period for which the Target Company and its Subsidiaries ordinarily
record items on their books, and since that time, none of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries has engaged in any transaction or taken any
action that would materially impact any Tax asset or Tax liability of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.11. Title to Assets.

Each Selling Shareholder represents and warrants that at the First Closing, the Target Company have good and valid title to the Target
Assets, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), and that such Target Assets are not subject to any adverse claims or
encumbrances that would interfere with the ownership, use (except as specifically set forth in this Agreement), or transfer of such assets.
Specifically:

(a) Data Centers Ownership. The Selling Shareholder 1 represents and warrants that it has sole, complete, and unrestricted
ownership of the completed Data Centers assets being transferred at the First Closing, free from any adverse claims or encumbrances, and
has the full legal right and authority to transfer such assets to the Company.

(b) Mining Machine Ownership and Usage Rights. The Selling Shareholder 2 represents and warrants that it has sole, complete,
and unrestricted ownership of the Mining Machines being delivered at the First Closing, free from any adverse claims or encumbrances, and
has the full legal right and authority to transfer such mining machines to the Company.

Although the Company will acquire good and valid title to the Mining Machines through this transaction, the Company and Selling
Shareholder acknowledges and agrees that: (i) The consideration for the Mining Machines reflects a 30% discount from their original value;
(ii) As part of this transaction, the Company grants Selling Shareholder 2 exclusive usage rights to the Mining Machines for the first two (2)
years following the First Closing; (iii) During this two-year period, the Selling Shareholder 2 may utilize the Mining Machines at the Data
Centers for mining activities and will be provided with access to reasonably fair and preferential electricity rates, determined on an arm’s-
length basis, for operations at the Data Centers; (iv) Beginning in the third (2) year after the First Closing, the Company will obtain full,
unrestricted ownership and control of
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the Mining Machines, including all operational rights and interests, without any further claims or encumbrances by the Selling Shareholder
2.

Both Selling Shareholders further warrant that the Target Assets free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), and that no
third party holds or claims any right, title, or interest in such Target Assets that would interfere with the Company’s ownership or use of the
assets following the First Closing.

Section 4.12. Intellectual Property Rights.

(a) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, the Target
Company and its Subsidiaries (i) own all right, title, and interest in and to the Currently Owned Intellectual Property as of the date hereof
and as of the First Closing Date, and (ii) own all right, title, and interest in and to the Transferred Intellectual Property (together with the
Currently Owned Intellectual Property, collectively, the“Owned Intellectual Property”) as of the First Closing Date, in each case free and
clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens). The Target Company and its Subsidiaries have valid and sufficient rights to use all other
Intellectual Property necessary to conduct their business as currently conducted, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens)

(b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, neither the
Target Company nor its Subsidiaries has received written notice of any claim that they have engaged in any infringement, dilution, or
misappropriation of any Intellectual Property rights of any Person, including demands or unsolicited offers to license any Intellectual
Property. To the Knowledge of the Selling Shareholders, no Person is currently infringing, diluting, or misappropriating the Owned
Intellectual Property in any material respect. The Target Company and its Subsidiaries have not infringed, diluted, or misappropriated any
Intellectual Property rights of any Person, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(c) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, there are no
pending or, to the Knowledge of the Selling Shareholders, threatened Actions by any Person challenging the validity, enforceability,
ownership, or use by the Target Company or its Subsidiaries of any Target Company Intellectual Property.

Section 4.13. No Actions. There are no Actions against the Target Company or its Subsidiaries pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Selling Shareholders, threatened before any Governmental Authority that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.14. Environmental Matters. The Target Company and its Subsidiaries have complied, and are in compliance in all material

respects, with all applicable Environmental Laws. They have obtained, possess, and are in compliance in all material respects with all
permits,
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licenses, and other authorizations necessary to operate their businesses as currently conducted under any Environmental Laws, and all such
Environmental Permits are in full force and effect.

Section 4.15. Related Party Transactions. Except as specifically set forth in this Agreement, as of the First Closing Date, no related
person of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries: (a) has, directly or indirectly, a material economic interest in any Person that (i) furnishes
or sells services or products that compete with the business of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries, or (ii) is otherwise engaged in a
business that directly competes with the business of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries; (b) has, directly or indirectly, an economic
interest in any Person that purchases from, sells to, or furnishes to the Target Company or its Subsidiaries any material value of goods or
services; (c) has, directly or indirectly, a beneficial interest in any material contract to which the Target Company or its Subsidiaries is a
party; (d) has, directly or indirectly, any material contractual or other arrangement with the Target Company or its Subsidiaries; (e) has
received any payment or other benefit from the Target Company or its Subsidiaries; or (f) has advanced or owed any material amount of
money to the Target Company or its Subsidiaries. Furthermore, the Target Company and its Subsidiaries have not extended or maintained
credit, arranged for the extension of credit, or renewed an extension of credit in the form of a personal loan to or for any director or
executive officer of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.16. Purchase for Own Account; Economic Risk. Each Selling Shareholder is acquiring the Company Shares for
investment for its own account and not with a view to any distribution thereof in violation of the Securities Act. Each Selling Shareholder
acknowledges that: (a) it can bear the economic risk of its investment in the Company Shares; and (b) it has such knowledge and experience
in financial and business matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment in the Company Shares.

Section 4.17. Private Placement. Non-U.S. Person or Accredited Investor. Each Selling Shareholder understands that: (a) the
Company Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws, and (b) the Company Shares may not be sold
unless such disposition is registered under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws or qualifies for an exemption from such
registration requirements. Each Selling Shareholder represents that it is either: (i) an institutional “accredited investor” within the meaning
of Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act, or (ii) not a “U.S. Person” and is located outside the United States, as such terms
are defined in Rule 902 of Regulation S under the Securities Act. Each Selling Shareholder acknowledges that the certificates representing
the Company Shares will bear the following legend:

“THE SECURITIES EVIDENCED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION UNDER THE ACT OR IN A TRANSACTION WHICH, IN THE OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY
SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY, QUALIFIES AS AN EXEMPT TRANSACTION UNDER THE ACT AND THE RULES
AND

24



REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER. THE SHARES ARE SUBJECT TO THE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS
SET FORTH IN THE SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT, DATED [INSERT DATE], BY AND BETWEEN THE SELLING
SHAREHOLDERS AND THE COMPANY.”

Section 4.18. Brokers. No broker, finder, or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s, or other fee or commission in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of any Selling
Shareholder, the Target Company, or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.19. Lock-Up Period. Each Selling Shareholder covenants and agrees that the Company Shares received as consideration
under this Agreement shall be subject to a lock-up period of six (6) months, commencing from the date such Selling Shareholder is
registered as a shareholder of the Company. During the lock-up period, the Selling Shareholder shall not, directly or indirectly, sell, assign,
transfer, pledge, encumber, or otherwise dispose of any interest in the Company Shares, except with the prior written consent of the
Company or as otherwise required by applicable law.

Section 4.20. Limitation on Additional Data Center Capacity. Each Selling Shareholder represents and warrants that, unless
otherwise agreed in writing between the Selling Shareholder and the Company, the Target Company shall not increase its data center
capacity beyond an additional 10MW. For the avoidance of doubt, as of the date of this Agreement, the Target Company’s existing data
center capacity is 100 MW, and the total data center capacity of the Target Company shall be limited to 110 MW in aggregate.Any plans or
actions to expand the Target Company’s data center capacity exceeding this threshold must be subject to prior consultation and written
agreement with the Company.

Section 4.21. Business License. the Ethiopia Company shall obtain the Business License issued by the relevant Ethiopian
authorities no later than three (3) months after the date of this Agreement, or within such other period as may be mutually agreed upon in
writing by the Parties.

Section 4.22. No Additional Representations. Each Selling Shareholder acknowledges that the Company makes no express or
implied representations or warranties as to any matter whatsoever except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, or any written certificate
delivered by the Company to the Selling Shareholders in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof. Any such other representations and
warranties are expressly disclaimed, and each Selling Shareholder acknowledges that it does not rely on any such other representations and
warranties or on the accuracy or completeness thereof.

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

Section 5.01. Further Assurance. During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the First Closing Date, each
Party agrees to take, or cause to be taken, all actions
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necessary or reasonably advisable under applicable Laws to consummate the Transactions in a timely manner. This includes, but is not
limited to, using commercially reasonable efforts to give such notices and obtain all authorizations, consents, orders, and approvals from
Governmental Authorities and other third parties that may be or become necessary for the execution, delivery, and performance of its
obligations under this Agreement. The Selling Shareholders shall, promptly after the date hereof but in any case before the First Closing,
provide the Company with all documents and information related to the Target Company and its business as listed in Schedule I and
Schedule II, in reasonable detail and in a timely manner to facilitate the Transactions.

Section 5.02. No Solicitation. Each Selling Shareholder agrees that for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the First
Closing, it will not, and it will ensure that its Affiliates (and any Person acting on behalf of or in concert with it or any of its Affiliates) will
not, directly or indirectly, solicit for employment or hire any officer, director, or employee of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries. The
restrictions of this Section 5.02 shall not prohibit the Selling Shareholders or their Affiliates, however, from: (i) conducting general
solicitations for employment, such as newspaper or Internet advertisements, directly or through any agent (including placement and
recruiting agencies), that are not specifically directed at such officers, directors, or employees; or (ii) hiring any such individual: (a) who
approaches the Selling Shareholders or their Affiliates in response to such advertisements or general solicitations; (b) who contacts the
Selling Shareholders or their Affiliates on his or her own initiative without any direct or indirect solicitation by the Selling Shareholders or
their Affiliates; or (c) whose employment with the Target Company or its Subsidiaries has ceased prior to any such solicitation or hiring.

Section 5.03. Tax Matters. The Parties hereby acknowledge, covenant, and agree that: (i) the Company and its Affiliates shall have
no obligation to pay any Tax assessed by the applicable PRC Governmental Authority or the applicable Ethiopian Governmental Authority
on the Selling Shareholders with respect to the sale of the Target Shares pursuant to this Agreement; and (ii) each Selling Shareholder shall
bear and pay any Tax assessed by the applicable PRC Governmental Authority or the applicable Ethiopian Governmental Authority on such
Selling Shareholder with respect to the sale of the Target Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 5.04. Access to Information. Subject to applicable Law, from the date hereof to the First Closing Date, each Selling
Shareholder shall: give, and shall cause the Target Company and its Subsidiaries to give, the Company and its Representatives, upon prior
written notice, reasonable access, during normal business hours and under reasonable circumstances, to the offices, properties, books, and
records of the Target Company and its Subsidiaries; (ii) furnish, and shall cause the Target Company and its Subsidiaries to furnish, to the
Company and its Representatives such financial and operating data and other information relating to the Target Company and its
Subsidiaries as such Persons may reasonably request; and (iii) instruct the Representatives of the Selling Shareholders, the Target Company,
and its Subsidiaries to cooperate with the Company in its investigation of the Target Company and its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.05. Notices of Certain Events. Each of the Company and the Selling Shareholders shall promptly notify the other Party in
writing of:
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(a) any notice or other communication received from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required in
connection with the Transactions;

(b) any notice or other communication received from any Governmental Authority in connection with the Transactions;

(c) any Actions commenced or, to the Knowledge of the Company or the Knowledge of the Selling Shareholders, threatened
against the Company, the Target Company, its Subsidiaries, or any Selling Shareholder, as applicable, that, if pending on the date of this
Agreement, would have been required to be disclosed by such Party pursuant to the representations and warranties contained herein, or that
relate to the consummation of the Transactions;

(d) any inaccuracy or breach of any representation or warranty, or failure to perform any covenant or agreement, on the part of the
Company or the Selling Shareholders, as applicable, set forth in this Agreement, that would cause the conditions set forth in Article VI not
to be satisfied;

(e) any material failure by the Company or the Selling Sharcholders, as applicable, to comply with or satisfy any covenant,
condition, or agreement required to be complied with or satisfied by it under this Agreement; and

(f) the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event which would be likely to cause any condition to the obligations of the Company
or the Selling Shareholders, as applicable, to effect the Transactions contemplated hereby not to be satisfied.

provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section 5.05 shall not limit or otherwise affect the remedies
available hereunder to the Party receiving such notice.

Section 5.06. Listing. The Company will make best efforts to maintain the listing and trading of its the Company Ordinary Shares
or the Company ADSs on New York Stock Exchange, and will comply in all material respects with the Company’s reporting, filing and
other obligations under the bylaws or rules of FINRA and such exchange, as applicable.

Section 5.07. Data Centers Operation. During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Closing, the Parties
acknowledge and agree that all employees currently employed by Ethiopia Company, including but not limited to formal employees,
dispatched employees, or individuals providing labor or services to Ethiopia Company in any other capacity (collectively, the “Ethiopia
Company Employees”), shall remain employed and continue supporting Ethiopia Company and the operations of the Target Assets. Upon
the completion of the Closing, the Parties agree to further negotiate and confirm the arrangements for the Ethiopia Company Employees,
including their roles, responsibilities, and employment terms, to ensure the continuity and stability of the operations of the Data Centers and
related Target Assets.

Section 5.08. Ethiopia Company_Sharcholder Registration Commitment. The Selling Shareholders hereby jointly and severally
represent and warrant that they shall ensure, and procure that, no later than three (3) months after the date of this Agreement (or such other
period as may be
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mutually agreed upon in writing by the Parties), the Target Company shall be duly registered with the relevant Ethiopian authorities as the
holder of 51% of the equity interests in the Ethiopia Company as reflected in its bylaws. The Selling Shareholders further undertake to
provide all necessary assistance, documentation, and cooperation required to complete such registration within the agreed timeframe.

Section 5.09. Compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws. Each Selling Shareholder represents and warrants, jointly and severally, that
to the Knowledge of the Selling Shareholders:

(a) The Target Company and its Subsidiaries have complied, and are in compliance in all material respects, with all applicable
anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, including but not limited to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the “ECPA”), and any
other applicable anti-corruption laws (collectively, the “Anti-Corruption Laws”).

(b) Neither the Target Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, or
any other Person acting on behalf of the Target Company or its Subsidiaries, has directly or indirectly, in connection with the business of the
Target Company or its Subsidiaries: (i) Made, authorized, offered, or promised to make any unlawful payment, gift, or other thing of value,
including to any government official or employee, with the intent to obtain or retain business, secure an improper advantage, or direct
business to any Person; (ii) Engaged in any act or practice which would violate applicable Anti-Corruption Laws; or (iii) Created or
maintained any false or misleading financial records or accounts for purposes of concealing or improperly facilitating any activity prohibited
under the Anti-Corruption Laws.

(c) There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Selling Shareholders, threatened investigations, Actions, or proceedings by
any Governmental Authority or any other Person concerning any actual or alleged violation of the Anti-Corruption Laws by the Target
Company, its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, or agents.

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS TO FIRST CLOSING

Section 6.01. Conditions to Obligations of the Company to First Closing. The obligations of the Company to consummate the
Transactions contemplated at the First Closing shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible), at or prior to the First
Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Selling Shareholders contained in
Article IV of this Agreement: (i) that are qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect shall be true and correct in all respects, and (ii)
that are not qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect shall be true and correct in material respects, in each case of (i) and (ii), as of
the date of this Agreement and as of the First Closing (except for representations and warranties that expressly speak as of a specified date,
in which case as of such specified date).
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(b) No Injunction. No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced, or entered any Law that is then
in effect (whether temporary, preliminary, or permanent) and has the effect of enjoining, restraining, prohibiting, or otherwise making the
consummation of the Transactions illegal (an “Injunction”).

(c) Performance of Covenants. The Selling Sharcholders shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all
agreements, covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement that are required to be performed or complied with by them at or prior to
the First Closing.

(d) No Material Adverse Effect. No Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Target Company or its Subsidiaries shall have
occurred following the date of this Agreement.

(e) Target Assets and Supporting Documents. The Target Assets, including but not limited to the Data Centers, Mining Machines,
and any other assets related to the Target Company’s operations, shall have been duly transferred to the Company or its Subsidiaries, and the
Selling Shareholders shall have delivered reasonable supporting documents evidencing such transfers to the Company.

Section 6.02. Conditions to Obligations of the Selling Shareholders to First Closing. The obligations of the Selling Shareholders to
consummate the Transactions contemplated at the First Closing shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible), at or prior
to the First Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article III: (i)
that are qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company shall be true and correct in all respects, and (ii) that
are not qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company shall be true and correct in material respects, in each
case of (i) and (ii), as of the date of this Agreement and as of the First Closing (except for representations and warranties that expressly
speak as of a specified date, in which case as of such specified date).

(b) No Injunction. No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced, or entered any Law that is then
in effect (whether temporary, preliminary, or permanent) and has the effect of enjoining, restraining, prohibiting, or otherwise making the
consummation of the Transactions illegal (an “Injunction”).

(c) Performance of Covenants. The Company shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements,
covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement that are required to be performed or complied with by it at or prior to the First

Closing.

(d) No Material Adverse Effect. No Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company shall have occurred following the date
of this Agreement.
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(e) New York Stock Exchange Listing. The Company shall remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and if applicable, the
listing application for the Company Shares shall have been approved by the New York Stock Exchange. As of the First Closing Date, the
Company shall not have received any written notice from the New York Stock Exchange stating that it has failed, or would reasonably be
expected to fail, to meet the New York Stock Exchange listing requirements for any reason, where such notice has not been subsequently
withdrawn by the New York Stock Exchange or the underlying failure appropriately remedied or satisfied.

ARTICLE VII

INDEMNIFICATION

Section 7.01. Survival of Representations and Warranties.

(a) The representations and warranties of the Company shall survive the First Closing until one (1) year after the First Closing,
except for the Company Fundamental Representations, which shall survive indefinitely. The covenants and agreements of the Company shall
survive until fully discharged in accordance with their terms. The Selling Shareholders’ right to indemnification shall not be waived or
limited by any investigation conducted by or on behalf of the Selling Shareholders.

(b) The representations and warranties of the Selling Shareholders shall survive the First Closing until one (1) year after the First
Closing, except for the Selling Shareholders’ Fundamental Representations, which shall survive indefinitely. The covenants and agreements
of the Selling Shareholders shall survive until fully discharged in accordance with their terms. The Company’s right to indemnification shall
not be waived or limited by any investigation conducted by or on behalf of the Company.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claims asserted in good faith with reasonable specificity (to the extent known at such time)
and in writing by notice from the non-breaching Party to the breaching Party prior to the expiration date of the applicable survival period
shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of the relevant representation, warranty, covenant or agreement and such claims shall survive
until finally resolved.

Section 7.02. Indemnification by the Company. Following the First Closing, the Company shall indemnify and defend each of the
Selling Shareholders and its Representatives (each a “Selling Shareholder Indemnified Party”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless
from and against, any and all Losses actually suffered or incurred by, or imposed upon, the Selling Shareholders Indemnified Parties arising
out of or resulting from:

(a) any material inaccuracy or material breach of any representation or warranty made by the Company under this Agreement; or

(b) any material violation or material nonperformance of any covenant or agreement of the Company under this Agreement.
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Section 7.03. Indemnification by each Selling Shareholder. Following the First Closing, the Selling Shareholders shall indemnify
and defend the Company and its Representatives (each a “Company Indemnified Party”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless from
and against, any and all Losses actually suffered or incurred by, or imposed upon, the Company Indemnified Parties arising out of or
resulting from:

(a) any material inaccuracy or material breach of any representation or warranty made by the Selling Shareholders under this
Agreement;

(b) any material violation or material nonperformance of any covenant or agreement by the Selling Shareholders under this
Agreement;

(c) the Selling Shareholders’ failure to timely pay Taxes imposed on the Selling Shareholders in connection with any corporate
restructuring of the Target Company under applicable Laws; or

(d) any claims or disputes arising from conducting the Target Company’s restructuring in material violation of applicable laws or
contracts to which the Target Company is a party.

Section 7.04. Limits on Indemnification. The indemnification provided for in Section 7.02 and Section 7.03 shall be subject to the
following limitations:

(a) The Company shall not be liable for any claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 7.02 unless and until the aggregate
amount of all indemnifiable Losses under Section 7.02 exceeds US$1 million, in which event the Company shall be required to pay or be
liable for all such Losses from the first dollar. The aggregate amount of all Losses for which the Company shall be liable to each Selling
shareholder pursuant to Section 7.02 shall not exceed the then aggregate fair market value of the Target Shares already acquired by the
Company from such Selling Shareholder pursuant to this Agreement.

(b) Each Selling Shareholder shall not be liable for any claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 7.03 unless and until the
aggregate amount of all indemnifiable Losses under Section 7.03 exceeds US$1 million, in which event such Selling Shareholder shall be
required to pay or be liable for all such Losses from the first dollar. The aggregate amount of all Losses for which each Selling Shareholder
shall be liable pursuant to Section 7.03 shall not exceed the then aggregate fair market value of the Company Shares such Selling
Shareholder already acquired pursuant to this Agreement.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitations set forth in Section 7.04(a) and Section 7.04(b) shall not apply to Losses arising

out of or resulting from any inaccuracy or breach of any Company Fundamental Reps, Selling Shareholders Fundamental Reps or any failure
by either the Company or the Selling Shareholders of their respective obligations under Section 2.02(b).
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(d) The amount of any Losses payable by the Indemnifying Party under this Agreement shall be net of any amounts actually
recovered by the Indemnified Party from any other Person determined to be responsible therefor. If the Indemnifying Party has paid an
amount in discharge of any claim under this Agreement and the Indemnified Party has been compensated in full for all Losses it has suffered
with respect to the same subject matter of such claim, then to the extent the Indemnified Party subsequently recovers (whether by payment,
discount, credit, relief, or otherwise) from a third party a sum which further indemnifies or which is the same subject matter of claim such
that the Indemnified Party’s recovery and retention of such amount would constitute double recovery for the same subject matter of claim, it
shall as soon as reasonably practicable pay over such amount to the Indemnifying Party less all costs of recovery and Taxes with respect
thereto. To the extent required by applicable Law and reasonably practicable, each Indemnified Party shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to mitigate any Losses for which the Indemnified Party makes claims under this Agreement; provided, however, that nothing herein
shall require an Indemnified Party to maintain any insurance policies, commence any proceedings against a third party, or obtain any
insurance proceeds from other sources of indemnification available to such party in respect of the Losses.

(e) An Indemnified Party shall not be entitled to recover from the Indemnifying Party under this Agreement more than once in
respect of the same portion of the same Losses suffered.

Section 7.05. Exclusive Remedy. Following the First Closing, notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, this Article
VII shall be the sole and exclusive monetary remedy of the Parties for any and all claims arising out of or resulting from this Agreement,
except that no limitation or exceptions with respect to the obligations or liabilities on any Indemnifying Party in this Article VII shall apply
to any claims arising out of or resulting from fraud or willful misconduct on the part of any Indemnifying Party. Nothing in this Article VII
or elsewhere in this Agreement shall limit any Party’s right to specific performance or other equitable or non-monetary remedies.
ARTICLE VIII
TERMINATION
Section 8.01. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the First Closing:
(a) by the mutual written consent of the Company and the Selling Shareholders;
(b) by either the Company by written notice to the Selling Shareholders or by the Selling Shareholders by written notice to the

Company, in the event that any Governmental Authority having competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or
entered any Injunction which shall have become final and non-appealable;
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(c) by either the Company by written notice to the Selling Shareholders or by the Selling Shareholders by written notice to the
Company, in the event that the First Closing shall not have occurred on or before December 31, 2024 or such other date as mutually agreed
in writing by the Company and the Selling Shareholders (the “Termination Date”);

(d) by the Company by written notice to the Selling Shareholders, if (i) the Selling Shareholders shall have breached any
representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement, (ii) such breach or misrepresentation is not cured within twenty
(20) days after the Selling Shareholders receives written notice thereof from the Company (or such shorter period between the date of such
notice and the Termination Date), and (iii) such breach or misrepresentation would cause any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.01 not
to be satisfied; provided, however, that, the Company shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.01(d) if
it is then in material breach of this Agreement that would result in any conditions to the First Closing set forth in Section 6.01 not being
satisfied; or

(e) by the Selling Shareholders by written notice to the Company if (i) the Company shall have breached any representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement, (ii) such breach or misrepresentation is not cured within twenty (20) days after
the Company receives written notice thereof from the Selling Shareholders (or such shorter period between the date of such notice and the
Termination Date), and (iii) such breach or misrepresentation would cause any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.02 not to be satisfied;
provided, however, that, the Selling Shareholders shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.01(e) if it is
then in material breach of this Agreement that would result in any conditions to the First Closing set forth in Section 6.02 not being satisfied.

Section 8.02. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01, this Agreement shall
forthwith become void and there shall be no liability under this Agreement on the part of any Party except that nothing herein shall relieve
any Party from liability to another Party (a) for any breach of this Agreement that occurred before such termination and (b) or resulting from
fraud or willful misconduct and the terms of this Section 8.02 and Article IX shall survive any such termination.

ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 9.01. Notices. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be
deemed duly given, made or received on the date of delivery if delivered in person or by internationally recognized overnight courier
service, or on the date of confirmation of receipt of transmission by facsimile or by email (provided that confirmation of transmission is
mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending Party), to the respective Parties at the following addresses (or at

such other address for a Party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 9.01):

(a) Ifto the Company, to:

33



14F, West Side, Block B, Building No. 7
Shenzhen Bay Eco-Technology Park, Nanshan District
Shenzhen, the PRC
Attn: Mr. Yang Xianfeng
(b) Ifto the Selling Shareholder 1, to:
[REDACTED]
Attn: Mr. ZHAN Jiannan
(c) If'to the Selling Shareholder 2, to:
[REDACTED]
Attn: Mr. YOU Hongyan

Section 9.02. Confidentiality. For a period of twelve (12) months following the date hereof, each Selling Shareholder shall, and
shall cause its Affiliates and their respective Representatives to, hold in strict confidence any and all information, whether written or oral,
concerning the Target Company and the Transferred Business (the “Confidential Information™), except to the extent that each Selling
Shareholder can show that such information (a) is generally available to and known by the public through no fault of each Selling
Shareholder, any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives; or (b) is lawfully acquired by each Selling Shareholder, any of its
Affiliates or their respective Representatives from and after the First Closing from sources which are not prohibited from disclosing such
information by a legal, contractual or fiduciary obligation. The Parties hereto agree that the Confidential Information may be disclosed (a) to
each Selling Shareholder’s Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives on a need-to-know basis; (b) in the event that each Selling
Shareholder or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives are compelled to disclose any information by judicial or
administrative process or by other requirements of Law or applicable national securities exchange, under such circumstances, each Selling
Shareholder shall promptly notify the Company in writing and shall disclose only that portion of such information is legally required to be
disclosed, provided that each Selling Shareholder shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an appropriate protective order or other
reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such information.

Section 9.03. Adjustments for Share Splits,_etc. Wherever in this Agreement there is a reference to a specific number of the
Company Shares or Target Shares, then upon the occurrence of any subdivision, combination or share or extraordinary dividend of or on
Company Shares or Target Shares with an effective or record date from the date hereof until the applicable Closing, the specific number of
such shares so referenced in this Agreement shall be proportionally adjusted to reflect the effect on the outstanding shares of such class or
series of shares by such subdivision, combination or dividend.

Section 9.04. Amendment. Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived prior to the First Closing if, but only if,
such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed, in the
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case of an amendment, by each Party to this Agreement or, in the case of a waiver, by each Party against whom the waiver is to be effective.
No failure or delay by any Party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single
or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

Section 9.05. Taxes and Expenses. Each Party shall pay all of its own fees and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in
connection with this Agreement and the Transactions.

Section 9.06. Assignment. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties hereunder may not be assigned by the
Company without the Selling_Shareholders’s written consent or by the Selling Shareholders without the Company’s written consent. Any
assignment in violation of this Section 9.06 shall be null and void.

Section 9.07.No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except for the provisions of Article VII relating to the Indemnified Parties this
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns and
nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any
nature whatsoever.

Section 9.08. Governing Law; Arbitration.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the Laws of the State of New York without regard to
its conflicts of law principles thereof.

(b) Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or its subject matter shall be finally settled by
arbitration. The place and seat of arbitration shall be Hong Kong, and the arbitration shall be administered by the Hong Kong International
Arbitration Centre (the “HKIAC”) in accordance with the HKIAC Administered Arbitration Rules then in force (the “HKIAC Rules”). The
number of arbitrators shall be three (3). In the event that there are more than two parties to an arbitration, one arbitrator shall be appointed by
the Selling Shareholders and one arbitrator shall be appointed by the Company. The third arbitrator, who shall serve as chairperson of the
arbitral tribunal, shall be selected by the mutual agreement of the first two arbitrators. Any arbitrator that is not so appointed shall instead be
appointed in accordance with the HKIAC Rules. The language to be used in the arbitration proceedings shall be English. The award of the
arbitral tribunal shall be final, conclusive and binding upon the Parties. Judgment upon any award may be entered and enforced in any court
having jurisdiction over a Party or any of its assets. For the purpose of the enforcement of an award, the Parties irrevocably and
unconditionally submit to the jurisdiction of any competent court and waive any defenses to such enforcement, including any defenses based
on lack of personal jurisdiction or inconvenient forum.

Section 9.09. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitute the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject

matter of this Agreement and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both oral and written, between the Parties and/or their
Affiliates with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.
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Section 9.10. Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced under
any Law or public policy, all other terms and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect for so long as
the economic or legal substance of the Transactions is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party. Upon such determination
that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the Company and the Selling Shareholders shall negotiate
together in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of both the Company and the Selling Sharcholders as
closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the Transactions are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent
possible.

Section 9.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed and delivered (including by electronic transmission in PDF format or
by facsimile transmission) in one or more counterparts, and by the Parties in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be
deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

Section 9.12. Specific Performance. The Parties acknowledge and agree that irreparable damage would occur, no adequate remedy
at law would exist and damages would be difficult to determine if any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance
with their specific terms. Accordingly, in addition to any other right or remedy to which a Party may be entitled, at law or in equity, it shall
be entitled to seek enforcement of any provision of this Agreement by a decree of specific performance and to seek temporary, preliminary
and permanent injunctive relief to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of any of the provisions of this Agreement, without the necessity
of proving the inadequacy of money damages as a remedy and without the necessity of posting any bond or other undertaking. The Parties
further agree not to assert that a remedy of specific performance is unenforceable, invalid, contrary to applicable Law or inequitable for any
reason, nor to assert that a remedy of monetary damages would provide an adequate remedy for any such breach.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of
the day and year first above written.

BIT MINING LIMITED
By: /s/ Xianfeng Yang

Name: Xianfeng Yang
Title: CEO

[Signature Page to Sha Exchange Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of
the day and year first above written.

SELLING SHAREHOLDER 1
By: /s/ ZHAN Jiannan

Name: ZHAN Jiannan
Title:

[Signature Page to Sha Exchange Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of
the day and year first above written.

SELLING SHAREHOLDER 2

By: /s/ YOU Hongyan
Name: YOU Hongyan
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Exhibit 4.16
**%* Certain information in this document has been excluded pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K. Such excluded
information is not material and is the type the registrant treats as private or confidential. Such omitted information is indicated by
brackets (“|REDACTED]”) in this exhibit. ***

Supplemental Agreement to the Share Transfer Agreement

This Supplemental Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of December 3, 2024 by and between:

BIT MINING LIMITED, a Cayman Islands exempted company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “Company”); ; and

YOU Hongyan, CHN PPT: [REDACTED] (the “Selling Shareholder 2”),

The Company and the Selling Shareholder 2 are referred to in this Agreement collectively as the “Parties”, and individually as a
umyn.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into a Share Transfer Agreement dated December 3, 2024 (the “Original Agreement”) under which
the Company agreed to acquire 68.28% equity interest of Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd with its BVI company number of 2162988 (the
“Target Company”) from Selling Shareholder 2, with consideration including the issuance of 336,206,900 Class A Ordinary Shares of the
Company at the First Closing;

WHEREAS, the Parties have mutually agreed to amend the issuance schedule of Class A Ordinary Shares at the First Closing,
reducing the total shares issued to 322,169,700 Class A Ordinary Shares, and deferring the issuance of the remaining 14,037,200 Class A
Ordinary Shares to the Subsequent Closings.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises herein contained, the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
AMENDMENT TO THE FIRST CLOSING ISSUANCE SCHEDULE

1.1 First Closing_Share Issuance. At the First Closing, the Company shall issue a total of 322,169,700 Class A Ordinary
Shares to the Selling Shareholder 2 and four other Designated Individuals,detailed in Schedule 1. These Class A Ordinary Shares will be
allocated equally among the Selling Shareholder 2 and four other Designated Individuals, with each receiving 64,433,940 Class A Ordinary
Shares, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Original Agreement and this Supplemental Agreement.

1.2 Remaining Share Issuance. The remaining 14,037,200 Class A Ordinary Shares originally planned for issuance at the First
Closing shall instead be issued at the subsequent closings, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the



Original Agreement and this Supplemental Agreement.

ARTICLE 2
EFFECT OF THIS AGREEMENT

2.1 This Agreement serves as an amendment to the Original Agreement and shall be read and construed together with the
Original Agreement. All terms and conditions of the Original Agreement, except as expressly amended by this Agreement, remain in full
force and effect.

2.2 In the event of any conflict between this Agreement and the Original Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall
prevail.
ARTICLE 3
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
3.1 Mutual Representations. Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that it has the requisite authority to enter

into this Agreement and that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

ARTICLE 4
MISCELLANEOUS

4.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Original Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement between the
Parties with respect to its subject matter and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether written or oral.

4.2 Consistency_of Defined Terms. All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in the Original Agreement.

43 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of

the day and year first above written.
BIT MINING LIMITED
By: /s/ Xianfeng Yang

Name: Xianfeng Yang
Title: CEO




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of
the day and year first above written.

YOU Hongyan
By: /s/ YOU Hongyan
Name: YOU Hongyan




List of the Registrant’s Subsidiaries (as of December 31, 2024)
Subsidiaries:

Fine Brand Limited, a British Virgin Islands company

Star Light Inc., a Cayman Islands company

1324492 B.C. Ltd., a Canada company

500wan HK Limited, a Hong Kong company

BT Minig Limited, a Cayman Islands company

Summit Bend US Corporation, a U.S. company

Star Light Ohio I Corporation, a U.S. company

Star Light Ohio II Corporation, a U.S. company

Asgard Data Centers LLC, a U.S. company

E-Sun Sky Computer (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., a PRC company

Bee Computing (HK) Limited, a Hong Kong company

Yibao Energy (Guangzhou) New Energy Technology Limited, a PRC company
Alliance International Technologies Limited, a British Virgin Islands company
Guanghan Data Center Co., Ltd. , a British Virgin Islands company
Alpha Data Center LLC, an Ethiopian company

The Multi Group Ltd, a Malta company

Multi Warehouse Ltd, a Malta company

Multi Brand Gaming Ltd, a Malta company

Multilotto UK Ltd, a Malta company

Lotto Warehouse Ltd, a Malta company

Wasp Media Ltd, a Malta company

Round Spot Services Ltd, a Cyprus company

Multi Pay N.V., a Curacao company

Oddson Europe Ltd, a Malta company
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Exhibit 11.1

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
OF BIT Mining LIMITED

INTRODUCTION

BIT Mining Limited.and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Company”) are committed to conducting their business in accordance
with all applicable laws and the highest standards of business ethics. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) contains
general guidelines for conducting the business of the Company. In general, employees should strive to comply with the law and conduct
business honestly, fairly and in the best interests of the Company. To the extent this Code requires a higher standard than required by
commercial practice or applicable laws, we adhere to these higher standards.

This Code applies to all of the directors, officers, employees and advisors of the Company, whether they work for the Company on
a full-time, part-time, consultative, or temporary basis. We refer to these persons as our “employees.” We also refer to our Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, our other executives and any other persons who perform similar functions for the Company as “executive
officers.”

It is the Company’s policy that any employee who violates this Code will be subject to discipline, which may include termination of
employment. If your conduct as an employee of the Company does not comply with the law or with this Code, there may be serious, adverse
consequences for both you and the Company.

Seeking Help and Information

This Code is not intended to be a comprehensive rulebook and cannot address every situation that you may face. If you feel
uncomfortable about a situation or know of or suspect a violation of this Code, seek help. We encourage you to contact your supervisor first.
If you do not feel comfortable contacting your supervisor, contact the compliance officer (the “Compliance Officer”) of the Company, who
shall be a person appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”). If you have any questions regarding the Code or would
like to report any violation of the Code, please call or e-mail the Compliance Officer. Any questions or violations of the Code involving an
executive officer should be directed or reported to any of the independent director on our Board or the members of the appropriate
committee of our Board, and any such questions or violations will be reviewed directly by the Board or the appropriate committee of the
Board.

Reporting Violations of the Code
Employees have a duty to report any known or suspected violation of this Code, including any violation of laws, rules, regulations
or policies that apply to the Company. Reporting a known or suspected violation of this Code will not be considered an act of disloyalty, but

an effort to safeguard the reputation and integrity of the Company and its employees.

All questions and reports of known or suspected violations of this Code will be treated with sensitivity and discretion. The
Compliance Officer, the Board or the appropriate committee



of the Board and the Company will protect your confidentiality to the greatest extent consistent with the law and the Company’s need to
investigate your concern.

Policy Against Retaliation

The Company prohibits retaliation against an employee who, in good faith, seeks help or reports known or suspected violations. An
employee inflicting reprisal or retaliation against another employee for reporting a known or suspected violation may be subject to
disciplinary actions, including termination of employment.

Waivers of the Code

Waivers of this Code may be made only by the Board or the appropriate committee of the Board and will be promptly disclosed to
the public as required by law or the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. Waivers of this Code will be granted on a case-by-case basis and
only in extraordinary circumstances.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, REGULATIONS AND POLICIES

Employees have an obligation to comply with all laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company’s operations. These
include, without limitation, laws covering bribery and kickbacks, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, information privacy, insider
trading, illegal political contributions, antitrust prohibitions, foreign corrupt practices, offering or receiving gratuities, environmental
hazards, employment discrimination or harassment, occupational health and safety, false or misleading financial information or misuse of
corporate assets. It is your responsibility to understand and comply with the laws, regulations and policies that are relevant to your position.
If any doubt exists about whether a course of action is lawful, you should seek advice from your supervisor or the Compliance Officer.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations can result in civil and criminal liability against you and the Company, as
well as disciplinary action by the Company against you, including termination of employment. You should contact the Compliance Officer if
you have any questions about the laws, regulations and policies that may apply to you.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) prohibits the Company and its employees and agents from offering or giving
money or any other item of value to win or retain business or to influence any act or decision of any governmental official, political party,
candidate for political office or official of a public international organization. The FCPA prohibits the payment of bribes, kickbacks or other
inducements to foreign officials. This prohibition also extends to payments to a sales representative or agent if there is reason to believe that
the payment will be used indirectly for a prohibited payment to foreign officials. Violation of the FCPA is a crime that can result in severe
fines and criminal penalties, as well as disciplinary action by the Company, including termination of employment.



Certain small facilitation payments to foreign officials may be permissible under the FCPA if customary in the country or locality
and intended to secure routine governmental action. Governmental action is “routine” if it is ordinarily and commonly performed by a
foreign official and does not involve the exercise of discretion. For instance, “routine” functions would include setting up a telephone line or
expediting a shipment through customs. To ensure legal compliance, all facilitation payments must receive a prior written approval from the
Compliance Officer and must be clearly and accurately reported as a business expense.

Health and Safety

The Company is committed not only to complying with all relevant health and safety laws, but also to conducting business in a
manner that protects the safety of its employees. Employees are required to comply with all applicable health and safety laws, regulations
and policies relevant to their jobs. If you have any concerns about unsafe conditions or tasks that present a risk of injury to you, please report
these concerns immediately to your supervisor or the Human Resources Department.

Employment Practices

The Company pursues fair employment practices in every aspect of its business. The following is intended to be a summary of our
employment policies and procedures. Copies of our detailed policies are available from the Human Resources Department. Employees must
comply with all applicable labor and employment laws, including anti-discrimination laws and laws related to freedom of association,
privacy and collective bargaining. It is your responsibility to understand and comply with the laws, regulations and policies that are relevant
to your job. Failure to comply with labor and employment laws can result in civil and criminal liability against you and the Company as well
as disciplinary action by the Company against you, including termination of employment. You should contact the Compliance Officer or the
Human Resources Department if you have any questions about the laws, regulations and policies that apply to you.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

A conflict of interest occurs when an employee’s private interest interferes, or appears to interfere, in any way with the interests of
the Company as a whole. You should actively avoid any private interest that may influence your ability to act in the interests of the Company
or that may make it difficult to perform your work objectively and effectively.

It is difficult to list all of the ways in which a conflict of interest may arise. However, in general, the following may create conflicts
of interest:

Outside Employment. No employee may be concurrently employed by, serve as a director of, trustee for or provide any services not
in his or her capacity as an employee to any entity, whether for-profit or non-profit, that is a material customer, supplier or
competitor of the Company or any entity whose interests would reasonably be expected to conflict with the Company.



Financial Interests. No employee should have a significant financial interest (ownership or otherwise) in any company that is a
material customer, supplier or competitor of the Company or any entity whose interests would reasonably be expected to conflict
with the Company. A “significant financial interest” means (i) ownership of greater than 1% of the equity of a material customer,
supplier or competitor or (ii) an investment in a material customer, supplier or competitor that represents more than 5% of the total
assets of the employee.

Loans or Other Financial Transactions. No employee may obtain loans or guarantees of personal obligations from, or enter into any
other personal financial transaction with, any company that is a material customer, supplier or competitor of the Company. This
guideline does not prohibit arm’s length transactions with recognized banks or other financial institutions.

Family Situations. The actions of family members outside the workplace may also give rise to conflicts of interest because they
may influence an employee’s objectivity in making decisions on behalf of the Company. If a member of an employee’s family is
interested in doing business with the Company, the criteria as to whether to enter into or continue the business relationship, and the
terms and conditions of the relationship, must be no less favorable to the Company compared with those that would apply to a non-
relative seeking to do business with the Company under similar circumstances.

Employees should report any situation involving family members that could reasonably be expected to give rise to a conflict of
interest to their supervisor or the Compliance Officer. For purposes of this Code, “family members” or “members of your family”
include your spouse, brothers, sisters and parents, in-laws and children.

For purposes of this Code, a company is a “material” customer if the company has made payments to the Company in the past year
in excess of US$100,000 or 10% of the customer’s gross revenues, whichever is greater. A company is a “material” supplier if the company
has received payments from the Company in the past year in excess of US$100,000 or 10% of the supplier’s gross revenues, whichever is
greater. A company is a “material” competitor if the company competes in the Company’s line of business and has annual gross revenues
from such line of business in excess of US$500,000. If you are uncertain whether a particular company is a material customer, supplier or
competitor, please contact the Compliance Officer for assistance.

Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest

The Company requires that employees fully disclose any situations that could reasonably be expected to give rise to a conflict of
interest. If you suspect that you have a conflict of interest, or something that others could reasonably perceive as a conflict of interest, you
must report it immediately to the Compliance Officer. Conflicts of interest may only be waived by the Board or the appropriate committee of
the Board and will be promptly disclosed to the public to the extent required by law.



CORPORATE OPPORTUNITIES

As an employee of the Company, you have an obligation to advance the Company’s interests when the opportunity to do so arises.
If you discover or are presented with a business opportunity that is in the Company’s line of business through the use of corporate property
or corporate information or because of your position at the Company, you should first present the business opportunity to the Company
before pursuing the opportunity in your individual capacity. Employees may not use corporate property or corporate information or their
positions with the Company in any way that may deprive the Company of any benefit or subject it to any harm.

You should disclose to your supervisor the terms and conditions of each business opportunity covered by this Code that you wish to
pursue. Your supervisor will contact the Compliance Officer and the appropriate management personnel to determine whether the Company
wishes to pursue the business opportunity. Once the Company grants you permission, you may pursue the business opportunity on the same
terms and conditions as those originally offered to the Company and to the extent that it is consistent with other ethical guidelines set forth in
the Code.

CORPORATE ASSETS AND CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

Employees have a duty to protect the Company’s assets and ensure their efficient use for legitimate business purposes only. Theft,
carelessness and waste have a direct impact on the Company’s profitability. The Company’s files, computers, networks, software, phone
system and other business resources are provided for business use only and they are the exclusive property of the Company. The use of the
Company’s funds or assets, whether or not for personal gain, for any unlawful or improper purpose is prohibited. All inventions, creative
works, computer software, and technical or trade secrets developed by an employee in the course of performing the employee’s duties or
primarily through the use of the Company’s materials and technical resources while working at the Company, shall be property of the
Company.

To ensure the protection and proper use of the Company’s assets, employees should exercise reasonable care to prevent theft,
damage or misuse of Company property. In the event of actual or suspected theft, damage or misuse of Company’s property, employees
should report such activities directly to a supervisor.

Employees should be aware that Company’s property includes all data and communications transmitted or received by, or contained
in, the Company’s electronic or telephonic systems. The Company’s property also includes all written communications. Employees and
other users of the Company’s property should have no expectation of privacy with respect to these communications and data. To the extent
permitted by law, the Company has the ability, and reserves the right, to monitor all electronic and telephonic communications. These
communications may also be subject to disclosure to law enforcement or government officials.



Safeguarding Confidential Information and Intellectual Property

Employees have access to a variety of confidential information while employed by the Company. Confidential information includes
all non-public information that might be of use to competitors, or, if disclosed, harmful to the Company or its customers. Every employee
has a duty to respect and safeguard the confidentiality of the Company’s information and the information of our suppliers and customers,
except when disclosure is authorized by the Company or legally mandated. An employee’s obligation to protect confidential information
continues after he or she leaves the Company. Unauthorized disclosure of confidential information could cause competitive harm to the
Company, its customers or its suppliers and could result in legal liability to you and the Company.

Employees also have a duty to protect the Company’s intellectual property and other business assets. The intellectual property,
business systems and the security of the Company property are critical to the Company.

Any questions or concerns regarding whether disclosure of the Company’s information is legally mandated should be promptly
directed to the Compliance Officer.

Care must be taken to safeguard and protect confidential information and Company property. Accordingly, the following measures
should be adhered to:

The Company’s employees should prevent the inadvertent disclosure of confidential information during or after working hours. For
example, documents or electronic devices containing confidential information should be stored in a secure location. Also, review of
confidential documents or discussion of confidential subjects in public places (e.g., airplanes, trains, taxis, and buses) should be
conducted so as to prevent disclosure to unauthorized persons.

Within the Company’s offices, confidential matters should not be discussed within hearing range of visitors or others not working
on such matters.

Confidential matters should not be discussed with other employees not working on such matters or with friends or relatives
including those living in the same household as an employee.

Employees should only access, use and disclose the confidential information to the extent that it is necessary for performing their
duties. They should only disclose confidential information to other employees or business partners to the extent that it is necessary
for such employees or business partners to perform their duties on behalf of the Company.

COMPETITION AND FAIR DEALING
Employees are obligated to deal fairly with fellow employees and with the Company’s customers, suppliers and competitors.

Employees should not take unfair advantage of anyone through manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information,
misrepresentation or any other unfair practice.



Relationships with Customers

Our business success depends on fostering long-term customer relationships. The Company is committed to dealing with customers
fairly, honestly and with integrity. Specifically, you should adhere to the following guidelines:

e Information we supply to customers should be accurate and complete to the best of our knowledge. Employees should not
deliberately misrepresent information to customers.

Relationships with Suppliers

The Company deals fairly and honestly with its suppliers. This means that our relationships with suppliers are based on price,
quality, service and reputation, among other factors. Employees dealing with suppliers should carefully guard their objectivity. Specifically,
no employee should accept or solicit any personal benefit from a supplier or potential supplier that might compromise, or appear to
compromise, their objective assessment of the supplier’s products and prices. Employees can give or accept promotional items of nominal
value or moderately scaled entertainment within the limits of responsible and customary business practice. Please see “Gifts and
Entertainment” below for additional guidelines in this area.

Relationships with Competitors

The Company is committed to free and open competition in the marketplace. Employees should avoid actions that would be
contrary to laws governing competitive practices in the marketplace, including antitrust laws. Such actions include misappropriation or
misuse of a competitor’s confidential information or making false statements about the competitor’s business and business practices.

GIFTS AND ENTERTAINMENT

The giving and receiving of gifts is a common business practice. Appropriate business gifts and entertainment are welcome
courtesies designed to foster relationships with business partners. However, gifts and entertainment should not compromise, or appear to
compromise, your ability to make unbiased business decisions.

It is your responsibility to use good judgment in this area. As a general rule, you may exchange gifts with customers or suppliers
only if such gifts would not be viewed as an inducement or reward for any particular business decision. All gifts and entertainment expenses
should be properly accounted for on expense reports. The following specific examples may be helpful:

Meals and Entertainment. You may occasionally accept or give meals, refreshments or other entertainment if:

The items are a reasonable value;
The purpose of the meeting or attendance at the event is related to the Company’s business; and



The expenses would be paid by the Company as a reasonable business expense if not paid for by another party.

Advertising_and Promotional Materials. You may occasionally accept or give advertising or promotional materials of nominal
value.

Personal Gifts. You may accept or give personal gifts of reasonable value that are related to recognized special occasions such as a
graduation, promotion, new job, wedding, retirement or a holiday. A gift is also acceptable if it is based on a family or personal
relationship and unrelated to the business involved between the individuals.

Gifts Rewarding Accomplishments. You may accept a gift from a civic, charitable or religious organization specifically related to
your accomplishments.

You must be particularly careful that gifts and entertainment are not construed as bribes, kickbacks or other improper payments. See
“The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act” below for a more detailed discussion of our policies regarding giving or receiving gifts related to
business transactions.

You should make every effort to refuse or return a gift that is beyond these permissible guidelines. If it would be inappropriate to
refuse a gift or you are unable to return a gift, you should promptly report the gift to your supervisor. Your supervisor will bring the gift to
the attention of the Compliance Officer, who may require you to donate the gift to an appropriate community organization. If you have any
questions about whether it is permissible to accept a gift or something else of value, contact your supervisor or the Compliance Officer for
additional guidance.

COMPANY RECORDS

Accurate and reliable records are crucial to our business. Our records are the basis of our earnings statements, financial reports and
other disclosures to the public and guide our business decision-making and strategic planning. Company records include booking
information, payroll, timecards, travel and expense reports, e-mails, accounting and financial data, measurement and performance records,
electronic data files and all other records maintained in the ordinary course of our business.

All Company records must be complete, accurate and reliable in all material respects. Undisclosed or unrecorded funds, payments
or receipts are inconsistent with our business practices and are prohibited. You are responsible for understanding and complying with our
record-keeping policy.

ACCURACY OF FINANCIAL REPORTS AND OTHER PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS
As a public company we are subject to various securities laws, regulations and reporting obligations. These laws, regulations and

obligations and our policies require the disclosure of accurate and complete information regarding the Company’s business, financial
condition and



results of operations. Inaccurate, incomplete or untimely reporting will not be tolerated and can severely damage the Company and result in
legal liability.

Employees should be on guard for, and promptly report, any possibility of inaccurate or incomplete financial reporting. Particular
attention should be paid to financial results that seem inconsistent with the performance of the underlying business, transactions that do not
seem to have an obvious business purpose and requests to circumvent ordinary review and approval procedures. Employees with
information relating to questionable accounting or auditing matters may also confidentially, or anonymously, submit the information in
writing to the Company’s audit committee of the Board.

It is essential that the Company’s financial records, including all filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), be
accurate and timely. Accordingly, in addition to adhering to the conflict of interest policy and other policies and guidelines in this Code, the
executive officers and other principal financial officers must take special care to exhibit integrity at all times and to instill this value within
their organizations. In particular, these senior officers must ensure that they abide by all public disclosure requirements by providing full,
fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosures, and that they comply with all other applicable laws and regulations. The executive
officers and other principal financial officers must also understand and strictly comply with generally accepted accounting principles in the
U.S. and all standards, laws and regulations for accounting and financial reporting of transactions, estimates and forecasts.

In addition, U.S. federal securities laws require the Company to maintain proper internal books and records and to devise and
maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls. The SEC has supplemented the statutory requirements by adopting rules that
prohibit (1) any person from falsifying records or accounts subject to the above requirements and (2) officers or directors from making any
materially false, misleading or incomplete statement to an accountant in connection with an audit or any filing with the SEC. These
provisions reflect the SEC’s intent to discourage officers, directors and other persons with access to the Company’s books and records from
taking action that might result in the communication of materially misleading financial information to the investing public.

Employees are prohibited from directly or indirectly taking any action to coerce, manipulate, mislead or fraudulently influence the
Company’s independent auditors for the purpose of rendering the financial statements of the Company materially misleading. Prohibited
actions include, but are not limited to, those actions taken to coerce, manipulate, mislead or inappropriately influence an auditor to:

issue or reissue a report on the Company’s financial statements that is not warranted in the circumstances (due to material
violations of U.S. GAAP, generally accepted auditing standards or other professional or regulatory standards);

not perform audit, review or other procedures required by generally accepted auditing standards or other professional
standards;



withdraw an issued report; or
not communicate matters to the Company’s audit committee of the Board.
PROHIBITION OF INSIDER TRADING

The Company has an insider trading policy, which may be obtained from the Compliance Officer. The following is a summary of
some of the general principles relevant to insider trading, and should be read in conjunction with the aforementioned specific policy.

Employees are prohibited from trading in shares or other securities of the Company while in possession of material, nonpublic
information about the Company. Prohibition on insider trading applies to members of the employees’ family and anyone else sharing the
home of the employees. Therefore, employees must use discretion when discussing work with friends or family members as well as other
employees. In addition, employees are prohibited from recommending, “tipping” or suggesting that anyone else buy or sell shares or other
securities of the Company on the basis of material, nonpublic information. Employees who obtain material nonpublic information about
another company in the course of their employment are prohibited from trading in shares or securities of the other company while in
possession of such information or “tipping” others to trade on the basis of such information. Violation of insider trading laws can result in
severe fines and criminal penalties, as well as disciplinary action by the Company, including termination of employment.

Information is “non-public” if it has not been made generally available to the public by means of a press release or other means of
widespread distribution. Information is “material” if a reasonable investor would consider it important in a decision to buy, hold or sell stock
or other securities. As a rule of thumb, any information that would affect the value of stock or other securities should be considered material.
Examples of information that is generally considered “material” include:

Financial results or forecasts, or any information that indicates the Company’s financial results may exceed or fall short of forecasts
or expectations;

Important new products or services;

Pending or contemplated acquisitions or dispositions, including mergers, tender offers or joint venture proposals;
Possible management changes or changes of control;

Pending or contemplated public or private sales of debt or equity securities;

Acquisition or loss of a significant customer or contract;

Significant write-offs;

Initiation or settlement of significant litigation; and
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Changes in the Company’s auditors or a notification from its auditors that the Company may no longer rely on the auditor’s report.

The laws against insider trading are specific and complex. Any questions about information you may possess or about any dealings
you have had in the Company’s securities should be promptly brought to the attention of the Compliance Officer.

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS AND PREVENTION OF SELECTIVE DISCLOSURE

The Company places a high value on its credibility and reputation in the community. What is written or said about the Company in
the news media and investment community directly impacts our reputation, positively or negatively. Our policy is to provide timely, accurate
and complete information in response to public requests (e.g., media, analysts), consistent with our obligations to maintain the
confidentiality of competitive and proprietary information and to prevent selective disclosure of market-sensitive financial data. To ensure
compliance with this policy, all news media or other public requests for information regarding the Company should be directed to the
Company’s Investor Relations Department. The Investor Relations Department will work with you and the appropriate personnel to evaluate
and coordinate a response to the request.

Prevention of Selective Disclosure

Preventing selective disclosure is necessary to comply with U.S. securities laws and to preserve the reputation and integrity of the
Company as well as that of all persons affiliated with it. “Selective disclosure” occurs when any person provides potentially market-moving
information to selected persons before the news is available to the investing public generally. Selective disclosure is a crime under U.S. law
and the penalties for violating the law are severe.

The following guidelines have been established to avoid improper selective disclosure. Every employee is required to follow these
procedures:

All contact by the Company with investment analysts, the press and/or members of the media shall be made through the chief
executive officer, chief financial officer or persons designated by them (collectively, the “Media Contacts™).

Other than the Media Contacts, no officer, director or employee shall provide any potentially market-moving information regarding
the Company or its business to any investment analyst or member of the press or media.

All inquiries from persons such as industry analysts or members of the media about the Company or its business should be directed
to a Media Contact. All presentations to the investment community regarding the Company will be made by us under the direction
of a Media Contact.

Other than the Media Contacts, any employee who is asked a question regarding the Company or its business by a member of the
press or media shall respond with “No comment” and forward the inquiry to a Media Contact.



These procedures do not apply to the routine process of making previously released information regarding the Company available
upon inquiries made by investors, investment analysts and members of the media.

Please contact the Compliance Officer if you have any questions about the scope or application of the Company’s policies
regarding selective disclosure.

ENVIRONMENT

Employees should strive to conserve resources and reduce waste and emissions through recycling and other conservation measures.
You have a responsibility to promptly report any known or suspected violations of environmental laws or any events that may result in a
discharge or emission of hazardous materials. Employees whose jobs involve manufacturing have a special responsibility to safeguard the
environment. Such employees should be particularly alert to the storage, disposal and transportation of waste, and handling of toxic
materials and emissions into the land, water or air.

HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION

The Company is committed to providing equal opportunity and fair treatment to all individuals on the basis of merit, without
discrimination because of race, color, religion, national origin, sex (including pregnancy), sexual orientation, age, disability, veteran status or
any other characteristic protected by law. The Company prohibits harassment in any form, whether physical or verbal and whether
committed by supervisors, non-supervisory personnel or non-employees. Harassment may include, but is not limited to, offensive sexual
flirtations, unwanted sexual advances or propositions, verbal abuse, sexually or racially degrading words, or the display of sexually
suggestive objects or pictures.

If you have any complaints about discrimination or harassment, report such conduct to your supervisor or the Human Resources
Department. All complaints will be treated with sensitivity and discretion. Your supervisor, the Human Resources Department and the
Company will protect your confidentiality to the extent possible, consistent with the law and the Company’s need to investigate your
concern. Where our investigation uncovers harassment or discrimination, we will take prompt corrective action, which may include
disciplinary action against the perpetrator such as termination of employment. The Company strictly prohibits retaliation against an
employee who files a complaint in good faith.

Any manager who has reason to believe that an employee has been the victim of harassment or discrimination or who receives a
report of alleged harassment or discrimination is required to report it to the Human Resources Department immediately.

CONCLUSION

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics contains general guidelines for conducting the business of the Company consistent with
the highest standards of business ethics. If you haveany
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questions about these guidelines, please contact your supervisor or the Compliance Officer. We expect all employees to adhere to these
standards.

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as applied to the Company s executive officers, shall be our “code of ethics” within the
meaning of Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules promulgated thereunder.

This Code and the matters contained herein are neither a contract of employment nor a guarantee of continuing Company policy.
We reserve the right to amend, supplement or discontinue this Code and the matters addressed herein, without prior notice, at any time.
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Exhibit 11.2
BIT Mining LIMITED
STATEMENT OF POLICIES
GOVERNING MATERIAL, NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION AND
THE PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING
Adopted on October 21, 2013 and effective conditional and immediately upon commencement of the trading of the American depositary

shares (the “ADSs”) of BIT Mining Limited (the “Company ) representing ordinary shares (the “Ordinary Shares”) of the Company on the
New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”)

This Statement of Policies Governing Material, Non-Public Information and the Prevention of Insider Trading (this “Statement”) of
the Company consists of three sections: Section I provides an overview; Section I sets forth the Company’s policies prohibiting insider
trading; and Section III explains insider trading.

SUMMARY

The Company’s ADSs representing the Ordinary Shares are currently trading on the NYSE. “Insider trading” occurs when you
purchase or sell securities while in possession of inside information relating to such securities. As explained in Section III below, “inside
information” is information which is considered to be both “material” and “non-public.” Preventing insider trading is necessary to comply
with United States securities law and to preserve the reputation and integrity of the Company as well as that of all persons affiliated with it.

The Company considers strict compliance with the policies (the “Policy”) set forth in this Statement to be a matter of utmost
importance. Violation of this Policy could cause extreme embarrassment and possible legal liability to you and the Company. Knowing or
willful violations of this Statement or its spirit will be grounds for immediate dismissal from the Company. Violation of the Policy might
expose the violator to severe criminal penalties and civil liabilities. The monetary damages flowing from a violation could be three times the
profit realized by the violator, as well as the attorney’s fees of the persons injured.

This Statement applies to all officers, directors, employees and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries or any consolidated
entities or any other person or entity (a) over which an individual mentioned above exercises influence or control of its investment decisions,
or (b) which effects a transaction in the Company’s securities, which securities are in fact beneficially owned by any of the individuals
mentioned above (“Insider(s)”). Every Insider must review this Statement, and execute and return the Certificate of Compliance attached
hereto to the Compliance Officer within seven (7) days after you receive this Statement.

Questions regarding the Statement should be directed to the Compliance Officer.



1I.
POLICIES PROHIBITING INSIDER TRADING

For purposes of this Statement, while the terms “purchase” and “sell” of securities exclude the acceptance of options granted by the
Company thereof and the exercise of options that does not involve the sale of securities, the cashless exercise of options does involve the
sale of securities and therefore is subject to the policies set forth below.

A. No Trading with Material Insider Information - No Insider shall purchase or sell any securities of the Company
while in possession of material, non-public information relating to the Company, its ADSs or other securities (the “Material Insider
Information”) or during certain periods.

If you possess Material Insider Information you must wait for the later, you must wait for the later of (i) forty eight (48) hours after
public disclosure of the Material Insider Information by the Company, or (ii) one full Trading Day on the NYSE following such public
disclosure before trading the Company’s ADSs or other securities. The term “Trading Day” is defined as a day on which the NYSE is open
for trading. NYSE’s regular trading hours are from 9:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., New York City time, Monday through Friday.

In addition, no Insider shall purchase or sell any securities of the Company, regardless of whether such Insider possesses any
Material Insider Information, (1) during any period commencing on the 20th day of the last month of each fiscal quarter and ending at the
close of trading on the second Trading Day following the date upon which the Company’s earnings statement for that fiscal quarter is
released to the public; or (2) without the prior clearance by the Compliance Officer, during any period designated as a “limited trading
period.” The Compliance Officer may declare limited trading periods at the times that he deems appropriate, and need not provide any
reason for making a declaration.

Furthermore, beginning on December 20 of each fiscal year, no Insider shall purchase or sell any security of the Company until the
close of trading on the second Trading Day following the date of the Company’s release of its financial results for the fiscal year ended on
December 31 of the prior year.

Please see Section III below for an explanation of the Material Insider Information.

B. No Trading Outside of the Trading Window for Directors, Officers and Key Employees — Assuming none of the “no
trading” restrictions set forth in Section I1I-A above applies, officers, directors and key employees designated by the Company may
only purchase or sell any securities of the Company during the “Trading Window.” Generally, there will be four Trading Windows per
year, each commencing with the close of trading on the second Trading Day following the date upon which the Company’s financial results
for the prior fiscal quarter is released to the public and closing on the 20th day of the last month of each fiscal quarter.




Furthermore, all transactions in the Company’s securities (including without limitation, acquisitions and dispositions of the ADSs
and the sale of Ordinary Shares issued upon exercise of stock options, but excluding the acceptance of options granted by the Company and
the exercise of options that does not involve the sale of securities) by officers, directors and key employees designated by the Company from
time to time must be pre-approved by the Compliance Officer.

If the Company’s earnings statement for a fiscal quarter or fiscal year is released on a Trading Day more than four hours before the
NYSE closes, then such date of disclosure shall be considered the first Trading Day following such public disclosure.

Please note that trading in Company securities during the Trading Window is not a “safe harbor,” and all Insiders should
strictly comply with all other policies set forth in this Statement.

When in doubt, do not trade! Check with the Compliance Officer first.

C. No Tipping - No Insider shall directly or indirectly disclose any Material Insider Information to anyone who trades in
securities (so-called “tipping”).

D. Confidentiality - No Insider shall communicate any Material Insider Information to anyone outside the Company under
any circumstances unless approved by the Compliance Officer in advance, or to anyone within the Company other than on a need-to-know
basis.

E. No Comment - No Insider shall discuss any internal matters or developments of the Company with anyone outside of the
Company, except as required in the performance of regular corporate duties. Unless you are expressly authorized to the contrary, if you
receive any inquiries about the Company or its securities by the financial press, investment analysts or others, or any requests for comments
or interviews, you should decline to comment and direct the inquiry or request to the Compliance Officer.

F. Corrective Action - If any potentially Material Insider Information is inadvertently disclosed, any Insider should notify the
Compliance Officer immediately so that the Company can determine whether or not corrective action, such as general disclosure to the

public, is warranted.

(Remainder of the page intentionally left blank)



II1.
EXPLANATION OF INSIDER TRADING

As noted above, “insider trading” refers to the purchase or sale of securities while in possession of “material” and “non-public”
information relating to such securities. “Securities” include not only stocks, bonds, notes and debentures, but also options, warrants and
similar instruments. “Purchase” and “sale” are defined broadly under the federal securities law. “Purchase” includes not only the actual
purchase of securities, but any contract to purchase or otherwise acquire securities. “Sale” includes not only the actual sale of securities, but
any contract to sell or otherwise dispose of securities. These definitions extend to a broad range of transactions including conventional cash-
for-stock transactions, the grant and exercise of stock options and acquisitions and exercises of warrants or puts, calls or other options
related to the securities. It is generally understood that insider trading includes the following:

Trading by Insiders while in possession of material, non-public information;

Trading by persons other than Insiders while in possession of material, non-public information where the information
either was given in breach of an Insider’s fiduciary duty to keep it confidential or was misappropriated; or

Communicating or tipping material, non-public information to others, including recommending the purchase or sale of the
securities while in possession of such information.

As noted above, for purposes of this Statement, the terms “purchase” and “sell” of securities exclude the acceptance of options
granted by the issuer thereof and the exercise of options that does not involve the sale of securities. Among other things, the cashless
exercise of options does involve the sale of securities and therefore is subject to the policies set forth in this Statement.

What Facts are Material?

The materiality of a fact depends upon the circumstances. A fact is considered “material” if it could reasonably be expected to
affect the decision of a reasonable investor to buy, sell or hold the Company’s securities or where the fact is likely to have a significant effect
on the market price of the Company’s securities. Material Insider Information can be positive or negative and can relate to virtually any
aspect of a company’s business or to any type of securities, debt or equity.

Examples of Material Insider Information include (but are not limited to) information concerning:

dividends;

corporate earnings or earnings forecasts;

changes in financial condition or asset value;



negotiations for the mergers or acquisitions or dispositions of significant subsidiaries or assets;
significant new contracts or the loss of a significant contract;

significant new products or services;

significant marketing plans or changes in such plans;

capital investment plans or changes in such plans;

material litigation, administrative action or governmental investigations or inquiries about the Company or any of its
affiliated companies, officers or directors;

significant borrowings or financings;

defaults on borrowings;

new equity or debt offerings;

significant personnel changes;

changes in accounting methods and write-offs; and

any substantial change in industry circumstances or competitive conditions which could significantly affect the Company’s
earnings or prospects for expansion.

A good general rule of thumb: when in doubt, do not trade. One convenient rule of thumb in making this determination is to ask
yourself, “Would the person on the other side of this transaction still want to complete the trade at this price if he or she knew what I know

about the Company?” If the answer is “no,” you probably possess material, non-public information.

What is Non-public?

Information is “non-public” if it has not been disclosed in a manner that allows it to be widely disseminated. In order for
information to be considered public, it must be widely disseminated in a manner making it generally available to investors and confirmed by
a reasonably reliable source. Wide dissemination generally occurs through a press release or in the Company’s filing with the United States
Security and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), or through such media as Dow Jones, Reuters Economic Services, The Wall Street Journal,
Bloomberg, Associated Press, or United Press International. Reasonable confirmation generally includes confirmation by officers, directors
and key employees who have been authorized by the Company to speak on its behalf. The circulation of rumors, even if accurate and
reported in the media, does not constitute effective public dissemination.

In addition, even after a public announcement, a reasonable period of time must lapse in order for the market to react to the
information. Generally, one should allow approximately forty



eight (48) hours following publication as a reasonable waiting period before such information is deemed to be public.

Who is an Insider?

Insiders include all officers, directors, employees, consultants and advisors (e.g. accountants, attorneys, investment bankers and
consultants) of the Company and its subsidiaries or consolidated entities or any other person or entity (a) over which an individual
mentioned above exercises influence or control of its investment decisions, or (b) which effects a transaction in the Company’s securities,
which securities are in fact beneficially owned by any of the individuals mentioned above. Insiders have independent fiduciary duties to
their company and its stockholders not to trade on material non-public information relating to the company’s securities. In addition, family
members and friends of Insiders as well as professional advisors of the Company (e.g. accountants, attorneys, investment bankers and
consultants) who receive material, non-public information about the Company may also fall under the definition of Insiders of the Company.

It should be noted that trading by members of an Insider’s family members can be the responsibility of such Insider under certain
circumstances and could give rise to legal and Company-imposed sanctions.

Trading by Persons Other than Insiders

Insiders are also prohibited from disclosing material non-public information, or making a recommendation or expressing an opinion
regarding the Company’s securities based on such information, to others who might use the information to trade in the Company’s securities.
Both the Insider who communicated the material non-public information and the person who receives and uses such information (the
“Tippee”) may be liable under United States securities laws.

Persons other than Insiders also can be liable for insider trading, including Tippees who trade on material, non-public information
tipped to them or individuals who trade on material, non-public information which has been misappropriated. Tippees inherit an Insider’s
duties and are liable for trading on material, non-public information illegally tipped to them by an Insider. Similarly, just as Insiders are
liable for the insider trading of their Tippees, so are Tippees who pass the information along to others who trade. In other words, a Tippee’s
liability for insider trading is no different from that of an Insider. Tippees can obtain material, non-public information by receiving overt tips
from others or through, among other things, conversations at social, business, or other gatherings.

Penalties for Engaging in Insider Trading

Penalties for trading on or tipping material, non-public information can extend significantly beyond any profits made or losses
avoided, both for individuals engaging in such unlawful conduct and their employers. The SEC and the United States Department of Justice
have made the civil and criminal prosecution of insider trading violations a top priority. Enforcement remedies available to the government
or private plaintiffs under the federal securities laws include:



SEC administrative sanctions;

securities industry self-regulatory organization sanctions;

civil injunctions;

damage awards to private plaintiffs;

disgorgement of all profits;

civil fines for the violator of up to three times the amount of profit gained or loss avoided;

civil fines for the employer or other controlling person of a violator (i.e., where the violator is an employee or other

controlled person) of up to the greater of US$1,000,000 or three times the amount of profit gained or loss avoided by the

violator;

criminal fines for individual violators of up to US$1,000,000 (US$2,500,000 for an entity); and

jail sentences of up to 10 years.

In addition, insider trading could result in serious sanctions by the Company, including immediate dismissal. Insider trading

violations are not limited to violations of the federal securities laws: other federal and state civil or criminal laws, such as the laws
prohibiting mail and wire fraud and the United States Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), may also be violated

upon the occurrence of insider trading.
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE

TO: Compliance Officer

FROM:

RE: BIT Mining LIMITED STATEMENT OF POLICIES OF GOVERNING
MATERIAL, NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION AND THE PREVENTION
OF INSIDER TRADING

I have received, reviewed, and understand the above-referenced Statement of Policies (the “Policy”) and hereby undertake, as a
condition to my present and continued employment at or association with BIT Mining Limited, to comply fully with the Policy.

I hereby certify that I have adhered to the Policy during the time period that I have been employed by or associated with BIT Mining
Limited.

I agree to adhere to the Policy in the future.

Name:

Title:

Date:
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Exhibit 12.1

Chief Executive Officer Certification
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

Xianfeng Yang, Chief Executive Officer of BIT Mining Limited (the “Company”), certify that:
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of the Company;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented
in this annual report;

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15 (f)) for the Company and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being
prepared,

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
annual report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the period covered by this annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting;

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 29, 2025

By: /s/ Xianfeng Yang
Name: Xianfeng Yang
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Ia
1.

2.

Exhibit 12.2

Chief Financial Officer Certification
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

Qiang Yuan, Chief Financial Officer of BIT Mining Limited (the “Company”), certify that:
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of the Company;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented
in this annual report;

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15 (f)) for the Company and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being
prepared,

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
annual report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the period covered by this annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting;

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 29, 2025

By: /s/ Qiang Yuan
Name: Qiang Yuan
Title: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 13.1

Chief Executive Officer Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20-F of BIT Mining Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Xianfeng Yang, Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: April 29, 2025

By: /s/ Xianfeng Yang
Name: Xianfeng Yang
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 13.2

Chief Financial Officer Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20-F of BIT Mining Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Qiang Yuan, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: April 29, 2025

By:/s/ Qiang Yuan
Name: Qiang Yuan
Title: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 15.1

maloneociey.-

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in this Registration Statement on Form S-8 (N0.333-193462 No.333-226377, No.333-229508,
No0.333-256273 and No0.333-275467), and Form F-3 (No.333-258329) of our report dated April 29, 2025 with respect to the audited
consolidated financial statements of BIT Mining Limited (the “Company”) appearing in this Annual Report on Form 20-F of the Company
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ MaloneBailey, LLP
www.malonebailey.com
Houston, Texas

April 29, 2025

10370 Richmond Avenue, Suite 600, Houston, Texas 77042 USA 713 343 4286

Room 1902, Lenove Houhai Center (Tower A), No. 3288 Houhaibin Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen 518054, P.R. China 86 755 86278659
Room 707, 7th Floor, World Wealth Tower, No.6A Jianguomenwai Avenue, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100022, P.R. China 86 010 85563995
Level 9, Ariake Frontier Building Tower B, 3-7-26 Anake Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-0063 Japan 81 3 5530 B44T
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